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3,750,000 Ordinary Shares

Mega Fortune Company Limited
_________________________

This is the initial public offering of the ordinary shares of Mega Fortune Company Limited, par value
$0.000001 per share (“Ordinary Shares”). We are offering on a firm commitment basis of 3,750,000 Ordinary
Shares. The initial public offering price of the shares is $4 per Ordinary Share. Prior to the completion of this
offering, there has been no public market for our Ordinary Shares. We have been approved to have our Ordinary
Shares listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market (“NASDAQ”) under the trading symbol MGRT.

The offering is being made on a “firm commitment” basis by D. Boral Capital. See “Underwriting.”

Upon the completion of this offering, we will be a “controlled company” as defined under Nasdaq Stock Market
Rules because Mericorn Company Limited (“Mericorn”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
and wholly owned by Messrs. Ip Tsz Ying, Tin Sze Wai, Tam Tak Seng and Wong Ka Ki,  each a 25%
shareholder of Mericorn, will own 72.73% of our total outstanding Ordinary Shares assuming the underwriters
do not exercise their over-allotment option, or 69.87% of our total outstanding Ordinary Shares if the
underwriters exercise their over-allotment option in full. As a “controlled company,” we are permitted to elect
not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements. If we rely on these exemptions, you will not
have the same protection afforded to shareholders of companies that are subject to these corporate governance
requirements under the Nasdaq Listing Rules.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as that term is used in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups
Act of 2012, and are subject to reduced public company reporting requirements.

Investing in our Ordinary Shares is highly speculative and involves a significant degree of risk. See “Risk
Factors” beginning on page  17 of this prospectus for a discussion of information that should be
considered before making a decision to purchase our Ordinary Shares.

The terms “the Company”, “Mega Fortune”, “we”, “us”, “our company”, and “our” refer to Mega Fortune
Company Limited, an exempted company with limited liability incorporated under the laws of the Cayman
Islands and its subsidiaries. We currently conduct our business through our wholly owned subsidiaries Ponte
Fides Company Limited, a BVI company, and QBS System Limited, a Hong Kong company, which engage in
the business of providing IoT solutions and services. The securities offered in this prospectus are securities of
Mega Fortune Company Limited, our Cayman Islands holding company and investors are purchasing an interest
in Mega Fortune Company Limited, not our Operating Entity in Hong Kong. We are not an operating company
but rather a Cayman Islands holding company without material operations and our business is conducted by our
subsidiary in Hong Kong and this structure involves unique risks to investors. Although we hold beneficial
ownership in our operating entities in Hong Kong and currently do not have or intend to have any contractual
arrangement to establish a variable interest entity (VIE) structure with any entity in mainland China, all the
legal and operational risks associated with having operations in mainland China also apply to operations in
Hong Kong. Chinese government could exercise significant oversight over the business in Hong Kong and
Chinese regulatory authorities could disallow our business structure, which would likely result in a material
change in our operations and/or a material change in the value of the securities are registering for sale, including
that it could cause the value of such securities to significantly decline or become worthless. See  “Risk
Factors — Recently, the mainland PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to
regulate business operations in certain areas in China with little or no advance notice, including cracking down
on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over China-based companies listed overseas
using the variable interest entity structure, adopting new measures to extend the scope of cybersecurity reviews,
and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement. In the future, we may be subject to mainland PRC laws
and regulations related to the current business operations of our operating subsidiary and Chinese government
may intervene or influence our Hong Kong operating subsidiary’s operation, any changes in such laws and
regulations and interpretations may impair our ability to operate profitably, which could result in a material
negative impact on their operations and/or the value of the securities we are registering for sale.”, “If the PRC
government chooses to extend the oversight and control over offerings that are conducted overseas and/or
foreign investment to Hong Kong-based issuers, such action may significantly limit or completely
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hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer Ordinary Shares to investors and cause the value of our Ordinary
Shares to significantly decline or be worthless.”, and “We may become subject to a variety of PRC laws and
other obligations regarding overseas listing rules and data security, and any failure to comply with applicable
laws and obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.”

All of our operations are conducted by our subsidiary in Hong Kong. Our Company currently does not have any
substantive operations in mainland China. Accordingly, the mainland PRC laws and regulations do not currently
have any material impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations. However, in the event
that we or our Hong Kong subsidiary were to become subject to mainland PRC laws and regulations, we could
incur material costs to ensure compliance, and we or our Hong Kong subsidiary might be subject to fines,
experience devaluation of securities or delisting, no longer be permitted to conduct offerings to foreign
investors, and/or no longer be permitted to continue business operations as presently conduct. Although we
have direct ownership of our operating entities in Hong Kong and currently do not have or intend to have any
contractual arrangement to establish a variable interest entity (“VIE”) structure with any entity in mainland
China, we are still subject to legal and operational risks associated with our operating subsidiaries being based
in Hong Kong and having all of its operations to date in Hong Kong. Additionally, the legal and operational
risks associated in mainland China may also apply to operations in Hong Kong, and we face the risks and
uncertainties associated with the complex and evolving PRC laws and regulations and as to whether and how
the recent mainland PRC government statements and regulatory developments, such as those relating to data
and cyberspace security, and anti-monopoly concerns, would be applicable to companies such as our operating
entities or the Company, given our substantial operations in Hong Kong and the mainland Chinese government
may exercise significant oversight over the business in Hong Kong. These risks could result in material changes
in our operations and/or the value of the securities we are registering for sale or could significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer securities to investors and cause the value of such
securities to significantly decline or be worthless. Recently, the mainland PRC government initiated a series of
regulatory actions and statements to regulate business operations in certain areas in China with little advance
notice, including a cracking down on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over
China-based companies listed overseas, adopting new measures to extend the scope of cybersecurity reviews,
and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement, which may in the future impact our ability to conduct
out business, accept foreign investments or list on a U.S.  or other foreign exchange if we were to become
subject to such regulations. Nevertheless, since these statements and regulatory actions are new, it is highly
uncertain how soon the legislative or administrative regulation making bodies will respond and what existing or
new laws or regulations or detailed implementations and interpretations will be modified or promulgated, if any.
It is also highly uncertain what the potential impacts such modified or new laws and regulations will have on
our business operations, its ability to accept foreign investments and the listing of our Ordinary Shares on a
U.S. or other foreign exchanges. If certain mainland PRC laws and regulations were to become applicable to a
company in Hong Kong, such as our operating entity in the future, the application of such laws and regulations
may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations and our ability
to offer or continue to offer securities to investors, any of which may cause the value of our securities, including
the Ordinary Shares, to significantly decline or become worthless.

The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, was enacted on December 18, 2020. In
accordance with the HFCA Act, trading in securities of any registrant on a national securities exchange or in the
over-the-counter trading market in the United States may be prohibited if the PCAOB determines that it cannot
inspect or fully investigate the registrant’s auditor for three consecutive  years beginning in 2021, and, as a
result, an exchange may determine to delist the securities of such registrant. On December  29, 2022, a
legislation entitled “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023” (the “Consolidated Appropriations Act”) was
signed into law by President Biden, which has shortened the Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act’s
timeline for a potential trading prohibition from three years to two years, thus reducing the time period before
our securities may be prohibited from trading or delisted if our auditor is unable to meet the PCAOB inspection
requirement. The Company’s auditor, WWC, P.C. is headquartered in the U.S.  and the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (the “PCAOB”) currently has access to inspect the working papers
of our auditor and our auditor is not subject to the determinations announced by the PCAOB on December 16,
2021, which determinations were vacated on December 15, 2022. The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable
Act and related regulations currently does not affect the Company as the Company’s auditor is subject to
PCAOB’s inspection and investigation. See “Risk Factors — The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act,
or the HFCA Act, and the related regulations are evolving quickly. Further implementations and interpretations
of or amendments to the HFCA Act or the related regulations, or a PCAOB’s determination of its lack of
sufficient access to inspect our auditor, might pose regulatory risks to and impose restrictions on us because of
our operations in Hong Kong. A potential consequence is that our Ordinary Shares may be delisted by the
exchange. The delisting of our Ordinary Shares, or the threat of our Ordinary Shares being delisted, may
materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. Additionally, the inability of the PCAOB to
conduct full inspections of our auditor deprives our investors of the benefits of such inspections.”
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There has been no cash flows and transfers of assets between the holding company and its subsidiaries as of end
of the fiscal year 2023. See Consolidated Financial Statements  and See  Summary of Risk Factors — Risks
Relating to Doing Business in Hong  Kong-We may become subject to a variety of PRC laws and other
obligations regarding overseas listing rules and data security, and any failure to comply with applicable laws
and obligations could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of
operations.” None of our subsidiaries has made any dividend payment or distribution to our holding company
as of the date this response and they have no plans to make any distribution or dividend payment to the holding
company in the near future. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has made any dividends or
distributions to U.S. investors as of the date of this prospectus. All our subsidiaries are in Hong Kong and BVI,
there is no restrictions on foreign exchange for our subsidiaries and holding company and they are able to
transfer cash or assets among these entities, across borders and to US investors. Also, there is no restrictions and
limitations on the abilities for them to distribute earnings from their businesses, including from subsidiaries to
the parent company or from the holding company to the U.S. investors as well as the abilities to settle amounts
owed. However, PRC may impose greater restrictions on our Hong Kong subsidiary’ abilities to transfer cash
out of Hong Kong and to the holding company, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition
and results of operations. To the extent cash or assets in the business is in the PRC/Hong  Kong or a
PRC/Hong Kong entity, the funds or assets may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside of
the PRC/Hong Kong due to interventions in or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on the ability of us
or our subsidiaries by the PRC government to transfer cash or assets. See “Risk Factors — We may become
subject to a variety of PRC laws and other obligations regarding overseas listing rules and data security, and
any failure to comply with applicable laws and obligations could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of operations.” We did not adopt or maintain any cash management
policies and procedures as of the date of this prospectus. There is no further Cayman Islands, BVI or
Hong Kong statutory restriction on the amount of funds which may be distributed by us by dividend.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this prospectus. Any
representation to the contrary is a criminal offense.

  Per Share   Total

Public offering price(1)   US$ 4.00  $ 15,000,000
Underwriting discounts and commissions(2)(3)   US$ 0.30  $ 1,125,000
Proceeds to us, before expenses(4)(5)   US$ 3.70  $ 13,875,000
____________

(1)       Initial public offering price per Ordinary Share is $4.00, being the midpoint of the estimated range of the initial public
offering price.

(2)       For a description of compensation payable to the underwriters, see “Underwriting.”
(3)       Represents underwriting discounts up to seven and one-half percent (7.5%) (or $0.30 per ordinary share), of gross

proceeds of this offering. Does not include a non-accountable expense allowance equal to one percent (1%) of the
gross proceeds received by us from the sales of the Ordinary Shares in this offering payable to the underwriters. See
“Underwriting” for all compensation to be paid to the underwriters.

(4)       Assumes no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional ordinary shares.
(5)       Excludes fees and expenses payable to the underwriters. See the section entitled “Underwriting — Underwriting

Discounts and Expenses.”

The offering is being made on a “firm commitment” basis. The underwriter is obligated to take and pay for all
of the Ordinary Shares if any such Ordinary Shares are taken. We have granted D. Boral Capital, the
underwriter (the “Underwriter”), an option for a period of 45 days after the closing of this offering to purchase
up to fifteen percent (15%) of the total number of our Ordinary Shares to be offered by us pursuant to this
offering (excluding Ordinary Shares subject to this option), solely for the purpose of covering over-allotments,
at the public offering price less the underwriting discounts. If the Underwriter exercises this option in full, the
total underwriting discounts payable will be $1,293,750.00 based on the offering price of $4 per Ordinary
Share, and the total net proceeds to us, after underwriting discounts and expenses, will be $15,783,750. For a
description of the other compensation to be received by the underwriter, see “Underwriting.” If we complete
this offering, net proceeds will be delivered to our company on the closing date.

The Underwriter expects to deliver the Ordinary Shares against payment as set forth under “Underwriting,” on
or about July 17, 2025.

D. BORAL CAPITAL
The date of this prospectus is July 15, 2025
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About this Prospectus

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or in any related free-writing prospectus.
We have not authorized anyone to provide you with information different from that contained in this prospectus
or any free-writing prospectus. We are offering to sell, and seeking offers to buy, the Ordinary Shares only in
jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. The information contained in this prospectus is current only
as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of the
Ordinary Shares.

For investors outside the United States, neither we nor the Underwriter have done anything that would permit
this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction, other than the United States,
where action for that purpose is required. Persons outside the United States who come into possession of this
prospectus must inform themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the Ordinary
Shares and the distribution of this prospectus outside the United States.

We were incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability and
a majority of our outstanding securities are owned by non-U.S.  residents. Under the rules of the SEC, we
currently qualify for treatment as a “foreign private issuer.” As a foreign private issuer, we will not be required
to file periodic reports and financial statements with the SEC as frequently or as promptly as domestic
registrants whose securities are registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

Until  and including August 9, 2025 (25  days after the date of this prospectus), all dealers that effect
transactions in these securities, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a
prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers’ obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as
underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

You should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus and any free writing prospectus we may
authorize to be delivered to you. Neither we nor the Underwriter have authorized anyone to provide you with
information different from, or in addition to, that contained in this prospectus and any related free writing
prospectus. We and the Underwriter take no responsibility for and can provide no assurances as to the reliability
of any information that others may give you. This prospectus is not an offer to sell, nor is it seeking an offer to
buy, these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. The information contained in
this prospectus is only accurate as of the date of this prospectus, regardless of the time of delivery of this
prospectus and any sale of our Ordinary Shares. Our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may have changed since that date.

ii

Table of Contents

Other Pertinent Information

Unless otherwise indicated or the context requires otherwise, references in this prospectus to:

•         “China” or the “PRC” are to the People’s Republic of China, including the special administrative
regions of Hong Kong and Macau, but excluding Taiwan, for the purpose of this prospectus only;

•         “Chinese government”, “PRC government”, “PRC governmental authority”, “PRC governmental
authorities” are to the government and governmental authorities of mainland China, for the purpose
of this prospectus only;

•         “HK$” or “HKD” are to the Hong Kong dollar, the legal currency of Hong Kong;

•         “Hong Kong” are to the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of
China for the purposes of this prospectus only;

•         “Mainland China” or “Mainland PRC” are to the People’s Republic of China, excluding Taiwan, the
special administrative regions of Hong Kong and Macau;

•         “Mega Fortune” “we,” “us,” “our company,” “the Company,” “Registrant,” and “our” are to Mega
Fortune Company Limited, a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability incorporated
on January 3, 2024, and its directly and indirectly owned subsidiaries;

•         “Operating Entity” are to QBS System;

•         “PRC laws” or “PRC laws and regulations” are to the laws and regulations of mainland China, for
the purpose of this prospectus only;

•         “QBS System” are to QBS System Limited, which was incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong
on April 14, 2011, a wholly owned subsidiary of Ponte Fides;

•         “PCAOB” are to the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board;

•         “Ponte Fides” are to Ponte Fides Company Limited, which was incorporated under the laws of the
British Virgin Islands on February 6, 2024, a wholly owned subsidiary of Mega Fortune;

•         “shares”, “Shares” or “Ordinary Shares” are to the ordinary shares of Mega Fortune, par value
$0.0001 per share;

•         “US$,” “U.S. dollars,” “$” and “dollars” are to the legal currency of the United States.

Our business is conducted by our subsidiary in Hong Kong, using the Hong Kong dollar. Our consolidated
financial statements are presented in U.S.  dollars. In this prospectus, we refer to assets, obligations,
commitments, and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements in U.S. dollars. These dollar references are
based on the exchange rate of HKD to U.S. dollars, determined as of a specific date or for a specific period.
Changes in the exchange rate will affect the amount of our obligations and the value of our assets in terms of
U.S. dollars which may result in an increase or decrease in the amount of our obligations (expressed in dollars)
and the value of our assets, including accounts receivable (expressed in dollars).
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights certain information contained elsewhere in this prospectus. You should read the
entire prospectus carefully, including our financial statements and related notes and the risks described under
“Risk Factors” beginning on page  17. We note that our actual results and future events may differ
significantly based upon a number of factors. This prospectus contains information from an industry report
commissioned by us dated January 8, 2025 and prepared by Migo Corporation Limited, an independent
research firm, to provide information regarding our industry and our market position in Hong Kong. We refer
to this report as the “MIGO Industry Report.” The reader should not put undue reliance on the forward-
looking statements in this document, which speak only as of the date on the cover of this prospectus.

Overview

We are a holding company incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands. Our ordinary shares offered in this prospectus are shares of our Cayman Islands holding company. As
a holding company with no material operations of our own, we conduct our business through our operating
subsidiary in Hong Kong. We own 100% equity interest of all our subsidiaries and do not have a variable
interest entity, or VIE, structure.

We are an Internet of Things (“IoT”) solution provider in Hong Kong. Through our operating subsidiary QBS
System Limited (“QBS System”), founded in 2011, we have specialized in delivering comprehensive IoT
solutions and services across various industries. Our vision is to become the preferred choice for IoT
solutions for enterprises and projects in the Asia-Pacific region. We plan to achieve this through helping
enterprises undergo digital transformation, launch IoT initiatives, upscale existing IoT applications, or IoT
solutions with legacy systems. QBS System’s business service portfolio includes the provision of IoT
Integration Solution Services, IoT Maintenance and Support services, BPO services and trading sales.

Our Industry and Market Opportunity

With the continued growth and sophistication of Internet of Things (“IoT”) products and services, and the
realization by ever more businesses of their ability to enhance their own customer offerings, the Company has
focused on providing a proprietary set of products and services to and implementation of them for a focused
universe of industries (specifically retail, entertainment and logistic and transportation for manufacturer) and
leading enterprises within these industries.

Our IoT Platform

Our IoT customer platform relies upon an evolving, integrated blend of proprietary and generic products and
services tailored to our focus industries and customized appropriately for particular clients.

Our Competitive Strengths

We believe the following strengths differentiate us from our competitors and are key drivers of our success:

•         Increased efficiency and productivity:

QBS System enables companies to optimize operations and automate processes to increase
efficiency and productivity. For example, we use IoT sensors to monitor equipment performance, predict
maintenance needs, and reduce downtime.

•         Cost savings:

QBS System helps companies save costs by improving operational efficiency, reducing waste,
and optimizing resource utilization. For example, IoT sensors monitor energy consumption and optimize
usage, leading to cost savings.

•         Competitive advantage for our customers:

Companies that adopt IoT can gain a competitive advantage by differentiating themselves from
competitors, improving their products and services, and providing better customer experiences. For example,
our IoT-related services can help companies offer personalized services, such as customized product
recommendations and targeted marketing.
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•         Enhance efficiency:

QBS System can enable companies to enhance efficiency by developing innovative products and
services that leverage IoT technology. For example, our IoT-related services can help companies offer
subscription-based services, such as predictive maintenance and remote monitoring.

•         Improved Customer Experiences:

QBS System can enable companies to improve customer experiences by providing personalized,
real-time services and support. For example, IoT sensors monitor customer usage patterns and provide
customized recommendations.

Our Products

Our bundled product and service platforms, well recognized within their industry segments, including smart
building solutions, smart bench, location based services, IoT solution, maintenance and support.

Our Growth Strategy

In order to enhance our competitive position and expand our market, we intend to continue to pursue the
following strategies and leverage our strengths to further grow our business in three major ways:

1.       Sales & Marketing: empower the QBS System brand name in approaching a broader class of
clients.

2.       Products/services for enhancing customer loyalty: to help customers to be more profitable, more
efficient.

3.       Human Resources: attract talent in different areas to broaden our products and services and
enhance our project management capability.

Corporate History and Structure

Mega Fortune Company Limited (“Mega Fortune” or the “Company”) is an exempted company incorporated
in the Cayman Islands, with limited liability on January  3, 2024 as a holding company. The Company
operates, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, Ponte Fides Company Limited (“Ponte Fides”), a holding
company in the BVI and QBS System, an operating entity in Hong Kong.

The Company is the parent company of Ponte Fides, a BVI business company incorporated on February 6,
2024, which in turn wholly owns QBS System, a Hong Kong company incorporated on April 14, 2011.

Prior to the Reorganization described below, QBS System was owned entirely by Flywheel Advanced
Technology, Inc. (FWFW:OTC US) (“FWFW”), an OTC listed company. FWFW owned all one hundred
(100)  ordinary shares of QBS System; QBS System Pty Ltd was owned entirely by QBS System. QBS
System owned 1,000 ordinary shares of QBS System Pty Ltd. The 100 shares of QBS System and 1,000
shares of QBS System Pty Ltd constitute all the issued and outstanding shares of each of QBS System and
QBS System Pty Ltd, respectively.

Reorganization:

On January 3, 2024, Mega Fortune was incorporated in the Cayman Islands by FWFW and one ordinary
share was issued to International Corporation Services Ltd as a nominee shareholder. On January 30, 2024,
International Corporation Services Ltd. transferred its share to FWFW and caused an additional 99,999
ordinary shares to be issued to FWFW, totaling 100,000 ordinary shares to FWFW as the sole shareholder of
Mega Fortune. FWFW is an OTC listed company.
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On February 6, 2024, Ponte Fides was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands by Mega Fortune, and 1,000
ordinary shares of Ponte Fides were issued to Mega Fortune.

On April 29, 2024, all issued and outstanding shares of QBS System were transferred by its sole shareholder
FWFW to Ponte Fides in exchange for HK$100 as Ponte Fides is also an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
FWFW.

On July 5, 2024, 100,000 shares (the “Shares”) of Mega Fortune were transferred by its sole shareholder
FWFW to Mericorn Company Limited (“Mericorn”) pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement. The aggregate
purchase price for the Shares was HK$56,360,000. Mericorn transferred to FWFW 9.38% of the total issued
and outstanding equity of Elison Virtus Company Limited (“Elison”) in satisfaction of the purchase price of
the Shares. Elison holds all of the issued and outstanding equity of Flywheel Financial Strategy (Hong Kong)
Company Limited, a company principally engaged in wealth management services. Each of Ip Tsz Ying, Tin
Sze Wai, Tam Tak Seng and Wong Ka Ki owns a 25% equity interest of Mericorn.

On July 8, 2024, all 1,000 shares of QBS System Pty Ltd, a company incorporated in Australia were
transferred by its sole shareholder QBS System to Wong Ka Ki for a consideration of AUD10,000.

On October 23, 2024, Mega Fortune effected a 100 for 1 forward split/share subdivision approved by its
shareholders resulting to the change of par value of the Ordinary Shares from US$0.0001 to US$0.000001.
Pursuant to such resolutions approved by its shareholders, the authorized share capital is US$50,000 divided
into 50,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of a par value of US$0.000001 each, and the number of issued and
outstanding Ordinary Shares has been subdivided from 100,000 shares to 10,000,000 shares.

Since the Company and its subsidiaries are and were effectively controlled by the same controlling
shareholders before and after the Reorganization, they are considered under common control. The above-
mentioned transactions were accounted for as a recapitalization. The consolidation of the Company and its
subsidiaries has been accounted for at historical cost and prepared on the basis as if the aforementioned
transactions had become effective as of the beginning of the first period presented in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Following the Reorganization, the Company has subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the BVI. Details of the
subsidiaries of the Company are set out below:

Name of Entity  
Date of

Incorporation  
Place of

Incorporation  

% of
Indirect
or Direct

Ownership  
Principal
Activities

Ponte Fides Company
Limited  

February 6,
2024  

British Virgin
Islands   100 

Holding
Company

QBS System Limited   April 14, 2011   Hong Kong   100 

Provision of Internet of
Things (“IoT”) solutions

and services
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The following diagram illustrates our corporate structure, including our subsidiaries, as of the date of this
prospectus and immediately upon the completion of this offering

As of the date of this prospectus:

Immediately upon the completion of this offering, assuming that the underwriters do not exercise their over-
allotment option to purchase additional Ordinary Shares

Implications of Being a “Foreign Private Issuer”

We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). As such, we are exempt from certain provisions applicable to United States
domestic public companies. For example:

•         we are not required to provide as many Exchange Act reports, or as frequently, as a domestic
public company;

•         for interim reporting, we are permitted to comply solely with our home country requirements,
which are less rigorous than the rules that apply to domestic public companies;

•         we are not required to provide the same level of disclosure on certain issues, such as executive
compensation;
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•         we are exempt from provisions of Regulation  FD aimed at preventing issuers from making
selective disclosures of material information;

•         we are not required to comply with the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of
proxies, consents or authorizations in respect of a security registered under the Exchange Act; and

•         our insiders are not required to comply with Section  16 of the Exchange Act requiring such
individuals and entities to file public reports of their share ownership and trading activities and
establishing insider liability for profits realized from any “short-swing” trading transaction.

Implications of Being an “Emerging Growth Company”

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS
Act”), and we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting and financial
disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth
companies, including but not limited to (1) presenting only two years of audited financial statements and only
two years of related management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in
this prospectus, (2) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), (3)  reduced disclosure obligations regarding
executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and (4)  exemptions from the
requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of
any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We intend to take advantage of these exemptions.
As a result, investors may find investing in our Ordinary Shares less attractive.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage
of the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the “Securities Act”), for complying with new or revised accounting standards. As a result, an emerging
growth company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would
otherwise apply to private companies. We intend to take advantage of such extended transition period.

We could remain an emerging growth company for up to five years, or until the earliest of (1) the last day of
the first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenues exceed $1.235 billion, (2) the date that we become a
“large accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market
value of our Ordinary Shares that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of
our most recently completed second fiscal quarter and we have been publicly reporting for at least 12 months,
or (3)  the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding
three-year period.

Implications of Being a Controlled Company

Upon the completion of this offering, Mericorn Company Limited (“Mericorn”) will own 72.73% of our total
voting power, assuming that the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option to purchase
additional Ordinary Shares, or 69.87% of our total voting power, assuming that the over-allotment option to
purchase additional Ordinary Shares is exercised by the underwriters in full. Each of Messrs. Ip Tsz Ying, Tin
Sze Wai, Tam Tak Seng, and Wong Ka Ki is a 25% shareholder of Mericorn. As a result, we will be a
“controlled company” as defined under the Nasdaq Stock Market Rules because Mericorn, will hold more
than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors. As a “controlled company,” we will be permitted
to elect not to comply with certain corporate governance requirements. See “Risk Factors — Risks related to
our Ordinary Shares and this offering. We will be a “controlled company” as defined under the Nasdaq Stock
Market Rules. As a result, we may rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements and
holders of our Ordinary Shares may not have the same protections generally available to stockholders of
other companies listed on stock exchanges in the United States.”
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Selected Condensed Consolidated Financial Schedules of the Company and Its Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income Data:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Revenues   $ 3,325,990    $ 3,247,543  
Cost of revenues     (1,533,099)     (1,972,633)
Total operating expenses     (1,248,043)     (722,364)
Total other income, net     30,750      65,172  
Income tax expenses     (174,064)     (81,164)
Net income   $ 401,534    $ 536,554  

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

 

As of
September 30,

2024  

As of
September 30,

2023

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  
Other Current Assets     2,354,898      1,603,501  
Total Non-Current Assets     701,390      43,284  
Total Assets     3,428,206      2,266,355  
Total Current Liabilities     (1,592,586)     (834,432)
Total Non-Current Liabilities     (477,604)     (479,412)
Total Liabilities     (2,070,190)     (1,313,844)
Total shareholders’ equity   $ 1,358,016    $ 952,511  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Data:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (99,794)   $ (32,724)
Net cash used in investing activities     (771)     (1,737)
Net cash used in financing activities     (146,843)     (289,683)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (247,408)     (324,144)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (244)     2,187  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     619,570      941,527  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at Unit 327, 3/F, 16W, 16 Science Park West Avenue, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong. Our telephone number at this address is +852 2144 2638. Our registered office in the
Cayman Islands is located at the offices of International Corporation Services Ltd, P.O. Box 472, Harbour
Place, 2nd Floor, 103 South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. Our
agent for service of process in the United States is Cogency Global Inc. located at 122 East 42nd Street, 18th

Floor, New York, NY 10168. Investors should contact us for any inquiries through the address and telephone
number of our principal executive offices. Our website is https://qbssystem.com/. The information contained
on our website is not a part of this prospectus.

Summary of Risk Factors

We are a holding company incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands; investing in our Ordinary Shares involves significant risks. All of our revenues are generated by our
Hong Kong operating subsidiary. You should carefully consider all of the information in this prospectus
before making an investment in our Ordinary Shares. We are subject to a number of risks, including risks that
may prevent us from achieving our business objectives or may adversely affect our business, financial
condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
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Risks Related to Our Business

•         We have a limited history, making it difficult to forecast our future results of operations, albeit our
principal operating subsidiary, QBS System, has been in business since 2011. (see page 17 of this
prospectus)

•         The industry in which we participate is intensely competitive, and if we do not compete
effectively, our operating results could be harmed (see page 17 of this prospectus).

•         If we fail to upgrade, enhance and expand our products, technology and services to meet
customer needs and preferences, the demand for our products, solutions and services may
materially diminish (see page 18 of this prospectus).

•         We have derived and may continue to derive most of our revenue from our IoT Integration
Solution Services, and related products and services, which account for over 55% of our total
revenue. We also expect to generate significant revenue from these products and solutions in the
future. If the market for our core products and solutions ceases to exist or diminishes
significantly, our business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and
adversely affected (see page 18 of this prospectus).

•         The average selling prices of our products and services may decrease from time to time due to
technological advancement, and we may not be able to pass onto our suppliers such decreases,
which may in turn adversely affect our profitability (see page 19 of this prospectus).

•         If we are unable to maintain or enhance our brand recognition, our business, results of operations
and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected (see page 19 of this prospectus).

•         Our revenue and profit sustainability depend on our ability to maintain our competitiveness
through providing high quality products and services (see page 20 of this prospectus).

Risks Related to Our Operations

•         We have incurred net gains and positive cash flows from historic operating activities in the past,
and we may not continue to achieve or sustain profitability (see page 20 of this prospectus).

•         Our business requires significant financial resources, but we may not be able to obtain these in a
timely manner and on favorable terms or at all (see page 21 of this prospectus).

•         We may not be able to price our products at our desired margins as a result of any decrease in our
bargaining power or changes in market conditions (see page 21 of this prospectus).

•         High customer concentration exposes us to all of the risks faced by our major customers and may
subject us to significant fluctuations or declines in revenues (see page 21 of this prospectus).

•         We may be unable to make the substantial research and development investments that are
required to remain competitive in our business (see page 22 of this prospectus).

•         Cybersecurity incidents, including data security breaches or computer viruses, could harm our
business by disrupting our delivery of services, damaging our reputation or exposing us to
liability (see page 23 of this prospectus).

•         The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, and the related regulations
are evolving quickly. Further implementations and interpretations of or amendments to the HFCA
Act or the related regulations, or a PCAOB’s determination of its lack of sufficient access to
inspect our auditor, might pose regulatory risks to and impose restrictions on us because of our
operations in Hong Kong. A potential consequence is that our ordinary shares may be delisted by
the exchange. The delisting of our ordinary shares, or the threat of our ordinary shares being
delisted, may materially and adversely affect the value of your investment. Additionally, the
inability of the PCAOB to conduct full inspections of our auditor deprives our investors of the
benefits of such inspections. (see page 24 of this prospectus).
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Risks Relating To The Industry In Which We Operate

•         We operate in a highly competitive market for IoT products and services (see page 27 of this
prospectus).

•         Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our businesses could
have a material adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or
have other adverse consequences (see page 27 of this prospectus).

•         Failure to comply with privacy, data protection and cyber security laws and regulations could
have a materially adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or
have other adverse consequences (see page 27 of this prospectus).

Risks Relating To Doing Business in Hong Kong

•         Recently, the mainland PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to
regulate business operations in certain areas in China with little or no advance notice, including
cracking down on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over China-
based companies listed overseas using the variable interest entity structure, adopting new
measures to extend the scope of cybersecurity reviews, and expanding the efforts in anti-
monopoly enforcement. In the future, we may be subject to mainland PRC laws and regulations
related to the current business operations of our operating subsidiary and Chinese government
may intervene or influence our Hong Kong operating subsidiary’s operation, any changes in such
laws and regulations and interpretations may impair our ability to operate profitably, which could
result in a material negative impact on their operations and/or the value of the securities we are
registering for sale. (see page 29 of this prospectus).

•         If the PRC government chooses to extend the oversight and control over offerings that are
conducted overseas and/or foreign investment to Hong Kong-based issuers, such action may
significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer Ordinary Shares to
investors and cause the value of our Ordinary Shares to significantly decline or be worthless. (see
page 33 of this prospectus).

•         The enforcement of laws and rules and regulations in the PRC can change quickly with little
advance notice. Additionally, the PRC laws and regulations and the enforcement of such that
apply or are to be applied to Hong Kong can change quickly with little or no advance notice. As a
result, the Hong Kong legal system embodies uncertainties which could limit the availability of
legal protections, which could result in a material change in our operating subsidiary’s operations
and/or the value of the securities we are offering. (see page 33 of this prospectus).

•         It may be difficult for U.S.  regulators, such as the Department of Justice, the SEC, and other
authorities, to conduct investigation or collect evidence in Hong  Kong (see page 34 of this
prospectus).

•         The enactment of Law of the PRC on Safeguarding National Security in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Hong Kong National Security Law”) could impact our operating
subsidiary in Hong Kong (see page 34 of this prospectus).

•         There are some political risks associated with conducting business in Hong Kong (see page 35 of
this prospectus).

Risks Related To This Offering And Ownership Of Our Ordinary Shares

•         Future sales of a substantial amount of our Ordinary Shares may cause our stock price to decline
(see page 36 of this prospectus).

•         Limited trading volume of our Ordinary Shares may impact our share price (see page 36 of this
prospectus).

•         Our stock price may be volatile and may result in substantial losses for investors (see page 36 of
this prospectus).
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•         We will be a “controlled company” as defined under the Nasdaq Stock Market Rules. As a result,
we may rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements and holders of our
Ordinary Shares may not have the same protections generally available to stockholders of other
companies listed on stock exchanges in the United States (see page 37 of this prospectus).

•         Our Ordinary Shares may be thinly traded and you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or
at all if you need to sell your shares to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate your shares
(see page 37 of this prospectus).

•         We have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from this offering and may not use them
effectively (see page 39 of this prospectus).

These risks are discussed more fully in the section titled “Risk Factors” beginning on page 17 of this
prospectus, and other information included in this prospectus. These should be reviewed for a discussion of
these and other risks and uncertainties that we face.

Regulatory Development in the PRC

Hong Kong is a special administrative region of the PRC and the basic policies of the PRC regarding Hong
Kong are reflected in the Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, or the Basic Law,
which is a national law of the PRC and the constitutional document for Hong Kong. The Basic Law provides
Hong Kong with a high degree of autonomy and executive, legislative and independent judicial powers,
including that of final adjudication under the principle of “one country, two systems.” However, there is no
assurance that there will not be any changes in the economic, political and legal environment in Hong Kong
in the future. If there is a significant change to current political arrangements between Mainland China and
Hong Kong, companies operating in Hong Kong will face similar regulatory risks as those operated in the
PRC, including their ability to offer securities to investors, list their securities on a U.S. or other foreign
exchange, and conduct their business or accept foreign investment. In light of PRC government’s recent
expansion of authority in Hong Kong, there are risks and uncertainties which we cannot foresee for the time
being, and rules, regulations and the enforcement of laws in the PRC can change quickly with little or no
advance notice. The PRC government may intervene or influence the current and future operations in Hong
Kong at any time or may exert more oversight and control over offerings conducted overseas and/or foreign
investment in issuers like us.

We are aware that, recently, the PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to
regulate business operations in certain areas in mainland China with little advance notice, including a
cracking down on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over mainland China-based
companies listed overseas using the variable interest entity structure, adopting new measures to extend the
scope of cybersecurity reviews, and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement. For example, on
July 6, 2021, the General Office of the Communist Party of China Central Committee and the General Office
of the State Council jointly issued a document to crack down on illegal activities in the securities market and
promote the high-quality development of the capital market, which, among other things, requires the relevant
governmental authorities to strengthen cross-border oversight of law-enforcement and judicial cooperation, to
enhance supervision over mainland China-based companies listed overseas, and to establish and improve the
system of extraterritorial application of the PRC securities laws. On December 28, 2021, Cybersecurity
Review Measures were published by Cyberspace Administration of China or the CAC, National
Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, Ministry of Public
Security, Ministry of State Security, Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Commerce, People’s Bank of China,
State Administration of Radio and Television, China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”), State
Secrecy Administration and State Cryptography Administration and became effective on February 15, 2022,
which provides that, Critical Information Infrastructure Operators (“CIIOs”) that purchase internet products
and services and Online Platform Operators engaging in data processing activities that affect or may affect
national security shall be subject to the cybersecurity review by the Cybersecurity Review Office. On July 7,
2022, CAC promulgated the Measures for the Security Assessment of Data Cross-border Transfer, effective
on September 1, 2022, which requires the data processors to apply for data cross-border security assessment
coordinated by the CAC under the following circumstances: (i) any data processor transfers important data to
overseas; (ii) any critical information infrastructure operator or data processor who processes personal
information of over 1 million people provides personal information to overseas; (iii) any data processor who
provides personal information to overseas and has already provided personal information of more than
100,000 people or sensitive personal information of more than 10,000 people to overseas
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since January 1st of the previous year; and (iv) other circumstances under which the data cross-border
transfer security assessment is required as prescribed by the CAC. We believe we are fully in compliance
with the regulations or policies that have been issued by the CAC to date. As advised by our Chinese counsel,
Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, that the Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to the regulations and
rules issued by CAC.

On February 17, 2023, the CSRC released the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering
and Listing by Domestic Enterprises (the “New Overseas Listing Rules”) with five interpretive guidelines,
which took effect on March 31, 2023.The New Overseas Listing Rules require Chinese domestic enterprises
to complete filings with relevant governmental authorities and report related information under certain
circumstances, such as: a) an issuer making an application for initial public offering and listing in an overseas
market; b) an issuer making an overseas securities offering after having been listed on an overseas market; c)
a domestic company seeking an overseas direct or indirect listing of its assets through single or multiple
acquisition(s), share swap, transfer of shares or other means. The new rules provide that the determination as
to whether a Chinese domestic company is indirectly offering and listing securities on an overseas market
shall be made on a substance over form basis, and if the issuer meets the following conditions, the offering
and listing shall be determined as an indirect overseas offering and listing by a Chinese domestic company:
(i) any of the revenue, profit, total assets or net assets of the Chinese domestic entity is more than 50% of the
related financials in the issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements for the most recent fiscal year; (ii)
the senior managers in charge of business operation and management of the issuer are mostly Chinese
citizens or with regular domicile in China, the main locations of its business operations are in China or main
business activities are conducted in China. We are headquartered in Hong Kong with all our executive
officers and directors based in Hong Kong who are not Chinese citizens, all of our assets are located in Hong
Kong and all of our revenues and profits are generated by our subsidiary in Hong Kong. We are advised by
our Chinese counsel, Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, that the Company is not subject to the New Overseas
Listing Rules.

On February 24, 2023, the CSRC, the Ministry of Finance, the National Administration of State Secretes
Protection and the National Archives Administration released the Provisions on Strengthening the
Confidentiality and Archives Administration Related to the Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by
Domestic Companies, or the Confidentiality and Archives Administration Provisions, which took effect on
March 31, 2023. PRC domestic enterprises seeking to offer securities and list in overseas markets, either
directly or indirectly, shall establish and improve the system of confidentiality and archives work, and shall
complete approval and filing procedures with competent authorities, if such PRC domestic enterprises or their
overseas listing entities provide or publicly disclose documents or materials involving state secrets and work
secrets of state organs to relevant securities companies, securities service institutions, overseas regulatory
agencies and other entities and individuals. As of the date of this prospectus, as confirmed by our PRC
counsel, Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, these new laws and guidelines have not impacted the Company’s
ability to conduct its business, offering securities to foreign investors, or list and trade on a U.S. or other
foreign exchange. The Company is headquartered in Hong Kong and it owns 100% equity interest of its
subsidiary in Hong Kong and does not have a VIE structure in China. However, any change in foreign
investment regulations, and other policies in China or related enforcement actions by China government
could result in a material change in our operations and the value of our Ordinary Shares and could
significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer our Ordinary Shares to investors or cause the value
of our Ordinary Shares to significantly decline or be worthless.

Therefore, based on the PRC laws and regulations effective as of the date of this prospectus and subject to
interpretations of these laws and regulations that may be adopted by PRC government authorities, as advised
by Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, neither we, nor our operating subsidiary in Hong Kong are currently
required to obtain any permission or approval from the PRC government authorities, including the CSRC and
CAC, to operate our business, list on the U.S. exchanges, or offer the securities to foreign investors. As of the
date of this prospectus, neither we nor our operating subsidiary have ever applied for any such permission or
approval.

However, given the uncertainties arising from the PRC and Hong Kong legal systems, including uncertainties
regarding the interpretation and enforcement of the PRC laws and the significant authority of the PRC
government to intervene or influence the offshore holding company headquartered in Hong Kong, there
remains significant uncertainty in the interpretation and enforcement of relevant PRC cybersecurity laws and
other regulations. Since the New Overseas Listing Rules was newly promulgated, its interpretation,
application and enforcement remain unclear and there also remains significant uncertainty as to the
enactment, interpretation and implementation of other regulatory requirements related to overseas securities
offerings and other capital markets activities.
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If the New Overseas Listing Rules become applicable to us or our operating subsidiary in Hong Kong, if our
operating subsidiary is deemed to be a CIIO, or if the Measures for Cybersecurity Review (2021) or the PRC
Personal Information Protection Law become applicable to our operating subsidiary in Hong Kong, the
business operation of the operating subsidiary and the listing of our Ordinary Shares in the United States
could be subject to the CAC’s cybersecurity review or the New Overseas Listing Rules in the future.

While we do not believe we are covered by the permission requirements from CSRC or CAC, investors of
our company and our business may face potential uncertainty from enactment, interpretation and
implementation of regulatory requirements and the actions taken by the PRC government affecting our
business, overseas securities offerings and other capital market activities. If we and our subsidiaries (i) do not
receive or maintain such permissions or approvals, should the approval be required in the future by the PRC
government, (ii) inadvertently conclude that such permissions or approvals are not required, or (iii) applicable
laws, regulations, or interpretations change and we are required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the
future, our operations and financial conditions could be materially adversely affected, and our ability to offer
securities to investors could be significantly limited or completely hindered and the securities currently being
offered may substantially decline in value and be worthless. If the applicable laws, regulations, or
interpretations change and our operating subsidiary become subject to the CAC or CSRC review, we cannot
assure you that our operating subsidiary will be able to comply with the regulatory requirements in all
respects and our current practice of collecting and processing personal information may be ordered to be
rectified or terminated by regulatory authorities.

Moreover, if there is a significant change to the current political arrangements between the PRC and Hong
Kong, or the applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change, and/or if we were required to obtain such
permissions or approvals in the future in connection with the listing or continued listing of our securities on a
stock exchange outside of the PRC, it is uncertain how long it will take for us to obtain such approval, and,
even if we obtain such approval, the approval could be rescinded. Any failure to obtain or a delay in
obtaining the necessary permissions from the PRC authorities to conduct offerings or list outside of the PRC
may subject us to sanctions imposed by the CSRC, CAC, or other PRC regulatory authorities. It could include
fines and penalties, proceedings against us, and other forms of sanctions, and our ability to conduct our
business, invest into the Mainland China as foreign investments or accept foreign investments, ability to offer
or continue to offer Ordinary Shares to investors or list on the U.S. or other overseas exchange may be
restricted, and the value of our Ordinary Shares may significantly decline or be worthless, our business,
reputation, financial condition, and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. The
CSRC, the CAC, or other PRC regulatory agencies also may take actions requiring us, or making it advisable
for us, to halt this offering before settlement and delivery of our Ordinary Shares. Consequently, if you
engage in market trading or other activities in anticipation of and prior to settlement and delivery, you do so
at the risk that settlement and delivery may not occur. In addition, if the CSRC, the CAC, or other regulatory
PRC agencies later promulgate new rules requiring that we obtain their approvals for this offering, we may be
unable to obtain a waiver of such approval requirements, if and when procedures are established to obtain
such a waiver. Any uncertainties and/or negative publicity regarding such an approval requirement could
have a material adverse effect on the trading price of our securities.

Permission Required from Hong Kong Authorities

As of the date of this prospectus, we are advised by our Hong Kong counsel, Stevenson, Wong & Co., that the
Company is not required to obtain permission or approval from Hong Kong authorities to register and offer
the securities to foreign investors or list and trade on a U.S. or other foreign exchange. Should there be any
change in applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations, and we or any of our subsidiaries are required to
obtain such permissions or approvals in the future, we will strive to comply with the then applicable laws,
regulations, or interpretations. However, if we did become subject to PRC laws/authorities, we could incur
material costs to ensure compliance, be subject to fines, experience devaluation of securities or delisting, no
longer being able to conduct offerings to foreign investors, and no longer be permitted to continue our current
business operations. To the extent cash or assets in the business is in the PRC/Hong Kong or a PRC/Hong
Kong entity, the funds or assets may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside of the
PRC/Hong Kong due to interventions in or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on the ability of us or
our subsidiaries by the PRC government to transfer cash or assets. We currently have no operation or
subsidiary in China, we or our subsidiaries are not required to obtain from Chinese authorities to operate our
business and to offer the securities being registered to foreign investors. Hong Kong is a special
administrative region of the PRC and the basic policies of the PRC regarding Hong Kong are reflected in the
Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China, providing
Hong Kong with a high degree of autonomy

11

Table of Contents

and executive, legislative and independent judicial powers, including that of final adjudication under the
principle of “one country, two systems”. Pursuant to the Basic Law of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region, PRC laws and regulations shall not be applied in Hong Kong except for those listed in Annex III of
the Basic Law (which are confined to laws relating to national defense, foreign affairs and other matters that
are not within the scope of autonomy). Also, we or our subsidiaries, are not covered by permissions
requirements from CSRC, CAC or any other governmental agency. We have received all requisite
permissions or approvals, i.e. certificates of incorporation and business registration certificates that have been
obtained by our subsidiary in Hong Kong, for our business operations and no permission or approval has been
denied. If we or any of our subsidiaries do not receive or maintain permissions or approvals, inadvertently
conclude that such permissions or approvals are not required, or applicable laws, regulations, or
interpretations change and we or our subsidiaries are required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the
future, it could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer our securities to
investors and cause the value of our securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

Transfers of Cash to and from Our Subsidiary

Mega Fortune has no operations of its own. It conducts its operations in Hong Kong through the Operating
Entity. Mega Fortune may rely on dividends or payments to be paid by our Operating Entity to fund its cash
and financing requirements, including the funds necessary to pay dividends and other cash distributions to our
shareholders, to service any debt we may incur and to pay our operating expenses. If our Operating Entity
incurs debt on its own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict its ability to pay
dividends or make other distributions to us. Cash is transferred through our organization in the following
manner: funds are transferred from ultimate beneficial owner/other related parties to our Operating Entity in
Hong Kong directly.

There is no restriction under the Cayman Islands law on the amount of funding that Mega Fortune may
provide to its subsidiary in Hong Kong through loans or capital contributions, provided that such provision of
funds is in the best interests of, and of commercial benefit to, Mega Fortune. The Operating Entity is also
permitted under the laws of Hong Kong, to provide funding to Mega Fortune, through dividend distributions
or payments, without restrictions on the amount of the funds.

There are no restrictions or limitation on our ability to distribute earnings by dividends from our Operating
Entity in Hong Kong to the Company and our shareholders and U.S. investors, provided that the entity
remains solvent after such distribution. Subject to the Companies Act (as revised) of the Cayman Islands and
our Amended and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association, our board of directors may, by
resolutions of directors, authorize and declare a dividend out of our lawfully available funds to shareholders
from time to time and of an amount they deem fit if they are satisfied, on reasonable grounds, that
immediately after the distribution, the value of our assets will exceed our liabilities, and Mega Fortune will be
able to satisfy debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. According to the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), a company may only make a distribution out of profits
available for distribution. Other than the above, we did not adopt or maintain any cash management policies
and procedures as of the date of this prospectus.

Under the current practice of the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong, no tax is payable in Hong Kong
in respect of dividends paid by us.

There are no restrictions or limitations under the laws of Hong Kong imposed on the conversion of Hong
Kong dollar into foreign currencies and the remittance of currencies out of Hong Kong, nor is there any
restriction on any foreign exchange to transfer cash between Mega Fortune and its subsidiary, across borders
and to U.S. investors, nor there is any restrictions and limitations to distribute earnings from the Operating
Entity to Mega Fortune and U.S. investors. See “Regulations” on page 88 and “Dividend Policy” on page 47.

As further advised by our PRC Counsel, Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, the laws and regulations of the PRC
do not currently have any material impact on the transfer of cash from Mega Fortune to the Operating Entity
or from the Operating Entity to Mega Fortune, our shareholders and the U.S. investors. However, in the
future, funds may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside of Hong Kong, due to
interventions in, or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on, our ability or on our subsidiary’s ability
by the PRC government to transfer cash. Any limitation on the ability of our subsidiary to make payments to
us could have a material adverse effect on our ability to conduct our business and might materially decrease
the value of our Ordinary Shares or cause them to be worthless.
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Furthermore, the PRC government may, in the future, impose restrictions or limitations on our ability to
transfer money out of Hong Kong, to distribute earnings and pay dividends to and from the other entities
within our organization, or to reinvest in our business outside of Hong Kong. Such restrictions and
limitations, if imposed in the future, may delay or hinder the expansion of our business to outside of Hong
Kong and may affect our ability to receive funds from our Operating Entity in Hong Kong. The promulgation
of new laws or regulations, or the new interpretation of existing laws and regulations, in each case, that
restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact the ability or way we conduct our business, could require us to
change certain aspects of our business to ensure compliance, which could decrease demand for our services,
reduce revenues, increase costs, require us to obtain more licenses, permits, approvals or certificates, or
subject us to additional liabilities. To the extent any new or more stringent measures are required to be
implemented, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected and such
measured could materially decrease the value of our Ordinary Shares, potentially rendering it worthless.

For fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2024 and up to the date of this prospectus, no transfer of cash
or other types of assets has been made between Mega Fortune, Ponte Fides and Operating Entity; and Mega
Fortune, our holding company, has not declared or made any dividends or other distribution to its
shareholders in the past, nor has any dividends or distributions been made by our Operating Entity to Ponte
Fides and Mega Fortune, or by Ponte Fides to Mega Fortune.

If we determine to pay dividends on any of our Ordinary Shares in the future, as a holding company, we will
be dependent on receipt of funds from our Operating Entity by way of dividend payments. We do not have
any present plan to declare or pay any dividends on our Ordinary Shares in the foreseeable future. We
currently intend to retain all available funds and future earnings, if any, for the operation and expansion of our
business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any dividends in the foreseeable future. Any future
determination related to our dividend policy will be made at the discretion of our board of directors after
considering our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, contractual requirements,
business prospects and other factors the board of directors deems relevant, and subject to the restrictions
contained in any future financing instruments.
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The Offering

Below is a summary of the terms of the offering:

Issuer:  Mega Fortune Company Limited

Securities being offered:
 

3,750,000 Ordinary Shares;

Initial offering price:
 

$4 per Ordinary Share.

Number of Ordinary Shares outstanding
before the offering:

 
10,000,000 of our Ordinary Shares are outstanding as of the date
of this prospectus.

Over-allotment option
 

We have granted the Underwriter an option for a period of
45  days to purchase up to an aggregate of 562,500 additional
Ordinary Shares, equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the total
number of Ordinary Shares sold by us in this offering.

Number of Ordinary Shares Outstanding
After the Offering1:

 
13,750,000 Ordinary Shares assuming no exercise of the
Underwriter’s over-allotment option.

14,312,500 Ordinary Shares assuming full exercise of the
Underwriter’s over-allotment option.

Gross proceeds to us, net of underwriting
discounts but before expenses1:

 
$13,875,000.

Use of proceeds:
 

We intend to use the net proceeds of this offering as follows:
(1)  approximately 30% for market expansion, business
development & marketing; (2) approximately 35% for research
and development; (3) approximately 25% for the expansion of
software engineer team; and (4) for other general corporate
purposes and working capital, see “Use of Proceeds” on page
46.

Lock-up
 

We, and all of our directors and officers and certain shareholders
have agreed with the Underwriter, subject to certain exceptions,
not to sell, transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of
our Ordinary Shares or securities convertible into or exercisable
or exchangeable for our Ordinary Shares for a period of one
hundred and eighty (180) days after the closing of this offering.
See “Shares Eligible for Future Sale” and “Underwriting” for
more information.

Transfer Agent   Vstock Transfer, LLC.

Nasdaq Symbol:
 

MGRT

Risk factors:
 

Investing in our Ordinary Shares involves a high degree of risk.
As an investor, you should be able to bear a complete loss of
your investment. You should carefully consider the information
set forth in the “Risk Factors” section beginning on page 17.

____________

1         Excludes Ordinary Shares pursuant to the Underwriter’s over-allotment option.
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Summary Consolidated Financial and Operating Data

The following summary consolidated statements of income for the  years ended September  30, 2023 and
2024, summary consolidated balance sheet data as of September  30, 2023 and 2024, and summary
consolidated statements of cash flow for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2024, have been derived
from our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with U.S.  GAAP.  Our
historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future. The following
summary consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”, “Exchange Rate Information” and our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this prospectus.

The following table presents our summary consolidated statements of income for the  years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2024:

Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income Data:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Revenues   $ 3,325,990    $ 3,247,543  
Cost of revenues     (1,533,099)     (1,972,633)
Total operating expenses     (1,248,043)     (722,364)
Total other income, net     30,750      65,172  
Income tax expenses     (174,064)     (81,164)
Net income   $ 401,534    $ 536,554  

The following table presents our summary consolidated balance sheet as of September  30, 2023 and
September 30, 2024:

Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:

 

As of
September 30,

2024  

As of
September30,

2023

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  
Other Current Assets     2,354,898      1,603,501  
Total Non-Current Assets     701,390      43,284  
Total Assets     3,428,206      2,266,355  
Total Current Liabilities     (1,592,586)     (834,432)
Total Non-Current Liabilities     (477,604)     (479,412)
Total Liabilities     (2,070,190)     (1,313,844)
Total shareholders’ equity   $ 1,358,016    $ 952,511  
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The following table presents our summary consolidated statements of cash flow for the  years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2024:

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow Data:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Net cash used in operating activities   $ (99,794)   $ (32,724)
Net cash used in investing activities     (771)     (1,737)
Net cash used in financing activities     (146,843)     (289,683)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (247,408)     (324,144)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (244)     2,187  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     619,570      941,527  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  
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RISK FACTORS

Investment in our securities involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks described
below together with all of the other information included in this prospectus before making an investment
decision. The risks and uncertainties described below represent our known material risks to our business. If any
of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results of operations could suffer. In
that case, you may lose all or part of your investment. You should not invest in this offering unless you can
afford to lose your entire investment.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS

As a new company, Mega Fortune has a limited operating history (albeit QBS Systems has been operating
since 2011), making it difficult to forecast our future results of operations.

Mega Fortune was incorporated in January 2024 although our main operating subsidiary QBS System
commenced operations on April 14, 2011. Our relatively limited operating history makes it difficult to evaluate
our current business and prospects, and to plan for our anticipated future growth. As a result of our limited
history, our ability to accurately forecast our future results of operations is limited and subject to a number of
uncertainties, including our ability to plan for and model future growth. Our historical revenue growth should
not be considered indicative of our future performance.

Further, in future periods, our revenue growth could slow down or our revenue could decline for a number of
reasons, including slowing demand for our offerings, increased competition, changes to technology, a decrease
in the growth of our overall market, or our failure, for any reason, to continue to take advantage of growth
opportunities. We have also encountered, and will continue to encounter, risks and uncertainties frequently
experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries, such as the risks and uncertainties described
below. If our assumptions regarding these risks and uncertainties and our future revenue growth are incorrect, or
if we do not address these risks successfully, our operating and financial results could differ materially from our
expectations, and our business could suffer.

The industry in which we participate is intensely competitive, and if we do not compete effectively, our
operating results could be harmed.

The IoT market in which we compete requires continuous innovation and is highly competitive, rapidly
evolving, subject to changing technology, shifting customer needs and frequent introductions of new products
and services. Our competitors in the IoT enterprise marketplace include vendors of IoT devices and products,
cloud platform providers for certain hardware and application vendors, hardware providers offering sensors and
cloud integration partners, and IoT platforms from companies that have existing relationships with hardware
and software companies. We compete on a service basis, with customized products and services, by offering
fully integrated IoT device connectivity to a variety of niche markets. New competitors could launch new
businesses in our markets at a relatively low cost since technological and financial barriers to entry are
relatively low. Some of our current and potential competitors may have competitive advantages, such as greater
name recognition, longer operating histories, significant installed bases, broader geographic scope, and larger
marketing budgets, as well as substantially greater financial, technical, personnel, and other resources. In
addition, our potential competitors may have established marketing relationships and access to larger customer
bases, and have major service agreements with consultants influencing their purchasing decisions. We may also
experience competition from smaller, younger competitors that may be more agile in responding to customers’
demands. These competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or
changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements or provide competitive pricing. As a
result, even if our services are more effective than the services that our competitors offer, potential customers
might select competitive services in lieu of purchasing our services. For these reasons, we may not be able to
compete successfully against our current and future competitors, which could negatively impact our future sales
and harm our business and financial condition.

In order to differentiate our services from our competitors’, we must continue to focus on improving our
existing services and adapt to current technologies. If our services fail to achieve widespread market
acceptance, if existing customers do not subscribe to our paid subscription services, or if we are not successful
in capitalizing on opportunities in the connected IoT market, our future growth may be slowed and our business,
results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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If we fail to upgrade, enhance and expand our products, technologies and services to meet customer needs
and preferences, the demand for our products, solutions and services may materially diminish.

Our businesses operate in industries that are subject to rapid technological advances and changing customer
needs and preferences. In order to remain competitive and responsive to customer demands, we continually
upgrade, enhance, and expand our technologies, solutions and services. If we fail to respond successfully to
technology challenges and customer needs and preferences, the demand for our solutions and services may
diminish. In addition, investment in product development often involves a long return on investment cycle. We
have made and expect to continue to make significant investments in product development. We must continue to
dedicate a significant amount of resources to our development efforts before knowing to what extent our
investments will result in products and services the market will accept. In addition, our business could be
adversely affected in periods surrounding our new product introductions if customers delay purchasing
decisions to evaluate the new product offerings. Furthermore, we may not execute successfully on our product
development strategy, including because of challenges with regard to product planning and timing and technical
hurdles that we fail to overcome in a timely fashion. Other risks include the following:

•         our product planning efforts may fail to result in the development or commercialization of new
technologies or ideas;

•         our research and development efforts may fail to translate new product plans into commercially
feasible products;

•         our new technologies or new products may not be well received by consumers;

•         we may not have adequate funding and resources necessary for continual investments in product
planning and research and development;

•         our products may become obsolete due to rapid advancements in technology and changes in
consumer preferences; and

•         our newly developed technologies may not be protected as proprietary intellectual property rights.

Any failure to anticipate next-generation technologies or changes in customer preferences or to timely develop
new or enhanced products in response could result in decreased revenue and market share. In particular, we may
experience difficulties with product design, product development, marketing or certification, which could result
in excessive research and development expenses and capital expenditure, delays or prevent our introduction of
new or enhanced products. Furthermore, our research and development efforts may not yield the expected
results or may prove to be futile due to the lack of market demand.

We have derived and may continue to derive most of our revenue from our IoT Integration Solution Services.
We also expect to generate significant revenue from our IoT Integration Solution Services in the future. If
the market for IoT Integration Solution Services cease to exist or diminishes significantly, our business,
results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

Historically, our revenue has been primarily derived from the provision of IoT Integration Solution Services.
For the fiscal years 2023 and 2024, sales of our IoT Integration Solution Services generated approximately
$1.86 million and $1.85 million respectively, which accounted for 57% and 56% of our total revenue. We
expect to generate, in the foreseeable future, a significant portion of our revenue from sales of these products
and solutions.

If the market for any of the above-mentioned products and solutions ceases to exist or diminishes significantly,
we would experience a significant loss of sales, cancelation of orders, or loss of customers for our current and
future products and solutions. Similarly, if we cannot maintain the scale and profitability of our products and
solutions and, at the same time, successfully expand our business in other application markets, our business,
results of operations, financial condition and prospects will suffer. Furthermore, brand image deterioration and
margin squeeze caused by increased operating costs, declining economic returns or pricing competition for our
products and solutions could all have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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We face risks associated with the expansion of our business operations overseas and if we are unable to
effectively manage such risks, our business growth and profitability may be negatively affected.

We intend to grow our business in part by expand our sales network and operations internationally beyond
Hong  Kong.  Our expansion plans include possibly establishing additional offices for sales, research and
development and other operations in the United States, Singapore and Middle East. However, there are risks
associated with such global expansion plans, including:

•         high costs of investment to establish a presence in a new market and manage international
operations;

•         competition in unfamiliar markets;

•         foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;

•         regulatory differences and difficulties in ensuring compliance with multi-national legal requirements
and multi-national operations;

•         changes in economic, legal, political or other local conditions in new markets;

•         our limited customer base and limited sales and relationships with international customers;

•         competitors in the overseas markets may be more dominant and have stronger ties with customers
and greater financial and other resources;

•         challenges in managing our international sales channels effectively;

•         difficulty in ensuring that our customers comply with the sanctions imposed by the Office of
Foreign Assets Control in the United States and regulators in other countries and regions, on various
foreign states, organizations and individuals; and

•         governmental policies favoring domestic companies in certain foreign markets or trade barriers
including export requirements, tariffs, taxes and other restrictions and charges. In particular, a
worldwide trend in favor of nationalism and protectionist trade policy and the ongoing trade dispute
between the United States and PRC as well as other potential international trade disputes could
cause turbulence in international markets. These government policies or trade barriers could
increase the prices of our products and make us less competitive in such countries.

If we are unable to effectively manage such risks, we may encounter difficulties in our overseas expansion plans
and our business, reputation, results of operations and financial condition may be impaired.

The average selling prices of our products may decrease from time to time due to technological advancement,
and we may not be able to pass onto our suppliers such decreases, which may in turn adversely affect our
profitability.

The IoT industry is characterized by rapid launches of new products, continuous technological advancements,
and changing market trends and customer preferences, all of which translate to a shorter life cycle and a gradual
decrease in the average selling prices of products over time. Because we compete in an environment of rapidly-
evolving technology advancement and market trends, we may need to lower the price of our products to gain
stronger market competitiveness and we cannot assure you that we will be able to pass on any decrease in
average selling prices of our products to our suppliers. If the average selling prices of our products unusually or
significantly decrease and such decreases cannot be offset by a corresponding decrease in the prices of the
principal components of our products, our gross profit margins may be materially and adversely affected, which
in turn, may adversely affect our profitability.

If we are unable to maintain or enhance our brand recognition, our business, results of operations and
financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

Maintaining and enhancing the recognition, image and acceptance of our brand are important to our ability to
differentiate our products from and to compete effectively with our peers. Our brand image, however, could be
jeopardized if we fail to maintain high product quality, pioneer and keep pace with evolving technology trends,
or timely fulfill the orders for our products. If we fail to promote our brand or to maintain or enhance our brand
recognition for QBS System products and services and awareness among our customers, or if we are subject to
events or negative allegations affecting our brand image or the publicly perceived position of our brand, our
business, results of operations and financial condition could be adversely affected.
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Our revenue and profit sustainability depend on our ability to maintain our competitiveness through
providing high quality services.

Our principal operating subsidiary has been conducting business in the IoT industry for more than 13 years. On
a consolidated basis restated to take account of the Reorganization, we recorded revenue of approximately
$3.25 million and $3.33 million, respectively and profit of approximately $0.54 million and $0.40 million,
respectively for the years ended September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2024, respectively. The sustainability of
our revenue and profit will depend on the ability to maintain our competitiveness by delivering high quality and
innovative products and services.

The competition within the IoT industry is intense. Our competitors and new market entrants may increase in
the future resulting in intensified price competition, which could in turn adversely affect our bargaining power
in terms of fees charged and consequently our results of operations and prospects. Our market position may be
hampered by intensified competition in the form of better products and services and/or price reductions by our
competitors. Any failure to maintain our high quality products and services at competitive pricing could have a
material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

RISKS RELATING TO OUR OPERATIONS

We have incurred net gains and positive/negative cash flows from operating activities in the past, and we may
not achieve or sustain profitability.

On a consolidated basis, restated to take account of the Reorganization, we recorded net gain of approximately
$0.54 million and $0.40 million in the fiscal years 2023 and 2024, respectively. We also recorded negative cash
flow from operating activities of $0.03 million and $0.10 million in the fiscal years 2023 and 2024, respectively.
However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to generate net profit or positive cash flow from
operating activities in the future. Our ability to achieve continued profitability will depend in large part on our
ability to control expenses and manage our growth effectively, achieve a more stable performance given the
significant fluctuation and volatility of market prices for our core customers’ businesses, and maintain our
competitive advantage in the relevant markets. We expect to continue to make investments in the development
and expansion of our business, which will place significant demands on our management and our operational
and financial resources. Continuous expansion may increase the complexity of our business, and we may
encounter various difficulties. We may fail to develop and improve our operational, financial and management
controls, enhance our financial reporting systems and procedures, recruit, train and retain highly skilled
personnel, or maintain customer satisfaction to effectively support and manage our growth. If we invest
substantial time and resources to expand our operations but fail to manage the growth of our business and
capitalize on our growth opportunities effectively, we may not be able to achieve profitability, and our business,
results of operations and financial condition would be materially and adversely affected.

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in a widespread health crisis that adversely affected economies and
financial markets worldwide. Government efforts to contain the spread of the coronavirus including
lockdowns of cities, business closures, restrictions on travel and emergency quarantines, and responses by
businesses and individuals to reduce the risk of exposure to infection, including reduced travel, cancellation
of meetings and events, and implementation of work-at-home policies, caused significant disruptions to the
global economy and normal business operations. Our results might be significantly impacted by future
pandemics resulting in new lockdowns or similar policies adopted in Hong Kong or by other jurisdictions in
which we presently or may operate.

Our operating results substantially depend on revenue derived from IoT projects and customer installations. The
measures implemented to curb the spread of the virus resulted in supply chain disruptions, insufficient work
force and suspended work as COVID-19 persisted. In the event of future pandemics, one or more of our
customers, partners, service providers or suppliers might experience financial distress, delays or defaults on
payment, file for bankruptcy protection, suffer diminished business, or business disruptions in their business.
The efforts enacted to control COVID-19 placed heavy pressure on our operations, marketing and sales
activities. We continue to assess the related risks and impact that any future COVID-19 pandemic might have
on our business and financial performance.
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Our business requires significant financial resources, but we may not be able to obtain them in a timely
manner and on favorable terms or at all.

We recorded net cash outflow from operating activities of $0.03 million and $0.10 million in the fiscal years
2023 and 2024, respectively and incurred net gain of approximately $0.54 million and $0.40 million for the
fiscal years 2023 and 2024, respectively. We have in the past financed our working capital needs primarily with
our capital contributions, bank borrowings and loans from shareholders.

We may require additional cash resources due to the future growth, development and expansion of our business.
Our future capital requirements may be substantial as we seek to expand our operations, diversify our product
offering, and pursue acquisitions and equity investments. If our cash resources are insufficient to satisfy our
cash requirements, we may seek to issue additional equity or debt securities or obtain new or expanded credit
facilities.

Our ability to obtain external financing in the future is subject to a variety of uncertainties, including our future
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and the liquidity of international capital and lending
markets. Any indebtedness that we may incur in the future may also contain operating and financial covenants
that could further restrict our operations. We cannot assure you that financing will be available in a timely
manner or in amounts or on terms acceptable to us, or at all. A large amount of bank borrowings and other debt
may result in a significant increase in interest expense while at the same time exposing us to increased interest
rate risks. Equity financings could result in dilution to our shareholders, and the securities issued in future
financings may have rights, preferences and privileges that are senior to those of our ordinary shares. Any
failure to raise needed funds on terms favorable to us, or at all, could severely restrict our liquidity as well as
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may not be able to price our products at our desired margins as a result of any decrease in our
bargaining power or changes in market conditions.

We set prices for our products and services based on various internal and external factors, such as the cost of
production, the technological contents of our products, market conditions, personnel costs, licensing costs and
competition we face. Our ability to set favorable prices at our desired margins and accurately estimate costs,
among other factors, has a significant impact on our profitability. We cannot assure you that we will be able to
maintain our pricing or bargaining power or that our gross profit margin will not be driven down by market
conditions or other factors. If we see higher pricing pressure due to intensified competition from other
manufacturers, decreases in prices to our customers in the end market or any other reasons, or if we otherwise
lose bargaining power due to weaker demand for our products and services, we may need to reduce the prices
and lower the margins of our products. Moreover, we may not be able to accurately estimate our costs or pass
on all or part of any increase in our costs of production, and in particular, the costs of products, components,
licenses and personnel to our customers. As a result, our results of operations and financial condition could be
materially and adversely affected.

We may be exposed to credit risks and concentration of credit risks in relation to defaults from
counterparties.

Although we require our customers to make full payment for our solutions before delivery of products, and we
generally do not offer credit sales to customers, we cannot assure you that we will not offer credit sales to our
customers in the future due to various internal or external factors, such as the decrease in our bargaining power
and changes in industry conditions. If we start to offer credit sales, we may face credit risks associated with the
individual characteristics of each customer as well as the industry or country in which the customer operates.
Although we would monitor our exposure to credit risk and overdue receivables on an ongoing basis based on
the likelihood of collectability, we cannot assure you that all of our counterparties are creditworthy and
reputable and will not default on payments in the future. If we encounter significant delays or defaults in
payment by our customers or are otherwise unable to recover our accounts receivables, our cash flow, liquidity
and financial condition may be materially and adversely affected.

High customer concentration exposes us to all of the risks faced by our major customers and may subject us
to significant fluctuations or declines in revenues.

Our customers consist almost exclusively of private enterprises. A limited number of our major customers,
however, have contributed a significant portion of our revenue in the past. In 2023 and 2024, respectively, we
generated approximately 28% and 13% of our total revenues from our largest customer and approximately 59%
and 43% from our top five largest customers. Although we continually seek to diversify our customer base, we
cannot assure you that the proportion of the revenue contribution from these customers to our total revenues
will decrease in the near future. Dependence on a limited
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number of major customers exposes us to the risk of substantial losses if any of them reduces or ceases doing
business with us. Specifically, any one of the following events, among others, may cause material fluctuations or
declines in our revenues and have a material and adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects:

•         an overall decline in the business of one or more of our significant customers;

•         the decision by one or more of our significant customers to switch to our competitors;

•         the reduction in the prices of our products agreed by one or more of our significant customers;

•         the failure or inability of any of our significant customers to make timely payment for our products;
or

•         regulatory developments that may negatively affect the business of one or more of our significant
customers.

If we fail to maintain relationships with these major customers, and if we are unable to find replacement
customers on commercially desirable terms or in a timely manner or at all, our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.

We may be unable to make the substantial research and development investments that are required to remain
competitive in our business.

Advances in technologies, such as blockchain, artificial intelligence and cloud computing, have led to increased
demand for our core products and services with higher performance and power efficiency. We intend to broaden
our product and service offerings and to design and develop products and solutions covering more application
scenarios for our focus industries. We are committed to investing in new product development in order to stay
competitive in our markets. Nevertheless, if we are unable to generate enough revenue or raise enough capital to
make adequate research and development investments going forward, our product development and relevant
research and development initiatives may be restricted or delayed, or we may not be able to keep pace with the
latest market trends and satisfy our customers’ needs, which could materially and adversely affect our results of
operations. Furthermore, our substantial research and development expenditures may not yield the expected
results that enable us to roll out new products, which in turn will harm our prospects and results of operations.

Our success depends on our key management personnel

Our success is largely attributable to the continued commitment and contribution of our executive directors and
senior management. Their extensive knowledge and experience in the IoT industry, as well as their established
relationships with our customers have played a major role in our attainments. Mr. Wong Chi Fung, an executive
director of our operating entity in Hong Kong, has over 23 years of experience in the IoT industry. Other than
our executive directors, our senior management of our operating entity, particularly Mr. Kwan Ping Yuen, who
possess over 13 years of experience in IoT industry, also plays an important role in the daily operation of our
Company.

There is no assurance that we will be able to retain these key personnel, and the loss of any of them without
suitable and timely replacements, or the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may adversely affect
our business, results of operations, financial positions and prospects.

We may encounter difficulties in recruiting and retaining key personnel.

Our future growth and success depend to a significant extent on the continuing service and contribution of our
engineers and senior management personnel. Many of these key personnel are highly skilled and experienced
and are difficult to recruit and retain, particularly as we seek to expand our business with respect to our IoT
products and solutions. Competition for recruiting qualified personnel is intense, and recruiting personnel with
the combination of skills and attributes required to execute our business strategy may be difficult, time-
consuming and expensive. As a result, the loss of any key personnel or failure to recruit, train or retain qualified
personnel could have a significant negative impact on our operations.
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Cybersecurity incidents, including data security breaches or computer viruses, could harm our business by
disrupting our delivery of services, damaging our reputation or exposing us to liability.

We receive, process, store and transmit, often electronically, the data of our customers and others, much of
which is confidential. Unauthorized access to our computer systems or stored data could result in the theft,
including cyber-theft, or improper disclosure of confidential information, and the deletion or modification of
records could cause interruptions in our operations. These cyber-security risks increase when we transmit
information from one location to another, including over the internet or other electronic networks. Despite the
security measures we have implemented, our facilities, systems and procedures, and those of our third-party
service providers, may be vulnerable to security breaches, acts of vandalism, software viruses, misplaced or lost
data, programming or human errors or other similar events which may disrupt our delivery of services or expose
the confidential information of our customers and others. Any security breach involving the misappropriation,
loss or other unauthorized disclosure or use of confidential information of our customers or others, whether by
us or a third party, could subject us to civil and criminal penalties, have a negative impact on our reputation, or
expose us to liability to our customers, third parties or government authorities. We are not aware of such
breaches or any other material cybersecurity risks in our supply chain to date. However, any of these
developments could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If we suffer failure or disruption in our information systems, our ability to effectively manage our business
operations could be adversely affected.

We use primarily third party information systems to obtain, process, analyze and manage data crucial to our
business such as our enterprise resource planning system, and are still developing our own internal systems. We
use these systems to, among other things, monitor the daily operations of our business, maintain operating and
financial data, manage our distribution network as well as manage our research and development activities,
production operations and quality control systems. Any system damage or failure that interrupts data input,
retrieval or transmission or increases service time could disrupt our normal operations. In particular, our
operations could be disrupted if such damage or failure includes any security breach caused by hacking or
cybersecurity incidents, involves efforts to gain unauthorized access to our information or systems, or causes
intentional malfunctions, loss or corruption of data, software or hardware, the intentional or inadvertent
transmission of computer viruses and similar events or third-party actions. We cannot assure you that we will be
able to effectively handle a failure of our information systems, or that we will be able to restore our operational
capacity in a timely manner to avoid disruption to our business. The occurrence of any of these events could
adversely affect our ability to effectively manage our business operations and negatively impact our reputation.

We currently do not have any insurance coverage covering risks related to our business and operations.

We do not maintain any insurance policies covering of our business risks, such as risks relating to properties,
receivables, goods in transit and public liability. We cannot assure you that the insurance coverage we currently
have would be sufficient to fully cover our potential losses. In the event there is any damage to any assets or
incidents for which we do not have sufficient insurance coverage, if at all, we would have to pay for the
difference ourselves with the result our cash flow and liquidity could be negatively affected.

If we fail to comply with labor, work safety or environmental regulations, we could be exposed to penalties,
fines, suspensions or action in other forms.

Our operations are subject to the labor, work safety and environmental protection laws and regulations
promulgated by the Hong Kong government and the laws and regulations of other jurisdictions which may be
applicable to us. These laws and regulations require us to pay social insurance, maintain safe working
conditions and adopt effective measures to control and properly dispose of solid waste and other environmental
pollutants. We could be exposed to penalties, fines, suspensions or actions in other forms if we fail to comply
with these laws and regulations. The laws and regulations in Hong Kong may be amended from time to time
and changes in those laws and regulations may cause us to incur additional costs in order to comply with the
more stringent rules. In the event that changes to existing laws and regulations require us to incur additional
compliance costs or require costly changes to our production process, our costs could increase and we may
suffer a decline in sales for certain products, as a result of which our business, results of operations and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affected.
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Our business operations and international expansion are subject to geopolitical risks.

Our business operations and international expansion are subject to geopolitical risks. Any significant
deterioration in PRC’s international relations may have a negative impact on our ability to export our products
outside of Hong Kong. Changes to trade policies, treaties and tariffs in or affecting the jurisdictions in which we
operate and to which we sell our products, or the perception that these changes could occur, could adversely
affect financial and economic conditions in those jurisdictions, as well as our international sales, results of
operations and financial condition.

On February  24, 2022, the Russian Federation launched an invasion of Ukraine that has had an immediate
impact on the global economy resulting in higher energy prices and higher prices for certain raw materials and
goods and services which in turn is contributing to higher inflation in countries across the globe with significant
disruption to financial markets. We do not have any operations or business in Russia or Ukraine; however, we
may be potentially indirectly adversely impacted by the conflict through its impact on financial institutions
globally, which could adversely affect our operations. It is difficult to assess the likelihood of such threat and
any potential impact at this time. Any one or more of these events may impede our operations, which could
materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, and the related regulations are
evolving quickly. Further implementations and interpretations of or amendments to the HFCA Act or the
related regulations, or a PCAOB’s determination of its lack of sufficient access to inspect our auditor, might
pose regulatory risks to and impose restrictions on us because of our operations in Hong Kong. A potential
consequence is that our ordinary shares may be delisted by the exchange. The delisting of our ordinary
shares, or the threat of our ordinary shares being delisted, may materially and adversely affect the value of
your investment. Additionally, the inability of the PCAOB to conduct full inspections of our auditor deprives
our investors of the benefits of such inspections.

The Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, or the HFCA Act, was enacted on December 18, 2020. In
accordance with the HFCA Act, trading in securities of any registrant on a national securities exchange or in the
over-the-counter trading market in the United States may be prohibited if the PCAOB determines that it cannot
inspect or fully investigate the registrant’s auditor for three consecutive  years beginning in 2021, and, as a
result, an exchange may determine to delist the securities of such registrant. On June 22, 2021, the U.S. Senate
passed the Accelerating Holding Foreign Companies Accountable Act, which, would amend the HFCA Act and
require the SEC to prohibit an issuer’s securities from trading on any U.S. stock exchanges if its auditor is not
subject to PCAOB inspections for two consecutive years instead of three, thus reducing the time period before
our securities may be prohibited from trading or delisted if our auditor is unable to meet the PCAOB inspection
requirement. On December  29, 2022, a legislation entitled “Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2023” (the
“Consolidated Appropriations Act”), was signed into law by President Biden. The Consolidated Appropriations
Act contained, among other things, an identical provision to Accelerating Holding Foreign Companies
Accountable Act, which reduces the number of consecutive non-inspection  years required for triggering the
prohibitions under the HFCA Act from three years to two.

On November  5, 2021, the SEC adopted the PCAOB rule to implement HFCA Act, which provides a
framework for the PCAOB to determine whether it is unable to inspect or investigate completely registered
public accounting firms located in a foreign jurisdiction because of a position taken by one or more authorities
in that jurisdiction.

On December 2, 2021, SEC adopted amendments to finalize rules implementing the submission and disclosure
requirements in the HFCA Act. The rules apply to registrants the SEC identifies as having filed an annual report
with an audit report issued by a registered public accounting firm that is located in a foreign jurisdiction and that
the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate (the “Commission-Identified Issuers”). A Commission-Identified
Issuer will be required to comply with the submission and disclosure requirements in the annual report for each
year in which it was identified. If a registrant is identified as a Commission-Identified Issuer based on its annual
report for the fiscal year ended December  31, 2021, the registrant will be required to comply with the
submission or disclosure requirements in its annual report filing covering the fiscal year ended December 31,
2022.

On December 16, 2021, the PCAOB issued its determinations (the “Determination”) that they are unable to
inspect or investigate completely PCAOB-registered public accounting firms headquartered in mainland China
and in Hong Kong. The Determination includes lists of public accounting firms headquartered in mainland
China and Hong Kong that the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate completely.
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On August  26, 2022, the PCAOB signed a Statement of Protocol with the China Securities Regulatory
Commission and the Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China governing inspections and
investigations of audit firms based in China and Hong Kong. On December  15, 2022, the PCAOB Board
determined that the PCAOB was able to secure complete access to inspect and investigate registered public
accounting firms headquartered in mainland China and Hong  Kong and voted to vacate its previous
determinations to the contrary. However, should PRC authorities obstruct or otherwise fail to facilitate the
PCAOB’s access in the future, the PCAOB Board will consider the need to issue a new determination.

The enactment of the HFCA Act and related regulations and any additional actions, proceedings, or new rules
resulting from these efforts to increase U.S.  regulatory access to audit information could cause investors
uncertainty for affected issuers and the market price of our Ordinary Shares could be adversely affected, and we
could be delisted if our auditor is unable to meet the PCAOB inspection requirement.

The lack of access to PCAOB inspections prevents the PCAOB from fully evaluating audits and quality control
procedures of the auditors. As a result, investors may be deprived of the benefits of such PCAOB inspections.
The inability of the PCAOB to conduct inspections of auditors in China and Hong Kong makes it more difficult
to evaluate the effectiveness of these accounting firm’s audit procedures and quality control procedures as
compared to auditors outside of China that are subject to the PCAOB inspections.

Our auditor, WWC, P.C, an independent registered public accounting firm that is headquartered in the
United States, as an auditor of companies that are traded publicly in the United States and a firm registered with
the PCAOB, is subject to laws in the United States pursuant to which the PCAOB conducts inspections to
assess its compliance with the applicable professional standards. Our auditor has been inspected by the PCAOB
on a regular basis with the last inspection in 2023 and it is not included in the PCAOB Determinations.
However, we cannot assure you whether Nasdaq or regulatory authorities would apply additional and more
stringent criteria to us after considering the effectiveness of our auditor’s audit procedures and quality control
procedures, adequacy of personnel and training, or sufficiency of resources, geographic reach, or experience as
it relates to our audit. If it is later determined that the PCAOB is unable to inspect or investigate completely our
auditor because of a position taken by an authority in a foreign jurisdiction or any other reasons, the lack of
inspection could cause the trading in our securities to be prohibited under the Holding Foreign Companies
Accountable Act, and as a result Nasdaq may delist our securities. If our securities are unable to be listed on
another securities exchange, such a delisting would substantially impair your ability to sell or purchase our
securities when you wish to do so, and the risk and uncertainty associated with a potential delisting would have
a negative impact on the price of our Ordinary Shares. Further, new laws and regulations or changes in laws and
regulations in both the United States and Hong Kong could affect the listing and trading our Ordinary Shares on
Nasdaq, which could materially impair the market for and market price of our securities.

Our businesses store, transfer, process, use, and retain certain business and personal information, and a
security or privacy breach may damage or disrupt our businesses, result in the disclosure of confidential
information, damage our reputation, increase our costs, cause losses and materially adversely affect our
results of operations.

In connection with our business, we store, transfer, process, use, and retain certain business information about
our customers, our vendors and our employees, contractors and temporary staff, including payroll information,
health care information, personal and business financial data, identity card numbers and their foreign
equivalents, bank account numbers, tax information and other sensitive personal and business information.

We devote significant resources to safeguard the personal and business information in our possession and
maintain and regularly update our systems and processes. Nonetheless, attacks on information technology
systems continue to grow globally in frequency, complexity and sophistication, and we may be targeted by
unauthorized parties using malicious tactics, code and viruses. Certain of these malicious parties may be state-
sponsored and supported by significant financial and technological resources. Although this is a global problem,
it may affect our businesses more than other businesses because malevolent parties (including our personnel)
may focus on the amount and type of personal and business information that our businesses store, transfer,
process, use, and retain.

We have programs and processes in place to prevent, detect and respond to data or cyber security incidents.
However, because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access, disable or degrade service, or sabotage
systems change frequently, are increasingly more complex and sophisticated and may be difficult to detect for
long periods of time, we may be unable or fail to anticipate these techniques or implement adequate or timely
preventive or responsive measures. Our ability to address cyber security incidents may also depend on the
timing and nature of assistance that may be provided
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from relevant government or law enforcement agencies. Hardware, software, applications or services that we
develop or procure from third parties, or are required by third parties such as foreign governments to install on
our systems, may contain defects in design or manufacture or other problems that could (or, in respect of third-
party software, may be designed to) compromise the confidentiality, integrity or availability of data on our
systems. Unauthorized parties may also attempt to gain access to our systems or facilities, or those of third
parties with whom we do business, through fraud, trickery, or other methods of deceiving these third parties or
our personnel, including phishing and other social engineering techniques whereby attackers use end-user
behavior to distribute computer viruses and malware into our systems or otherwise compromise the
confidentiality, integrity or availability of data on our systems. As these threats continue to evolve and increase,
we continue to invest resources, and may be required to invest significant resources, to modify and enhance our
information security and controls and to investigate and remediate any security vulnerabilities. In addition,
while our operating environments are designed to safeguard and protect personal and business information, we
may not have the ability to monitor the implementation or effectiveness of any safeguards by our customers,
vendors or partners and, in any event, third parties may be able to circumvent those security measures.
Information obtained by malevolent parties resulting from successful attacks against our customers, vendors,
partners or other third parties may, in turn, be used to attack our information technology systems.

Any cyberattack, unauthorized intrusion, malicious software infiltration, network disruption, denial of service,
corruption of data, theft of non-public or other sensitive information, or similar act by a malevolent party, or
inadvertent acts or inactions by our vendors, partners or personnel, could result in the loss, disclosure or misuse
of confidential personal or business information or the theft of customer or end-user data, and could have a
materially adverse effect on our business or results of operations or that of our customers, resulting in liability,
litigation, regulatory investigations and sanctions or a loss of confidence in our ability to serve customers, or
cause current or potential customers to choose another service provider. As the global cyber-environment grows
increasingly hostile, the security of our operating environment is ever more important to our customers and
potential customers. As a result, the breach or perceived breach of our security systems could result in a loss of
confidence by our customers or potential customers and cause them to choose another service provider, which
could have a materially adverse effect on our business.

Although we believe that we maintain good information security and controls and we have not encountered data
or cyber security incident to date, a data or cyber security incident could have a materially adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and reputation.

We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. We
may not complete our ongoing analysis of our internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner,
or these internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor
confidence in our Company and, as a result, the value of our Ordinary Shares.

Prior to this offering, we were a private company with limited accounting personnel and other resources with
which to address our internal controls and procedures. Our management has not completed an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and our independent registered public accounting
firm has not conducted an audit of our internal control over financial reporting.

Upon completion of this offering, we will become a public company in the United States subject to Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act  of  2002 which requires that we include a report of management on our internal
control over financial reporting in our annual report on Form 20-F beginning with our annual report for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 2026. In addition, once we cease to be an “emerging growth company” as such
term is defined under the JOBS Act, and if the value of our non-affiliated float of our Ordinary Shares exceeds
certain amounts, our independent registered public accounting firm must attest to and report on the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting. Our management may conclude that our internal control over
financial reporting is not effective. Moreover, even if our management concludes that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm, after conducting its own
independent testing, may issue a report that is qualified if it is not satisfied with our internal controls or the level
at which our controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if it interprets the relevant
requirements differently from us. In addition, after we become a public company, our reporting obligations may
place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for the
foreseeable future. We may be unable to timely complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation.

26

Table of Contents

During the course of documenting and testing our internal control procedures, in order to satisfy the
requirements of Section  404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act  of  2002, we may identify other weaknesses and
deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of
our internal control over financial reporting, as these standards are modified, supplemented or amended from
time to time, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Generally, if we fail to
achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment, we could suffer material misstatements in our
financial statements and fail to meet our reporting obligations, which would likely cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information. This could in turn limit our access to capital markets and harm
our results of operations. Additionally, ineffective internal control over financial reporting could expose us to
increased risk of fraud or misuse of corporate assets and subject us to potential delisting from the stock
exchange on which we list, regulatory investigations and civil or criminal sanctions.

RISKS RELATING TO THE INDUSTRY IN WHICH WE OPERATE

We operate in a highly competitive market.

The IoT industry in Hong Kong (and Asia more broadly) is highly competitive/fragmented and there are several
market players in these industries. While we do not believe that any of our competitors currently has a
significant advantage over our Group, there is no assurance that our competitors will not develop the expertise,
experience and resources necessary to provide services that are better in quality and/or more competitive in
pricing compared to our services. Failure to maintain or enhance our competitiveness within the industry or
maintain our customer base may adversely affect our financial performance and profitability.



Failure to comply with, or changes in, laws and regulations applicable to our businesses could have a
material adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or have other adverse
consequences.

Our business is subject to a wide range of complex laws and regulations, including, but not limited to, the laws
and regulations described in the “Regulations” section. Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable
to our operations or customer solutions and services could cause us to incur substantial costs or could result in
the suspension or revocation of licenses or registrations, the limitation, suspension or termination of services,
the imposition of consent orders or civil and criminal penalties, including fines, and lawsuits, including class
actions, that could damage our reputation and have a materially adverse effect on our results of operation or
financial condition.

In addition, changes in laws or regulations, or changes in the interpretation of laws or regulations by a
regulatory authority, may decrease our revenues and earnings and may require us to change the manner in which
we conduct some aspects of our business. According to our Hong Kong Legal Adviser, we have obtained all
requisite licenses, permits and approvals for our business operations in Hong Kong including business
registration certificate. Please refer to “Regulations” in this prospectus for applicable licensing requirements and
regulatory frameworks in Hong Kong.

If the government of Hong Kong imposes any new or further licensing requirements, we may incur extra costs
and human resources in complying with such requirements, laws and/or regulations and our business may be
materially affected and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to obtain any additional licenses, if required.
We cannot assure that there will not be any changes in the regulatory environment in respect of the IoT
industries in Hong Kong, which may be unfavorable to our Group.

Failure to comply with privacy, data protection and cyber security laws and regulations could have a
materially adverse effect on our reputation, results of operations or financial condition, or have other
adverse consequences.

The collection, storage, hosting, transfer, processing, disclosure, use, security and retention and destruction of
personal or business information is subject to Hong Kong and other foreign privacy, data protection and cyber
security laws and ordinances. These laws and ordinances, which are not uniform, generally do one or more of
the following: regulate the collection, storage, hosting, transfer (including in some cases, the transfer outside the
country of collection), processing, disclosure, use, security and retention and destruction of personal
information; require notice to individuals of privacy practices; give individuals certain access and correction
rights with respect to their personal information; and regulate the use or disclosure of personal information for
secondary purposes such as marketing. Under certain
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circumstances, some of these laws require us to provide notification to affected individuals, customers, data
protection authorities and/or other regulators in the event of a data breach. In many cases, these laws apply not
only to third-party transactions, but also to transfers of information among the Company and its subsidiaries.

We believe that providing insights from data, including artificial intelligence and machine learning, will become
increasingly important to the value that our solutions and services deliver to our customers. However, the ability
to provide data-driven insights may be constrained by current or future regulatory requirements or ethical
considerations that could restrict or impose burdensome and costly requirements on our ability to leverage data
in innovative ways.

Complying with privacy, data protection and cyber security laws and requirements may result in significant
costs to our business and require us to amend certain of our business practices. Further, enforcement actions and
investigations by regulatory authorities related to data security incidents and privacy violations continue to
increase. The future enactment of more restrictive laws, rules or regulations and/or future enforcement actions
or investigations could have a materially adverse impact on us through increased costs or restrictions on our
businesses and noncompliance could result in significant regulatory penalties and legal liability and damage our
reputation. In addition, data security events and concerns about privacy abuses by other companies are changing
consumer and social expectations for enhanced privacy and data protection. As a result, even the perception of
noncompliance, whether or not valid, may damage our reputation.

RISKS RELATING TO DOING BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Heightened tensions in international relations, particularly between the United States and China, may
adversely impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Recently there have been heightened tensions in international relations, particularly between the United States
and China. These tensions have affected both diplomatic and economic ties among countries. Heightened
tensions could reduce levels of trade, investments, technological exchanges, and other economic activities
between the major economies. The existing tensions and any further deterioration in the relationship between
the United States and China may have a negative impact on the general, economic, political, and social
conditions in both countries and, given our reliance on the Chinese market, adversely impact our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.

On August 9, 2023, the Biden administration released an executive order and an advanced notice of proposed
rule-making (the “ANPRM”) providing a conceptual framework for outbound investment controls focused on
China. Further to this ANPRM, on June 21, 2024, the U.S. Department of the Treasury (the “U.S. Treasury”)
issued a proposed rule on outbound U.S. investments involving China that generally follows the ANPRM. On
October 28, 2024, the U.S. Treasury issued a Final Rule to implement the executive order of August 9, 2023.
The Final Rule became effective on January 2, 2025. The Final Rule targets investments involving persons and
entities associated with “countries of concern,” including China, and it imposes investment prohibition and
notification requirements on a wide range of investments in companies engaged in certain types of activities
relating to three sectors: (1) advanced microchips and microelectronics, (2) quantum computing, and (3)
artificial intelligence systems (“Covered Activities”), with persons from countries of concern engaged in these
Covered Activities included in the definition of “Covered Foreign Persons.” Investments by U.S. persons
subject to the Final Rule, which are defined as “covered transactions,” include acquisitions of equity interests,
certain debt financing, joint ventures, and certain investments as a limited partner in a non-U.S. person pooled
investment fund. The Final Rule excludes some investments from the scope of covered transactions, including
those in publicly traded securities listed on a national stock exchange. The Final Rule is aimed at exerting
greater U.S. government oversight over U.S. direct and indirect investments involving China, and may
introduce new hurdles and uncertainties for cross-border collaborations, investments, and funding opportunities
of China-based issuers including us. We do not believe we are a Covered Foreign Person under the Final Rule.
However, to the extent that we are deemed a Covered Foreign Person engaged in the development of Covered
Activities, the Final Rule could limit our ability to raise capital from U.S. investors generally, in which case our
ability to raise such capital may be significantly and negatively affected, which could be detrimental to our
capital raising capacity and our business, financial condition and prospects.

Additionally, the United States has recently proposed to impose multiple rounds of tariffs on a wide range of
goods imported from multiple countries, including China, and China has responded with retaliatory tariffs.
Since February 2025, the U.S. administration has increased the total tariff level for imported Chinese goods to
145% and additional tariff increase could be imposed as the trade tension between the two countries continues
to heighten.
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On April 11, 2025, China has responded by hiking its tariff on U.S. imports to 125%. In June 2025, China and
U.S. reached a framework agreement that U.S. will impose 55% tariff on Chinese goods. Historically, tariffs
have led to increased trade and political tensions, between the U.S. and China, as well as between the U.S. and
other countries. Political tensions as a result of trade policies could reduce trade volume, cross-border
investment, technological exchange, and other economic activities between major economies, resulting in a
material adverse effect on global economic conditions and the stability of global financial and stock markets.
Moreover, the heightened geopolitical uncertainty and potential for further escalation may discourage
investments in securities issued by China-based issuers and affect the global macroeconomic environment. For
example, it has been reported that the U.S. administration may consider imposing further restrictions or
prohibitions on listing and trading of securities of Chinese companies on U.S. stock exchanges. Any such
geopolitical developments could materially and adversely affect our offering, financing, overall financial
performance and prices of our Ordinary Shares.

We rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid by our Operating Entity to fund any cash and
financing requirements we may have. In the future, funds may not be available to fund operations or for
other use outside of Hong Kong, due to interventions in, or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on,
our ability or our Hong Kong subsidiary by the PRC government to transfer cash. Any limitation on the
ability of our Operating Entity to make payments to us could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
conduct our business and might materially decrease the value of our Ordinary Shares or cause them to be
worthless.

We are a holding company incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the
Cayman Islands, and we rely on dividends and other distributions on equity paid by our Operating Entity in
Hong Kong and elsewhere for our cash and financing requirements, including the funds necessary to pay
dividends and other cash distributions to our shareholders and service any debt we may incur. If our Operating
Entity incur debt on their own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict their ability
to pay dividends or make other distributions to us.

Under the current practice of the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong, no tax is payable in Hong Kong in
respect of dividends paid by us. See “Regulations — Regulations related to Hong Kong taxation.” The PRC
laws and regulations do not currently have any material impact on transfers of cash from Mega Fortune to the
Operating Entity or from the Operating Entity to Mega Fortune, our shareholders and U.S. investors. However,
the Chinese government may, in the future, impose restrictions or limitations on our ability to transfer money
out of Hong  Kong, to distribute earnings and pay dividends to and from the other entities within our
organization, or to reinvest in our business outside of Hong Kong. Such restrictions and limitations, if imposed
in the future, may delay or hinder the expansion of our business to outside of Hong Kong and may affect our
ability to receive funds from our Operating Entity. The promulgation of new laws or regulations, or the new
interpretation of existing laws and regulations, in each case, that restrict or otherwise unfavorably impact the
ability or way we conduct our business, could require us to change certain aspects of our business to ensure
compliance, which could decrease demand for our services, reduce revenues, increase costs, require us to obtain
more licenses, permits, approvals or certificates, or subject us to additional liabilities. To the extent any new or
more stringent measures are required to be implemented, our business, financial condition and results of
operations could be adversely affected and such measures could materially decrease the value of our Ordinary
Shares, potentially rendering them worthless.

Recently, the mainland PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to regulate
business operations in certain areas in China with little or no advance notice, including cracking down on
illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over China-based companies listed overseas
using the variable interest entity structure, adopting new measures to extend the scope of cybersecurity
reviews, and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement. In the future, we may be subject to
mainland PRC laws and regulations related to the current business operations of our operating subsidiary
and Chinese government may intervene or influence our Hong Kong operating subsidiary’s operation, any
changes in such laws and regulations and interpretations may impair our ability to operate profitably, which
could result in a material negative impact on their operations and/or the value of the securities we are
registering for sale.

Although we have direct ownership of our Operating Entity and currently do not have or intend to have any
subsidiary or any contractual arrangement to establish a VIE structure with any entity in mainland China, we are
still subject to certain legal and operational risks associated with one of our Operating Entity being based in
Hong Kong and having all of their operations to date in Hong Kong, and our executive offices being based in
Hong Kong. Additionally, all the legal and operational risks associated with having operations in mainland
China also apply to operations in Hong Kong,
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and we face the risks and uncertainties associated with the complex and evolving PRC laws and regulations and
as to whether and how the recent PRC government statements and regulatory developments, such as those
relating to data and cyberspace security and anti-monopoly  concerns, would be applicable to our Operating
Entity or Mega Fortune, and the Chinese government may exercise significant oversight over the conduct of
business in Hong Kong. In the event that we or our Operating Entity were to become subject to PRC laws and
regulations, we could incur material costs to ensure compliance, and we or our Operating Entity might be
subject to fines, experience devaluation of securities or delisting, no longer be permitted to conduct offerings to
foreign investors, and/or no longer be permitted to continue business operations as presently conducted. Our
organizational structure involves risks to the investors, and Chinese regulatory authorities could disallow this
structure, which would likely result in a material change in our operations and/or a material change in the value
of the securities Mega Fortune is registering for sale, including the risk that such event could cause the value of
such securities to significantly decline or become worthless. Moreover, there are substantial uncertainties
regarding the interpretation and application of PRC laws and regulations including, but not limited to, the laws
and regulations related to our business and the enforcement and performance of our arrangements with
customers in certain circumstances. The laws and regulations are sometimes vague and may be subject to future
changes, and their official interpretation and enforcement may involve substantial uncertainty. The effectiveness
and interpretation of newly enacted laws or regulations, including amendments to existing laws and regulations,
may be delayed, and our business may be affected if we rely on laws and regulations which are subsequently
adopted or interpreted in a manner different from our understanding of these laws and regulations. New laws
and regulations that affect existing and proposed future businesses may also be applied retroactively. We cannot
predict what effect the interpretation of existing or new PRC laws or regulations may have on our business.

The uncertainties regarding the enforcement of laws and the fact that rules and regulations in China can change
quickly with little advance notice, along with the risk that the Chinese government may intervene or influence
our Hong  Kong operating subsidiary’s operations at any time could result in a material change in our
Hong Kong operating subsidiary’s operations and/or the value of the securities we are registering.

We may become subject to a variety of PRC laws and other obligations regarding overseas listing rules and
data security, and any failure to comply with applicable laws and obligations could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Mega Fortune is a holding company incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability under the laws
of the Cayman Islands with a subsidiary operating and based in Hong Kong. As of the date of this prospectus,
we have no subsidiary, VIE structure or any direct operations in mainland China, nor do we intend to have any
subsidiary or VIE structure or to acquire any equity interests in any domestic companies in mainland China, and
we are not controlled by any companies or individuals of mainland China. Further, we are headquartered in
Hong Kong, with our chief executive officer, chief financial officer and all members of the board of directors of
Mega Fortune based in Hong Kong and none being a citizen of mainland China. All of our revenues and profits
are generated by our operating entities in Hong Kong. Moreover, pursuant to the Basic Law of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region, or the Basic Law, PRC laws and regulations shall not be applied in Hong Kong
except for those listed in Annex III of the Basic Law (which is confined to laws relating to national defense,
foreign affairs and other matters that are not within the scope of autonomy). Therefore, as confirmed by our
PRC counsel, Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, as of the date of this prospectus, we would not be subject to filing
requirements with the CSRC under Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing
by Domestic Enterprises (the “New Overseas Listing Rules”).

We are aware that, recently, the PRC government initiated a series of regulatory actions and statements to
regulate business operations in certain areas in mainland China with little advance notice, including a cracking
down on illegal activities in the securities market, enhancing supervision over mainland China-based companies
listed overseas using the variable interest entity structure, adopting new measures to extend the scope of
cybersecurity reviews, and expanding the efforts in anti-monopoly enforcement. For example, on July 6, 2021,
the General Office of the Communist Party of China Central Committee and the General Office of the State
Council jointly issued a document to crack down on illegal activities in the securities market and promote the
high-quality development of the capital market, which, among other things, requires the relevant governmental
authorities to strengthen cross-border oversight of law-enforcement and judicial cooperation, to enhance
supervision over mainland China-based companies listed overseas, and to establish and improve the system of
extraterritorial application of the PRC securities laws. On December 28, 2021, Cybersecurity Review Measures
were published by Cyberspace Administration of China or the CAC, National Development and Reform
Commission, Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, Ministry of Public Security, Ministry of State
Security, Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Commerce, People’s Bank
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of China, State Administration of Radio and Television, China Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”),
State Secrecy Administration and State Cryptography Administration and became effective on February  15,
2022, which provides that, Critical Information Infrastructure Operators (“CIIOs”) that purchase internet
products and services and Online Platform Operators engaging in data processing activities that affect or may
affect national security shall be subject to the cybersecurity review by the Cybersecurity Review Office. On
July  7, 2022, CAC promulgated the Measures for the Security Assessment of Data Cross-border Transfer,
effective on September  1, 2022, which requires the data processors to apply for data cross-border security
assessment coordinated by the CAC under the following circumstances: (i)  any data processor transfers
important data to overseas; (ii) any critical information infrastructure operator or data processor who processes
personal information of over 1  million people provides personal information to overseas; (iii)  any data
processor who provides personal information to overseas and has already provided personal information of
more than 100,000 people or sensitive personal information of more than 10,000 people to overseas since
January 1st of the previous year; and (iv) other circumstances under which the data cross-border transfer security
assessment is required as prescribed by the CAC. We believe we are fully in compliance with the regulations or
policies that have been issued by the CAC to date. As advised by our Chinese counsel, Guangdong Wesley Law
Firm, that the Company and its subsidiaries are not subject to the regulations and rules issued by CAC.

On February 17, 2023, the CSRC released the Trial Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering
and Listing by Domestic Enterprises (the “New Overseas Listing Rules”) with five interpretive guidelines,
which took effect on March 31, 2023. The New Overseas Listing Rules require Chinese domestic enterprises to
complete filings with relevant governmental authorities and report related information under certain
circumstances, such as: a) an issuer making an application for initial public offering and listing in an overseas
market; b) an issuer making an overseas securities offering after having been listed on an overseas market; c) a
domestic company seeking an overseas direct or indirect listing of its assets through single or multiple
acquisition(s), share swap, transfer of shares or other means. The new rules provide that the determination as to
whether a Chinese domestic company is indirectly offering and listing securities on an overseas market shall be
made on a substance over form basis, and if the issuer meets the following conditions, the offering and listing
shall be determined as an indirect overseas offering and listing by a Chinese domestic company: (i) any of the
revenue, profit, total assets or net assets of the Chinese domestic entity is more than 50% of the related
financials in the issuer’s audited consolidated financial statements for the most recent fiscal year; (ii) the senior
managers in charge of business operation and management of the issuer are mostly Chinese citizens or with
regular domicile in China, the main locations of its business operations are in China or main business activities
are conducted in China. We are headquartered in Hong Kong with all our executive officers and directors based
in Hong Kong who are not Chinese citizens, all of our assets are located in Hong Kong and all of our revenues
and profits are generated by our subsidiary in Hong Kong. We are advised by our Chinese counsel, Guangdong
Wesley Law Firm, that the Company is not subject to the New Overseas Listing Rules.

On February  24, 2023, the CSRC, the Ministry of Finance, the National Administration of State Secretes
Protection and the National Archives Administration released the Provisions on Strengthening the
Confidentiality and Archives Administration Related to the Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by
Domestic Companies, or the Confidentiality and Archives Administration Provisions, which took effect on
March  31, 2023. PRC domestic enterprises seeking to offer securities and list in overseas markets, either
directly or indirectly, shall establish and improve the system of confidentiality and archives work, and shall
complete approval and filing procedures with competent authorities, if such PRC domestic enterprises or their
overseas listing entities provide or publicly disclose documents or materials involving state secrets and work
secrets of state organs to relevant securities companies, securities service institutions, overseas regulatory
agencies and other entities and individuals. As of the date of this prospectus, as confirmed by our PRC counsel,
Guangdong Wesley Law Firm, these new laws and guidelines have not impacted the Company’s ability to
conduct its business, offering securities to foreign investors, or list and trade on a U.S.  or other foreign
exchange. The Company is headquartered in Hong Kong and it owns 100% equity interest of its subsidiary in
Hong  Kong and does not have a VIE structure in China. However, any change in foreign investment
regulations, and other policies in China or related enforcement actions by China government could result in a
material change in our operations and the value of our Ordinary Shares and could significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to offer our Ordinary Shares to investors or cause the value of our Ordinary Shares
to significantly decline or be worthless.

Given the uncertainties arising from the PRC and Hong Kong legal systems, including uncertainties regarding
the interpretation and enforcement of the PRC laws and the significant authority of the PRC government to
intervene or influence the offshore holding company headquartered in Hong  Kong, there are significant
uncertainty in the interpretation and enforcement of relevant PRC cybersecurity laws and other regulations.
Since the New Overseas
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Listing Rules was newly promulgated, its interpretation, application and enforcement remain unclear and there
also remains significant uncertainty as to the enactment, interpretation and implementation of other regulatory
requirements related to overseas securities offerings and other capital markets activities.

If the New Overseas Listing Rules become applicable to us or our operating subsidiary in Hong Kong, if our
operating subsidiary is deemed to be a CIIO, or if the Measures for Cybersecurity Review (2021) or the PRC
Personal Information Protection Law become applicable to our operating subsidiary in Hong Kong, the business
operation of the operating subsidiary and the listing of our Ordinary Shares in the United States could be subject
to the CAC’s cybersecurity review or the CSRC Overseas Issuance and Listing review in the future.

While we do not believe we are covered by the permission requirements from CSRC or CAC, investors of our
company and our business may face potential uncertainty from enactment, interpretation and implementation of
regulatory requirements and the actions taken by the PRC government affecting our business, overseas
securities offerings and other capital market activities. If we and our subsidiaries (i) do not receive or maintain
such permissions or approvals, should the approval be required in the future by the PRC government,
(ii)  inadvertently conclude that such permissions or approvals are not required, or (iii)  applicable laws,
regulations, or interpretations change and we are required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the future,
our operations and financial conditions could be materially adversely affected, and our ability to offer securities
to investors could be significantly limited or completely hindered and the securities currently being offered may
substantially decline in value and be worthless. If the applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change and
our operating subsidiary become subject to the CAC or CSRC review, we cannot assure you that our operating
subsidiary will be able to comply with the regulatory requirements in all respects and our current practice of
collecting and processing personal information may be ordered to be rectified or terminated by regulatory
authorities.

Moreover, if there is a significant change to the current political arrangements between the PRC and
Hong Kong, or the applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change, and/or if we were required to obtain
such permissions or approvals in the future in connection with the listing or continued listing of our securities
on a stock exchange outside of the PRC, it is uncertain how long it will take for us to obtain such approval, and,
even if we obtain such approval, the approval could be rescinded. Any failure to obtain or a delay in obtaining
the necessary permissions from the PRC authorities to conduct offerings or list outside of the PRC may subject
us to sanctions imposed by the CSRC, CAC, or other PRC regulatory authorities. It could include fines and
penalties, proceedings against us, and other forms of sanctions, and our ability to conduct our business, invest
into the Mainland China as foreign investments or accept foreign investments, ability to offer or continue to
offer Ordinary Shares to investors or list on the U.S. or other overseas exchange may be restricted, and the value
of our Ordinary Shares may significantly decline or be worthless, our business, reputation, financial condition,
and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected. The CSRC, the CAC, or other PRC
regulatory agencies also may take actions requiring us, or making it advisable for us, to halt this offering before
settlement and delivery of our Ordinary Shares. Consequently, if you engage in market trading or other
activities in anticipation of and prior to settlement and delivery, you do so at the risk that settlement and
delivery may not occur. In addition, if the CSRC, the CAC, or other regulatory PRC agencies later promulgate
new rules requiring that we obtain their approvals for this offering, we may be unable to obtain a waiver of such
approval requirements, if and when procedures are established to obtain such a waiver. Any uncertainties and/or
negative publicity regarding such an approval requirement could have a material adverse effect on the trading
price of our securities.

As of the date of this prospectus, we are advised by our Hong Kong counsel, Stevenson, Wong & Co., that the
Company is not required to obtain permission or approval from Hong Kong authorities to register and offer the
securities to foreign investors or list and trade on a U.S. or other foreign exchange. Should there be any change
in applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations, and we or any of our subsidiaries are required to obtain such
permissions or approvals in the future, we will strive to comply with the then applicable laws, regulations, or
interpretations. However, if we did become subject to PRC laws/authorities, we could incur material costs to
ensure compliance, be subject to fines, experience devaluation of securities or delisting, no longer being able to
conduct offerings to foreign investors, and no longer be permitted to continue our current business operations.
To the extent cash or assets in the business is in the PRC/Hong Kong or a PRC/Hong Kong entity, the funds or
assets may not be available to fund operations or for other use outside of the PRC/Hong  Kong due to
interventions in or the imposition of restrictions and limitations on the ability of us or our subsidiaries by the
PRC government to transfer cash or assets. We currently have no operation or subsidiary in China, we or our
subsidiaries are not required to obtain from Chinese authorities to operate our business and to offer the
securities being registered to foreign investors. Hong Kong is a special administrative region of the
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PRC and the basic policies of the PRC regarding Hong Kong are reflected in the Basic Law of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China, providing Hong Kong with a high degree of
autonomy and executive, legislative and independent judicial powers, including that of final adjudication under
the principle of “one country, two systems”. Pursuant to the Basic Law of the Hong  Kong Special
Administrative Region, PRC laws and regulations shall not be applied in Hong Kong except for those listed in
Annex III of the Basic Law (which are confined to laws relating to national defense, foreign affairs and other
matters that are not within the scope of autonomy). Also, we or our subsidiaries, are not covered by permissions
requirements from CSRC, CAC or any other governmental agency. We have received all requisite permissions
or approvals, i.e. certificates of incorporation and business registration certificates that have been obtained by
our subsidiary in Hong Kong, for our business operations and no permission or approval has been denied. If we
or any of our subsidiaries do not receive or maintain permissions or approvals, inadvertently conclude that such
permissions or approvals are not required, or applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change and we or
our subsidiaries are required to obtain such permissions or approvals in the future, it could significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer our securities to investors and cause the value of our
securities to significantly decline or become worthless.

If the PRC government chooses to extend the oversight and control over offerings that are conducted
overseas and/or foreign investment to Hong  Kong-based issuers, such action may significantly limit or
completely hinder our ability to offer or continue to offer Ordinary Shares to investors and cause the value of
our Ordinary Shares to significantly decline or be worthless

Recent statements, laws and regulations by the PRC government, including the Measures for Cybersecurity
Review (2021), the PRC Personal Information Protection Law and the Draft Rules on Overseas Listing
published by CSRC on December 24, 2021 have indicated an intent to exert more oversight and control over
offerings that are conducted overseas and/or foreign investments in Mainland China-based issuers. It remains
uncertain as to the enactment, interpretation, and implementation of regulatory requirements related to overseas
securities offering and other capital markets activities due to the possibility that laws, regulations, or policies in
the PRC could change rapidly in the future.

It remains uncertain whether the PRC government will adopt additional requirements or extend the existing
requirements to apply to our operating subsidiary. It is also uncertain whether the Hong Kong government will
be mandated by the PRC government, despite the constitutional constraints of the Basic Law, to control over
offerings conducted overseas and/or foreign investment of entities in Hong Kong, including our operating
subsidiary. Any actions by the PRC government to exert more oversight and control over offerings (including of
businesses, like us, whose operations are entirely in Hong Kong) that are conducted overseas and/or foreign
investments in Hong Kong-based issuers could significantly limit or completely hinder our ability to offer or
continue to offer securities to investors. If there is a significant change to current political arrangements between
Mainland China and Hong Kong, or the applicable laws, regulations, or interpretations change, and, in such
event, if we are required to obtain such approvals in the future and we do not receive or maintain the approvals
or is denied permission from Mainland China or Hong Kong authorities, we will not be able to list our Ordinary
Shares on a U.S.  exchange, or continue to offer securities to investors, which would materially affect the
interests of the investors and cause significant the value of our Ordinary Shares significantly decline or be
worthless.

The enforcement of laws and rules and regulations in the PRC can change quickly with little advance notice.
Additionally, the PRC laws and regulations and the enforcement of such that apply or are to be applied to
Hong Kong can change quickly with little or no advance notice. As a result, the Hong Kong legal system
embodies uncertainties which could limit the availability of legal protections, which could result in a
material change in our operating subsidiary’s operations and/or the value of the securities we are offering.

As one of the conditions for the handover of the sovereignty of Hong Kong to China, China accepted conditions
such as Hong Kong’s Basic Law. The Basic Law ensured Hong Kong will retain its currency (the Hong Kong
Dollar), legal system, parliamentary system, and people’s rights and freedom for fifty years from 1997.

This agreement has given Hong Kong the freedom to function with a high degree of autonomy. The Special
Administrative Region of Hong Kong is responsible for its domestic affairs, including, but not limited to, the
judiciary and courts of last resort, immigration, and customs, public finance, currencies, and extradition.
Hong Kong continues using the English common law system. However, if the PRC government attempts to
alter its agreement to allow Hong Kong to function autonomously, this could potentially impact Hong Kong’s
common law legal system and may in turn bring about uncertainty in, for example, the enforcement of our
contractual rights. This could, in turn,
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materially and adversely affect our operating subsidiary’s business and operations. Additionally, intellectual
property rights and confidentiality protections in Hong Kong may not be as effective as in the United States or
other countries. Accordingly, we cannot predict the effect of future developments in the Hong Kong legal
system, including the promulgation of new laws, changes to existing laws or the interpretation or enforcement
thereof, or the pre-emption of local regulations by national laws. These uncertainties could limit the legal
protections available to us, including the ability to enforce agreements with the customers.

It may be difficult for U.S. regulators, such as the Department of Justice, the SEC, and other authorities, to
conduct investigation or collect evidence in Hong Kong.

Shareholder claims or regulatory investigation that are common in the United States may be difficult to pursue
as a matter of law or practicality in Hong Kong. Generally, in PRC, there are significant legal and other
obstacles to providing information needed for regulatory investigations or litigations initiated outside
PRC. Although the authorities in PRC and Hong Kong may establish a regulatory cooperation mechanism with
the securities regulatory authorities of another country or region to implement cross-border supervision and
administration, such cooperation with regulatory authorities in the Unities States — including the SEC and the
Department of Justice — may not be efficient in the absence of a mutual and practical cooperation mechanism.
Furthermore, according to Article 177 of the PRC Securities Law, which became effective in March 2020, no
overseas securities regulator is allowed to directly conduct investigation or evidence collection activities within
the PRC territory. While detailed interpretation of or implementation rules under Article 177 have yet to be
promulgated, the inability for an overseas securities regulator to directly conduct investigation or evidence
collection activities within Hong Kong may further increase the difficulties you face in protecting your interests.

Our results of operations are subject to fluctuations in the exchange rate between the U.S. dollar and the
Hong Kong dollar.

Exchange rate fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the Hong Kong dollar, as well as inflation in Hong Kong
may negatively affect our earnings. Expenses associated with our Hong Kong operations, including facilities-
related expenses, are incurred in Hong Kong dollars, and personnel-related expenses are incurred in Hong Kong
dollars. Consequently, inflation in Hong Kong will have the effect of increasing the dollar cost of our operations
in Hong Kong, unless it is offset on a timely basis by a devaluation of the Hong Kong dollar, as applicable,
relative to the U.S. dollar. We cannot predict any future trends in the rate of inflation in Hong Kong or the rate
of devaluation of the Hong Kong dollar, as applicable, against the U.S. dollar. In addition, we are exposed to the
risk of fluctuation  in the value of the Hong Kong dollar vis-a-vis  the U.S.  dollar. While the Hong Kong
government has continued to pursue a fixed exchange rate policy, with the Hong  Kong dollar pegged at
approximately HK$7.80 to $1.00, we cannot assure you that such policy will be maintained. Any significant
appreciation of the Hong Kong dollar against the U.S. dollar would cause an increase in our Hong Kong dollar
expenses, as applicable, as recorded in our U.S. dollar denominated financial reports, even though the expenses
denominated in Hong  Kong dollars, as applicable, will remain unchanged. In addition, exchange rate
fluctuations in currency exchange rates in countries or areas other than Hong Kong where we operate and do
business may also negatively affect our earnings.

Risks relating to the economic, political, legal and social conditions in Hong Kong.

Any adverse changes in the economic, political, legal and social conditions of Hong Kong may lead to an
adverse impact on the demand for our services and may result in deteriorating financial performance of our
Group.

Furthermore, we cannot assure you that there will not be any political movements or large scale political unrest
in Hong Kong, which may in turn adversely impact the market or lead to disruption of the general economic,
political and social conditions in Hong Kong. If such unrest or movement persists for a substantial period of
time, it may lead to such disruption, and our overall business, results of operations and financial condition may
be adversely affected.

The enactment of Law of the PRC on Safeguarding National Security in the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (the “Hong Kong National Security Law”) could impact our operating subsidiary in
Hong Kong.

On June 30, 2020, the Standing Committee of the PRC National People’s Congress adopted the Hong Kong
National Security Law. This law defines the duties and government bodies of the Hong Kong National Security
Law for safeguarding national security and four categories of offences — secession, subversion, terrorist
activities,
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and collusion with a foreign country or external elements to endanger national security — and their
corresponding penalties. On July 14, 2020, the U.S. President signed the Hong Kong Autonomy Act, or HKAA,
into law, authorizing the U.S. administration to impose blocking sanctions against individuals and entities who
are determined to have materially contributed to the erosion of Hong Kong’s autonomy. On August 7, 2020, the
U.S. government imposed HKAA-authorized sanctions on eleven individuals, including the former HKSAR
chief executive Carrie Lam. On October 14, 2020, the U.S. State Department submitted to relevant committees
of Congress the report required under HKAA, identifying persons materially contributing to “the failure of the
Government of China to meet its obligations under the Joint Declaration or the Basic Law.” The HKAA further
authorizes secondary sanctions, including the imposition of blocking sanctions, against foreign financial
institutions that knowingly conduct a significant transaction with foreign persons sanctioned under this
authority. The imposition of sanctions may directly affect the foreign financial institutions as well as any third
parties or customers dealing with any foreign financial institution that is targeted. It is difficult to predict the full
impact of the Hong Kong National Security Law and HKAA on Hong Kong and companies located in Hong
Kong. If our Hong Kong subsidiary is determined to be in violation of the Hong Kong National Security Law or
the HKAA by competent authorities, our subsidiary’s business operations, financial position and results of
operations could be materially and adversely affected.

There are some political risks associated with conducting business in Hong Kong.

Our business operations are principally in Hong Kong. Accordingly, our business and financial conditions will
be affected by the political and legal developments in Hong Kong. During the period covered by the financial
information incorporated by reference into and included in this prospectus, we derive all of our revenue from
operations in Hong Kong and, specifically, from QBS System. Any adverse economic, social and/or political
conditions, material social unrest, strike, riot, civil disturbance or disobedience, as well as significant natural
disasters, may affect the market and may adversely affect the business operations of our operating subsidiary.
Hong Kong is a special administrative region (SAR) of the PRC and the basic policies of the PRC regarding
Hong Kong are reflected in the Basic Law, namely, Hong Kong’s constitutional document, which provides
Hong Kong with a high degree of autonomy and executive, legislative and independent judicial powers,
including that of final adjudication under the principle of “one country, two systems”. However, due to long-arm
provisions under the current PRC laws and regulations, there remain regulatory and legal uncertainty with
respect to the implementation of the PRC laws and regulations to Hong Kong. As a result, there is no guarantee
that the PRC government may not choose to implement the PRC laws and regulations to Hong Kong and
exercise significant direct influence and discretion over the operation of our operating subsidiary in the future
and, it will not have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations, due
to changes in laws, political environment or other unforeseeable reasons. There is no assurance that there will
not be any changes in the economic, political and legal environment in Hong Kong in the future. Since all of our
operating subsidiary’s operations are based in Hong Kong, any change of such political arrangements may pose
an immediate threat to the stability of the economy in Hong Kong, thereby directly and adversely affecting our
results of operations and financial positions.

Hong Kong became a special administrative region of the PRC when its sovereignty was returned to the
PRC. We cannot assure you that the economic, political and legal developments in Hong Kong will not be
adversely affected as a result of the exercise of sovereignty by the PRC over Hong Kong. If there is any material
adverse change in the general economic, political and legal developments in Hong Kong, our operations and
financial position may be adversely affected.

Based on certain recent development including the Hong Kong National Security Law issued by the Standing
Committee of the PRC National People’s Congress in June 2020, the U.S. State Department has indicated that
the United  States no longer considers Hong Kong to have significant autonomy from China and President
Trump signed an executive order and Hong  Kong Autonomy Act, or HKAA, to remove Hong  Kong’s
preferential trade status and to authorize the U.S.  administration to impose blocking sanctions against
individuals and entities who are determined to have materially contributed to the erosion of Hong Kong’s
autonomy. The United  States may impose the same tariffs and other trade restrictions on exports from
Hong Kong that it places on goods from Mainland China. These and other recent actions may represent an
escalation in political and trade tensions involving the U.S, the PRC and Hong Kong, which could potentially
harm our business. It is difficult to predict the full impact of the HKAA on Hong Kong and companies with
operations in Hong  Kong like us. Furthermore, legislative or administrative actions in respect of China-
U.S.  relations could cause investor uncertainty for affected issuers, including us, and the market price of our
Ordinary Shares could be adversely affected.
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RISKS RELATED TO THIS OFFERING AND OWNERSHIP OF OUR ORDINARY SHARES

Future sales of a substantial amount of our Ordinary Shares may cause our stock price to decline.

Upon completing this offering, we will have 13,750,000 Ordinary Shares outstanding assuming underwriter
does not exercise over-allotment option. Our principal stockholders, directors and executive officers will
beneficially own 10,000,000 of these shares. These stockholders will be subject to the limitations of Rule 144
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (which are discussed under “Shares Eligible for Future Sale”),
applicable restrictions on transfer contained in lock up agreements with the underwriters. We cannot predict
when these stockholders may sell their shares or in what volumes. However, the market price of our Ordinary
Shares could decline significantly if these stockholders sell a large number of shares into the public market after
this offering or if the market believes that these sales may occur. We may also issue our Ordinary Shares from
time to time as consideration for future acquisitions and investments. In the event any such acquisition or
investment is significant, the number of Ordinary Shares that we may issue could in turn be significant. In
addition, we may also grant registration rights covering those shares in connection with any such acquisitions
and investments.

Limited trading volume of our Ordinary Shares may impact our share price.

Even if we achieve a wider dissemination of our Ordinary Shares by means of the Ordinary Shares offered
pursuant to this prospectus, we are uncertain as to whether an active trading market in our Ordinary Shares will
develop. As a result, relatively small trades may have a significant impact on the price of our Ordinary Shares.

Our stock price may volatile and may result in substantial losses for investors.

The market price of our Ordinary Shares may be volatile. The stock market in general has been highly volatile
in 2024 and 2025 and may continue to be volatile in the remainder of 2025 and beyond. The volatility in
Ordinary Share price may be unrelated to our operating performance. In addition, the trading price of our
Ordinary Shares could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to:

•         our prospects as perceived by others;

•         variations in our operating results and our achievement of key business targets;

•         changes in securities analysts’ recommendations or earnings estimates;

•         differences between our reported results and those expected by investors and securities analysts;

•         announcements of new contracts or service offerings by us or our competitors;

•         market reaction to any acquisitions, joint ventures or strategic investments announced by us or our
competitors; and

•         general economic or stock market conditions unrelated to our operating performance.

Fluctuations in our stock price as a result of any of the foregoing factors may result in substantial losses for
investors.

Operating results may vary from quarter to quarter due to changes in timing and profitability.

Because our operating results are primarily generated from number of significant active IoT projects and
installations, operating results in any given fiscal quarter can vary depending on the timing of progress achieved
and changes in the estimated profitability of the projects and installations being reported. Progress on projects in
certain areas may also be delayed by weather conditions. Such delays, if they occur, may result in inconsistent
quarterly operating results due to more or less progress than anticipated being achieved on certain projects and
installations, which may in turn lead to reduced prices for our stock.
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Our largest shareholder, will be able to control and exert significance influence over our company following
this offering, and their interests may be different from or conflict with those of the holders of our Ordinary
Shares.

Mericorn Company Limited (“Mericorn”), a British Virgin Islands business company wholly owned by Messrs.
Ip Tsz Ying, Tin Sze Wai, Tam Tak Seng and Wong Ka Ki, will control more than 50% of the voting power of
our Company after the offering. As more than 50% of the voting power for the election of directors is held by
Mericorn following this offering, we are a “controlled company” as defined under Rule  5615(c)(1)  of the
Nasdaq Listing Rules. See “Principal Shareholders.” In addition to the elections of our directors, Mericorn is
and will continue to be able to exert a significant degree of influence or actual control over other management
and affairs and control matters requiring an approval from a majority of shareholders, including the merger,
consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our assets, and any other significant transaction. Their interests
might not always be aligned with the interests of our other shareholders.

We will be a “controlled company” as defined under the NASDAQ Stock Market Rules. As a result, we may
rely on exemptions from certain corporate governance requirements and holders of our Ordinary Shares
may not have the same protections generally available to stockholders of other companies listed on stock
exchanges in the United States.

Because more than 50% of the voting power for the election of our directors will be controlled by Mericorn
Company Limited following the completion of the offering, we will be a “controlled company” as defined under
Rule  5615(c)(1)  of the Nasdaq Listing Rules. As a “controlled company”, we qualify for exemptions from
several of Nasdaq’s corporate governance requirements, including requirements that:

•         a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors;

•         compensation of officers be determined or recommended to the board of directors by a majority of
its independent directors or by a compensation committee comprised solely of independent
directors; and

•         director nominees be selected or recommended to the board of directors by a majority of its
independent directors or by a nominating committee that is composed entirely of independent
directors.

Accordingly, to the extent that we may choose to rely on one or more of these exemptions, our shareholders
would not be afforded the same protections generally as shareholders of other Nasdaq-listed companies as long
as these individuals control more than 50% of the voting power of our Company and our board determines to
rely upon one or more of such exemptions.

There has been no public market for our Ordinary Shares prior to this offering, and if an active trading
market does not develop you may not be able to resell our Ordinary Shares at or above the price you paid, or
at all.

Prior to this public offering, there has been no public market for our Ordinary Shares. Our Ordinary Shares have
been approved to list on NASDAQ. If an active trading market for our Ordinary Shares does not develop after
this offering, the market price and liquidity of our Ordinary Shares will be materially adversely affected. The
public offering price for our Ordinary Shares has been determined by negotiations between us and the
underwriters and may bear little or no relationship to the market price for our Ordinary Shares after the public
offering. You may not be able to sell any Ordinary Shares that you purchase in the offering at or above the
public offering price. Accordingly, investors should be prepared to face a complete loss of their investment.

Our Ordinary Shares may be thinly traded and you may be unable to sell at or near ask prices or at all if you
need to sell your shares to raise money or otherwise desire to liquidate your shares.

After our Ordinary Shares begin trading on NASDAQ, our Ordinary Shares may be “thinly-traded”, meaning
that the number of persons interested in purchasing our Ordinary Shares at or near bid prices at any given time
may be relatively small or non-existent. This situation may be attributable to a number of factors, including the
fact that we are relatively unknown to stock analysts, stock brokers, institutional investors and others in the
investment community that generate or influence sales volume, and that even if we came to the attention of such
persons, they tend to be risk-averse and might be reluctant to follow an unproven company such as ours or
purchase or recommend the purchase of our shares until such time as we became more seasoned. As a
consequence, there may be periods of several days or more when trading activity in our shares is minimal or
non-existent, as compared to a seasoned issuer which has a large and steady volume of trading activity that will
generally support continuous sales without an adverse effect on the share price. A broad or active public trading
market for our Ordinary Shares may not develop or be sustained.
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If securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they publish a
negative report regarding our Ordinary Shares, the price of our Ordinary Shares and trading volume could
decline.

Any trading market for our Ordinary Shares may depend in part on the research and reports that industry or
securities analysts publish about us or our business. We do not have any control over these analysts. If one or
more of the analysts who cover us downgrade us, the price of our Ordinary Shares would likely decline. If one
or more of these analysts cease coverage of our Company or fail to regularly publish reports on us, we could
lose visibility in the financial markets, which could cause the price of our Ordinary Shares and the trading
volume to decline.

The market price for our Ordinary Shares may be volatile.

The trading price of our Ordinary Shares may be volatile and could fluctuate widely due to factors beyond our
control. This may happen because of the broad market and industry factors, like the performance and fluctuation
of the market prices of other companies with business operations located mainly in Hong Kong or China that
have listed their securities in the United States.

The market price for our Ordinary Shares may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations due to factors such
as:

•         the perception of U.S. investors and regulators of U.S. listed Hong Kong companies;

•         actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;

•         changes in financial estimates by securities research analysts;

•         negative publicity, studies or reports;

•         conditions in the Hong Kong retail, entertainment and logistics market;

•         our capability to catch up with the new developments and innovations in the industry;

•         changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other retail, entertainment and
logistics companies;

•         announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or
capital commitments;

•         addition or departure of key personnel;

•         fluctuations of exchange rates between and Hong Kong dollar and the U.S. dollar; and

•         general economic or political conditions in Hong Kong.

In addition, the securities market has from time to time experienced significant price and volume fluctuations
that are not related to the operating performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may also
materially and adversely affect the market price of our Ordinary Shares.

Because our initial public offering price is substantially higher than our pro forma net tangible book value
per share, you will experience immediate and substantial dilution.

If you purchase Ordinary Shares in this offering, you will pay more for your Ordinary Shares than the amount
paid by existing shareholders for their Ordinary Shares on a per Ordinary Share basis. As a result, you will
experience immediate and substantial dilution of $3.01 per Ordinary Share, representing the difference between
(i) our as adjusted net tangible book value per Ordinary Share of $0.99 as of September 30, 2024, after giving
effect to this offering, and (ii) the initial public offering price per share of $4.00 per Ordinary Share, assuming
the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option. See “Dilution” for a more complete description of
how the value of your investment in our Ordinary Shares will be diluted upon the completion of this offering.
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Volatility in our Ordinary Share price may subject us to securities litigation.

The market for our Ordinary Shares may have, when compared to seasoned issuers, significant price volatility
and we expect that our share price may continue to be more volatile than that of a seasoned issuer for the
indefinite future. In the past, plaintiffs have often initiated securities class action litigation against a company
following periods of volatility in the market price of its securities. We may, in the future, be the target of similar
litigation. Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and liabilities and could divert management’s
attention and resources.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from this offering and may not use them effectively.

Our management will have broad discretion in the application of the net proceeds, including for any of the
purposes described in the section entitled “Use of Proceeds,” and you will not have the opportunity as part of
your investment decision to assess whether the net proceeds are being used appropriately. Because of the
number and variability of factors that will determine our use of the net proceeds from this offering, their
ultimate use may vary substantially from their currently intended use. The failure by our management to apply
these funds effectively could harm our business.

In order to raise sufficient funds to enhance operations, we may have to issue additional securities at prices
which may result in substantial dilution to our shareholders.

If we raise additional funds through the sale of equity or convertible debt, our current shareholders’ percentage
ownership will be reduced. In addition, these transactions may dilute the value of Ordinary Shares outstanding.
We may have to issue securities that may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to our Ordinary Shares.
We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to raise additional funds on terms acceptable to us, if at all. If
future financing is not available or is not available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to fund our future
needs, which would have a material adverse effect on our business plans, prospects, results of operations and
financial condition.

We are not likely to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

We currently intend to retain any future earnings for use in our operations and expansion of our business.
Accordingly, we do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future but will review this policy as
circumstances dictate. Should we determine to pay dividends in the future, our ability to do so will depend upon
the receipt of dividends or other payments from our subsidiaries, which may from time to time, be subject to
restrictions on its ability to make distributions to us, including restrictions on the conversion of Hong Kong
dollars into U.S. dollars, and other regulatory restrictions.

You may face difficulties in protecting your interests as a shareholder, as Cayman Islands law provides
substantially less protection when compared to the laws of the United States and it may be difficult for a
shareholder of ours to effect service of process or to enforce judgements obtained in the United States courts.

Our corporate affairs are governed by our current Memorandum and Articles of Association and by the
Companies Act (as revised) and common law of the Cayman Islands. The rights of shareholders to take legal
action against our directors and us, actions by minority shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our
directors to us under Cayman Islands law are to a large extent governed by the common law of the Cayman
Islands. The common law of the Cayman Islands is derived in part from comparatively limited judicial
precedent in the Cayman Islands as well as from English common law. Decisions of the Privy Council (which is
the final court of appeal for British overseas territories such as the Cayman Islands) are binding on a court in the
Cayman Islands. Decisions of the English courts, and particularly the Supreme Court of the United Kingdom
and the Court of Appeal are generally of persuasive authority but are not binding on the courts of the Cayman
Islands. The rights of our shareholders and the fiduciary responsibilities of our directors under Cayman Islands
law are not as clearly established as they would be under statutes or judicial precedents in the United States. In
particular, the Cayman Islands may have a less developed body of securities laws as compared to the
United States and provide significantly less protection to investors. In addition, Cayman Islands companies may
not have standing to initiate a shareholder derivative action before the United States federal courts. The Cayman
Islands courts are also unlikely to impose liabilities against us in original actions brought in the Cayman Islands,
based on certain civil liability provisions of United States securities laws.

Currently, our operations are conducted outside the United States, and all of our assets are located outside the
United  States. All of our directors and officers are nationals or residents of jurisdictions other than the
United States and a substantial portion of their assets are located outside the United States. As a result, it may be
difficult for a
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shareholder to effect service of process within the United States upon these persons, or to enforce against us or
them judgments obtained in United  States courts, including judgments predicated upon the civil liability
provisions of the securities laws of the United States or any state in the United States.

Travers Thorp Alberga, our counsel as to Cayman Islands law, has advised us that there is uncertainty as to
whether the courts of the Cayman Islands would: (i)  recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained
against us or our directors or officers that are predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal
securities laws of the United States or the securities laws of any state in the United States, or (ii)  entertain
original actions brought in the Cayman Islands against us or our directors or officers that are predicated upon
the federal securities laws of the United States or the securities laws of any state in the United States.

Travers Thorp Alberga has informed us that although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of
judgments obtained in the federal or state courts of the United States (and the Cayman Islands are not a party to
any treaties for the reciprocal enforcement or recognition of such judgments), a judgment in personam obtained
in such jurisdiction will be recognized and enforced in the courts of the Cayman Islands at common law,
without any re-examination of the merits of the underlying dispute, by an action commenced on the foreign
judgment debt in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands, provided such judgment (a) is given by a competent
foreign court with jurisdiction to give the judgment, (b) imposes a specific positive obligation on the judgment
debtor (such as an obligation to pay a liquidated sum or perform a specified obligation), (c)  is final and
conclusive, (d) is not in respect of taxes, a fine or a penalty; (e) has not been obtained by fraud; and (f) was not
obtained in a manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to natural justice or the public
policy of the Cayman Islands. However, the Cayman Islands courts are unlikely to enforce a judgment obtained
from the U.S.  courts under civil liability provisions of the U.S.  federal securities law if such judgment is
determined by the courts of the Cayman Islands to give rise to obligations to make payments that are penal or
punitive in nature. Because such a determination has not yet been made by a court of the Cayman Islands, it is
uncertain whether such civil liability judgments from U.S. courts would be enforceable in the Cayman Islands.
A Cayman Islands court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought
elsewhere.

Stevenson, Wong & Co., our counsel as to Hong Kong law, has advised us that judgments of United States
courts will not be directly enforced in Hong Kong. There are currently no treaties or other arrangements
providing for reciprocal enforcement of foreign judgments between Hong  Kong and the United  States.
However, the common law permits an action to be brought upon a foreign judgment. That is to say, a foreign
judgment itself may form the basis of a cause of action since the judgment may be regarded as creating a debt
between the parties to it. In a common law action for enforcement of a foreign judgment in Hong Kong, the
enforcement is subject to various conditions, including but not limited to, that the foreign judgment is a final
judgment conclusive upon the merits of the claim, the judgment is for a liquidated amount in a civil matter and
not in respect of taxes, fines, penalties, or similar charges, the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained
were not contrary to natural justice, and the enforcement of the judgment is not contrary to public policy of
Hong Kong. Such a judgment must be for a fixed sum and must also come from a “competent” court as
determined by the private international law rules applied by the Hong Kong courts. The defenses that are
available to a defendant in a common law action brought on the basis of a foreign judgment include lack of
jurisdiction, breach of natural justice, fraud, and contrariness to public policy. However, a separate legal action
for collection of a debt must be commenced in Hong Kong in order to recover such debt from the judgment
debtor.

As a result of all of the above, our shareholders may have more difficulty in protecting their interests through
actions against us or our officers, directors or major shareholders than would shareholders of a corporation
incorporated in a jurisdiction in the United States.

We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Exchange Act, and as such we are
exempt from certain provisions applicable to United States domestic public companies.

We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Exchange Act. As such, we are exempt
from certain provisions applicable to United States domestic public companies. For example:

•         we are not required to provide as many Exchange Act reports, or as frequently, as a domestic public
company;

•         for interim reporting, we are permitted to comply solely with our home country requirements, which
are less rigorous than the rules that apply to domestic public companies;

•         we are not required to provide the same level of disclosure on certain issues, such as executive
compensation;
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•         we are exempt from provisions of Regulation FD aimed at preventing issuers from making selective
disclosures of material information;

•         we are not required to comply with the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of
proxies, consents or authorizations in respect of a security registered under the Exchange Act; and

•         we are not required to comply with Section 16 of the Exchange Act requiring insiders to file public
reports of their share ownership and trading activities and establishing insider liability for profits
realized from any “short-swing” trading transaction.

We are required to file an annual report on Form 20-F within four months of the end of each fiscal year. In
addition, we will file reports on Form 6-K as a foreign private issuer. However, the information we are required
to file with or furnish to the SEC will be less extensive and less timely compared to that required to be filed with
the SEC by U.S. domestic issuers. As a result, you may not be afforded the same protections or information that
would be made available to you were you investing in a U.S. domestic issuer.

Because we are a foreign private issuer and are exempt from certain NASDAQ corporate governance
standards applicable to U.S. issuers, you may have less protection than you would have if we were a domestic
issuer.

The Nasdaq Listing Rules require listed companies to have, among other things, a majority of its board
members be independent. As a foreign private issuer, however, we are permitted to follow home country
practice in lieu of the above requirements. The Company currently intends to follow the requirements of the
Nasdaq Listing Rules without relying on the exemption provided for foreign private issuers under Marketplace
Rule 5615(a)(3). However, we may choose to rely on such exemption to follow certain corporate governance
practices of our home country practice in the future. The corporate governance practice in our home country, the
Cayman Islands, does not require a majority of our board to consist of independent directors. Thus, although a
director must act in the best interests of the Company, it is possible that fewer board members will be exercising
independent judgment and the level of board oversight on the management of our Company may decrease as a
result. In addition, the Nasdaq Listing Rules also requires U.S.  domestic issuers to have a compensation
committee of at least two members and each committee member must be an independent director. We, as a
foreign private issuer, are not subject to such requirement, if we choose to follow our home country practice.
The Nasdaq Listing Rules may require shareholder approval for certain corporate matters, such as requiring that
shareholders be given the opportunity to vote on all equity compensation plans and material revisions to those
plans for certain ordinary share issuances. We intend to comply with the requirements of the Nasdaq Listing
Rules in determining whether shareholder approval is required on such matters and to appoint a nominating and
corporate governance committee. However, we may consider following home country practice in lieu of the
requirements under the Nasdaq Listing Rules with respect to certain corporate governance standards in the
future which may afford less protection to investors.

Although as a foreign private issuer we are exempt from certain corporate governance standards applicable
to US domestic issuers, if we cannot satisfy, or continue to satisfy, the listing requirements and other rules of
the Nasdaq Capital Market, our securities may be delisted, which could negatively impact the price of our
securities and your ability to sell them.

Our Ordinary Shares are approved for listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to meet the continued listing requirements of the Nasdaq in the future.

In addition, following this offering, in order to maintain our listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, we will be
required to comply with certain rules the Nasdaq Capital Market, including those regarding minimum
stockholders’ equity, minimum share price, minimum market value of publicly held shares, and various
additional requirements. Even if we initially meet the listing requirements and other applicable rules of the
Nasdaq Capital Market, we may not be able to continue to satisfy these requirements and applicable rules. If we
are unable to satisfy the Nasdaq Capital Market criteria for maintaining our listing, our securities could be
subject to delisting.

If the Nasdaq Capital Market delists our securities from trading, we could face significant consequences,
including:

•         a limited availability for market quotations for our securities;

•         reduced liquidity with respect to our securities;
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•         a determination that our Ordinary Shares is a “penny stock,” which will require brokers trading in
our Ordinary Shares to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of
trading activity in the secondary trading market for our Ordinary Shares;

•         limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

•         a decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, and if we take advantage
of certain exemptions from disclosure requirements available to emerging growth companies, this could
make it more difficult to compare our performance with other public companies.

We are an “emerging growth company” within the meaning of the Securities Act, as modified by the JOBS Act.
Section 102(b)(1) of the JOBS Act exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with
new or revised financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a
Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities registered under the
Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act
provides that a company can elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements
that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such an election to opt out is irrevocable. We have
elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised
and it has different application dates for public or private companies, we, as an emerging growth company, can
adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard. This may
make comparison of our financial statements with another public company which is neither an emerging growth
company nor an emerging growth company which has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult
or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.



As an “emerging growth company” under applicable law, we will be subject to reduced disclosure
requirements. Such reduced disclosures may make our Ordinary Shares less attractive to investors.

For as long as we remain an “emerging growth company”, as defined in the JOBS Act, we will elect to take
advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not “emerging growth companies”, including, but not limited to, not being required to
comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, reduced disclosure
obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions
from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder
approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. Because of these reduced regulatory
requirements, our shareholders would be left without information or rights available to shareholders of more
mature companies. If some investors find our Ordinary Shares less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our Ordinary Shares and our share price may be more volatile.

If we are classified as a passive foreign investment company, United States taxpayers who own our Ordinary
Shares may have adverse United States federal income tax consequences.

A non-U.S. corporation such as ourselves will be classified as a passive foreign investment company, which is
known as a PFIC, for any taxable year if, for such year, either

•         At least 75% of our gross income for the year is passive income; or

•         The average percentage of our assets (determined at the end of each quarter) during the taxable year
which produce passive income or which are held for the production of passive income is at least
50%.

Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, rents and royalties (other than rents or royalties derived
from the active conduct of a trade or business) and gains from the disposition of passive assets.

If we were to be or become a PFIC for any taxable year during which a U.S.  taxpayer holds our Ordinary
Shares, the U.S.  taxpayer may be subject to increased U.S. federal income tax liability and may be subject to
additional reporting requirements.

Depending on the amount of cash we raise in this offering, together with any other assets held for the
production of passive income, it is possible that, for our current taxable year or for any subsequent year, at least
50% of our assets may be assets which produce passive income. We will make this determination following the
end of any particular tax year. Although the law in this regard is unclear, we treat our consolidated affiliated
entities as being owned by
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us for United  States federal income tax purposes, not only because we exercise effective control over the
operation of such entities but also because we are entitled to substantially all of their economic benefits, and, as
a result, we consolidate their operating results in our consolidated financial statements. For purposes of the
PFIC analysis, in general, a non-U.S. corporation is deemed to own its pro rata share of the gross income and
assets of any entity in which it is considered to own at least 25% of the equity by value.

For a more detailed discussion of the application of the PFIC rules to us and the consequences to U.S. taxpayers
if we were determined to be a PFIC, see “Taxation — United  States Federal Income Taxation —  Passive
Foreign Investment Company.”

Our board of directors may refuse or delay the registration of the transfer of Ordinary Shares in certain
circumstances.

Except in connection with the settlement of trades or transactions entered into through the facilities of a stock
exchange or automated quotation system on which our Ordinary Shares are listed or traded from time to time,
our board of directors may resolve to refuse or delay the registration of the transfer of our Ordinary Shares.
Where our directors do so, they must specify the reason(s) for this refusal or delay in a resolution of the board
of directors. Our directors may also refuse or delay the registration of any transfer of Ordinary Shares if the
transferor has failed to pay an amount due in respect to those Ordinary Shares. If our directors refuse to register
a transfer, they shall, as soon as reasonably practicable, send the transferor and the transferee a notice of the
refusal or delay in the approved form.

This, however, will not affect market transactions of the Ordinary Shares purchased by investors in the public
offering. Where the Ordinary Shares are listed on a stock exchange, the Ordinary Shares may be transferred
without the need for a written instrument of transfer, if the transfer is carried out in accordance with the rules of
the stock exchange and other requirements applicable to the Ordinary Shares listed on the stock exchange.

We will incur increased costs as a result of being a public company, particularly after we cease to qualify as
an “emerging growth company.”

Upon consummation of this offering, we will incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses as a public
company that we did not incur as a private company. The Sarbanes-Oxley Act  of  2002, as well as rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC and the NASDAQ Capital Market, impose various requirements on the
corporate governance practices of public companies. We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the
JOBS Act and will remain an emerging growth company until the earlier of (1)  the last day of the fiscal year
(a) following the fifth anniversary of the completion of this offering, (b)  in which we have total annual gross
revenue of at least $1.235 billion, or (c) in which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer, which means the
market value of our Ordinary Shares that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business
day of our most recently completed second fiscal quarter and we have been publicly reporting for at least 12
months, and (2)  the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt during the
prior three-year period. An emerging growth company may take advantage of specified reduced reporting and
other requirements that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions include
exemption from the auditor attestation requirement under Section 404 in the assessment of the emerging growth
company’s internal control over financial reporting and permission to delay adopting new or revised accounting
standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies.

Compliance with these rules and regulations increases our legal and financial compliance costs and makes some
corporate activities more time-consuming and costly. After we are no longer an “emerging growth company,” or
until five years following the completion of our initial public offering, whichever is earlier, we expect to incur
significant expenses and devote substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the
requirements of Section 404 and the other rules and regulations of the SEC. For example, as a public company,
we have increased the number of independent directors and adopted policies regarding internal controls and
disclosure controls and procedures. In addition, we incur additional costs associated with our public company
reporting requirements. It may also be more difficult for us to find qualified persons to serve on our board of
directors or as executive officers. We expect that we will incur additional professional fees and other expenses
as a result of being a public company.
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We are obligated to develop and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting. We
may not complete our analysis of our internal control over financial reporting in a timely manner, or these
internal controls may not be determined to be effective, which may adversely affect investor confidence in our
Company and, as a result, the value of our Ordinary Shares.

Prior to this offering, we were a private company with limited accounting personnel and other resources with
which to address our internal controls and procedures. Our management has not completed an assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, and our independent registered public accounting
firm has not conducted an audit of our internal control over financial reporting.

Upon completion of this offering, we will become a public company in the United States subject to Section 404
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act  of  2002 which requires that we include a report of management on our internal
control over financial reporting in our annual report on Form 20-F beginning with our annual report for the
fiscal year ending September 30, 2026. In addition, once we cease to be an “emerging growth company” as such
term is defined under the JOBS Act, and if the value of our non-affiliated float of our Ordinary Shares exceeds
certain amounts, our independent registered public accounting firm must attest to and report on the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting. Our management may conclude that our internal control over
financial reporting is not effective. Moreover, even if our management concludes that our internal control over
financial reporting is effective, our independent registered public accounting firm, after conducting its own
independent testing, may issue a report that is qualified if it is not satisfied with our internal controls or the level
at which our controls are documented, designed, operated or reviewed, or if it interprets the relevant
requirements differently from us. In addition, after we become a public company, our reporting obligations may
place a significant strain on our management, operational and financial resources and systems for the
foreseeable future. We may be unable to timely complete our evaluation, testing and any required remediation.

During the course of documenting and testing our internal control procedures, in order to satisfy the
requirements of Section  404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act  of  2002, we may identify other weaknesses and
deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. In addition, if we fail to maintain the adequacy of
our internal control over financial reporting, as these standards are modified, supplemented or amended from
time to time, we may not be able to conclude on an ongoing basis that we have effective internal control over
financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Generally, if we fail to
achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment, we could suffer material misstatements in our
financial statements and fail to meet our reporting obligations, which would likely cause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information. This could in turn limit our access to capital markets and harm
our results of operations. Additionally, ineffective internal control over financial reporting could expose us to
increased risk of fraud or misuse of corporate assets and subject us to potential delisting from the stock
exchange on which we list, regulatory investigations and civil or criminal sanctions.

If a limited number of participants in this offering purchase a significant percentage of the offering, the
effective public float may be smaller than anticipated and the price of our Ordinary Shares may be volatile
which could subject us to securities litigation and make it more difficult for you to sell your shares.

As a company conducting a relatively small public offering, we are subject to the risk that a small number of
investors will purchase a high percentage of the offering. While the underwriters are required to sell shares in
this offering to at least 300 unrestricted round lot shareholders (a round lot shareholder is a shareholder who
purchases at least 100 shares) and at least 50% of the minimum required number of round lot holders must each
hold unrestricted shares with a minimum market value of $2,500 in order to ensure that we meet the Nasdaq
initial listing standards, we have not otherwise imposed any obligations on the underwriters as to the maximum
number of shares they may place with individual investors. If, in the course of marketing the offering, the
underwriters were to determine that demand for our shares was concentrated in a limited number of investors
and such investors determined to hold their shares after the offering rather than trade them in the market, other
shareholders could find the trading and price of our shares affected (positively or negatively) by the limited
availability of our shares. If this were to happen, investors could find our shares to be more volatile than they
might otherwise anticipate. Companies that experience such volatility in their stock price may be more likely to
be the subject of securities litigation. In addition, if a large portion of our public float were to be held by a few
investors, smaller investors may find it more difficult to sell their shares.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements that reflect our current expectations and views of future
events. The forward-looking statements are contained principally in the sections entitled “Prospectus
Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and “Business.” Known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, including those listed
under “Risk Factors,” may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from
those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.

You can identify some of these forward-looking statements by words or phrases such as “may,” “will,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “aim,” “estimate,” “intend,” “plan,” “believe,” “is/are likely to,” “potential,” “continue”
or other similar expressions. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current
expectations and projections about future events that we believe may affect our financial condition, results of
operations, business strategy and financial needs. These forward-looking statements include statements relating
to:

•         our goals and strategies;

•         our future business development, financial conditions and results of operations;

•         the expected growth of the IoT market in Hong Kong and Asia;

•         fluctuations in interest rates;

•         our expectations as to increase of customers and projects;

•         our expectations regarding our relationships with suppliers;

•         competition in our industry;

•         relevant government policies and regulations relating to our business and industry;

•         impact of COVID-19 on our business and financial conditions;

•         fluctuations in operating results; and

•         other factors set forth under “Risk Factors”.

These forward-looking statements involve various risks and uncertainties. Although we believe that our
expectations expressed in these forward-looking statements are reasonable, our expectations may later be found
to be incorrect. Our actual results could be materially different from our expectations. Important risks and
factors that could cause our actual results to be materially different from our expectations are generally set forth
in “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,”
“Business,” “Regulation” and other sections in this prospectus. You should thoroughly read this prospectus and
the documents that we refer to with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different
from and worse than what we expect. We qualify all of our forward-looking statements by these cautionary
statements.

This prospectus contains certain data and information that we obtained from various government and private
publications. Statistical data in these publications also include projections based on a number of assumptions.
Our industry may not grow at the rate projected by market data, or at all. Failure of this market to grow at the
projected rate may have a material and adverse effect on our business and the market price of our Ordinary
Shares. In addition, the rapidly changing nature of IoT technologies and services and related service results in
significant uncertainties for any projections or estimates relating to the growth prospects or future condition of
our market. Furthermore, if any one or more of the assumptions underlying the market data are later found to be
incorrect, actual results may differ from the projections based on these assumptions. You should not place undue
reliance on these forward-looking statements.

The forward-looking statements made in this prospectus relate only to events or information as of the date on
which the statements are made in this prospectus. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to
update or revise publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events
or otherwise, after the date on which the statements are made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated
events. You should read this prospectus and the documents that we refer to in this prospectus and have filed as
exhibits to the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, completely and with the understanding
that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

At an initial public offering price of $4.00 per Ordinary Share, we estimate that we will receive net proceeds
from this offering, after deducting the estimated underwriting discounts, underwriter non-accountable expense
allowance, and the estimated offering expenses paid and payable by us, of $12.31 million if the Underwriter
does not exercise its over-allotment option, and $14.37 million if the Underwriter exercises its over-allotment
option in full.

We plan to use the net proceeds of this issue as follows: (1) 30% for market expansion, business development &
marketing; (2) 35% research and development; (3) 25% for the expansion of software engineer team; and (4)
remainder for other general corporate purposes and working capital.

The foregoing represents our current intentions based upon our present plans and business conditions to use and
allocate the net proceeds of this offering. Our management, however, will have significant flexibility and
discretion to apply the net proceeds of this offering. If an unforeseen event occurs or business conditions
change, we may use the proceeds of this offering differently than as described in this prospectus. See “Risk
Factors — Risks Related to our Ordinary Shares and this Offering and — You must rely on the judgment of our
management as to the use of the net proceeds from this offering, and such use may not produce income or
increase the price of our Ordinary Shares.”

In using the proceeds of this offering, there is no restriction under Hong Kong laws and regulations for an
offshore holding company to provide funding to its wholly foreign-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong. We may
extend inter-company loans to our wholly foreign-owned subsidiary in Hong Kong or make additional capital
contributions to our wholly-foreign-owned subsidiaries to fund their capital expenditures or working capital. We
plan to use approximately $1.40 million, including all expenses paid as of the date of the prospectus, from the
proceeds to pay the costs and expenses associated with being a public company. This portion of the offering
proceeds will be immediately available to us following the closing of the offering as it will not be remitted to
Hong Kong.

Approximately $12.31 million of the proceeds will be immediately remitted to Hong Kong following the
completion of this offering.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We intend to keep any future earnings to finance the expansion of our business, and we do not anticipate that
any cash dividends will be paid in the foreseeable future.

Under the Cayman Islands law, a Cayman Islands company may pay a dividend on its shares out of either profit
or share premium amount, provided that in no circumstances may a dividend be paid if this would result in the
Company being unable to pay its debts due in the ordinary course of business.

If we determine to pay dividends on any of our Ordinary Shares in the future, as a holding company, we will be
dependent on receipt of funds from our subsidiaries.

Cash dividends, if any, on our Ordinary Shares will be paid in U.S. dollars. In order for us to pay dividends to
our shareholders, we will rely on distribution payments made by QBS System. If QBS System incurs debt in the
future, the instruments governing the debt may restrict its ability to pay dividends or make other distributions to
us.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following tables set forth our capitalization as of September 30, 2024:

•         on an actual basis;

•         on a pro forma basis to reflect the issuance and sale of the Ordinary Shares by us in this offering at
the initial public offering price of $4 per share, after deducting the underwriting discounts, non-
accountable expense allowance and estimated offering expenses payable by us.

The adjustments reflected below are subject to change and are based upon available information and certain
assumptions that we believe are reasonable. Total shareholders’ equity and total capitalization following the
completion of this offering are subject to adjustment based on the actual initial public offering price and other
terms of this offering determined at pricing. You should read this capitalization table in conjunction with “Use
of Proceeds,” “Summary Consolidated Financial and Operating Data,” “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and the consolidated financial statements and the related
notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus.

 
As of

September 30, 2024

    Actual*   Pro Forma

    (Audited)    
Current liabilities:            

Bank loans, current   $ 71,305    71,305  
             
Non-current liabilities:            

Bank loans, non-current   $ 411,901    411,901  
             
Stockholders’ Equity:            

Ordinary Shares, par value $0.000001 per share, 50,000,000,000 shares
authorized, 10,000,000 shares issued and outstanding on an actual
basis*, 13,750,000 shares issued and outstanding on a pro forma basis
(based upon 3,750,000 shares to be issued in this offering)   $ 10    14  

Subscription receivables     (10)   (10)
Additional paid-in capital     13    12,309,940  
Retained earnings     1,347,751    1,347,751  
Accumulated other comprehensive income     10,252    10,252  

Total Stockholders’ Equity     1,358,016    13,667,947  
Total Capitalization   $ 1,841,222    14,151,153  

____________

*         Retrospectively restated for effect of share reorganization and share split.

If the Underwriter’s over-allotment option to purchase additional shares from us was exercised in full, pro
forma (i) Ordinary Shares would be 14,312,500 shares, (ii) additional paid-in capital would be $14,368,690,
(iii) total stockholders’ equity would be $15,726,697 and (iv) total capitalization would be $16,209,903.
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Ordinary Shares, your interest will be diluted for each Ordinary Share you purchase to the
extent of the difference between the initial public offering price per Ordinary Share and our net tangible book
value per Ordinary Share after this offering. Dilution results from the fact that the initial public offering price
per Ordinary Share is substantially in excess of the net tangible book value per Ordinary Share attributable to
the existing shareholders for our presently outstanding Ordinary Shares.

Our net tangible book value as of September 30, 2024, was $800,833, or $0.08, per Ordinary Share. Net
tangible book value represents the amount of our total consolidated tangible assets, less the amount of our total
consolidated liabilities. Dilution is determined by subtracting the net tangible book value per Ordinary Share (as
adjusted for the offering) from the initial public offering price per Ordinary Share and after deducting the
underwriting discounts, non-accountable expense allowance and the estimated offering expenses payable by us.

Dilution to New Investors if the Offering Amount is Sold without Exercise of the Over-allotment Option

After giving effect to our sale of 3,750,000 Ordinary Shares offered in this offering based on the initial public
offering price of $4.00 per Ordinary Share, after deduction of the underwriting discounts, non-accountable
expense allowance and the estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma net tangible book value as
of September 30, 2024, would have been $13.67 million, or $0.99 per outstanding Ordinary Share. This
represents an immediate increase in net tangible book value of $0.91 per Ordinary Share to the existing
shareholders, and an immediate dilution in net tangible book value of $3.01 per Ordinary Share to investors
purchasing Ordinary Shares in this offering. The pro forma information discussed above is illustrative only.

The following table illustrates this per share dilution:

 

No Exercise of
Over-Allotment

Option

Initial public offering price per Ordinary Share   $ 4.00
Net tangible book value per Ordinary Share as of September 30, 2024     0.08
Increase in net tangible book value per Ordinary Share attributable to payments by new

investors     0.91
Pro forma net tangible book value per Ordinary Share immediately after this offering     0.99
Amount of dilution in net tangible book value per Ordinary Share to new investors in the

offering   $ 3.01

The following table sets forth, on a pro forma basis as of September 30, 2024, the differences between existing
shareholders and the new investors with respect to the number of Ordinary Shares purchased from us, the total
consideration paid and the average price per Ordinary Share paid before deducting the underwriting discounts,
non-accountable expense allowance and estimated offering expenses.

 
Ordinary Shares

purchased  
Total

consideration  
Average
price per
Ordinary

ShareOver-allotment option not exercised   Number   Percent   Amount   Percent  
Existing shareholders   10,000,000  73%  $ 13  —    $ 0.00
New investors   3,750,000  27%   15,000,000  100%    4.00
Total   13,750,000  100%  $ 15,000,013  100%  $ 1.09

Dilution to New Investors if the Offering Amount is Sold with Full Exercise of the Over-allotment Option

After giving effect to our sale of 4,312,500 Ordinary Shares offered in this offering based on the initial public
offering price of $4.00 per Ordinary Share, after deduction of the underwriting discounts, non-accountable
expense allowance and the estimated offering expenses payable by us, our pro forma net tangible book value as
of September 30, 2024, would have been $15.73 million, or $1.10 per outstanding Ordinary Share. This
represents an immediate increase in net tangible book value of $1.02 per Ordinary Share to the existing
shareholders, and an immediate dilution in net tangible book value of $2.90 per Ordinary Share to investors
purchasing Ordinary Shares in this offering. The pro forma information discussed above is illustrative only.
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The following table illustrates this per share dilution:

 

Full Exercise of
Over-Allotment

Option

Initial public offering price per Ordinary Share   $ 4.00
Net tangible book value per Ordinary Share as of September 30, 2024     0.08
Increase in net tangible book value per Ordinary Share attributable to payments by new

investors     1.02
Pro forma net tangible book value per Ordinary Share immediately after this offering     1.10
Amount of dilution in net tangible book value per Ordinary Share to new investors in the

offering   $ 2.90

The following table sets forth, on a pro forma basis as of September 30, 2024, the differences between existing
shareholders and the new investors with respect to the number of Ordinary Shares purchased from us, the total
consideration paid and the average price per Ordinary Share paid before deducting the underwriting discounts,
non-accountable expense allowance, and estimated offering expenses.

 
Ordinary Shares

purchased  
Total

consideration  
Average
price per
Ordinary

ShareOver-allotment option exercised in full   Number   Percent   Amount   Percent  
Existing shareholders   10,000,000  70%  $ 13  —    $ 0.00
New investors   4,312,500  30%   17,250,000  100%    4.00
Total   14,312,500  100%  $ 17,250,013  100%  $ 1.21
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EXCHANGE RATE INFORMATION

Our business is primarily conducted in Hong Kong and all of our revenues are received and denominated in
Hong Kong dollars. Capital accounts of our condensed financial statements are translated into U. S. dollars from
Hong  Kong dollars at their historical exchange rates when the capital transactions occurred. Assets and
liabilities are translated at the exchange rates as of the balance sheet date.  Income and expenditures are
translated at the average exchange rate of the period. Hong Kong dollars are freely convertible into foreign
currency.  No representation is made that the Hong  Kong dollars amounts could have been, or could be,
converted into United States dollars at the rates used in translation.

The Company’s financial information is presented in U.S. dollars. Any transactions which are denominated in
currencies other than Hong Kong dollars are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate quoted by
the Federal Reserve Board prevailing at the dates of the transactions, and exchange gains and losses are
included in the statements of operations as foreign currency transaction gain or loss. The consolidated financial
statements of the Company have been translated into U.S.  dollars in accordance with ASC  830, “Foreign
Currency Matters”. The financial information is first prepared in Hong Kong dollars and then is translated into
U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates for assets and liabilities and average exchange rates for revenue and
expenses. Capital accounts are translated at their historical exchange rates when the capital transactions
occurred. The effects of foreign currency translation adjustments are included as a component of accumulated
other comprehensive income in stockholder’s equity. Cash flows from the Company’s operations are calculated
based upon the local currencies using the average translation rate. As a result, amounts related to assets and
liabilities reported on the statements of cash flows will not necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding
balances on the balance sheets.

The exchange rates in effect as of September  30, 2023 and 2024 were HK$1 for $0.1277 and $0.1287,
respectively. The average exchange rates for the years ended September 30, 2023 and 2024 were HK$1 for
$0.1277 and $0.128, respectively.
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ENFORCEABILITY OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

We are incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability to
take advantage of certain benefits associated with being a Cayman Islands exempted company, such as:

•         political and economic stability;

•         an effective judicial system;

•         a favorable tax system;

•         the absence of exchange control or currency restrictions; and

•         the availability of professional and support services.

However, certain disadvantages may accompany incorporation in the Cayman Islands. These disadvantages
include, but are not limited to, the following:

•         The Cayman Islands may have a less developed body of securities laws as compared to the
United States and these securities laws provide significantly less protection to investors; and

•         Cayman Islands companies may not have standing to sue before the federal courts of the
United States.

Our memorandum and articles of association do not contain provisions requiring that disputes, including those
arising under the securities laws of the United States, between us, our officers, directors and shareholders, be
arbitrated. Currently, all of our operations are conducted outside the United States, and substantially all of our
assets are located outside the United States. Most of our officers and directors are nationals or residents of
jurisdictions other than the United  States and a substantial portion of their assets are located outside the
United  States. As a result, it may be difficult for a shareholder to effect service of process within the
United States upon these persons, or to enforce against us or them judgments obtained in United States courts,
including judgments predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the securities laws of the United States or
any state in the United States.

Travers Thorp Alberga, our counsel as to Cayman Islands law, has advised us that there is uncertainty as to
whether the courts of the Cayman Islands would: (i)  recognize or enforce judgments of U.S. courts obtained
against us or our directors or officers that are predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal
securities laws of the United States or the securities laws of any state in the United States, or (ii)  entertain
original actions brought in the Cayman Islands against us or our directors or officers that are predicated upon
the federal securities laws of the United States or the securities laws of any state in the United States.

Travers Thorp Alberga has informed us that although there is no statutory enforcement in the Cayman Islands of
judgments obtained in the federal or state courts of the United States (and the Cayman Islands are not a party to
any treaties for the reciprocal enforcement or recognition of such judgments), a judgment in personam obtained
in such jurisdiction will be recognized and enforced in the courts of the Cayman Islands at common law,
without any re-examination of the merits of the underlying dispute, by an action commenced on the foreign
judgment debt in the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands, provided such judgment (a) is given by a competent
foreign court with jurisdiction to give the judgment, (b) imposes a specific positive obligation on the judgment
debtor (such as an obligation to pay a liquidated sum or perform a specified obligation), (c)  is final and
conclusive, (d) is not in respect of taxes, a fine or a penalty; (e) has not been obtained by fraud; and (f) was not
obtained in a manner and is not of a kind the enforcement of which is contrary to natural justice or the public
policy of the Cayman Islands. However, the Cayman Islands courts are unlikely to enforce a judgment obtained
from the U.S.  courts under civil liability provisions of the U.S.  federal securities law if such judgment is
determined by the courts of the Cayman Islands to give rise to obligations to make payments that are penal or
punitive in nature. Because such a determination has not yet been made by a court of the Cayman Islands, it is
uncertain whether such civil liability judgments from U.S. courts would be enforceable in the Cayman Islands.
A Cayman Islands court may stay enforcement proceedings if concurrent proceedings are being brought
elsewhere.

Stevenson, Wong & Co., our counsel as to Hong Kong law, has advised us that judgments of United States
courts will not be directly enforced in Hong Kong. There are currently no treaties or other arrangements
providing for reciprocal enforcement of foreign judgments between Hong  Kong and the United  States.
However, the common law permits an action to be brought upon a foreign judgment. That is to say, a foreign
judgment itself may form the basis of a cause
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of action since the judgment may be regarded as creating a debt between the parties to it. In a common law
action for enforcement of a foreign judgment in Hong Kong, the enforcement is subject to various conditions,
including but not limited to, that the foreign judgment is a final judgment conclusive upon the merits of the
claim, the judgment is for a liquidated amount in a civil matter and not in respect of taxes, fines, penalties, or
similar charges, the proceedings in which the judgment was obtained were not contrary to natural justice, and
the enforcement of the judgment is not contrary to public policy of Hong Kong. Such a judgment must be for a
fixed sum and must also come from a “competent” court as determined by the private international law rules
applied by the Hong Kong courts. The defenses that are available to a defendant in a common law action
brought on the basis of a foreign judgment include lack of jurisdiction, breach of natural justice, fraud, and
contrariness to public policy. However, a separate legal action for collection of a debt must be commenced in
Hong Kong in order to recover such debt from the judgment debtor.
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CORPORATE HISTORY AND STRUCTURE

Mega Fortune Company Limited (“Mega Fortune” or the “Company”) is an exempted company incorporated in
the Cayman Islands with limited liability on January 3, 2024 as a holding company. The Company, through its
wholly owned subsidiaries, operates as Ponte Fides Company Limited (“Ponte Fides”) in the BVI and QBS
System Limited (“QBS System”) in Hong Kong.

The Company is the parent company of Ponte Fides, a BVI business company, which in turn wholly owns QBS
System, a Hong Kong company incorporated on April 14, 2011.

Prior to the Reorganization below, QBS System was owned entirely by Flywheel Advanced Technology, Inc.
(FWFW:OTC US) (“FWFW”), an OTC listed company owned one hundred (100)  ordinary shares of QBS
System; QBS System Pty Ltd was owned entirely by QBS System. QBS System owned 1,000 ordinary shares
of QBS System Pty Ltd. The 100 shares of QBS System and 1,000 shares of QBS System Pty Ltd constitute all
the issued and outstanding shares of each of QBS System and QBS System Pty Ltd, respectively.

Reorganization:

On January 3, 2024, Mega Fortune was incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and one ordinary share was issued
to International Corporation Services Ltd as a nominee shareholder. On January  30, 2024, International
Corporation Services Ltd. transferred its share to FWFW and caused an additional 99,999 ordinary shares to be
issued to FWFW, totaling 100,000 ordinary shares to FWFW. FWFW is an OTC listed company.

On February 6, 2024, Mega Fortune incorporated Ponte Fides in the British Virgin Islands, and 1,000 ordinary
shares were issued to Mega Fortune.

On April 29, 2024, all issued and outstanding shares of QBS System were transferred by its sole shareholder
FWFW to Ponte Fides in exchange for HK$100 as Ponte Fides is also an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
FWFW. On July 8, 2024 QBS System Pty Ltd was sold to Wong Ka Ki, a related party of the Company, nature
of the relationship is detailed in Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On July 5, 2024, 100,000 shares (the “Shares”) of Mega Fortune were transferred by its sole shareholder
FWFW to Mericorn Company Limited (“Mericorn”) pursuant to a Share Purchase Agreement. The aggregate
purchase price for the Shares was HK$56,360,000. Mericorn transferred to FWFW 9.38% of the total issued
and outstanding equity of Elison Virtus Company Limited (“Elison”) in satisfaction of the purchase price of the
Shares.

Elison holds all of the issued and outstanding equity of Flywheel Financial Strategy (Hong Kong) Company
Limited, a company principally engaged in wealth management services. Each of Ip Tsz Ying, Tin Sze Wai,
Tam Tak Seng and Wong Ka Ki owns 25% equity interest of Mericorn.

On October 23, 2024, Mega Fortune effected a 100 for 1 forward split/share subdivision approved by its
shareholders resulting to the change of par value of the Ordinary Shares from US$0.0001 to US$0.000001.
Pursuant to such resolutions approved by its shareholders, the authorized share capital is US$50,000 divided
into 50,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of a par value of US$0.000001 each, and the number of issued and
outstanding Ordinary Shares has been subdivided from 100,000 shares to 10,000,000 shares.

Since the Company and its subsidiaries are effectively controlled by the same controlling shareholders before
and after the Reorganization, they are considered under common control. The above-mentioned transactions
were accounted for as a recapitalization. The consolidation of the Company and its subsidiaries has been
accounted for at historical cost and prepared on the basis as if the aforementioned transactions had become
effective as of the beginning of the first period presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Upon the Reorganization, the Company has subsidiaries in Hong Kong and the BVI. Details of the subsidiaries
of the Company are set out below:

Name of Entity  
Date of

Incorporation  
Place of

Incorporation  

% of
Indirect
or Direct

Ownership  
Principal
Activities

Ponte Fides Company Limited  February 6, 2024   British Virgin Islands  100  Investment Holding

QBS System Limited   April 14, 2011   Hong Kong   100 

Provision of Internet of
Things (“IoT”)

solutions and services
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The following diagram illustrates our corporate structure, including our subsidiaries, as of the date of this
prospectus and immediately upon the completion of this offering:

As of the date of this prospectus

Immediately upon the completion of this offering, assuming that the underwriters do not exercise their over-
allotment option to purchase additional Ordinary Shares

We are a foreign private issuer within the meaning of the rules under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). As such, we are exempt from certain provisions applicable to United States
domestic public companies. For example:

•         we are not required to provide as many Exchange Act reports, or as frequently, as a domestic public
company;

•         for interim reporting, we are permitted to comply solely with our home country requirements, which
are less rigorous than the rules that apply to domestic public companies;

•         we are not required to provide the same level of disclosure on certain issues, such as executive
compensation;
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•         we are exempt from provisions of Regulation FD aimed at preventing issuers from making selective
disclosures of material information;

•         we are not required to comply with the sections of the Exchange Act regulating the solicitation of
proxies, consents or authorizations in respect of a security registered under the Exchange Act; and

•         our insiders are not required to comply with Section  16 of the Exchange  Act requiring such
individuals and entities to file public reports of their share ownership and trading activities and
establishing insider liability for profits realized from any “short-swing” trading transaction.

Emerging Growth Company Status

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (the “JOBS
Act”), and we are eligible to take advantage of certain exemptions from various reporting and financial
disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public companies that are not emerging growth companies,
including but not limited to (1) presenting only two years of audited financial statements and only two years of
related management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations in this prospectus,
(2) not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), (3) reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation
in our periodic reports and proxy statements, and (4)  exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-
binding advisory vote on executive compensation and shareholder approval of any golden parachute payments
not previously approved. We intend to take advantage of these exemptions. As a result, investors may find
investing in our Ordinary Shares less attractive.

In addition, Section 107 of the JOBS Act also provides that an emerging growth company can take advantage of
the extended transition period provided in Section 7(a)(2)(B) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), for complying with new or revised accounting standards. As a result, an emerging growth
company can delay the adoption of certain accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply to
private companies. We intend to take advantage of such extended transition period.

We could remain an emerging growth company for up to five years, or until the earliest of (1) the last day of the
first fiscal year in which our annual gross revenue exceeds $1.235 billion, (2) the date that we become a “large
accelerated filer” as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, which would occur if the market value of
our Ordinary Shares that is held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of the last business day of our most
recently completed second fiscal quarter and we have been publicly reporting for at least 12 months, or (3) the
date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in non-convertible debt during the preceding three-year
period.

Corporate Information

Our principal executive offices are located at Unit 327, 3/F, 16W, 16 Science Park West Avenue, Shatin, New
Territories, Hong Kong. Our telephone number at this address is + (852) 2144 2638. Our registered office in the
Cayman Islands is located at the offices of International Corporation Services Ltd., P.O. Box 472, Harbour
Place, 2nd Floor, 103 South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. Our agent
for service of process in the United States is Cogency Global Inc. located at 122 East 42nd Street, 18th Floor,
New York, NY 10168. Investors should contact us for any inquiries through the address and telephone number
of our principal executive offices. Our website is https://qbssystem.com/. The information contained on our
website is not a part of this prospectus.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this
prospectus. This discussion and analysis and other parts of this prospectus contain forward-looking statements
based upon current beliefs, plans and expectations that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. Our actual
results and the timing of selected events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking
statements as a result of several factors, including those set forth under “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this
prospectus. You should carefully read the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus to gain an understanding of
the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our forward-looking statements.

Overview

We, through our Operating Entity, are an Internet of Things (“IoT”) solutions and services provider that
principally engages in providing a comprehensive range of IoT solutions and services comprising development
and implementation, support and maintenance and trading of hardware and IoT-related products in Hong Kong.
Our business is primarily carried out through our wholly owned Operating Entity: QBS System Limited. Our
diversified business portfolio allows us to create synergies between our business lines and generate new
business opportunities for each business segment so as to strengthen our market position and accelerate our
expansion by expanding our scale and gaining additional market share.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is prepared based on
the financial data which is derived from our audited consolidated financial statements for the  years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, included in this prospectus.

Our revenues were US$3.3 million and US$3.2 million for the  years ended September  30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively. We, recorded net income of US$0.4 million and US$0.5 million for the years ended September 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively. We plan to keep our business growing by broadening our customer base,
expanding the scale of business cooperation with different suppliers, optimizing our technology capabilities and
expanding the scope of our IoT solution offerings.

Factors Affecting Our Results of Operations

Our business and operating results are affected by the general factors that impact our total addressable market,
including, among others, overall economic growth in Hong Kong and globally, the continued relationship with
recurring customers, costs of supplies, regulatory, tax and geopolitical environments, and the competitive
landscape for our services. Changes in any of these general factors could affect the demand for our principal
businesses and our results of operations. Moreover, the following company-specific factors can directly impact
our results of operations materially:

Our ability to compete successfully and broaden our customer base

Although we have built long-term relationships with our key customers, we cannot guarantee that some of our
competitors will not have more financial and human resources, more competitive pricing strategies, or closer
relationships with suppliers than we have. If our competitors offer less expensive alternatives, engage in
aggressive pricing to increase their market share, or are capable of supplying products with superior
performance, functions, or efficiency, we could lose customers to our competitors. This could adversely affect
our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Our ability to control the cost of revenues

The cost of revenues we incur are largely dependent on market forces, such as fluctuations in general labor
costs, market supply and demand, and logistics and transport costs. As our business grows in scale, we expect to
have higher bargaining power and, hence, more favorable terms, including pricing and payment terms, for the
cost of revenues incurred. However, since the cost of revenues are largely dependent on market forces and out
of our full control, if these costs increase and we cannot pass on the costs to our customers, our results of
operations will be materially impacted.
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Our ability to retain skilled personnel

Our future growth and success depend significantly on the continued service and contributions of our engineers
and senior management personnel. Many of these key personnel are highly skilled and experienced and are
difficult to recruit and retain, particularly as we seek to expand our business with respect to our IoT products
and solutions. Competition for recruiting qualified personnel is intense, and finding personnel with the
combination of skills and attributes required to execute our business strategy may be difficult, time-consuming,
and expensive. Consequently, the loss of any key personnel or failure to recruit, train, or retain qualified
personnel could significantly negatively impact our operations.

Our ability to adopt to the rapid technology change of the market

The industry is rapidly changing technologically, with highly evolving industry standards and frequent
introductions and enhancements of new products and services. Customers also expect fast technological
advancements. Our future success will depend on our ability to adapt to rapidly changing technologies, align
our services with evolving industry standards, and continually improve the know-how of our staff in response to
the evolving demands of the marketplace. Failure to adapt to such changes would have a material adverse effect
on our business and results of operations.

Impact of Russia’s Invasion of Ukraine, Israel-Hamas war and Related Supply Chain Issues

Russia launched a large-scale invasion of Ukraine on February 24, 2022 and an armed conflict between Israel
and Hamas-led Palestinian militant groups has been taking place in the Gaza Strip since 7 October 2023. The
extent and duration of the military actions, resulting sanctions and resulting future market disruptions, including
volatilities in stock markets, disruption to global supply chain and worsening of global inflation, are impossible
to predict, but could be significant. Any such disruptions or resulting actual and threatened responses to such
activity, including purchasing and financing restrictions, boycotts or changes in consumer or purchaser
preferences, sanctions, tariffs or cyberattacks, may have significant collateral impact on global economy and our
business model and revenue stream. Nevertheless, as of the date of this document, since (i) we principally
operate in Hong Kong and do not have business presence in Russia, Ukraine and the Middle-East; and (ii) our
industry has been less dependent on oil, natural resources or global supply chain which have been disrupted by
these military actions, there is no material impact on our cash flows, liquidity, capital resources, cash
requirements, financial position, or results of operations arising from, related to, or caused by the global
disruption from Russia’s invasion of Ukraine and the tensions in the Middle-East.

Escalating Trade Tensions and Impacts of Tariff Policy Volatility

Recently there have been heightened tensions in international relations, particularly between the United States
and China. Since February 2025, the U.S. administration has increased the total tariff level for imported Chinese
goods to 145% and additional tariff increase could be imposed as the trade tension between the two countries
continues to heighten. On April 11, 2025, China has responded by hiking its tariff on U.S. imports to 125%.
While our business focuses on IoT-related services and our operations and key partners are primarily based in
Hong Kong, we remain alert to the potential indirect impacts of evolving trade policies. For instance, increased
costs borne by technology providers, or software vendors, particularly those with international exposure, could
be passed on to us, potentially affecting our service delivery costs and operating margins. The current trade
environment is characterized by rapid and unpredictable changes in tariffs and regulations, making long-term
planning more challenging. In response, we are strengthening collaboration with critical service partners,
evaluating alternative technology solutions, and enhancing the flexibility of our operational model to better
respond to external disruptions. While these measures are designed to mitigate potential impacts, there can be
no assurance that they will fully shield us from the broader effects of ongoing trade policy shifts. We will
continue to monitor developments closely and adapt our business strategy as needed to maintain operational
stability and financial performance.
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Key Components of Results of Operations

Revenues

Our revenues consist of (i)  IoT Integration Solutions Services; (ii) Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”)
Services; (iii) IoT Support and Maintenance Services; and (iv) Trading of IoT-Related products. The following
table sets forth the breakdown of our total revenues, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of our total
revenues, for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

  For the Years Ended September 30,    
    2024   2023   Variance

    US$  

% of
total

revenues   US$  

% of
total

revenues   US$   %

Revenues:                            
IoT Integration Solutions

services   1,852,645  55.7  1,859,927  57.3  (7,282)   (0.4)
BPO services   1,028,838  30.9  772,954  23.8  255,884    33.1  
IoT Support and

Maintenance services   429,910  12.9  460,396  14.2  (30,486)   (6.6)
Trading sales   14,597  0.5  154,266  4.7  (139,669)   (90.5)

Total revenues   3,325,990  100.0  3,247,543  100.0  78,447    2.4  

Range of IoT services

a)       IoT Integration Solutions services

Revenue from IoT Integration Solutions services represents the delivery of integrated solutions after providing a
series of development, implementation, and consulting services. The revenue is charged at a fixed amount with
no variable consideration, as explicitly outlined in the contract.

Revenue is recognized over time on the basis of our effort or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation over time as work progresses, following the input method which adopted the ratio of actual costs
incurred to total estimated costs to measure progress and estimate the portion of revenue earned. Revenue is
generally driven by the sizes and types of projects involved and the nature of services provided. We typically
collect 20% to 50% of contract sum upfront before commencement of work, with the remaining contract sum
being collected in multiple installments according to predefined milestones. Generally, customers from IoT
Integration Solutions service are contractually required to make payment within 90 days following our issuance
of invoices, based on predefined milestones. We are entitled to compensation for services rendered, even if the
project has not been fully completed. Revenue of IoT Integration Solutions services represented 55.7% and
57.3% of our total revenues for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

b)       BPO services

Revenue from BPO services represents fee income for the provision of IoT-related manpower support for a pre-
agreed period at a fixed amount, without variable considerations, as stated in the contract. Revenue is
recognized over time on the basis of the ratio of actual labor cost incurred over total budgeted labor cost as a
measure of progress towards satisfaction of performance obligation. BPO income is generally driven by the
number of manpower required and the specific grade or level of expertise involved. Customers for our BPO
services are contractually required to make payment within 90 days following our issuance of invoices at the
end of each regular interval. We are entitled to compensation for services rendered, even if the project has not
been fully completed. Revenue of BPO services represented 30.9% and 23.8% of our total revenues for
the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

c)       IoT Support and Maintenance services

Revenue from IoT Support and Maintenance services represents the delivery of a variety of support and
maintenance services, including the maintenance of different components of IoT Solutions and the repair and
replacement of various hardware, at a fixed amount without variable consideration, as stated in the contract.

Revenue is recognized over time on the basis of our efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation, following the input method which aligning with actual incurred costs against expected budgeted
costs at contract inception. Service income is generally driven by the sizes and types of services involved and
the nature of services
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provided. Customers for our IoT Support and Maintenance services are contractually required to make payment
within 90  days following our issuance of invoices at the end of each regular interval. We are entitled to
compensation for services rendered, even if the project has not been fully completed. Revenue of IoT Support
and Maintenance services represented 12.9% and 14.2% of our total revenue for the years ended September 30,
2024 and 2023, respectively.

d)       Trading sales

When selling hardware and IoT-related products to our customers, sales income is recognized upon the physical
delivery of the products to the customers. Sales prices to customers are fixed with no separate sales rebate,
discount, or other incentive and there is no right of return as outlined in the contract. The selling price offered to
our customers varies depending on the products sold and trade volume. We are entitled to the sale proceeds and
will issue an invoice upon delivery of the products. No credit period is offered to any customer and the payment
is contractually required upon delivery. Trading sales accounted for 0.5% and 4.7% of our total revenues for
the years ended September 30, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues primarily consists of costs related to subcontracting, engineering, and materials associated
with the provision of IoT services. Additionally, it includes the cost of goods sold from the sales of hardware
and IoT-related products. Our suppliers generally offer credit terms ranging from cash on delivery to 60 days,
with invoices billed in stages. Cost of revenues represented 46.1% and 60.7% of our total revenues for the years
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The following table sets forth our gross profit and gross profit margin by revenue streams for the periods
indicated.

  For the Years Ended September 30,        
    2024   2023   Variance

   
Gross
Profit  

Gross Profit
Margin  

Gross
Profit  

Gross Profit
Margin   Gross Profit

    US$   %   US$   %   US$   %

Gross profit:                            
IoT Integration Solutions

services   1,151,156  62.1  744,330  40.0  406,826    54.7  
BPO services   379,700  36.9  258,502  33.4  121,198    46.9  
IoT Support and

Maintenance services   259,863  60.4  257,131  55.8  2,732    1.1  
Trading sales   2,172  14.9  14,947  9.7  (12,775)   (85.5)

Total gross profit   1,792,891  53.9  1,274,910  39.3  517,981    40.6  

Gross profit represents our revenues less cost of revenues. Our gross profit margin represents our gross profit as
a percentage of our revenues. Our gross profit and margin are influenced by various factors, including the type
of customer, project size, type and nature of services rendered, and trade volume. Our gross profit was
$1.8 million and $1.3 million, respectively, for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. Our gross profit
margin was 53.9% and 39.3%, respectively, for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Operating expenses

Selling and marketing expenses



Selling and marketing expenses include (i) salaries and contributions to retirement benefit schemes for our sales
team; and (ii)  travel and business development expenses incurred in the pursuit of business development and
expanding our business network. Selling and marketing expenses accounted for 4.5% and 6.4% of our total
revenues for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses mainly comprise (i) service fees for accounting, audit, company secretary,
legal and other professional services necessary for our business operations; (ii)  salaries and contributions to
retirement benefit schemes for our administrative staff; (iii) rental and related expenses for leasing of our office
premises; (iv)  IT support software subscriptions, routine telecommunications support, and related supplies;
(v) depreciation
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of our property and equipment, such as computer equipment and furniture and fittings; and (vi)  other
administrative expenses, primarily provisions for expected credit losses. General and administrative expenses
accounted for 33.0% and 15.8% of our total revenues for the  years ended September  30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Other income

The following table sets forth our other income, both in absolute amount and as a percentage of total revenues,
for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

  For the Years Ended September 30,        
    2024   2023   Variance

    US$  

% of
total

revenues   US$  

% of
total

revenues   US$   %

Other income, net                                    
Foreign exchange transaction

gains (losses)   2,419    0.1    (8,564)   (0.3)   10,983    128.2  
Interest expense   (19,628)   (0.6)   (21,299)   (0.7)   1,671    7.8  
Interest income   203    —    341    —    (138)   (40.5)
Government grants   29,990    0.9    76,017    2.3    (46,027)   (60.5)
Sundry income   17,766    0.5    18,677    0.6    (911)   (4.9)

Total other income, net   30,750    0.9    65,172    1.9    (34,422)   (52.8)

Other income amounted to $30,750 and $65,172 for the  years ended September  30, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

Interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2024 comprised interest expenses of the SME Term Loan. In
addition, government grants of $29,990 for the year ended September 30, 2024 represented funding granted
under (a)  SME Export Marketing Fund by the Hong  Kong Trade and Industry Department to encourage
expansion markets outside Hong Kong in export promotion activities; and (b) Innovation and Technology Fund
by the Hong  Kong Innovation and Technology Commission in supporting the recruitment of talents.
Furthermore, sundry income of $17,766 for the year ended September  30, 2024 represented other ancillary
services income, which is not within the scope of ASC 606.

Interest expense for the year ended September 30, 2023 comprised interest expenses of the SME Term Loan. In
addition, government grants of $76,017 for the year ended September 30, 2023 represented (a) funding granted
by the Hong Kong government in helping us to develop and promote our brand overseas under the BUD Fund;
and (b)  subsidies received from Hong  Kong Science and Technology Park through its Graduate Trainee
Program. Furthermore, sundry income of $18,677 for the year ended September  30, 2023 represented other
ancillary services income, which is not within the scope of ASC 606.

Income Tax

Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands

Under the current and applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands, we are not subject
to tax on income or capital gains under these jurisdictions.

Hong Kong

Our subsidiary operated in Hong Kong is subjected to Hong Kong Profits Tax. In accordance with the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the tax rate of 8.25% on assessable profits
of the first 2 million Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”) (equivalent to $255,993) and 16.5% on any assessable profits
in excess of HK$2 million (equivalent to $255,993).

Australia

Our subsidiary operated in Australia is subjected to Australian Company Tax which is calculated at the tax rate
of 25% as a base rate entity.

For the  years ended September  30, 2024 and 2023, income tax accounted for 5.2% and 2.5% of our total
revenues, respectively. Under relevant Hong Kong tax laws, tax case is normally subject to investigation by the
tax authority for up to 6 years of assessment prior to the current year of assessment, unless in a case of fraud or
willful evasion, then
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the investigation can be extended to cover 10 years of assessment. Under relevant Australia tax laws, a time
limit has been put in which Australian Taxation Office can amend an assessment. For most taxpayers with
simple affairs, the amendment period for an income tax assessment is 2 years from the date that a taxpayer
issued with an assessment, while those with more complex affairs would be extended to 4 years from the date
that a taxpayer issued with an assessment. However, in a case where the Australian Taxation Office forms an
opinion of fraud or evasion, there is no time limit for amending an assessment. As of September 30, 2024 and
2023, we had no open tax investigations from these tax authorities and we do not consider that there was any
uncertain tax position as of those dates.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth a summary of our consolidated results of operations for the  years ended
September  30, 2024 and 2023 as indicated. This information should be read together with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus. The operating results in any year
are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future trends.

  For the Years Ended September 30,        
    2024   2023   Variance

    US$  

% of
total

revenue   US$  

% of
total

revenue   US$   %

Revenues                                
Revenues   3,325,990    100.0  3,217,515    99.1  108,475    3.4  
Revenues – related parties   —    —  30,028    0.9  (30,028)   (100.0)

Total revenues   3,325,990    100.0  3,247,543    100.0  78,447    2.4  
                                 
Cost of revenues   (1,533,099)   46.1  (1,972,633)   60.7  (439,534)   (22.3)
                                 
Gross profit   1,792,891    53.9  1,274,910    39.3  517,981    40.6  
                                 
Operating expenses                                

Selling and marketing
expenses   (149,891)   4.5  (207,977)   6.4  (58,086)   (27.9)

General and administrative
expenses   (1,098,152)   33.0  (514,387)   15.8  583,765    113.5  
Total operating expenses   (1,248,043)   37.5  (722,364)   22.2  525,679    72.8  

                                 
Income from operations   544,848    16.4  552,546    17.1  (7,698)   (1.4)
                                 
Other income, net                                

Foreign exchange
transaction gains (losses)   2,419    0.1  (8,564)   0.3  10,983    128.2  

Interest expense   (19,628)   0.6  (21,299)   0.7  1,671    7.8  
Interest income   203    —  341    —  (138)   (40.5)
Government grants   29,990    0.9  76,017    2.3  (46,027)   (60.5)
Sundry income   17,766    0.5  18,677    0.6  (911)   (4.9)

Total other income, net   30,750    0.9  65,172    1.9  (34,422)   (52.8)
                                 
Income before income tax

expense   575,598    17.3  617,718    19.0  (42,120)    (6.8)
Income tax expenses   (174,064)   5.2  (81,164)   2.5  92,900    114.5  
Net income   401,534    12.1  536,554    16.5  (135,020)    (25.2)

Year Ended September 30, 2024 Compared to Year Ended September 30, 2023

Revenues

Total revenues increased by 2.4% from $3.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2023 to $3.3 million for
the year ended September 30, 2024. This increase in total revenues was primarily driven by significant growth
in BPO services, partially offset by a decline in trading sales.
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IoT Integration Solutions services — Revenue from IoT Integration Solutions services decreased by $7,282, or
0.4%, from $1,859,927 for the year ended September 30, 2023, to $1,852,645 for the year ended September 30,
2024. This decline was primarily due to decision by two of our top five customers not to extend their contracts,
resulting in a decrease in revenue from approximately $1.9 million for the year ended September 30, 2023, to
approximately $1.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2024. Despite this reduction, the impact was
largely offset by our ability to secure larger and more complex projects from new clients. During the year ended
September 30, 2024, our new customers contributed approximately $1.3 million in revenue, with an average
project price of $37,277, significantly higher than the $19,569 average project price for recurring customers.
Furthermore, we expanded our customer base by acquiring 27 new clients, leading to an increase in number of
projects from 57 for the year ended September 30, 2023 to 63 for the year ended September 30, 2024. These
results demonstrate the positive impact of our efforts to target high-value contracts and broaden our customer
base, driving sustained revenue in IoT Integration Solutions

BPO services  —   Revenue from BPO services increased by approximately $0.2 million, or 33.1%, from
approximately $0.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2023, to approximately $1.0 million for the year
ended September 30, 2024. This growth was primarily driven by acquiring five new customers, which
collectively generated approximately $0.4 million in revenue. However, this increase was partially offset by an
approximately $0.2 million decline in revenue from two existing customers who reduced their service
engagements. Despite this loss, we successfully retained other existing customers, demonstrating our ability to
sustain long-term client relationships while expanding our customer base.

IoT Support and Maintenance services  —  Revenue from IoT Support and Maintenance services slightly
decreased by $30,486, or 6.6%, from approximately $0.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2023, to
approximately $0.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2024 This decline was due to the fact that we
offered slightly more competitive pricing to retain our market share. The average price of the projects
undertaken for the year ended September  30, 2024 was $16,353, compared to $17,708 for the year ended
September 30, 2023.

Trading sales  —  Trading sales dropped significantly by approximately $0.1  million, or 90.5%, from
approximately $0.2 million for the year ended September 30, 2023, to $14,597 for the year ended September 30,
2024. This decline resulted from increased competition in the market for our main products, RFID labels and
tags, coupled with decreased customer demand. In response to the evolving technology market, we strategically
shifted our focus to IoT-related services and reduced our efforts in competing in trading sales with other
suppliers, aligning with our long-term growth strategy.

Cost of revenues

Cost of revenues decreased by approximately $0.5 million or 22.3% from approximately $2.0 million for the
year ended September 30, 2023 to approximately $1.5 million for the year ended September 30, 2024. This
reduction was achieved through a strategic shift away from reliance on external subcontractors. Instead, we
invested in developing our internal teams to enhance our technical expertise and service delivery capabilities.

Additionally, we adopted more efficient workflows and streamlined project management processes, which
reduced the overall time and resources required for project execution. These operational efficiencies enabled the
delivery of high-quality services at a lower cost and improved our ability to handle complex projects more
effectively, so as to ensuring cost optimization while maintaining quality standards.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased by approximately $0.5 million or 40.6%, from approximately $1.3 million for the
year ended September 30, 2023 to approximately $1.8 million for the year ended September 30, 2024. Our
gross profit margin for the year ended September 30, 2024, was 53.9%, compared to 39.3% for the year ended
September 30, 2023.

Gross profit margin of IoT Integration Solutions services significantly increased to 62.1% for the year ended
September 30, 2024, compared to 40.0% for the year ended September 30, 2023. This increase was primarily
driven by the execution of larger and more complex projects, which allowed us to command premium pricing.
With understanding of the latest technologies and methodologies, our team was equipped to address the specific
needs
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of our customers. This expertise empowered us to undertake more complex projects, which, in turn, yielded
greater margins. Additionally, we implemented enhanced cost controls in our service delivery. Utilizing the
specialized skills of our engineering team allowed us to enhance project outcomes while minimizing the need
for external subcontractors, thereby reducing project costs. Furthermore, streamlined project delivery processes
minimized the time and resources spent on project management and execution. This cost efficiencies
contributed to a more effective operation with lower costs associated with acquiring and servicing new
contracts, positioning us for continued growth in IoT Integration Solutions services.

Our gross profit margin of BPO services increased from 33.4% for the year ended September 30, 2023 to 36.9%
for the year ended September 30, 2024. This improvement was largely driven by our delivery of projects that
encompass more sophisticated manpower services, which deliver greater value. By leveraging the expertise of
our skilled staff, we enhanced project execution efficiency and achieved cost savings through refining
workflows, which in turn indirectly increased overall profitability. Furthermore, the in-house team implemented
better project management practices to enable more efficient use of our internal resources and an increased
capacity to manage higher project volumes effectively. This strategic approach allowed us to scale operations
efficiently without incurring proportionate cost increases, further amplifying our margins and reinforcing the
profitability of our BPO services.

Our gross profit margin of IoT Support and Maintenance services increased to 60.4% for the year ended
September  30. 2024, compared to 55.8% for the year ended September  30, 2023. This improvement was
primarily driven by a reduction in material costs associated with project completion and decreased reliance on
external subcontractors. We enhanced staff training to improve service delivery. Our in-house teams equipping
with techniques and proactive issue resolution strategies, which reduced costs previously incurred from relying
on more costly external subcontractors.

Conversely, despite a substantial decline in revenue of trading sales, our gross profits of trading sales increased
from 9.7% for the year ended September 30, 2023 to 14.9% for the year ended September 30, 2024. This was
mainly due to our strategic shift from the sales of IoT-related products to the provision of IoT-related services.
Trading sales historically yield a relatively low gross profit margin than that of IoT-related services. With
expansion in our IoT-related services, we prioritized on sales opportunities with higher gross profit margins.

Operating expenses

Selling and marketing expenses decreased to approximately $0.1 million for the year ended September  30,
2024, from approximately $0.2  million for the year ended September  30, 2023, primarily driven by the
resignation of a staff member under the marketing department during the year ended September 30, 2024. In
addition, we allocated more resources towards maintaining strong business relationships with existing
customers and securing new business opportunities, thus resulted in a slight increase in travel and business
development expenses. As the decrease of compensation and benefit outweighed the increase in travel and
business development expenses, this led to an overall decrease in selling and marketing expenses.

General and administrative expenses increased by approximately $0.6 million to approximately $1.1 million for
the year ended September 30, 2024, compared to approximately $0.5 million for the year ended September 30,
2023. The increase in general and administrative expenses was primarily due to a notable rise of $0.4 million in
professional fees related to the auditing of our consolidated financial statements, as well as an increase in our
provision for expected credit losses of $0.1 million. These factors contributed to the overall increase in total
general and administrative expenses compared to the preceding year.

Other income

Other income decreased by $34,422 from $65,172 for the year ended September 30, 2023 to $30,750 for the
year ended September  30, 2024. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease of $46,027 in government
subsidies, which was partially offset by an increase of $10,983 in foreign exchange transaction gains for the
year ended September 30, 2024.
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Income before income taxes

We had an income before income taxes of approximately $0.5 million and approximately $0.6 million for the
years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The slight decrease in income before income taxes
directly corresponded to increase in general and administrative expenses, which outweighed the increase in
gross profit margin, due to revenue growth, less reliance on external subcontractors and cost efficiency in
project management, resulting in a decrease in our income before taxes for the year ended September 30, 2024.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased from $81,164 for the year ended September 30, 2023 to approximately $174,064
for the year ended September 30, 2024. This change was due to: (i) higher taxable income of the Operating
Entity for the year ended September  30, 2024, driven by the growth of our business activities; and (ii)  the
ineligibility to offset the Operating Entity’s taxable income with the tax losses of the Company and our
subsidiary, as these losses were non-deductible and could not be carried forward. The growth in taxable income
and the non-deductible expenses resulted in higher income tax expenses and an increase in the effective tax rate
for the year ended September 30, 2024.

Net income

As a result of the foregoing factors, net income decreased by 25.2% from approximately $0.5 million for the
year ended September 30, 2023 to approximately $0.4 million for the year ended September 30, 2024.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Prior to this offering, our principal sources of liquidity to finance our operating activities are from the financings
provided by a bank in Hong Kong, our major shareholder and related parties. We recorded net cash outflow in
operating activities of $99,794 and $32,724 for the year ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

As of September  30, 2024 and 2023, we had positive working capital of $1.1  million and $1.4  million,
respectively. As of September 30, 2024, we had $0.4 million in cash, out of which $0.4 million was held in
Hong Kong dollars, and the rest was held in Chinese Yuan Renminbi and other currencies. As of September 30,
2023, we had $0.6 million in cash, out of which $0.6 million was held in Hong Kong Dollars, and the rest was
held in Australian Dollars and other currencies. Our cash primarily consist of balances maintained with banks in
Hong Kong.

In assessing our liquidity, we monitor and analyze our cash on-hand and our operating and capital expenditure
commitments. Our liquidity needs are to meet our working capital requirements, operating expenses and capital
expenditure obligations. Bank loans, financing from related parties, and cash generated from operations have
been utilized to finance our working capital requirements.

Considering all facts and information on hand, we expect our cash on hand is sufficient to finance our working
capital requirements within the normal operating cycle of a twelve-months period from the date of our financial
statements are issued.

If we are unable to have sufficient fund to finance our working capital requirements within the normal operating
cycle of a twelve-months period from the date of these financial statements are issued, we may consider
supplementing our available sources of funds through the following sources:

•         addition equity financing from shareholders and third-party investors; and/or

•         financial support from financial institutions, our shareholders and related parties.

Based on the above considerations, management is of the opinion that we have sufficient funds to meet its
working capital requirements and current liabilities as they become due within twelve months from the date of
these consolidated financial statements are issued. However, there is no assurance that we will be successful in
implementing our plans. There are a number of factors that could potentially arise and could undermine our
plans, such as changes in the demand for our services, general market conditions and the broader capital market
climate in Hong Kong, etc.
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Cash Flows

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 as
indicated.

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023
    US$   US$

Net cash used in operating activities   (99,794)   (32,724)
Net cash used in investing activities   (771)   (1,737)
Net cash used in financing activities   (146,843)   (289,683)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents   (247,408)   (324,144)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents   (244)   2,187  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   619,570    941,527  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   371,918    619,570  

Operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2024 was $0.1 million, as compared to
the net income of $0.4 million. The difference was primarily attributable to (i) an increase of $1.0 million in
accounts receivable due to intensified sales activities with our customers near the period end and with slower
payment collected from customers; (ii) an increase of $0.2 million in accrued expenses and other liabilities with
accrued professional fee for auditing our consolidated financial statements; and (iii) an increase of $0.2 million
under income tax payables for the provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended September 30, 2023 was $32,724, as compared to the
net income of $0.5 million. The difference was primarily attributable to (i)  an increase of $0.5 million in
accounts receivable due to intensified sales activities with our customers near the year end; (ii) a decrease in
prepayments and other assets of $0.2 million, which was attributed to the utilization of previously made
advance payments to our suppliers; (iii) a decrease of $0.3 million in accounts payable, as most of the invoices
from the suppliers had been settled before the year end; and (iv) an increase of $0.1 million under income tax
payables for the provision of Hong Kong Profits Tax.

Investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2024 was $771, which represented the
spending on the purchase of property and equipment of $7,360 and proceeds of $6,737 from disposal of a
subsidiary received from a related party.

Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended September 30, 2023 was $1,737, which was entirely
spent on the purchase of property and equipment.

Financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended September  30, 2024 was $0.1 million. This was
primarily due to the repayment of SME Term Loan of $0.1 million and payment of offering costs related to IPO
of $0.5  million offset by the net advance from related parties of $0.5  million during the year ended
September 30, 2024.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended September  30, 2023 was $0.3 million. This was
primarily due to the repayment of bank overdrafts and SME Term Loan during the year ended September 30,
2023.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risks

Currency risk

Our operating activities are mainly transacted in HK$ and Australian Dollars (“AUD”) which are also the
functional currencies of the respective subsidiaries. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognized assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. We consider the foreign
exchange risk in relation to
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transactions denominated in HK$ with respect to $ is not significant as HK$ is pegged to $ and there is no
significant foreign exchange risk related to transactions denominated in AUD following the disposal of one of
the subsidiaries, QBS Pty, on July 8, 2024.

We consider that the overall foreign exchange risk is not significant, and we have not used any instruments or
derivatives to manage or hedge the risk.

Credit risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject us to the credit risks consist of cash, accounts receivable, amounts
due from a related party and other assets. The maximum exposures of such assets to credit risk are their carrying
amounts as of the balance sheet dates.

We deposit our cash with reputable banks located in Hong  Kong. As of September  30, 2024 and 2023,
$0.4 million and $0.6 million were deposited with these banks, respectively. Balances maintained with banks in
Hong Kong are insured under the Deposit Protection Scheme introduced by the Hong Kong Government for a
maximum amount of HK$500,000 (equivalent to $64,356) and further increased to HK$800,000 (equivalent to
$102,969), effective October 1, 2024, for each depositor at one bank, whilst the balances maintained by us may
at times exceed the insured limits. Cash balances maintained with banks in Hong Kong are not otherwise
insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or other programs. We have not experienced any losses in
these bank accounts and we believe that we are not exposed to any significant credit risk on cash.

Assets that potentially subject us to a significant credit risk primarily consist of accounts receivable, amounts
due from a related party and other assets. We perform regular and ongoing credit assessments of the
counterparts’ financial conditions and credit histories. We also assess historical collection trends, aging of
receivables and general economic conditions. We consider that we have adequate controls over these
receivables in order to minimize the related credit risk. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the balances of
allowance for expected credit losses were $212,252 and $70,816, respectively.

For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, most of our assets were located in Hong Kong. At the same
time, we consider that we were exposed to the following concentrations of risk:

(a)      Major customers

The following table sets forth information as to each customer that accounted for the top 5 of our revenues
for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
For the Year Ended
September 30, 2024  

For the Year Ended
September 30, 2023

Customers   Revenues  
% of

revenues   Revenues  
% of

revenues

Customer A   $ 415,989  12.5  $ 261,014  8.0
Customer B     322,552  9.7    —  —
Customer C     255,993  7.7    922,692  28.4
Customer D     255,993  7.7    —  —
Customer E     181,243  5.5    —  —
Customer F     120,061  3.6    217,056  6.7
Customer G     76,798  2.3    214,532  6.6
Customer H     —  —    293,705  9.0
Total:   $ 1,628,629  49.0  $ 1,908,999  58.7

Among the top 5 customers for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, these customers entered into
multiple service or sales contracts with us, covering a range of services or products delivered. The material
terms with these customers are summarized as follow: The contract values ranged from US$1,022 to
US$446,942 per contract. For service contracts with these customers, depending on the type of service, the
contracts generally had a fixed term ranging from 30 days to 2 years. Customers were contractually obligated to
make payments within 90 days of invoice issuance. Additionally, although there was no explicit termination
clause stated in the contract, we were entitled to payment for services rendered up to the point of termination.
For sales contracts with these customers, we were
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required to deliver the products as ordered. Upon delivery, we were entitled to the sale proceeds and had issued
an invoice at that time. No credit period was offered, and payment was contractually required upon delivery.
Neither sales returns nor warranties were provided to these customers.

(b)      Major suppliers

The following table sets forth information as to each supplier that accounted for top 5 of our cost of
revenues related to subcontracting and material expenses for the years ended September 30, 2024 and
2023:

 
For the Year Ended
September 30, 2024  

For the Year Ended
September 30, 2023

Suppliers  
Cost of

revenues  

% of
cost of

revenues  
Cost of

revenues  

% of
cost of

revenues

Supplier A   $ 203,451  22.4  $ 256,161  17.9
Supplier B     126,717  13.9    244,056  17.1
Supplier C     99,837  11.0    190,908  13.4
Supplier D     95,998  10.6    63,849  4.5
Supplier E     60,520  6.7    —  —
Supplier F     44,799  4.9    117,557  8.2
Supplier G     6,784  0.7    121,717  8.5
Total:   $ 638,106  70.2  $ 994,248  69.6

Among the top 5 suppliers for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, we entered into multiple service
or purchase contracts with these suppliers, covering a range of services or products delivered. The material
terms with these suppliers are summarized as follow: The contract values ranged from US$797 to US$73,298
per contract. For service contracts with these suppliers, primarily related to manpower provided by the
suppliers, the contracts did not have a fixed duration. Suppliers billed us at a fixed rate based on the actual
manpower assigned, as stipulated in the contract. With no fixed duration term, these contracts could be
terminated by either party at any time. We were contractually obligated to make payments within credit terms
ranging from cash on delivery to 60  days, with invoices billed in stages. For purchase contracts with these
suppliers, we were contractually required to make payment upon delivery. Additionally, none of the contracts
with these suppliers included a termination clause.

(c)      Receivables

The following table sets forth information as to each customer that accounted for top 5 of our accounts
receivable, after allowance for expected credit losses, as of September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
As of

September 30, 2024  
As of

September 30, 2023

Customers  
Accounts
receivable  

% of
accounts

receivable  
Accounts
receivable  

% of
accounts

receivable

Customer C   $ 470,959  20.2  $ 463,457  30.8
Customer A     382,654  16.4    186,372  12.4
Customer B     309,388  13.2    —  —
Customer G     233,125  10.0    275,476  18.3
Customer I     141,189  6.0    —  —
Customer J     103,427  4.4    313,659  20.8
Customer K     49,109  2.1    61,794  4.1
Total:   $ 1,689,851  72.3  $ 1,300,758  86.4
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(d)      Payables

The following table sets forth information as to each supplier that accounted for top 5 of our accounts
payable as of September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
As of

September 30, 2024  
As of

September 30, 2023

Suppliers  
Accounts
payable  

% of
accounts
payable  

Accounts
payable  

% of
accounts
payable

Supplier G   $ 14,457  67.7  $ 36,390  46.6
Supplier H     5,663  26.5    —  —
Supplier I     1,203  5.6    —  —
Supplier J     36  0.2    —  —
Supplier A     —  —    39,332  50.4
Supplier K     —  —    2,166  2.8
Supplier L     —  —    168  0.2
Total:   $ 21,359  100  $ 78,056  100

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in market interest rates may negatively affect our financial condition and results of operations. We
are exposed to floating interest rate risk on bank deposits and bank loans, particularly during periods when the
interest rate is expected to significant changes. Nevertheless, given the amounts of bank deposits and bank loans
in question, we consider our interest rate risk to be manageable and not likely to cause significant disruption to
the business.

As of September 30, 2024, we had an outstanding principal of $483,206. We estimate that a 1% increase in the
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on September  30, 2024 would result in an
increase in interest expense of $4,832 per annum whilst we estimate that a 1% decrease in the Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on September 30, 2024 would result in a decrease in interest
expense of $4,832 per annum.

As of September 30, 2023, we had an outstanding principal of $588,496. We estimate that a 1% increase in the
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on September  30, 2023 would result in an
increase in interest expense of $5,885 per annum whilst we estimate that a 1% decrease in the Hong Kong
Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on September 30, 2023 would result in a decrease in interest
expense of $5,885 per annum.

We have not used any instruments or derivatives to manage and hedge our interest rate risk exposure.

Off-Balance Sheet Commitments and Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet financing
arrangements or any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, including entities
sometimes referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, that were established for the purpose of
facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.

Specifically, we have not entered into any financial guarantees, commitments or other arrangements to
guarantee payment obligations of any parties. In addition, we have not entered into any derivative contracts that
are indexed to our shares and classified as shareholders’ equity or that are not reflected in our consolidated
financial statements. Moreover, we do not have any retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an
unconsolidated entity that serves as credit, liquidity or market risk support to such entity. We do not have any
variable interest in any unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to
us or engages in leasing, hedging or product development services with us.
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Commitments and Contingencies

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of September 30, 2024:

Contractual obligations  
Less than

1 year  
Between

1 – 2 years  
Over

3 years   Total

    $   $   $   $

Repayment of bank loans   85,109  191,146  249,486  525,741
Operating lease commitment   41,278  68,797  —  110,075

Total   126,387  259,943  249,486  635,816

Other than as shown above, we did not have any significant financial and capital commitments, long-term
obligations, or guarantees as of September 30, 2024.

As of September 30, 2024, we were not a party to any legal or administrative proceedings. In addition, there
were no legal or regulatory proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, that could have resulted in an
unfavorable outcome with a material adverse effect on our results of operations, consolidated financial
condition, or cash flows.

As of the date of this prospectus, we did not have any loss contingencies which require to be recognized or
disclosed in our consolidated financial statements.

Seasonality

The nature of our business does not appear to be affected by seasonal variations. We may experience
fluctuations in demand due to heightened or weakened economic conditions, geopolitical events, and shifts in
trade patterns in areas where we operate.

Trend Information

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this prospectus, we are not aware of any trends, uncertainties, demands,
commitments, or events that are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our net revenue, income from
continuing operations, profitability, liquidity, or capital resources, or that would cause reported financial
information not necessarily to be indicative of future operating results or financial condition.

Inflation

Whilst inflation has been a global issue impacting many countries around the globe, inflation in Hong Kong has
not materially affected our results of operations in recent  years. According to the Census and Statistics
Department of Hong Kong, the year-over-year percent changes in the consumer price index rise by 0.9% for
the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023. Although we have not been affected by inflation at this point in
time, we may be affected if Hong Kong and any other jurisdiction where we operate in the future experience
higher rates of inflation in the future.

Significant Accounting Policies and Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which requires us to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect (i)  the reported amounts of our assets and liabilities; (ii)  the
disclosure of our contingent assets and liabilities at the end of each reporting period; and (iii)  the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during each reporting period. We continually evaluate these judgments,
estimates and assumptions based on our own historical experience, knowledge and assessment of current
business and other conditions and our expectations regarding the future based on available information, which
together form our basis for making judgments about matters that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Since the use of estimates is an integral component of the financial reporting process, our actual results could
differ from those estimates. Some of our accounting policies require a higher degree of judgment than others in
their application.

When reading our consolidated financial statements, you should consider our selection of critical accounting
policies, the judgment and other uncertainties affecting the application of such policies and the sensitivity of
reported results to changes in conditions and assumptions. Our critical accounting policies and practices include
the following: (i)  revenue recognition; (ii)  income taxes; and (iii)  accounts receivable, net. See Note  3
— Summary of Significant
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Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements for the disclosure of these accounting policies. We
believe the following accounting estimate involves the most significant judgments used in the preparation of our
financial statements.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Allowance for expected credit losses against financial assets

We assess the allowance by pooling relevant financial assets that have similar risk characteristics and evaluates
receivable individually when specific assets no longer share those risk characteristics. We determine the
expected credit losses based on aging data, historical collection experience, customer specific facts current
economic conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts of future economic conditions, and other factors that
may affect our ability to collect form counterparties. Balances are charged off against the allowance after all
means of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. We continue to
evaluate the reasonableness of the allowance policy and update it if necessary. As of September 30, 2024 and
2023, the balance of allowance for expected credit losses against financial assets were $212,252 and $70,816,
respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See the discussion of the recent accounting pronouncements contained in Note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The information contained in this section and elsewhere in the prospectus has been derived from various official
and government and other publications generally believed to be reliable and the market research report
prepared by Migo Corporation Limited (“MIGO”) and commissioned by the Company. All information and
data presented in this section have been derived from the MIGO industry report dated January 8, 2025, unless
otherwise noted. The following discussion includes projections for future growth, which may not occur at the
rates that are projected or at all.

Definition of Internet of Things (IoT) Software & Hardware Engineering Services

The Internet of Things (“IoT”) software & hardware solutions consists of four main components: device,
connectivity, data processing and application. (1) The device is the physical object that is connected to the
network. From sensors that measure temperature, humidity or pressure in industrial applications to smart meters
that measure electricity usage in homes such as smart buildings. (2) Connectivity refers to either wired or
wireless networks used by devices in order to connect with each other over long distances or short distances
respectively such as across cities. These networks connect devices at their endpoints with a centralized hub
which then distributes information across larger distances. (3) Data processing involves transforming raw data
into useful insights through machine learning techniques such as search engines. (4) Applications can be defined
as software programs used by humans to interact with their physical surroundings through various interfaces
such as web browsers or mobile apps.

OVERVIEW OF GLOBAL IOT INDUSTRY

Market size

Overall enterprise IoT spending grew 15% in 2023 to USD269  billion. IoT Analytics lowered the growth
outlook for 2024 to 12% (from 18% previously). Growth is expected to slow further to 12% in 2024 before re-
accelerating in 2025. The US, China and India are expected to lead in spending growth regionally, while
automotive and process manufacturers are set to lead by vertical. IoT Analytics forecasts the IoT market size to
grow at a compound annual growth rate (“CAGR”) of 15% to USD690 billion from 2024 until 2030. The IoT
services market in Asia-Pacific region (“APAC”) is expected to outgrow other parts of the world with a CAGR
of 15.7% between 2024 and 2030. The Europe CAGR of 13.1% is expected to grow slower than APAC but
significantly faster than the North America CAGR of 9.4% until 2030. The following chart shows the enterprise
IoT market from 2022 to the forecast year of 2030.

Enterprise IoT Market from 2022 to 2030

Source: IoT Analytics as of June 2024, Migo
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Growth Drivers

Benefits for both businesses and consumers

IoT can be used to increase efficiency by collecting data on customers’ activities and then providing them with
customized services based on their experience. In addition, this allows companies to focus more on data
gathering and analysis which can lead to efficiencies in results achieved from marketing campaigns as well as
overall business operations. The retailers connect directly with consumers to offer them personalized offers
based on their preferences. Their consumers can control over their personal data which could be used for
advertising purposes with their preference.

The biggest market for IoT adoption is the automotive sector

According to the Globe Newswire in September 2024, the Global Automotive IoT Market Size was valued at
USD130 billion in 2023 and the Worldwide automotive IoT Market Size is expected to reach USD 670.8 billion
by 2032. The IoT is reshaping the automotive market, making vehicles safer, more efficient, and more enjoyable
to drive. As IoT technology continues to evolve, it will remain a driving force in the automotive market,
offering a glimpse into a future where vehicles are more than just modes of transportation.

Market Trend

AI is a tailwind for IoT

The latest research finds that the growth of Artificial Intelligence (AI) is a strong tailwind for the
USD 269 billion IoT market, as companies are gaining interest in both AI and IoT within their organizations.
One indication is from IoT Analytics’ analysis of company earnings calls: since Q3 2022, the mention of these
two technologies in the same earnings call rose by 61%. The AI in IoT market size will grow from $12 billion
in 2023 to $15.3 billion in 2024. The market is forecasted to grow at a CAGR of 27% from 2024 to 2028.

The development of 5G communication

The IoT market growth coincides with the development of other important technologies, such as 5G and cloud
computing. According to the Telconews Asia in September 2024, as reported by IoT Analytics, these
connections now account for 22% of overall global IoT connections. The growth is expected to continue with a
CAGR of 15% projected from 2024 to 2030. The deployment of 5G communication standards paves the way
for a faster and smoother connection among smart devices. In April 2019, the United States and South Korea
took the lead in launching commercial 5G services. As of January 2023, Growth also came from key markets
within Asia-Pacific and Latin America regions, such as Brazil and India, which have recently launched 5G
networks.

Sustainable IoT and the Circular Economy

Moving towards sustainability and reusability must be a priority for us all. IoT technology used to achieve this
aim. IoT sensors are increasingly used to monitor heat efficiency and energy use in buildings to identify where
savings and efficiencies can be made. It will be used to optimize inventory, delivery and supply chains to ensure
resources are used efficiently when storing or distributing products. It can help determine whether products are
being sustainably disposed of or reused, where possible, by monitoring waste and recycling infrastructure. And
to optimize traffic flow in urban areas to improve air quality.

OVERVIEW OF THE IOT INDUSTRY IN HONG KONG

Market Overview

The growth of Hong  Kong’s start-up ecosystem has accelerated over recent  years, largely on account of
increased funding and a higher level of investment in the required infrastructure. The major research areas for
Hong Kong start-ups include Information and Communication Technologies (“ICT”), Software as a Service
(“SaaS”), the IoT, Data Analytics, Biotech, AI, Robotics, Virtual Reality (“VR”) and Augmented Reality
(“AR”), as well as new materials. In terms of applications, fintech, smart city and smart home, healthcare and
big data applications are the most popular sectors.
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To embrace innovation and technology to build a world-famed Smart Hong Kong

The Hong Kong Government strives to build Hong Kong into a world class smart city, through adopting the
measures set out in this Smart City Blueprint for Hong Kong in December 2017, setting out 76 initiatives under
six smart areas, namely “Smart Mobility”, “Smart Living”, “Smart Environment”, “Smart People”, “Smart
Government” and “Smart Economy”. The digital infrastructure projects and other major initiatives have been
implemented, for example, the Faster Payment System, installing free public Wi-Fi hotspots, and the “iAM
Smart” one-stop personalised digital services platform.

Hong Kong Smart City Blueprint 2.0 puts 140 initiatives which continue to enhance and expand existing city
management measures and services. The new initiatives aim to bring benefits and convenience to the public so
that residents can better perceive the benefits from smart city and Innovation and Technology (I&T) in their
daily lives. Examples are the application of “Building Information Modelling”, enhancement of smart tourism
platforms, the establishment of the LawTech Fund, development of the Traffic Data Analytics System, and
Smart Village pilots, etc.

The IoT market size revenue was valued at HKD 16.8 billion in 2024 and is expected to expand at a growth of
approximately 12% YoY, reaching HKD 18.8 billion in 2025 in Hong Kong. The has experienced rapid growth.
The industry has grown at a CAGR of 8.8% from HKD 11 billion in 2019 to HKD 16.8 billion in 2024, and is
expected to further grow at a CAGR of 11.8% to HKD 29.5 billion in 2029, the potential economic value of the
IoT industry remains huge. This growth is largely being driven by the increased adoption of facial recognition
technology, the surge in remote working practices and the widespread deployment of 5G.” The following chart
shows the revenue of IoT Service Market in Hong Kong from 2019 to the estimation in the year of 2025.

Source: Census and Statistics Department of Hong Kong, Migo

Growth Drivers

Rapid Development Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (“GBA”)

The opportunities created by the ongoing development of the GBA development should ensure that Hong Kong
can further capitalize on its strengths, most notably its R&D capabilities, its advanced technological
infrastructure, robust legal system and world-class intellectual property protection regime. Hong Kong will set a
solid foundation for future AI technology development in the city as well as the whole GBA region. The GBA’s
development strategy will see it at the forefront of the I&T industry, while allowing it to function as a business
platform for companies looking to access the Asian market and for any innovative mainland company seeking
to internationalize its operations.

74

Table of Contents

Integration of innovation and technology into industry 4.0 developments

The industry 4.0 development of high value-added industries and manufacturing processes makes use of smart
production, data analysis and IoT. Industrial change is also the joining of technologies like artificial intelligence
(AI), gene editing, to advanced robotics. Riding on Hong  Kong’s competitive advantages, strengthen
Hong Kong’s role in service sectors like trade finance, e-logistics and e-arbitration. Hong Kong can also benefit
from the huge demand for advanced technological solutions and complimentary products and services that
opens up opportunities for Hong Kong’s entrepreneurs to thrive in light and technology-intensive, high value-
added manufacturing and supporting services ventures.

Government’s Initiatives in Hong Kong

The HKSAR Government has invested millions of dollars annually in developing its IT infrastructure and
provides incentive programs for enterprises in Hong Kong through organizations, such as the Innovation and
Technology Fund (ITF), the Office of the Government Chief Information Officer, and the Hong  Kong
Productivity Council. As of the end of October 2024, the ITF had approved 3,347 applications, allocating total
funding of HKD12.4 billion.

The digital infrastructure of the Artificial Intelligence Supercomputing Centre

The availability of adequate computing infrastructure is a prerequisite for promoting the development of
scientific research and artificial intelligence (“AI”) industries in Hong Kong. With reference to the  2024-25
Budget Speech, the HKSAR Government will conduct a feasibility study on the development of an AI
Supercomputing Centre. In Cyberport and will allocate $3 billion to Cyberport for the launch of a three-year AI
Subsidy Scheme to support local universities, research institutes and enterprises to leverage the Centre’s
computing power and achieve scientific breakthroughs.

Innovation and creative environment in AI and Data Industry Development Hub”

According to the  2024-25 Budget Speech, the HKSAR Government will launch a $10 billion New
Industrialisation Acceleration Scheme (NIAS) in 2024. Enterprises engaging in life and health technology, AI
and data science, advanced manufacturing and new energy technology will each be provided with funding
support of up to $200 million on a matching basis of one (Government): two (enterprise). Applicant enterprises
shall invest no less than $200 million in Hong Kong.

Market Overview of Smart Building in Hong Kong

Smart City Initiatives

The growth of the smart building in Hong  Kong can be attributed to several innovations and creative
environment. Smart building control systems are one of the most innovative solutions that have been developed,
especially as IoT and PoE (Power Over Ethernet) technology continues to grow and become more widely used.
Using an IoT based smart building system makes it easier than ever to maintain a home or an office space
environment with minimal effort from the users. Additionally, the government’s support of innovation and
technology has led to the development of a thriving tech industry in Hong Kong. Finally, the city’s strategic
location and well-developed infrastructure have made it an ideal location for businesses looking to expand into
the Asia-Pacific region.

The Hong Kong Smart City Blueprint and its subsequent measures underpin HKSAR Government’s resolution
to embrace innovation and technology to build Hong Kong into a world class smart city. Hong Kong’s physical
and cultural proximity to Mainland China, the vibrant startup ecosystem and the advancement in smart
technologies like IoT, AI, data analytics, provides tremendous potential for Hong Kong to thrive among other
competitive economies.
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Sensors and Automation Enabled by IoT in the Smart Building

Looking at the role of IoT in the building sector, smart building solutions offer significant advantages to
improve operational efficiency while reducing overall costs associated with running a business or residential
premise. Smart buildings are moving towards it as it becomes more and more commonplace, and now IoT and
smart building technology can be harnessed to increase efficiency while providing an enhanced experience for
users. Studies from the U.S. Department of Energy have shown that smart building system can reduce the
energy use of residential buildings by over 60% and by up to 59% for commercial buildings.

Market Outlook

According to the Information Services Department of Hong Kong, Hong Kong is one of the most densely built
cities in the world — with over 42,000 private buildings and more than 8,000 government-owned buildings in a
1,104 square kilometer area —  Hong  Kong has witnessed the evolution of smart buildings. the HKSAR
Government has unprecedentedly invested over HKD  150  billion in the past  years to promote  I&T
development. It has dedicated additional land for infrastructure development, including building landmark
facilities that support cross-border I&T initiatives, providing land to universities for R&D use and establishing
research clusters.

Growth Drivers

A key factor of Smart Building shaping market growth is the increased adoption of IoT as an application. Smart
Building control systems are one of the most innovative solutions that have been developed, especially as IoT
and PoE technology continue to grow and become more widely used. A smart building uses automation and IoT
technology to control various facility systems and functions including HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air



technology to control various facility systems and functions including HVAC (heating, ventilation, and air
conditioning) systems, lighting controls, security systems, and energy management, are all connected via a
single intelligent platform, allowing them to exchange data and produce the suggested operational insight to
facility management. Real-time data collection and analysis made possible by this interconnectivity help to
optimize building operations and maintenance and enhance resident quality of life.

Government Funding Support

By the end of October 2024, the Innovation and Technology Fund of the HKSAR Government had supported
76,564 projects (with a total of around HKD 49.1 billion of approved funding) across several industrial sectors,
including foundation industries (which accounted for 23.9% of the cumulative total of approved projects),
information technology (21.8%), electrical and electronics (20.1%), biotechnology (15.1%),
textiles/clothing/footwear (4.8), environmental (4.5%), general (3.9%) and others (5.9%).

Mainland and International Collaboration

Currently, there are 16 State Key Laboratories approved by China Ministry of Science and Technology and six
Hong Kong branches of the Chinese National Engineering Research Centers in Hong Kong. These research labs
are managed by Hong Kong’s publicly funded universities and research centers. As a consequence of its strong
links with mainland companies and research institutions, Hong Kong is in a good position to act as a bridge
between mainland China and the international markets.
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Competitive Landscape

The HKSAR Government is supporting and funding research and development of IoT to boost productivity.
Various government departments are looking for improvements and innovation in key areas such as smart traffic
management systems, energy conservation through smart meters, and security system improvements through
smart cameras. Moreover, various funding are available for new IoT research projects for the development of
smart cities in the future. The HKSAR Government’s support is play a critical role in the development and
growth of the IoT ecosystem in Hong Kong.

Moreover, Hong Kong’s well-established legal system based on the rule of law offers strong legal protection for
intellectual property (IP), covering patents, designs, copyrights, and trademarks. Hong Kong recognises several
international treaties and agreements regarding IP.  It is also a signatory of the World Trade Organisation
Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights. Therefore, its IP regime is fully
compatible with international obligations and standards.

Challenges and Opportunities

Ensuring Data Security and Privacy

Data privacy and security concerns are one of the key challenges hindering the market growth. IoT devices have
been notoriously vulnerable to cyber attacks. Hardware Security Module (HSM) is a dedicated crypto processor
that is specifically designed for the protection of the crypto key lifecycle. Hardware security modules act as trust
anchors that protect the cryptographic infrastructure of some of the most security-conscious organizations in the
world by securely managing, processing, and storing cryptographic keys inside a hardened, tamper-resistant
device. It is a crucial task for the market players to protect online data. From the Global Newswire in October
2024 shows that the global HSM market was valued at USD1.4  billion in 2023 and is estimated to reach
USD 3.9 billion by 2030.

Integration and Compatibility Issues

Integrating AI with existing IoT systems presents numerous technical challenges. These range from ensuring
compatibility between new AI modules and existing Sensors and Automation Enabled by IoT to integrating
with other business systems and third-party applications. Service providers must navigate these integration
complexities without disrupting ongoing operations, which requires meticulous planning and technical
expertise. Many large corporations have already successfully implemented Robotic Process Automation (RPA),
which uses software robots to perform intelligent automation, including collating data, inducing responses,
performing transactions and boosting communication. According to Fortune Business Insights in
December 2024, the global RPA market was approximately USD 13.9 billion in 2023. The market is anticipated
to grow from approximately USD 18.2 billion in 2024 to approximately USD 64.5 billion by 2032, exhibiting a
CAGR of 17.1% over the estimated period.

Limited battery life on coverage and connectivity

In IoT, sensors and other peripherals are significant power users. Although technologies such as ultra-low-
power processors, tiny mobile sensors, and wireless networking are available, there is a need for efficient power
management and optical power consumption in IoT devices. Connectivity load would be another critical
challenge as numerous devices need to be connected at the same time. There is still an improvement for
innovation in battery technology and power management of portable and wearable electronics.

Entry Barriers

Long-term customer relationships

IoT providers primarily target those companies who have promising prospects and the potential to pioneer the
sectors in which they operate. Building long-term relationships with customers requires sustained dedicated
efforts in providing customized products, delivering superior experience and building a solid track record. The
substantial upfront investment in these areas has presented a formidable barrier to entry that inhibits new
competitors.
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Technology innovation capability

Technology capability sits at the very core of business development for computer vision software providers. As
new application scenarios for computer vision software continue to emerge, computer vision software providers
have to develop one-stop software platforms that offer a large number of applications to address special needs
of diversified long-tail scenarios efficiently. Furthermore, it is necessary for a leading player to have full-stack
technology capabilities, including software-defined computing processing power, algorithms and software
solutions, to improve its platform based cross-scenario service capabilities.

Computing infrastructure

In order to process the massive amounts of data generated and to train high performance AI models, it is critical
for computer vision software providers to invest heavily in constructing their own computing infrastructure or
procuring infrastructure services. Such intensive investments can be a barrier for new entrants.

Talent Acquisition and Retention

According to the data from C&SD in June 2024, as of 2022, there are around 118,300 ICT professionals
engaged in various business sectors, around 53.1% of them are involved in software development and R&D in
Hong  Kong. With the rapid development of the industry and the widespread deployment of AI software
solutions, the ability to consistently attract and retain experienced and skilled talents has become a key driver of
long-term business success.

Intense Competition

The IoT business is intensely competitive. We face competition from a large number of existing companies who
have significantly greater financial, technical, and marketing resources, as well as greater experience than we
have. We believe that the general financial success of companies within the IoT market will continue to attract
new competitors to the industry, which has a relatively low barrier to entry in some segments, including large
technology companies that could expand their platforms or acquire one of our competitors.

78

Table of Contents

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

As of the date of this prospectus, we have registered the following trademarks in Hong Kong:

Country   Trademark   Status   Applicant  
Trademark

Number   Classes  
Date of

Registration
Hong Kong     Registered   QBS System

Limited
  306612147  38, 42   July 15, 2024

Hong Kong     Registered  Mega
Fortune
Company
Limited 

  306612138  38, 42   July 15, 2024
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BUSINESS

Overview

We are an Internet of Things (“IoT”) solution provider in Hong Kong. Through our operating subsidiary QBS
System Limited (“QBS System”), founded in 2011, we have specialized in delivering comprehensive IoT
solutions and services across various industries. Our vision is to become the preferred choice for IoT solutions
for enterprises and projects in the Asia-Pacific region. We plan to achieve this through helping enterprises
undergo digital transformation, launch IoT initiatives, upscale existing IoT applications, or IoT solutions with
legacy systems.

Through our IoT platform, tools and services, we help enterprises through their digital transformation, launch
IoT initiatives, upscale an existing IoT application or integrate any IoT solution with a legacy system to help
them become more innovative, effective and productive. By utilizing our services and products, clients can gain
instant access to critical information, manage and control devices and systems with the Internet or other
networks.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2024, we had total revenue of $3,247,543 and $3,325,990,
respectively, and net income of $536,554 and $401,534 respectively.

Description of Business

QBS System launched in Hong Kong under the Companies Ordinance on April  14, 2011. QBS System’s
business service portfolio includes the provision of IoT Integration Solution Services, IoT Maintenance and
Support services, BPO services and trading sales.

QBS System’s Business Service Portfolio

IoT Integration Solution Services:

QBS System’s IoT Integration Solution Service helps clients to build applications using available IoT devices,
sensors, framework and platform, to integrate the available hardware and software solution with clients existing
landscape or to implement a new IoT solution for enterprises.

The applications of the QBS System’s IoT Integration Solution Service includes Enterprise IoT and Industrial
IoT, the essential component of Industry 4.0.

QBS System provides a full-range of services under its IoT Integration Solution Service program such as
consulting, development and implementation, analytics, support, and evolution.

QBS System’s IoT Integration Solution Service focuses on researching and developing technologies to improve
business efficiencies for clients and find a faster, more economical, and easier ways to solve problems. The list
below shows certain of the technologies developed and utilized by QBS System’s IoT Integration Solution
Services in the following industries:

•         Low Carbon Property Management  —  carbon management involves understanding the carbon
footprint of an entity or an individual by collecting and analyzing a massive volume of data. Carbon
footprint benchmarking assesses and manages carbon emissions. This technology saves operating
costs, reduces carbon emissions, slows climate change, improves air quality, and benefits human
health;

•         Energy Management — energy management is the key to conserving energy and saving money. It
provides an opportunity to optimize energy costs by understanding energy flow, procurement, and
economics of energy and reducing its harmful impact on our environment. This technology
monitors energy consumption resulting in savings and reduction in carbon emissions for greater
corporate social responsibility;

•         Stock Management  —  stock management enables real-time stock information and facilitates
warehouse and retail operation activities, a critical supply chain element. Stock management aims to
have the right product in the right place at the right time without creating excess inventory. This
technology offers a timely, efficient, and cost savings solution, especially for retail businesses;
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•         GreenTech Management — GreenTech Management typically refers to a company or entity that
specializes in managing environmentally friendly or sustainable technology solutions. It involves
overseeing projects related to renewable energy, waste management, energy efficiency, clean
technologies, or other environmentally sustainable initiatives. This management may encompass
planning, implementing, and optimizing green technology solutions within organizations or across
various sectors to reduce environmental impact and promote sustainability. It monitors, for example,
planting requirements based on dynamic environmental data captured. This technology helps those
growing houseplants or vegetation to reduce sound level and carbon footprint in the house, improve
indoor air quality, and use resources more efficiently; and

•         Hospitality industry Management —  facilitates the hospitality industry to be more efficient and
reduce operating costs.

IoT Maintenance and Support Services:

Following the completion of a QBS System’s IoT Integration Solution Service for a client, QBS System can
provide ongoing maintenance and support services, as well as maintenance and support services on consumable
hardware and software (license) purchased by the client. QBS System’s maintenance and support services are in
high demand by their clients to facilitate long-term usage of QBS System’s products and help them be
competitive in their respective fields, such as real estate, leisure, and entertainment industries.

Maintenance and support services entail ad-hoc technical services, IoT system administration, maintenance,
secondment, and corrective services. QBS System also offers license renewal subscriptions for individual IoT
systems, hardware, and software provided by the IoT products vendors.

Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”) Services:

QBS System provides BPO services to IoT projects, which is an end-to-end technology service, outsourcing
services to assist enterprises in launching IoT projects or ventures, creating a new technology solution,
upscaling an existing IoT application, or reliably and cost-effectively integrating any IoT solution with a legacy
system while addressing business challenges.

BPO service helps with:

•         New Product Launch Success

•         Product Transitions & Life Cycle Management

•         Roadmap & Technology Reviews

•         Business Planning

•         Target Operational Model

•         Forecast Management

In addition to the BPO services, QBS System offers technical consultants on flexible client assignments. This
service assists clients in recruiting, training, and managing teams of consultants and related administrative staff.
It is also involved with all technical aspects of clients’ IoT by deeply analyzing clients’ vision and creating IoT
technology solutions enabling clients to build new IoT-based products and establish a new business model. The
IoT BPO service helps with hardware and software that can adequately address the complexity and
fragmentation in clients’ IoT projects, including hardware integration, software.

Trading Sales:

The Company enters into distinct contracts with its customers to sell hardware and IoT-related products. The
Company typically enters into contracts with its customers where the rights of the parties, including payment
terms, are identified. Sales prices to customers are fixed with no separate sales rebate, discount, or other
incentive and there is no right of return. The Company generally provides no credit terms to its customers who
are contractually required to settle the
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considerations upon product delivery. The Company’s sole performance obligation is to deliver products
according to contract specifications. The Company recognizes product revenue at a point in time when the
control of products is transferred to customers.

Our Projects/Product Portfolio

Smart Buildings:

Smart buildings are equipped with energy-saving equipment for the efficient functioning of all the components
and systems of a building, including lighting; monitoring; safety and security; emergency systems; heating,
ventilation, and air conditioning systems; and car parking. The concept of smart buildings has gained pace due
to the increasing adoption of IoT solutions and services, and the growing deployment of IoT sensors.

With the growing numbers of IoT network devices, the critical need for reliable IoT integration services, such as
system design and architecture services, advisory services, and testing services, has emerged for the smooth
integration, interconnectivity, and functioning of connected devices. IoT-enabled smart buildings have enhanced
features, such as personalization of operations, device mobility inside buildings, comfort to occupants,
enhanced productivity, and automation of indoor activities. IoT home automation systems utilize control
systems and smart devices to automatically control and manage the basic home functions over the Internet, with
minimal effort from the users.

During 2020, one of the leading utility service companies in Hong Kong collaborated with QBS System to build
an IoT factory in order to cross-integrate multiple brands of IoT Gateway as a single management platform,
catering to different user scenarios in office or campus energy management in a more innovative way, such as
sensory data of room occupancy capturing for electricity control purpose.

In 2016, QBS System collaborated with a Germany company on a project launched by the Hong Kong
government is to design and build the Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment Treatment and Recycling
Facility (WEEE·PARK), which provides a collection service and operates the facility. The facility uses state-of-
the-art technology to process refrigerators, TVs, computers, washing machines, and air conditioners into
valuable secondary raw materials while controlling the management of the hazardous materials that are
contained in this equipment.

In 2012, QBS System worked together with a local management company and delivered a smart building
application for the first zero-carbon building in Hong Kong developed by the Construction Industry Council in
collaboration with the HKSAR Government. Our application utilizes the Building Automation and Controls
Network (BACnet), a communication protocol standard explicitly designed to provide a way to integrate
building control products made by different manufacturers. The BACnet enables a vast volume of data to be
analyzed automatically and visualizes carbon footprint benchmarking data to the Low Carbon property
management dashboard.

IoT Home Growing Device:

QBS System’s IoT home growing device is a technology solution designed to enable individuals to grow plants
and crops in their homes using IoT technology. The device is typically equipped with sensors, cameras, and
other tools that allow for remote monitoring and management of the plant growth process.

A home growing device enables sensing technologies, such as humidity, temperature, etc., to monitor dynamic
planting requirements for plans and crops. For example, as an intelligent virtual assistant the growing device
can propose watering schedules based on the dynamic environmental data captured and a plant’s specific
characteristics and needs.

The IoT growing device can be used to grow a variety of plants, including herbs, vegetables, and flowers, and
can be configured to meet the specific needs of each plant. The device is typically connected to a mobile app or
web platform, allowing users to monitor the progress of their plants, receive alerts and notifications, and adjust
settings as needed.

The use of IoT technology in home growing devices allows for greater precision and control over the plant
growth process. Sensors can monitor factors such as temperature, humidity, and light levels, and automatically
adjust settings to ensure optimal growing conditions. This can result in faster growth, higher yields, and
healthier plants.

IoT home growing devices are gaining popularity among consumers who are interested in sustainable and
healthy living, as well as those who have limited outdoor space or live in areas with harsh climates. They are
also used in commercial settings such as restaurants and grocery stores to provide fresh produce on site.
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Overall, IoT home growing devices offer a convenient and efficient way for individuals to grow plants and
crops in their homes, while leveraging the benefits of IoT technology to promote the plant growth process.

Smart Bench:

QBS System has co-developed with another innovator the Smart Bench, a modern, multifunctional bench
designed for use in outdoor spaces. It has various features, such as wireless charging for mobile devices, WiFi
connectivity, and sensors that track environmental data like temperature, air quality, and noise levels. While
powered by solar panels, the Smart Bench stores energy with a built-in battery for use at night. QBS System led
the team in IoT Device Integration and System Implementation of the Smart Bench. The Smart Bench aims to
enhance the user experience of public spaces by providing a convenient and comfortable place to sit while
offering helpful technology features. Additionally, environmental sensors can help city planners gather data on
how people use outdoor spaces and make informed decisions about improving urban infrastructure. QBS
System’s believes that the Smart Bench is an innovative and practical solution for modern urban living.

Location Based Services:

Ultra-wideband (UWB) is a wireless communication technology that uses low-energy, short-range radio waves
to transmit large amounts of data over short distances. Unlike other wireless communication technologies that
use narrowband signals, UWB signals use a very wide frequency range, typically spanning several gigahertz,
which enables them to transmit data at extremely high speeds.

UWB technology is used in a variety of applications, including high-speed data transfer, location tracking, and
sensing. In the context of data transfer, UWB can be used to transfer large files, such as high-definition videos,
between devices at speeds of up to several gigabits per second. In location tracking, UWB can be used to
accurately determine the location of objects or people within a confined space, such as a building or a room,
with a high degree of precision. In sensing applications, UWB can detect objects’ presence, measure distance,
and even detect motion.

One of the advantages of UWB technology is its ability to operate in crowded radio frequency environments
without interfering with other wireless communication technologies. This is because UWB signals are spread
out over a wide frequency range and are designed to coexist with other wireless technologies.

During 2019, one of the largest theme parks in Hong Kong introduced UWB technology into game environment
in Hong Kong, for which QBS System acted as a subcontractor and was responsible for digital communication
among devices for tracking the children playing a 3D projection game scene with centimeters-level of accuracy.

QBS System also utilizes location-based service driven products equipped with the readiness and the reliability
of indoor and outdoor positioning system. In 2019, an NGO worked with QBS System for location-based
service adaptations on their existing mobile application to enable extra technology to substantiate location-
awareness assist visual impaired persons in a technology park in Hong Kong. Wireless fingerprinting and
magnetic fields are captured for indoor positioning estimation to provide a coordinate on an app, speak-to-
navigate approach is used for visual impaired app users

Fee Structure

QBS System provides services with (i) IoT Integration Solutions Services; (ii) Business Process Outsourcing
(“BPO”) Services; (iii) IoT Support and Maintenance Services; and (iv) Trading of IoT-Related products.

Revenue from IoT Integration Solutions services represents the delivery of integrated solutions after providing a
series of development, implementation, and consulting services. The revenue is charged at a fixed amount with
no variable consideration, as explicitly outlined in the contract. Revenue is recognized over time on the basis of
our effort or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation over time as work progresses, following the
input method which adopted the ratio of actual costs incurred to total estimated costs to measure progress and
estimate the portion of revenue earned. Revenue is generally driven by the sizes and types of projects involved
and the nature of services provided. For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, revenue of IoT
Integration Solutions services represented approximately 55.7% and 57.3%, respectively, of our total revenues
for the respective years.
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Revenue from BPO services represents fee income for the provision of IT-related manpower support for a pre-
agreed period at a fixed amount, without variable considerations, as stated in the contract. Revenue is
recognized over time on the basis of the ratio of actual labor cost incurred over total budgeted labor cost (input
method) as a measure of progress towards satisfaction of performance obligation. BPO income is generally
driven by the number of manpower required and the specific grade or level of expertise involved. For the years
ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, revenue of BPO services represented approximately 30.9% and 23.8%,
respectively, of our total revenues for the respective years.

Revenue from IoT Support and Maintenance services represents the delivery of a variety of support and
maintenance services, including the maintenance of different components of IoT Solutions and the repair and
replacement of various hardware, at a fixed amount without variable consideration, as stated in the contract.

Revenue is recognized over time on the basis of our efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance
obligation, following the input method which aligning with actual incurred costs against expected budgeted
costs at contract inception. Service income is generally driven by the sizes and types of services involved and
the nature of services provided. For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, revenue of IoT Support and
Maintenance services represented approximately 12.9% and 14.2%, respectively, of our total revenue for the
respective years.

Revenue from trading hardware and IoT-related products to our customers, sales income is recognized upon the
physical delivery of the products to the customers. Sales prices to customers are fixed with no separate sales
rebate, discount, or other incentive and there is no right of return as outlined in the contract. The selling price
offered to our customers varies depending on the products sold and trade volume. For the years ended
September 30, 2024, and 2023, revenue of trading sales represented approximately 0.5% and 4.7% of our total
revenues, respectively.

Our Customers

Our customers consist of government departments, large retail brands, chain restaurants brands, theme parks
and some of them are well recognized international brands. Our customers are mainly in the industries of
construction, retail, electronics, food and beverage, telecommuting, robotics, logistics businesses.

Sales and Marketing

Our marketing is primarily based on our branding. While many companies are strong in either creativity or
technology, we are strong while also developing total solution to transform the business with hardware and
software technology. As a result, the majority of our client base contacts us directly through referrals,
reputation, word-of-month, and even online searches. Although we attend trade shows and sponsor certain
events to showcase our technologies and capacities for the general brand promotion, we have not had the needs
to conduct any sales driven marketing campaigns or sales efforts of our own to gain new clients, due to our
continuing projects of advertising and marketing productions in the pipeline that we have signed orders and
agreements and the relatively exclusive profile of our corporate clientele.

We have received the following awards:

Hong Kong RFID award — HK RFID — Winner 2013

Hong Kong ICT Award — Office of the Government Chief Information Officer — Silver Award 2013
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Technologies and Intellectual Property

Our company’s offerings is a sophisticated IoT (Internet of Things) platform that efficiently integrates a diverse
array of smart devices, sensors, and cloud-based services. This platform leverages the advancements in several
key technologies to deliver a transformative user experience. An extensive network of interconnected sensors
that can monitor a wide range of environmental and physiological data. These sensors are strategically placed
throughout homes, buildings, and urban infrastructures, collecting real-time information on factors such as
temperature, humidity, air quality, energy consumption, and user activity.

Our IoT platform utilizes advanced wireless technologies, to establish reliable and secure communication
between various smart devices and our cloud-based services. This connectivity ensures that data can be
transmitted and synchronized across the entire IoT ecosystem of the Company.

We utilize a third-party Robotic Process Automation (RPA) tool without modifying or reprogramming it and
configure it to follow client-specific instructions, automating tasks based on their needs. For example, the RPA
can be programmed to use large language model (LLM) to search for information or answer questions to
complete tasks, then copy the responses back to the task. This is particularly useful for automating repetitive
administrative duties. We use client-provided data to perform these tasks but do not store any of them. We don’t
develop AI or RPA tools and only use the RPA software to automate repetitive or programmed tasks, without
controlling physical robots. These intelligent algorithms analyze patterns, identify trends, and generate
personalized insights and recommendations to help users optimize their living and working environments.

In order to improve and expand our services, we engage in on-going and continuous research and development
(“R&D”) and recruitment of specialized talent, including programmers in AI, Hardware Security Modules,
digital twins and robotics.

Our R&D focuses on key cutting-edge technologies to maintain our competitive advantage, including Hardware
Security Modules (“HSM”), Robotic Process Automation (“RPA”) and Ultra-wideband (“UWB”).

Competitive Strengths

We believe the following competitive strengths are essential for our success and differentiate us from our
competitors:

Increased efficiency and productivity:

QBS System enables companies to improve operations and automate processes to increase efficiency and
productivity. For example, we use IoT sensors to monitor equipment performance, predict maintenance needs,
and reduce downtime.

Cost savings:

QBS System helps companies save costs by improving operational efficiency, reducing waste, and optimizing
resource utilization. For example, IoT sensors monitor energy consumption and optimize usage, leading to cost
savings.

Competitive advantage for our customers:

Companies that adopt IoT can gain a competitive advantage by differentiating themselves from competitors,
improving their products and services, and providing better customer experiences. For example, our IoT-related
services can help companies offer personalized services, such as customized product recommendations and
targeted marketing.

Enhance efficiency:

QBS System can enable companies to enhance efficiency by developing innovative products and services that
leverage IoT technology. For example, our IoT-related services can help companies offer subscription-based
services, such as predictive maintenance and remote monitoring.

Improved Customer Experiences:

QBS System can enable companies to improve customer experiences by providing personalized, real-time
services and support. For example, IoT sensors monitor customer usage patterns and provide customized
recommendations.
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Our Challenges

Shortage of skilled technicians

High quality and talented technology specialists and programmers with the requisite skills and experience are
rare in the Hong Kong market, as we need to design and implement the total solution for clients. So it will need
both knowledge and experience on both hardware, software and how to connect these two components in the
actual project. Therefore, we plan to source such professionals from other countries, where employment costs
are lower than Hong Kong but their skills and qualifications are high due to their government’s funding for such
skills in technology. We have already established recruiting channels in such market.

Our Growth Strategy

Having already established and developed a stable relationship with our major clients and gained the technical
know-how, experience, and reputation in smart manufacturing and logistics support over 13 years of operations,
we plan to build on our competitive strengths to expand our scale of business and further strengthen our market
position in Hong Kong as well as to engage in further overseas expansion with the following strategies:

Sales & Marketing:

We have served government departments, large brands names in logistics, good and beverage and many
different industries. We will diversifying sales channels to reach a wider audience through e-commerce,
partnerships, and different industry events. Enhancing digital marketing efforts to improve online visibility,
engage with the target audience, and establish the company as a thought leader. Enhancing the customer
experience through exceptional support, loyalty programs, and continuous improvement based on customer
feedback. Expanding the product offerings to meet evolving market needs and diversify the company’s
capabilities. Leveraging strategic partnerships to gain access to new markets, integrate complementary
solutions, and enhance the company’s credibility. Our primary targeted markets are America, southeast Asia and
Australia.

Products/service for enhancing customers:

It is found that commercial market spent less money as possible as pessimistic for their own businesses. The
newly introduced product/service lines: RPA, UWB. and large language model (“LLM”) are focusing on
company operation automation and optimisation for better cost saving and closer monitoring to cater for the
market situation. Besides, the HSM adoption fits the Hong Kong government’s demands on cybersecurity.

Human Resources:

We plan to expand our staff recruiting beyond Hong Kong in order to source technology specialists,
programmers, researchers, and skilled technicians in hardware such as robotics and software like AI from
America, where highly skilled workers are available at lower costs than in Hong Kong. Due to the
predominantly digital nature in some of our projects of our business and services, jobs can be done remotely
without the need for physical relocation.

Employees

As of September 30, 2024, September 30, 2023 and September 30, 2022, we had 11, 17 and 12 employees,
respectively. The following table sets forth the breakdown of our employees as of September 30, 2024, by
function:

Category  
Number of
Employees  

Percentage of
workforce

Sales and Marketing   1  9%
General and Administration   3  27%
Engineering   7  64%
Total   11  100%

As of September  30, 2024, all of our employees were based in Hong Kong, where our principal executive
offices are.

As required by Hong Kong laws and regulations, we contribute to the mandatory provident fund and take out
insurance policies for our Hong Kong-based employees.
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We enter into standard labor and confidentiality agreements with our employees. We believe that we maintain a
good working relationship with our employees, and we have not experienced any major labor disputes.

Facilities

Our principal executive office is located in Unit 327, 3/F, Building 16W, 16 Science Park West Avenue,
Hong Kong Science Park, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong, where 3-year leases approximately 1,069 square
feet for office space. The leases will expire on June 16, 2027, which can be renewed upon mutual agreement
with our landlord. Our leased premises are leased from an unrelated party who either has valid title to the
relevant properties or proper authorization from the titleholder to sublease the property, as disclosed in the
following table:

Property Address   Lessor   Annual Rent  
Lease

Expiration Date   Purposes/Use
Unit 327, 3/F, Building 16W,

16 Science Park West Avenue,
Hong Kong Science Park,
Shatin, New Territories,
Hong Kong

  Hong Kong Science
and Technology Parks
Corporation

  HKD320,700   June 16, 2027   General office
use

We believe that we will be able to obtain adequate facilities, principally through leasing, to accommodate our
future expansion plans.

Insurance

The Company does not carry any business interruption insurance, public liability insurance, or any other
insurance policy. We consider our insurance coverage to be adequate and in line with that of other companies in
the same industry of similar size in Hong Kong.

Legal Proceedings

We are currently not a party to any material legal or administrative proceedings. We may from time to time be
subject to various legal or administrative claims and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business.
Litigation or any other legal or administrative proceeding, regardless of the outcome, is likely to result in
substantial cost and diversion of our resources, including our management’s time and attention.
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REGULATIONS

This section sets forth a summary of the most significant rules and regulations that affect our business activities
in Hong Kong.

Hong Kong Regulations

As we conduct business primarily in Hong Kong through our wholly-owned subsidiary QBS System Limited,
our business operations are subject to various regulations and rules promulgated by the Hong Kong government.
The following is a brief summary of the Hong Kong laws and regulations that currently and materially affect
our business. This section does not purport to be a comprehensive summary of all present and proposed
regulations and legislation relating to the industries in which we operate.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Protection of Personal Data

Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter  486 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“PDPO”), which came into
operation in Hong Kong on August 1, 1996, aims to protect the privacy of individuals of their personal data.
The PDPO imposes a statutory duty on data users to comply with the requirements of the six data protection
principles (the “Data Protection Principles”) contained in Schedule 1 to the PDPO. The PDPO provides that a
data user shall not do an act, or engage in a practice, that contravenes a Data Protection Principle unless the act
or practice, as the case may be, is required or permitted under the PDPO. The six Data Protection Principles are:

Principle 1 — purpose and manner of collection of personal data;

Principle 2 — accuracy and duration of retention of personal data;

Principle 3 — use of personal data;

Principle 4 — security of personal data;

Principle 5 — information to be generally available; and

Principle 6 — access to personal data.

Non-compliance with a Data Protection Principle may lead to a complaint to the Privacy Commissioner for
Personal Data (the “Privacy Commissioner”). The Privacy Commissioner may serve an enforcement notice to
direct the data user to remedy the contravention. A data user who contravenes an enforcement notice commits
an offence which may lead to a fine and imprisonment.

The PDPO also gives data subjects certain rights, inter alia:

•         the right to be informed by a data user whether the data user holds personal data of which the
individual is the data subject;

•         if the data user holds such data, to be supplied with a copy of such data; and

•         the right to request correction of any data they consider to be inaccurate.

The PDPO criminalizes, including but not limited to, the misuse or inappropriate use of personal data in direct
marketing activities, non-compliance with a data access request and the unauthorized disclosure of personal
data obtained without the relevant data user’s consent.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Trade Description

Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“TDO”), which came into operation
in Hong Kong on April 1, 1981, aims to prohibit false or misleading trade description and statements to goods
and services provided by traders to the consumers during or after a commercial transaction. Pursuant to the
TDO, any person in the course of any trade or business applies a false trade description to any goods and
services or supply or offers to supply them commits an offence and a person also commits the same offence if
he/she is in possession for sale or for any purpose of trade or manufacture of any goods with a false description.
The TDO also provides that traders may commit an offence if they engage in a commercial practice that has a
misleading omission of material information of the goods, an aggressive commercial practice, involves bait
advertising, bait and switch or wrong acceptance of payment.
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Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Supply of Services

Supply of Services (Implied Terms) Ordinance (Chapter 457 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SSITO”), which
came into operation in Hong Kong on October 21, 1994, stipulates that in a contract for the supply of service,
where the supplier is acting in the course of a business, there is an implied term that the supplier will carry out
the service with reasonable care and skill. The SSITO provides that where, under a contract for the supply of a
service by a supplier acting in the course of a business, the time for the service to be carried out is not fixed by
the contract, is not left to be fixed in a manner agreed by the contract or is not determined by the course of
dealing between the parties, there is an implied term that the supplier will carry out the service within a
reasonable time. The SSITO also provides that where, under a contract for the supply of a service, the
consideration for the service is not determined by the contract, is not left to be determined in a manner agreed
by the contract or is not determined by the course of dealing between the parties, there is an implied term that
the party contracting with the supplier will pay a reasonable charge.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Exemption Clauses in a Contract

Control of Exemption Clauses Ordinance (Chapter 71 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“CECO”), which came into
operation in Hong Kong on December 1, 1990 aims to limit the scope where the seller may limit its liability via
the terms of the contracts. The CECO provides that unless the concerned terms satisfy the test of
reasonableness, a person dealing as consumer cannot by reference to any contract term be made to indemnify
another person (whether a party to the contract or not) in respect of liability that may be incurred by the other
for negligence or breach of contract.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Intellectual Properties Rights

Trade Marks Ordinance (Chapter 559 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“TMO”), which came into operation in
Hong Kong on April 4, 2003 provides the framework for the Hong Kong’s system of registration of trademarks
and sets out the rights attached to a registered trade mark, including logo and a brand name. The TMO restricts
unauthorized use of a sign which is identical or similar to the registered mark for identical and/or similar goods
and/or services for which the mark was registered, where such use is likely to cause confusion on the part of the
public. The TMO provides that a person may also commit a criminal offence if that person fraudulently uses a
trade mark, including selling and importing goods bearing a forged trade mar, or possessing or using equipment
for the purpose of forging a trade mark.

Patents Ordinance (Chapter 514 of the Laws of Hong Kong), which came into operation in Hong Kong on
June 27, 1997 provides the framework for “re-registration” system of Chinese, UK and European patents in
Hong Kong. Pursuant to Patents (Amendment)Ordinance 2016, which came into operation in Hong Kong on 19
December 2019 provide a new framework for a new patent system — an “original grant patent” system, running
in parallel with the “re-registration” system.

Copyright Ordinance (Chapter  528 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“Copyright Ordinance”), which came into
operation in Hong Kong on June 27, 1997 provides comprehensive protection for recognized categories of work
including artistic work. The Copyright Ordinance restricts certain acts such as copying and/or issuing or making
available copies to the public of a copyright work without the authorization from the copyright owner as it may
constitute primary infringement. The Copyright Ordinance provides that a person may also incur liability for
secondary infringement if that person possesses, sells, distributes or deals with a copy of a work which is, and
which he knows or has reason to believe to be, an infringing copy of work for the purposes of or in the course of
any trade or business without the consent of the copyright owner.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Employment

Pursuant to Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“EO”), which came into operation
in Hong Kong on September 27, 1968, all employees covered by the EO generally entitled to, amongst other
things, notice of termination of his or her employment contract; payment in lieu of notice; maternity protection
in the case of a pregnant employee; not less than one rest  day in every period of seven  days; severance
payments or long service payments; sickness allowance; statutory holidays or alternative holidays; and paid
annual leave of up to 14 days depending on the period of employment.

Pursuant to Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter  485 of the Laws of Hong  Kong)
(“MPFSO”), which came into operation in Hong Kong on July 24, 1998, every employer of an employee of
18 years of age or above but under 65 years of age to take all practical steps to ensure the employee becomes a
member of a registered MPF
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Scheme within the first 60 days of employment. Subject to the minimum and maximum relevant income levels,
it is mandatory for both employers and their employees to contribute 5% of the employee’s relevant income to
the MPF Scheme.

Any employer who contravenes the requirement of enrolling eligible employees in a registered MPF Scheme
commits a criminal offence and is liable on conviction to a maximum fine of HK$50,000 and imprisonment for
six months on the first conviction and maximum fine of HK$100,000 and imprisonment for one year on each
subsequent conviction.

Any employer who contravenes the requirement of paying mandatory contributions to the MPF Scheme
commits a criminal offence and is liable on conviction to a maximum fine of HK$50,000 and imprisonment for
six months on the first conviction and maximum fine of HK$100,000 and imprisonment for one year on each
subsequent conviction.

Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter  282 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“ECO”), which came into
operation in Hong Kong on December 1, 1953, is an ordinance enacted for the purpose of providing for the
payment of compensation to employees injured in the course of employment. The ECO establishes a no-fault
and non-contributory employee compensation system for work injuries and lays down the rights and obligations
of employers and employees in respect of injuries or death caused by accidents arising out of and in the course
of employment, or by prescribed occupational diseases.

Under the ECO, if an employee sustains an injury or dies as a result of an accident arising out of and in the
course of his employment, his employer is in general liable to pay compensation even if the employee might
have committed acts of faults or negligence when the accident occurred. Similarly, an employee who suffers
incapacity or dies arising from an occupational disease is entitled to receive the same compensation as that
payable to employees injured in occupational accidents.

As stipulated by the ECO, no employer shall employ any employee in any employment unless there is in force
in relation to such employee a policy of insurance issued by an insurer for an amount not less than the
applicable amount specified in the Fourth Schedule of the ECO in respect of the liability of the employer.
According to the Fourth Schedule of the ECO, the insured amount shall be not less than HK$100,000,000 per
event if a company has no more than 200 employees. Any employer who contravenes this requirement commits
a criminal offence and is liable on conviction to a fine and imprisonment. An employer who has taken out an
insurance policy under the ECO is required to display a prescribed notice of insurance in a conspicuous place on
each of its premises where any employee is employed.

Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“MWO”), which came into operation in
Hong Kong on November 12, 2010, provides for a prescribed minimum hourly wage rate (currently at HK$42.1
per hour) during the wage period for every employee engaged under a contract of employment under the
Employment Ordinance. Any provision of the employment contract which purports to extinguish or reduce the
right, benefit or protection conferred on the employee by the Minimum Wage Ordinance is void.

Failure to pay minimum wage amounts to a breach of the wage provisions under MWO. An employer who
wilfully and without reasonable excuse fails to pay wages to an employee when it becomes due is liable to
prosecution and, upon conviction, to a fine of HK$350,000 and to imprisonment for three years..

Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“OSHO”), which came
into operation in Hong Kong on May 23, 1997, provides for the protection of health and safety of employees in
workplaces, both industrial and non-industrial.

Employers must, as far as reasonably practicable, ensure the safety and health at work of all employees by:

•         providing and maintaining plant and systems of work that are safe and without risks to health;

•         making arrangements for ensuring safety and absence of risks to health in connection with the use,
handling, storage or transport of plant or substances;

•         providing all necessary information, instruction, training, and supervision for ensuring safety and
health; and
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•         as regards any workplace under the employer’s control, maintaining the workplace in a condition
that is safe and without risks to health and providing and maintaining means of access to and egress
from the workplace that are safe and without risks to health.

Failure to comply with any of the above provisions constitutes an offence and the employer is liable on
conviction to a fine of HK$200,000. An employer who fails to do so intentionally, knowingly or recklessly
commits an offence and is liable on conviction to a fine of HK$200,000 and to imprisonment of six months.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Anti-Competition

Competition Ordinance (Chapter 619 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“CO”) that commences on January 18, 2013
(i) prohibits conduct that prevents, restricts or distorts competition in Hong Kong; (ii) prohibits mergers that
substantially lessen competition in Hong Kong; and (iii) provides for incidental and connected matter.

The “First Conduct Rule” prohibits anti-competitive agreements, practices and decisions. It provides that an
undertaking must not (i) make or give effect to an agreement; (ii) engage in a concerted practice; or (iii) as a
member of an association of undertakings, make or give effect to a decision of the association, if the object or
effect of the agreement, concerted practice or decision is to prevent, restrict or distort competition in
Hong Kong. Serious anti-competitive conduct includes (i)  fixing, maintaining, increasing or controlling the
price for the supply of goods or services; (ii)  allocating sales, territories, customers or markets for the
production or supply of goods or services; (iii)  fixing, maintaining, controlling, preventing, limiting or
eliminating the production or supply of goods or services; and (iv) bid-rigging.

The “Second Conduct Rule” prohibits the abuse of market power. It provides that an undertaking that has a
substantial degree of market power in a market must not abuse such power by engaging in conduct that has as
its object or effect the prevention, restriction or distortion of competition in Hong Kong. This conduct may in
particular, constitute an abuse of such market power if it involves predatory behavior towards competitors or
limiting production, markets or technical development to the prejudice of consumers. Matters that may be taken
into consideration when determining whether an undertaking has a substantial degree of market power in a
market include (i) the market share of the undertaking; (ii) the undertaking’s power to make pricing and other
decisions; and (iii) any barriers to entry to competitors into the relevant market.

The First Conduct Rule and the Second Conduct Rule apply to all sectors of the Hong  Kong economy.
Therefore, our business is subject to CO generally.

In the event of contravention of a competition rule, the Competition Tribunal may (i) on application by the
Competition Commission, impose pecuniary penalty of any amount it considers appropriate subject to a
maximum of 10% of the turnover of the undertaking concerned for each year in which the contravention
occurred for each single contravention (if the contravention occurred in more than three  years, 10% of the
turnover of the undertaking for the three years that saw the highest, second highest and third highest turnover);
(ii) on application by the Competition Commission, make an order disqualifying a person from being a director
of a company or from otherwise being concerned in the affairs of a company; (iii) make orders it considers
appropriate, including but not limited to prohibiting an entity from making or giving effect to an agreement,
requiring modification or termination of an agreement, requiring payment of damages to a person who has
suffered loss or damage as a result of the contravention.

Hong Kong Laws and Regulations relating to Business Registration and Taxation

Business Registration Ordinance (Chapter  310 of the Laws of Hong  Kong) (“BRO”), which came into
operation in Hong Kong on February  6, 1959, requires every person carrying on any business to make an
application to the Commissioner of Inland Revenue in the prescribed manner for the registration of that business
within one month after the commencement of business. The Commissioner of Inland Revenue must register
each business for which a business registration application is made and as soon as practicable after the
prescribed business registration fee and levy are paid and issue a business registration certificate or branch
registration certificate for the relevant business or the relevant branch, as the case may be. Any person who fails
to apply for business registration shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable to a fine of HK$5,000 and to
imprisonment for 1 year.

Pursuant to Inland Revenue Ordinance (Chapter 112 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“IRO”), which came into
operation in Hong  Kong on May  3, 1947, where an employer commences to employ in Hong  Kong an
individual who is or is likely to be chargeable to tax, or any married person, the employer shall give a written
notice to the Commissioner of
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Inland Revenue not later than three months after the date of commencement of such employment. Where an
employer ceases or is about to cease to employ in Hong Kong an individual who is or is likely to be chargeable
to tax, or any married person, the employer shall give a written notice to the Commissioner of Inland Revenue
not later than one month before such individual ceases to be employed in Hong Kong.

Under the current practice of the Inland Revenue Department of Hong Kong, no tax is payable in Hong Kong in
respect of dividends paid by the Company.

The IRO provides, among other things, that profits tax shall be charged on every person carrying on a trade,
profession or business in Hong Kong in respect of his or her assessable profits arising in or derived from
Hong Kong at the standard rate, which stood at 8.25% on assessable profits up to $2,000,000 and 16.5% on any
part of assessable profits over $2,000,000 for corporate taxpayers as of the date of this prospectus. The Inland
Revenue Ordinance also contains detailed provisions relating to, among other things, permissible deductions for
outgoings and expenses, set-offs for losses and allowances for depreciations of capital assets.

No tax is imposed in Hong Kong in respect of capital gains from the sale of shares. However, trading gains
from the sale of shares by persons carrying on a trade, profession or business in Hong Kong, where such gains
are derived from or arise in Hong Kong, will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax. Certain categories of
taxpayers (for example, financial institutions, insurance companies and securities dealers) are likely to be
regarded as deriving trading gains rather than capital gains unless these taxpayers can prove that the investment
securities are held for long-term investment purposes.
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MANAGEMENT

Directors and Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information regarding our executive officers and directors as of the date of this
prospectus.

Directors and Executive Officers   Age   Position/Title
Siu Fung Tang   43   Chief Executive Officer, Director and Chairman of the Board
Chi Chuen Lai   50   Chief Financial Officer and Director
Sin Yi Cheng   39   Chief Operating Officer and Director
Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui   54   Independent Director
PoTin Wong   48   Independent Director
Anthony S. Chan   60   Independent Director
Adrian Wong   27   Independent Director

Biography

Mr. Siu Fung Tang, Chief Executive Officer, Director and Chairman of the Board

Mr. Tang was appointed as Chief Executive Officer, Director and Chairman of the Board on August 6, 2024.
Mr. Tang has over 20 years of experience in the banking and financial services industry and has gained
extensive corporate finance and advisory experience and knowledge throughout the years serving in both
international and local financial institutions in Hong Kong, including served as the senior sales leader at The
Hong Kong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited from July 2011 to October 2011 and served as the
Branch Manager at the Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited from December 2011 to September
2016. Since November 2016, Mr. Tang served as Director of RTG Global Management Limited. Mr. Tang
founded Road to Greatness Consultancy Company Limited in 2017 and served as its CEO and Chairman of the
board, which is a financial investment and business training company. Mr. Tang served as Director of RTG
Motor Management Limited since May 2017. Mr. Tang has served as Director of GSH Capital Holdings
Limited since May 2018. Since September 2021, Mr. Tang has served as Director of Sparta Universal Industrial
Limited. Mr. Tang has served as Director of Loyalty Global Investment Management and Loyalty Global SPC
since June 2022. Mr. Tang served as Chief Marketing Officer at SquareDog Robotics Limited from 2022 to
2023, which is a robotics company. Mr. Tang has served as Director of GSH Capital Limited since September
2023. Mr. Tang served as the President, CEO and Chairman of the Board of Flywheel Advanced Technology,
Inc. (FWFW:OTC US) from July 2021 to July 2024. Mr. Tang received his bachelor degree of Science in
Accounting & Finance and Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Institute Prima Bestari of Pine in
2010.

Mr. Chi Chuen Lai, Chief Financial Officer and Director

Mr. Lai was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and Director of the Board of the Company on August 6, 2024.
Mr. Lai founded and served as an executive director for Tat Fung Textile Co., Ltd (“Tat Fung Textile”) from
2010 to 2019, a textile company in Hong Kong and he was in charge of Sales, Research & Development and
Finance department for this company. Mr. Lai served as CFO and General Manager of Panther Textile Holding
Co. Ltd from 2017 to 2019 which is a textile company in China and acquired Tat Fung Textile in 2017. Mr. Lai
served as CFO and Head of Investment of Road to Greatness Consultancy Company Limited, which is a
financial investment and business training company from 2019 to July 2022. Mr. Lai has served as Director of
Loyalty Global Investment Management and Loyalty Global SPC since June 2022. Mr. Lai served as a member
of the Board of Flywheel Advanced Technology, Inc. (FWFW:OTC US) from July 2021 to March 2023. Mr. Lai
received his bachelor’s degree in science with Textile Chemistry major from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 1996.

Ms. Sin Yi Cheng, Director and Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Cheng was appointed as a director of the Board of the Company on August 6, 2024 and Chief Operating
Officer of the Company on October 28, 2024. Ms. Cheng served as Executive Assistant of Cherrybody Fashions
Mfy Limited from 2013 to 2018, a company in Hong Kong specialize in the production of Intimate Apparel,
Sleepwear/Nightwear and Swimwear for prestigious customers internationally and she was in charge of
coordination and operation for this company. Ms. Cheng served as Executive Director of Road to Greatness
Consultancy Company Limited from 2018 to 2019, which is a financial investment and business training
company. Ms. Cheng founded Goldman Technology Holdings Limited in 2019 and has served as its COO since
establishment, which is a technology company providing
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Energy Savings Solution in Hong Kong. Ms. Cheng founded Protopia Global Holdings Inc. in 2022 and has
served as its President and CEO since 2022. Ms. Cheng has served as Treasurer and Secretary of Flywheel
Advanced Technology, Inc. (FWFW:OTC US) from July 2021 to August 2024.

Ms. Cheng received her Master of Business Administration (MBA) from University of Kurt Bosch, Switzerland
in 2008.

Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui, Independent Director

Mr. Chui was appointed as a director of the Board of the Company on October 28, 2024. He served as Financial
Planner and Unit Manager of Sun Life (H.K) Limited from 2014 to 2022 and he was in charge wealth manager
with high-net-worth customers and recruitment events. Mr. Chui served as senior consultant from 2022 and is in
charge of project management for US listing projects. Mr. Chui received his Bachelor of Administrative Studies
from York University, Canada in 1994.

PoTin Wong, Independent Director

Mr. PoTin Wong was appointed as a director of the Board on March 31, 2025. Mr. Wong has served as a
director of LPT Strategic Consulting Co., Ltd. since June 2017. Mr. Wong has served as a director of Vanguard
Corporate Consulting Limited since October 2021 and as a director of Vanguard Corporate Services Limited
since July 2023. Mr. Wong served as the Chief Financial Officer of China Regenerative Medicine International
Limited (Hong Kong Stock Code: 8158) from August 15, 2022 to April 25, 2025. Mr. Wong was the Chief
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of Huiyin Holdings Group Limited (a company listed on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange until August 19, 2022 (Stock Code: 1178)) from March 2021 to August 2022. Mr. Wong
was a Director & Business Development Manager Director of CNFOL.com from May 2017 to June 2018.
Mr. Wong was Business Development Manager of Finet Group Co., Ltd. (Hong Kong Stock Exchange Stock
Code: 8317) from September 2010 to November 2015. Mr. Wong holds associate membership of Hong Kong
Corporate Governance Institute since March 2023 and is a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since July 2019. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants since
November 2008 and is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants since November 2003. Mr. Wong
obtained a Master of Science in Corporate Governance and Compliance from Hong Kong Baptist University in
2021. Mr.  Wong received his professional diploma in accounting from Hong Kong Shue Yan University
(formerly known as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in 1999.

Anthony S. Chan, Independent Director

Mr. Anthony S. Chan was appointed as a director of the Board on October 28, 2024. Mr. Chan is a certified
public accountant registered with the State of New York with over 35 years of professional experience in
auditing, financial reporting and business advisory. He has served as President and Co-founder of CA Global
Consulting Inc. since 2014 and as Director of Assurance and Advisory Services of Wei, Wei & Co., LLP, a
PCAOB-registered public accounting firm, since February 2020. Mr. Chan has served as a director and
chairman of the audit committee of TOP financial Group Ltd (Nasdaq: TOP) since May 31, 2022 and QMMM
Holdings Limited (Nasdaq: QMMM) since April 18, 2024 to June 30, 2025. From November 2021 to
November 2024, Mr. Chan served as Chief Financial Officer of Sharing Services Global Corporation (OTC:
SHRG) and from February 2022 to March 2024, Mr. Chan served as Chief Operating Officer of Alset Inc.
(Nasdaq: AEI). Previously, Mr. Chan served as Chief Financial Officer of SPI Energy Co., Ltd. (Nasdaq: SPI)
from 2019 to 2020, as Chief Financial Officer of Helo Corp. (OTC: HLOC) from 2017 to 2019 and as Chief
financial Officer of Sino-Global Shipping America, Ltd. from 2013 to 2015. Mr. Chan was a partner at three
full-service CPA firms in New York, namely, UHY LLP from 2012 to 2013, Friedman LLP from 2011 to 2012
and Berdon LLP from 2007 to 2011. Mr. Chan received a Bachelor of Arts degree in Accounting and
Economics from Queens College, City University of New York (“CUNY”) in 1987 and a Master of Business
Administration degree in Finance and Investments from Baruch College, CUNY in 1989.

Adrian Wong, Independent Director

Mr. Wong was appointed as a director of the Board on October 28, 2024. Mr. Adrian Wong has served as an
Associate Lecturer in Emerging Technologies at the University of Sydney since October 2024 and was an
Associate Lecturer in design from July 2022 to October 2024. Mr. Wong teaches and primarily focuses on
design thinking, design innovation, strategic design leadership. Mr. Wong has been the Talent Acquisition
Coordinator for the School of Architecture, Design and Planning at the University of Sydney since January
2024, where he oversees the recruitment and management of tutors. He served as the Convenor for Macquarie
University’s Global Leadership Program (GLP)
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since 2023 to deliver workshops around design and innovation for both undergraduate and postgraduate
students. Beyond his academic work, Adrian has provided expert consulting advice to startups in the areas of
AI, Metaverse, NFT, DAO, and Web3.0, offering tailored strategies that have contributed to the success of
several emerging tech ventures. Mr. Wong has served as an Education Advisor and Training Manager of The
Flying Club (Hong Kong) Limited since January 2024. Mr. Wong also serves as a Mentor for Resonate, the 4th
FourC Challenge 24-hour Design Competition at Shanghai Jiao Tong University in October 2024. Mr. Wong
also serves as a Justice of the Peace since 2022, appointed by the Governor of New South Wales, where he
witnesses statutory declarations or affidavits and certifies copies of documents. From 2016-2018, Adrian was
appointed Brand Ambassador for DJI Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Wong has served as an AI and UX Design
Instructor for Coxana Innovation Limited since 2015, where he educates secondary students in emerging
technologies as part of their STEM education. Mr. Wong received his Bachelor of Design Computing in 2018
and his Master of Design (Design Innovation and Strategic Design) in 2020 from the University of Sydney. Mr.
Wong was awarded First Prize with his winning team at a Hackathon hosted by the NSW Environment
Protection Authority (EPA) in 2020. Mr. Wong commenced his Doctor of Philosophy (Architecture, Design and
Planning) at the University of Sydney in March 2024, his research focuses on how AI can be leveraged to aid
decision-making in critical events.

Employment Agreements, Director Agreements and Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into employment agreements with each of our executive officers. Pursuant to these agreements,
each of our executive officers is employed for an initial term of two years, renewable upon mutual agreement of
the Company and the executive officer and the approval by the board of directors.

The executive officers are entitled to a fixed salary and to participate in our equity incentive plans, if any, and
other company benefits, each as determined by the board of directors from time to time.

We may terminate the executive officer’s employment for cause, at any time, without notice or remuneration,
for certain acts, such as conviction or plea of guilty to a felony or grossly negligent or dishonest acts to our
detriment, or material breach of any term of any employment or other services, confidentiality, intellectual
property or non-competition agreements with the Company. In such case, the executive officer will solely be
entitled to accrued and unpaid salary through the effective date of such termination, and his/her right to all other
benefits will terminate, except as required by any applicable law. The executive officer is not entitled to
severance payments upon any termination.

The executive officer may voluntarily terminate his/her employment for any reason, and such termination shall
take effect 30 days after the receipt by the Company of the notice of termination. Upon the effective date of
such termination, the executive officer shall be entitled to (a) accrued and unpaid salary and vacation through
such termination date; and (b) all other compensation and benefits that were vested through such termination
date. In the event the executive officer is terminated without notice, it shall be deemed a termination by the
Company for cause.

Each of our executive officers has agreed not to use for his or her personal purposes nor divulge, furnish, or
make accessible to anyone or use in any way (other than in the ordinary course of the business of the Company)
any confidential or secret information or knowledge of the Company, whether developed by him or herself or by
others.

In addition, each executive officer has agreed to be bound by non-competition restrictions during the term of his
or her employment and for six months following the last date of employment.

Each executive officer also has agreed not to (i) solicit or induce, on his or her own behalf or on behalf of any
other person or entity, any employee of the Company or any of its affiliates to leave the employ of the Company
or any of its affiliates; or (ii) solicit or induce, on his or her own behalf or on behalf of any other person or
entity, any customer or prospective customer of the Company or any of their respective affiliates to reduce its
business with the Company or any of its affiliates.

We will enter into director agreements with each of our independent directors, which agreements set forth the
terms and provisions of their respective engagements.

In addition, we will enter into indemnification agreements with each of our directors and executive officers that
provide such persons with additional indemnification beyond that provided in our current Memorandum and
Articles of Association.
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Compensation of Directors and Executive Officers

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2023 and 2024, we paid $53,441 and $46,079 to our executive officer
for his services and we did not pay our directors for their services solely as our directors during years ended
September 30, 2023 and 2024. We have not set aside or accrued any amount to provide pension, retirement or
other similar benefits to our executive officers and directors. Our Hong Kong subsidiary is required by law to
make contributions equal to certain percentages of each employee’s salary for his or her pension insurance,
medical insurance, unemployment insurance, maternity insurance, on-the-job injury insurance, and housing
fund plans through a Hong Kong government-mandated defined contribution plan.

Board of Directors and Committees

Our board of directors currently consists of five directors. The NASDAQ Capital Market corporate governance
rules require that a majority of an issuer’s board of directors must consist of independent directors, however, as
a foreign private issuer we are permitted to follow the corporate governance practice of the Cayman Islands,
which does not require a majority of independent directors on our board.

Our board of directors may exercise all the powers of our Company to borrow money, mortgage its undertaking,
property and uncalled capital, and issue debentures or other securities whenever money is borrowed or as
security for any obligation of our Company or of any third party. None of our non-executive directors has a
service contract with us that provides for severance payments upon termination of service.

We have established an Audit Committee, a Compensation Committee, and a Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. Each of the committees of the board of directors is described below.

Audit Committee

Anthony S. Chan, PoTin Wong and Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui are members of our Audit Committee; Anthony S.
Chan serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee. All members of our Audit Committee satisfy the
independence standards promulgated by the SEC and by NASDAQ as such standards apply specifically to
members of audit committees.

We have adopted and approved a charter for the Audit Committee.  In accordance with our Audit Committee
Charter, our Audit Committee shall:

•         evaluate the independence and performance of, and assess the qualifications of, our independent
auditor, and engage such independent auditor;

•         approve the plan and fees for the annual audit, quarterly reviews, tax and other audit-related
services, and approve in advance any non-audit service to be provided by the independent auditor;

•         monitor the independence of the independent auditor and the rotation of partners of the independent
auditor on our engagement team as required by law;

•         review the financial statements to be included in our Annual Report on Form  20-F and Current
Reports on Form 6-K and review with management and the independent auditors the results of the
annual audit and reviews of our quarterly financial statements;

•         oversee all aspects of our systems of internal accounting control and corporate governance functions
on behalf of the board of directors;

•         review and approve in advance any proposed related-party transactions and report to the full board
of directors on any approved transactions; and

•         provide oversight assistance in connection with legal, ethical, and risk management compliance
programs established by management and the board of directors, including Sarbanes-Oxley Act
implementation, and make recommendations to the board of directors regarding corporate
governance issues and policy decisions.

We have determined that Anthony S. Chan possesses accounting or related financial management experience
that qualifies him as an “audit committee financial expert” as defined by the rules and regulations of the SEC.
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Compensation Committee

PoTin Wong, Adrian Wong and Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui are members of our Compensation Committee; PoTin
Wong serves as the chairman of the Compensation Committee. All members of our Compensation Committee
are qualified as independent under the current definition promulgated by NASDAQ. We have adopted a charter
for the Compensation Committee.

In accordance with the Compensation Committee’s Charter, the Compensation Committee is responsible for
overseeing and making recommendations to the board of directors regarding the salaries and other
compensation of our executive officers and general employees and providing assistance and recommendations
with respect to our compensation policies and practices. The Compensation Committee shall:

•         approve compensation principles that apply generally to Company employees;

•         make recommendations to the board of directors with respect to incentive compensation plans and
equity-based plans taking into account the results of the most recent rules to provide the
shareholders with an advisory vote on executive compensation, generally known as “Say on Pay
Votes” (Section 951 in The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act), if any;

•         administer and otherwise exercise the various authorities prescribed for the Compensation
Committee by the Company’s incentive compensation plans and equity-based plans;

•         select a peer group of companies against which to benchmark/compare the Company’s
compensation systems for principal officers elected by the board of directors;

•         annually review the Company’s compensation policies and practices and assess whether such
policies and practices are reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company;

•         determine and oversee stock ownership guidelines and stock option holding requirements, including
periodic review of compliance by principal officers and members of the board of directors;

Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee

Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui, Anthony S. Chan and Adrian Wong are members of our Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee; Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui serves as the chairman of the Corporate Governance and
Nominating Committee. All members of our Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee are qualified as
independent under the current definition promulgated by NASDAQ.  We have adopted a charter for the
Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee.

In accordance with its charter, the Corporate Governance and Nominating Committee is responsible for
identifying and proposing new potential director nominees to the board of directors for consideration and
reviewing our corporate governance policies. The Corporate Governance and Nominating shall:

•         Identify and screen individuals qualified to become Board members consistent with the criteria
approved by the board of directors, and recommend to the board of directors’ director nominees for
election at the next annual or special meeting of shareholders at which directors are to be elected or
to fill any vacancies or newly created directorships that may occur between such meetings;

•         Recommend directors for appointment to Board committees;

•         Make recommendations to the board of directors as to determinations of director independence;

•         Oversee the evaluation of the board of directors;

•         Make recommendations to the board of directors as to compensation for the Company’s directors;
and

•         Review and recommend to the board of directors the Corporate Governance Guidelines and Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics for the Company.

Code of Ethics

We have adopted a code of ethics that applies to all executive officers, directors, and employees. The code of
ethics codifies the business and ethical principles that govern all aspects of our business.
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Family Relationships

There is no family relationship among any of our directors or executive officers.

Duties of Directors

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, directors have a fiduciary duty to act honestly in good faith with a view
to the company’s best interests. Our directors also have a duty to exercise the care, diligence and skill that a
reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. A shareholder has the right to seek
damages if a duty owed by the directors is breached.

Terms of Directors and Officers

Our directors may be elected by a resolution of our board of directors or an ordinary resolution of our
shareholders. Our directors are not subject to a term of office and hold office until they are removed from office
by ordinary resolution of our shareholders. A director will cease to be a director if, among other things, the
director if he or she (a) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or composition with his creditors; (b) dies
or is found to be or becomes of unsound mind; (c)  resigns his office by notice in writing to the Company;
(d)  without special leave of absence from the Directors, is absent from meetings of the Board for three
consecutive meetings and the Board resolves that his office be vacated; or (e) is removed from office pursuant to
any other provision of the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Our officers are elected by and serve at the discretion of the board of directors.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our Ordinary Shares as of the
date of this prospectus by our officers, directors, and 5% or greater beneficial owners of Ordinary Shares. There
is no other person or group of affiliated persons known by us to beneficially own more than 5% of our Ordinary
Shares.

We have determined beneficial ownership in accordance with the rules of the SEC.  These rules generally
attribute beneficial ownership of securities to persons who possess sole or shared voting power or investment
power with respect to those securities. The person is also deemed to be a beneficial owner of any security, of
which that person has a right to acquire beneficial ownership within 60 days.

Applicable percentage ownership prior to the offering is based on 10,000,000 Ordinary Shares outstanding as of
the date of this prospectus. The table also lists the percentage ownership after this offering based on Ordinary
Shares outstanding immediately after the completion of this offering sale of 3,750,000 Ordinary Shares,
assuming the Underwriter does not exercise its over-allotment option.

Unless otherwise indicated, the person identified in this table has sole voting and investment power with respect
to all shares shown as beneficially owned by him, subject to applicable community property laws.

 

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned

Prior to This Offering  

Ordinary Shares
Beneficially Owned
After This Offering

Name of Beneficial Owners   Number   %   Number   %
Directors and Executive Officers:                 
Siu Fung Tang   —  —    —  —
Chi Chuen Lai   —  —    —  —
Sin Yi Cheng   —  —    —  —
Ka Hei (Anthony) Chui   —  —    —  —
PoTin Wong   —  —    —  —
Anthony S. Chan   —  —    —  —
Adrian Wong   —  —    —  —
All directors and executive officers as a

group (seven individuals)
 

—  —    —  —
5% or Greater Shareholders:                 
Mericorn Company Limited(1)   10,000,000  100%  10,000,000  72.73
Tin Sze Wai(1)   2,500,000  25%  2,500,000  18.1825
Wong Ka Ki(1)   2,500,000  25%  2,500,000  18.1825
Ip Tsz Ying(1)   2,500,000  25%  2,500,000  18.1825
Tam Tak Seng(1)   2,500,000  25%  2,500,000  18.1825

____________

(1)      The address for Mericorn Company Limited, is Jayla Place, 2nd Floor Road Town, Tortola British Virgin Islands
VG1110. Each of Ip Tsz Ying, Tin Sze Wai, Tam Tak Seng and Wong Ka Ki owns 25% equity interest of Mericorn
Company Limited and Tin Sze Wai is the sole director of Mericorn Company Limited.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Employment Agreements, Director Agreements and Indemnification Agreements

See “Management — Employment Agreements, Director Agreements and Indemnification Agreements.”

a. Nature of relationships with related parties

Name   Relationship with the Company
Flywheel Financial Strategy (Hong Kong)

Company Limited
  Under significant influence of Mr. Wong Ka Ki, who is the

sole director of QBS System Pty Ltd and one of the
substantial shareholders of Mericorn Company Limited

Mericorn Company Limited   The sole shareholder of the Company
QBS Flywheel Limited   Former controlling company of QBS System before

Reorganization
QBS Group Limited   Under significant influence of Mr. Wong Chi Fung, who is the

sole director of QBS System
Wong Chi Fung   The sole director of QBS System
Wong Ka Ki   The sole director of QBS System Pty Ltd and one of the

substantial shareholders of Mericorn Company Limited

b. Transactions with related parties

Name   Nature  

For the Years Ended
September 30,

2024   2023
Flywheel Financial Strategy (Hong Kong) Company

Limited(1)   Revenues   $ —  $ 30,028

Wong Ka Ki(2)  
Proceeds from disposal
of a subsidiary   $ 6,737  $ —

____________

(1)       The amount for the years ended September 30, 2023 represented revenues from IoT Integration Solution Services.
(2)       The amount for the year ended September 30, 2024 represented the proceeds of disposal of 100% shares in QBS Pty

to Mr. Wong Ka Ki at a consideration of AUD10,000 (equivalent to $6,737) on July 8, 2024.

c. Balance with related parties

Name   Nature  

As of
September 30,

2024  

As of
September 30,

2023
Flywheel Financial Strategy

(Hong Kong) Company Limited(1)   Accounts receivable, net   $ —  $ 4,153
QBS Flywheel Limited(2)   Amounts due from a related party, net   $ —  $ 66,371
QBS Group Limited(3)   Amounts due to related parties   $ 102,922  $ 293,665
Wong Chi Fung(3)   Amounts due to related parties     659,585    69,681
Wong Ka Ki(3)   Amounts due to related parties     97,280    32,255
        $ 859,787  $ 395,601
____________

(1)       The balance as of September  30, 2023 represents IoT Integration Solution Services income receivable from the
related party before allowance for expected credit losses. The balance was fully settled subsequently.

(2)       The balance as of September 30, 2023 represented advances to related company, after allowance for expected credit
losses, for its operational purposes. The balance was unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. As of
the date these financial statements were issued, the balances have been disposed following the disposal of QBS
System Pty Ltd. to Mr. Wong Ka Ki on July 8, 2024.

(3)       The balances as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 represented advances from a related company and directors for the
Company’s operational purposes. The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. As of
the date these financial statements were issued, the balances have not been settled.
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DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL

We are a Cayman Islands exempted company with limited liability and our affairs are governed by our
memorandum and articles of association, as amended and restated from time to time, the Companies Act (as
revised), and common law of the Cayman Islands.

As of the date of this prospectus, our authorized share capital is $50,000.00 divided into
50,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of a par value of $0.000001 each. As of the date of this prospectus, 10,000,000
Ordinary Shares are issued and outstanding. At the completion of this Offering, there will be 13,750,000
Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding assuming underwriter does not exercise its over-allotment option or
14,312,500 Ordinary Shares issued and outstanding assuming underwriter fully exercises its over-allotment
option.

Our Memorandum and Articles of Association

Ordinary Shares

Dividends.    Subject to any rights and restrictions of any other class or series of shares, our Board may, from
time to time, declare dividends on the shares issued and authorize payment of the dividends out of our lawfully
available funds. No dividends shall be declared by the board out of our Company except the following:

•         profits; or

•         “share premium account,” which represents the excess of the price paid to our Company on issue of
its shares over the par or “nominal” value of those shares, which is similar to the U.S. concept of
additional paid in capital.

However, no dividend shall bear interest against the Company.

Voting Rights.    Subject to any rights or restrictions for the time being attached to any class or classes of shares,
on a show of hands every shareholder of record present in person or by proxy at a general meeting shall have
one vote and on a poll every shareholder of record present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for each
share registered in his name in the register of Members. An ordinary resolution to be passed at a meeting by the
shareholders requires the affirmative vote of a simple majority of the votes attaching to the Ordinary Shares cast
at a meeting, while a special resolution requires the affirmative vote of no less than two-thirds of the votes cast
attaching to the outstanding Ordinary Shares at a meeting. A special resolution will be required for important
matters such as making changes to our memorandum and articles of association.

Winding Up; Liquidation.    Upon the winding up of our company, after the full amount that holders of any
issued shares ranking senior to the Ordinary Shares as to distribution on liquidation or winding up are entitled to
receive has been paid or set aside for payment, the holders of our Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive any
remaining assets of the Company available for distribution as determined by the liquidator. The assets received
by the holders of our Ordinary Shares in a liquidation may consist in whole or in part of property, which is not
required to be of the same kind for all shareholders.

Calls on Ordinary Shares and Forfeiture of Ordinary Shares.    Our board of directors may from time to time
make calls upon shareholders for any amounts unpaid on their Ordinary Shares in a notice served to such
shareholders at least 14 calendar days prior to the specified time and place of payment. Any Ordinary Shares
that have been called upon and remain unpaid are subject to forfeiture.

Redemption, Repurchase and Surrender of Ordinary Shares.    We may issue shares that are, or at its option or at
the option of the holders are, subject to redemption on such terms and in such manner as it may, before the issue
of the shares, determine. Under the Companies Act (as revised), shares of a Cayman Islands exempted company
may be redeemed or repurchased out of profits of the company, out of the proceeds of a fresh issue of shares
made for that purpose or out of capital, provided the memorandum and articles authorize this and it has the
ability to pay its debts as they come due in the ordinary course of business.

No Preemptive Rights.    Holders of Ordinary Shares will have no preemptive or preferential right to purchase
any securities of our company.
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Variation of Rights Attaching to Shares.    All or any of the special rights attached to any class of shares may,
subject to the provisions of the Companies Act (as revised), be materially adversely varied with the written
consent of the holders of three-quarters of the issued shares of that class or with the sanction of a special
resolution passed at a general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class. The rights conferred upon the
holders of the shares of any class issued shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of
the shares of that class, be deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with
such existing class of shares.

Anti-Takeover Provisions.       Some provisions of our current Memorandum and Articles of Association may
discourage, delay or prevent a change of control of our Company or management that shareholders may
consider favorable, including provisions that authorize our board of directors to issue preferred shares in one or
more series and to designate the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions of such preferred shares
without any further vote or action by our shareholders.

Exempted Company.    We are an exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Act (as
revised). The Companies Act (as revised) distinguishes between ordinary resident companies and exempted
companies. Any company that is registered in the Cayman Islands but conducts business mainly outside of the
Cayman Islands may apply to be registered as an exempted company. The requirements for an exempted
company are essentially the same as for an ordinary company except that an exempted company:

•         does not have to file an annual return of its shareholders with the Registrar of Companies;

•         is not required to open its register of members for inspection;

•         does not have to hold an annual general meeting;

•         may not issue negotiable or bearer shares, but may issue shares with no par value;

•         may obtain an undertaking against the imposition of any future taxation (such undertakings are
usually given for 20 years in the first instance);

•         may register by way of continuation in another jurisdiction and be deregistered in the Cayman
Islands;

•         may register as a limited duration company; and

•         may register as a segregated portfolio company.

“Limited liability” means that the liability of each shareholder is limited to the amount unpaid by the
shareholder on the shares of the company (except in exceptional circumstances, such as involving fraud, the
establishment of an agency relationship or an illegal or improper purpose or other circumstances in which a
court may be prepared to pierce or lift the corporate veil).

Anti-Money Laundering — Cayman Islands

In order to comply with legislation or regulations aimed at the prevention of money laundering, we are required
to adopt and maintain anti-money laundering procedures, and may require subscribers to provide evidence to
verify their identity and source of funds. Where permitted, and subject to certain conditions, we may also
delegate the maintenance of our anti-money laundering procedures (including the acquisition of due diligence
information) to a suitable person.

We reserve the right to request such information as is necessary to verify the identity of a subscriber. In some
cases the directors may be satisfied that no further information is required since an exemption applies under the
Anti-Money Laundering Regulations (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, as amended and revised from time to
time (the “Regulations”) or any other applicable law. Depending on the circumstances of each application, a
detailed verification of identity might not be required where:

(a)      the subscriber makes the payment for their investment from an account held in the subscriber’s
name at a recognized financial institution; or

(b)     the subscriber is regulated by a recognized regulatory authority and is based or incorporated in, or
formed under the law of, a recognized jurisdiction; or
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(c)      the application is made through an intermediary which is regulated by a recognized regulatory
authority and is based in or incorporated in, or formed under the law of a recognized jurisdiction
and an assurance is provided in relation to the procedures undertaken on the underlying investors.

For the purposes of these exceptions, recognition of a financial institution, regulatory authority or jurisdiction
will be determined in accordance with the Regulations by reference to those jurisdictions recognized by the
Cayman Islands Monetary Authority as having equivalent anti-money laundering regulations.

In the event of delay or failure on the part of the subscriber in producing any information required for
verification purposes, we may refuse to accept the application, in which case any funds received will be
returned without interest to the account from which they were originally debited.

We also reserve the right to refuse to make any payment to a shareholder if our directors or officers suspect or
are advised that the payment to such shareholder might result in a breach of applicable anti-money laundering
or other laws or regulations by any person in any relevant jurisdiction, or if such refusal is considered necessary
or appropriate to ensure our compliance with any such laws or regulations in any applicable jurisdiction.

If any person in the Cayman Islands knows or suspects or has reasonable grounds for knowing or suspecting
that another person is engaged in criminal conduct or money laundering or is involved with terrorism or terrorist
financing and property and the information for that knowledge or suspicion came to their attention in the course
of business in the regulated sector, or other trade, profession, business or employment, the person will be
required to report such knowledge or suspicion to (i) the Financial Reporting Authority (“FRA”) of the Cayman
Islands, pursuant to the Proceeds of Crime Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands if the disclosure relates to
criminal conduct or money laundering, or (ii) a police officer of the rank of constable or higher, or the FRA,
pursuant to the Terrorism Act (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, if the disclosure relates to involvement with
terrorism or terrorist financing and property. Such a report shall not be treated as a breach of confidence or of
any restriction upon the disclosure of information imposed by any enactment or otherwise.

Data Protection in the Cayman Islands — Privacy Notice

This privacy notice explains the manner in which the company collects, processes and maintains personal data
about investors of the company pursuant to the Data Protection Act, 2017 of the Cayman Islands, as amended
from time to time and any regulations, codes of practice or orders promulgated pursuant thereto (“DPA”).

The company is committed to processing personal data in accordance with the DPA. In its use of personal data,
the company will be characterized under the DPA as a ‘data controller’, whilst certain of the company’s service
providers, affiliates and delegates may act as ‘data processors’ under the DPA. These service providers may
process personal information for their own lawful purposes in connection with services provided to the
company.

This privacy notice puts our shareholders on notice that, by virtue of making an investment in the company, the
company and certain of the company’s service providers may collect, record, store, transfer and otherwise
process personal data by which individuals may be directly or indirectly identified.

Your personal data will be processed fairly and for lawful purposes, including (a) where the processing is
necessary for the company to perform a contract to which you are a party or for taking pre-contractual steps at
your request (b) where the processing is necessary for compliance with any legal, tax or regulatory obligation to
which the company is subject or (c) where the processing is for the purposes of legitimate interests pursued by
the company or by a service provider to whom the data are disclosed. As a data controller, we will only use your
personal data for the purposes for which we collected it. If we need to use your personal data for an unrelated
purpose, we will contact you.

We anticipate that we will share your personal data with the company’s service providers for the purposes set
out in this privacy notice. We may also share relevant personal data where it is lawful to do so and necessary to
comply with our contractual obligations or your instructions or where it is necessary or desirable to do so in
connection with any regulatory reporting obligations. In exceptional circumstances, we will share your personal
data with regulatory, prosecuting and other governmental agencies or departments, and parties to litigation
(whether pending or threatened), in any country or territory including to any other person where we have a
public or legal duty to do so (e.g. to assist with detecting and preventing fraud, tax evasion and financial crime
or compliance with a court order).

103

Table of Contents

Your personal data shall not be held by the company for longer than necessary with regard to the purposes of the
data processing.

We will not sell your personal data. Any transfer of personal data outside of the Cayman Islands shall be in
accordance with the requirements of the DPA. Where necessary, we will ensure that separate and appropriate
legal agreements are put in place with the recipient of that data.

The company will only transfer personal data in accordance with the requirements of the DPA, and will apply
appropriate technical and organizational information security measures designed to protect against unauthorized
or unlawful processing of the personal data and against the accidental loss, destruction or damage to the
personal data.

If you are a natural person, this will affect you directly. If you are a corporate investor (including, for these
purposes, legal arrangements such as trusts or exempted limited partnerships) that provides us with personal
data on individuals connected to you for any reason in relation to your investment into the company, this will be
relevant for those individuals and you should inform such individuals of the content.

You have certain rights under the DPA, including (a) the right to be informed as to how we collect and use your
personal data (and this privacy notice fulfils the Company’s obligation in this respect) (b) the right to obtain a
copy of your personal data (c) the right to require us to stop direct marketing (d) the right to have inaccurate or
incomplete personal data corrected (e) the right to withdraw your consent and require us to stop processing or
restrict the processing, or not begin the processing of your personal data (f)  the right to be notified of a data
breach (unless the breach is unlikely to be prejudicial) (g) the right to obtain information as to any countries or
territories outside the Cayman Islands to which we, whether directly or indirectly, transfer, intend to transfer or
wish to transfer your personal data, general measures we take to ensure the security of personal data and any
information available to us as to the source of your personal data (h) the right to complain to the Office of the
Ombudsman of the Cayman Islands and (i) the right to require us to delete your personal data in some limited
circumstances.

If you consider that your personal data has not been handled correctly, or you are not satisfied with the
company’s responses to any requests you have made regarding the use of your personal data, you have the right
to complain to the Cayman Islands’ Ombudsman. The Ombudsman can be contacted by calling +1
(345) 946-6283 or by email at info@ombudsman.ky.

Warrants

There are no outstanding warrants to purchase any of our securities.

Options

There are no outstanding options to purchase any of our securities.

Differences in Corporate Law

The Companies Act (as revised) is modeled after that of English law but does not follow many recent English
law statutory enactments. In addition, the Companies Act (as revised) differs from laws applicable to
United States corporations and their shareholders. Set forth below is a summary of the significant differences
between the provisions of the Companies Act (as revised) applicable to us and the laws applicable to companies
incorporated in the State of Delaware.

Mergers and Similar Arrangements.

The Companies Act (as revised) permits mergers and consolidations between Cayman Islands companies and
between Cayman Islands companies and non-Cayman Islands companies. For these purposes, (i)  “merger”
means the merging of two or more constituent companies and the vesting of their undertaking, property and
liabilities in one of such companies as the surviving company, and (ii) a “consolidation” means the combination
of two or more constituent companies into a consolidated company and the vesting of the undertaking, property
and liabilities of such companies to the consolidated company. In order to effect such a merger or consolidation,
the directors of each constituent company must approve a written plan of merger or consolidation, which must
then be authorized by (a) a special resolution of the shareholders of each constituent company, and (b)  such
other authorization, if any, as may be specified in such constituent company’s articles of association. The
written plan of merger or consolidation must be filed with
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the Registrar of Companies of the Cayman Islands together with a declaration as to the solvency of the
surviving or consolidated company, a declaration as to the assets and liabilities of each constituent company and
an undertaking that a copy of the certificate of merger or consolidation will be given to the members and
creditors of each constituent company and that notification of the merger or consolidation will be published in
the Cayman Islands Gazette. Court approval is not required for a merger or consolidation that is effected in
compliance with these statutory procedures.

A merger between a Cayman parent company and its Cayman subsidiary or subsidiaries does not require
authorization by a resolution of shareholders of that Cayman subsidiary if a copy of the plan of merger is given
to every member of that Cayman subsidiary to be merged unless that member agrees otherwise. For this purpose
a company is a “parent” of a subsidiary if it holds issued shares that together represent at least 90.0% of the
votes at a general meeting of the subsidiary.

The consent of each holder of a fixed or floating security interest over a constituent company is required unless
this requirement is waived by a court in the Cayman Islands.

Save in certain limited circumstances, a shareholder of a Cayman constituent company who dissents from the
merger or consolidation is entitled to payment of the fair value of his shares (which, if not agreed between the
parties, will be determined by the Cayman Islands court) upon dissenting to the merger or
consolidation;  provided  that the dissenting shareholder complies strictly with the procedures set out in the
Companies Act (as revised). The exercise of dissenter rights will preclude the exercise by the dissenting
shareholder of any other rights to which he or she might otherwise be entitled by virtue of holding shares, save
for the right to seek relief on the grounds that the merger or consolidation is void or unlawful.

Separate from the statutory provisions relating to mergers and consolidations, the Companies Act (as revised)
also contains statutory provisions that facilitate the reconstruction and amalgamation of companies by way of
schemes of arrangement; provided that the arrangement is approved by (a) 75% in value of the shareholders or
class of shareholders, or (b)  a majority in number representing 75% in value of the creditors or class of
creditors, as the case may be, that are present and voting either in person or by proxy at a meeting, or meetings
convened for that purpose. The convening of the meetings and subsequently the arrangement must be
sanctioned by the Grand Court of the Cayman Islands. While a dissenting shareholder has the right to express to
the court the view that the transaction ought not to be approved, the court can be expected to approve the
arrangement if it determines that:

•         the statutory provisions as to the required majority vote have been met;

•         the shareholders have been fairly represented at the meeting in question and the statutory majority
are acting bona fide without coercion of the minority to promote interests adverse to those of the
class;

•         the arrangement is such that may be reasonably approved by an intelligent and honest man of that
class acting in respect of his interest; and

•         the arrangement is not one that would more properly be sanctioned under some other provision of
the Companies Act (as revised).

The Companies Act (as revised) also contains a statutory power of compulsory acquisition, which may facilitate
the “squeeze out” of dissentient minority shareholders upon a tender offer. When a tender offer is made and
accepted by holders of 90.0% of the shares affected within four months, the offeror may, within a two-month
period commencing on the expiration of such four-month period, require the holders of the remaining shares to
transfer such shares to the offeror on the terms of the offer. An objection can be made to the Grand Court of the
Cayman Islands but this is unlikely to succeed in the case of an offer that has been so approved unless there is
evidence of fraud, bad faith or collusion.

If an arrangement and reconstruction is thus approved, the dissenting shareholder would have no rights
comparable to appraisal rights, which would otherwise ordinarily be available to dissenting shareholders of
certain Delaware corporations, providing rights to receive payment in cash for the judicially determined value
of the shares where the vote of shareholders is required to approve the transaction.

Shareholders’ Suits.    In principle, we will normally be the proper plaintiff to sue for a wrong done to us as a
company, and as a general rule a derivative action may not be brought by a minority shareholder. However,
based on English authorities, which would in all likelihood be of persuasive authority in the Cayman Islands,
the Cayman Islands
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court can be expected to apply and follow the common law principles (namely the rule in Foss v. Harbottle and
the exceptions thereto, which limits the circumstances in which a shareholder may bring a derivative action on
behalf of the company or a personal action to claim loss which is reflective of loss suffered by the company)
which permit a minority shareholder to commence a class action against, or derivative actions in the name of, a
company to challenge the following:

•         a company acts or proposes to act illegally or ultra vires;

•         the act complained of, although not ultra vires, could only be effected duly if authorized by more
than a simple majority vote that has not been obtained; and

•         those who control the company are perpetrating a “fraud on the minority.

A shareholder may have a direct right of action against us where the individual rights of that shareholder have
been infringed or are about to be infringed.

Indemnification of Directors and Executive Officers and Limitation of Liability.    Cayman Islands law does
not limit the extent to which a company’s memorandum and articles of association may provide for
indemnification of officers and directors, except to the extent any such provision may be held by the Cayman
Islands courts to be contrary to public policy, such as to provide indemnification against civil fraud or the
consequences of committing a crime. Our current memorandum and articles of association permit
indemnification of officers and directors for losses, damages, costs and expenses incurred in their capacities as
such unless such losses or damages arise from dishonesty or fraud of such directors or officers. This standard of
conduct is similar to but little more lax than that permitted under the Delaware General Corporation Law for a
Delaware corporation, which permits indemnification if the person to be indemnified acted in good faith and in
a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Delaware
corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, such person to be indemnified had no
reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. In addition, we have entered into
indemnification agreements with our directors and executive officers that provide such persons with additional
indemnification beyond that provided in our current memorandum and articles of association.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the Securities Act may be permitted to our directors,
officers or persons controlling us under the foregoing provisions, we have been informed that in the opinion of
the SEC, such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act and is therefore
unenforceable.

Directors’ Fiduciary Duties.    Under Delaware corporate law, a director of a Delaware corporation has a
fiduciary duty to the corporation and its shareholders. This duty has two components: the duty of care and the
duty of loyalty. The duty of care requires that a director act in good faith, with the care that an ordinarily
prudent person would exercise under similar circumstances. Under this duty, a director must inform himself of,
and disclose to shareholders, all material information reasonably available regarding a significant transaction
and base such director’s decision on such information. In doing so, a Delaware director is entitled to rely in
good faith on corporation’s records and on information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the board
by the company’s officers, employees or board committees, or by other parties as to matters the director
reasonably believes are within such other parties’ professional or expert competence and who have been
selected for the company with reasonable care. Further, Delaware corporations may include in their certificates
of incorporation an exculpation provision for the benefit of its directors. At its maximum strength, such an
exculpatory provision eliminates the personal liability of a director to the corporation or its stockholders for
monetary damages for breaches of the duty of care (but not, among other things, breaches of the duty of
loyalty). The duty of loyalty requires that a director acts independently and in a manner he reasonably believes
to be in the best interests of the corporation. He must not use his corporate position for personal gain or
advantage. This duty prohibits self-dealing by a director and mandates that the best interest of the corporation
and its shareholders take precedence over any interest possessed by a director, officer or controlling shareholder
and not shared by the shareholders generally. In general, actions of a director are presumed to have been made
on an informed basis, in good faith and in the honest belief that the action taken was in the best interests of the
corporation (the “Business Judgement Rule”). However, this presumption may be rebutted by evidence of a
breach of one of the fiduciary duties. To rebut the presumption, a party attempting to so rebut has the burden of
presenting evidence that directors were at least grossly negligent in not becoming adequately informed or were
motivated by interests other than those of the company’s stockholders as a whole (or acted in bad faith by
consciously disregarding a known duty). Should such evidence be presented concerning a transaction by a
director, the director must prove the procedural fairness of the transaction, and that the transaction was of fair
value to the corporation.
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As a matter of Cayman Islands law, a director of a Cayman Islands company is in the position of a fiduciary
with respect to the company and therefore it is considered that he or she owes the following duties to the
company — a duty to act bona fide in the best interests of the company, a duty not to make a profit based on his
or her position as director (unless the company permits him or her to do so), a duty of trusteeship of the
company’s assets, a duty not to put himself or herself in a position where the interests of the company conflict
with his or her personal interest or his or her duty to a third party, and a duty to exercise powers for the purpose
for which such powers were intended. A director of a Cayman Islands company owes to the company a duty to
act with skill and care. It was previously considered that a director need not exhibit in the performance of his or
her duties a greater degree of skill than may reasonably be expected from a person of his or her knowledge and
experience. However, English and Commonwealth courts have moved towards an objective standard with
regard to the required skill and care and these authorities are likely to be followed in the Cayman Islands.

Shareholder Action by Written Consent.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may
eliminate the right of shareholders to act by written consent by amendment to its certificate of incorporation.
Cayman Islands law and our Memorandum and Articles of Association provide that shareholders may approve
corporate matters by way of a unanimous written resolution signed by or on behalf of each shareholder who
would have been entitled to vote on such matter at a general meeting without a meeting being held.

Shareholder Proposals.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, the by-laws may afford shareholders
the right to put any proposal before the annual meeting of shareholders, provided it complies with the notice
provisions in the governing documents. A special meeting may be called by the board of directors or any other
person authorized to do so in the governing documents, but shareholders may be precluded from calling special
meetings.

Cayman Islands law does not provide shareholders any right to put proposals before a meeting or requisition a
general meeting. However, these rights may be provided in the memorandum and articles of association. Our
current Memorandum and Articles of Association allow our shareholders holding not less than ten per cent in
par value of the capital of the Company as at the date that carries the right of voting at general meetings to
requisition a shareholder’s meeting. Other than this right to requisition a shareholders’ meeting, our current
Memorandum and Articles of Association do not provide our shareholders other right to put proposal before a
meeting. As a Cayman Islands exempted company, we are not obliged by law to call shareholders’ annual
general meetings.

Cumulative Voting.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, cumulative voting for elections of
directors is not permitted unless the corporation’s certificate of incorporation specifically provides for it.
Cumulative voting potentially facilitates the representation of minority shareholders on a board of directors
since it permits the minority shareholder to cast all the votes to which the shareholder is entitled on a single
director, which increases the shareholder’s voting power with respect to electing such director. There are no
prohibitions in relation to cumulative voting under the laws of the Cayman Islands but our current
Memorandum and Articles of Association do not provide for cumulative voting. As a result, our shareholders
are not afforded any fewer protections or rights on this issue than shareholders of a Delaware corporation.

Removal of Directors.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a director of a corporation with a
classified board may be removed only for cause with the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote at an election of directors, unless the certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Under our
current Memorandum and Articles of Association, directors may be removed by an ordinary resolution of our
shareholders. A director will also cease to be a director if he (i) becomes bankrupt or makes any arrangement or
composition with his creditors; (ii) dies or is found to be or becomes of unsound mind; (iii) resigns his office by
notice in writing; (iv) without special leave of absence from our board, is absent from meetings of our board for
three consecutive meetings and our board resolves that his office be vacated; or (v)  is removed from office
pursuant to any other provision of our articles of association.

Transactions with Interested Shareholders.       The Delaware General Corporation Law contains a business
combination statute applicable to Delaware corporations whereby, unless the corporation has specifically
elected not to be governed by such statute by amendment to its certificate of incorporation, it is prohibited from
engaging in certain business combinations with an “interested shareholder” for three years following the date
that such person becomes an interested shareholder. An interested shareholder generally is a person or a group
who or which owns or owned 15% or more of the target’s outstanding voting share within the past three years.
This has the effect of limiting the ability of a potential acquirer to make a two-tiered bid for the target in which
all shareholders would not be treated equally. The statute does not apply if, among other things, prior to the date
on which such shareholder becomes an interested shareholder, the
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board of directors approves either the business combination or the transaction which resulted in the person
becoming an interested shareholder. This encourages any potential acquirer of a Delaware corporation to
negotiate the terms of any acquisition transaction with the target’s board of directors.

Cayman Islands law has no comparable statute. As a result, we cannot avail ourselves of the types of protections
afforded by the Delaware business combination statute. However, although Cayman Islands law does not
regulate transactions between a company and its significant shareholders, it does provide that such transactions
must be entered into bona fide in the best interests of the company and not with the effect of constituting a fraud
on the minority shareholders.

Dissolution; Winding up.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, unless the board of directors
approves the proposal to dissolve, dissolution must be approved by shareholders holding 100% of the total
voting power of the corporation. Only if the dissolution is initiated by the board of directors may it be approved
by a simple majority of the corporation’s outstanding shares. Delaware law allows a Delaware corporation to
include in its certificate of incorporation a super majority voting requirement in connection with dissolutions
initiated by the board. Under Cayman Islands law, a company may be wound up by either an order of the courts
of the Cayman Islands or by a special resolution of its members or, if the company is unable to pay its debts as
they fall due, by an ordinary resolution of its members. The court has authority to order winding up in a number
of specified circumstances including where it is, in the opinion of the court, just and equitable to do so. Under
the Companies Act (as revised) and our current Memorandum and Articles of Association, our company may be
dissolved, liquidated or wound up by a special resolution of our shareholders.

Variation of Rights of Shares.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation may vary the
rights of a class of shares with the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares of such class. Under Cayman
Islands law and our current Memorandum and Articles of Association, if our share capital is divided into more
than one class of shares, we may vary the rights attached to any class only with the sanction of a special
resolution passed at a general meeting of the holders of the shares of that class or the written consent the holders
of three-quarters of the issued shares of that class.

Amendment of Governing Documents.    Under the Delaware General Corporation Law, a corporation’s
governing documents may be amended with the approval of a majority of the outstanding shares entitled to
vote, unless the certificate of incorporation provides for a greater required number of shares for approval. As
permitted by Cayman Islands law, our current Memorandum and Articles of Association may only be amended
with a special resolution of our shareholders.

Rights of Non-resident or Foreign Shareholders.        There are no limitations imposed by our current
memorandum and articles of association on the rights of non-resident or foreign shareholders to hold or exercise
voting rights on our shares. In addition, there are no provisions in our current Memorandum and Articles of
Association governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be disclosed.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Prior to this offering, there was no established public trading market for our Ordinary Shares. We cannot assure
you that a liquid trading market for our Ordinary Shares will develop on NASDAQ or be sustained after this
offering. Future sales of substantial amounts of Ordinary Shares in the public market, or the perception that such
sales may occur, could adversely affect the market price of our Ordinary Shares. Further, since a large number
of our Ordinary Shares will not be available for sale shortly after this offering because of the contractual and
legal restrictions on resale described below, sales of substantial amounts of our Ordinary Shares in the public
market after these restrictions lapse, or the perception that such sales may occur, could adversely affect the
prevailing market price and our ability to raise equity capital in the future.

Upon completion of this offering, we will have an aggregate of 13,750,000 Ordinary Shares outstanding,
assuming no exercise of the Underwriter’s over-allotment option. The Ordinary Shares sold in this offering will
be freely tradable without restriction or further registration under the Securities Act.

As of the date of this prospectus, 10,000,000 Ordinary Shares held by existing shareholders are deemed
“restricted securities” as that term is defined in Rule 144 and may not be resold except pursuant to an effective
registration statement or an applicable exemption from registration, including Rule 144. A total of 10,000,000,
or 72.73%, of our currently outstanding Ordinary Shares will be subject to “lock-up” agreements described
below on the effective date of this offering. Upon expiration of the lock-up period of one hundred and eighty
(180) days after the closing of this offering, outstanding shares will become eligible for sale, subject in most
cases to the limitations of Rule 144.

The following table summarizes the total shares potentially available for future sale.

Days After Date of this Prospectus   Shares Eligible for Sale   Comment
Upon the Date of this Prospectus   3,750,000   Freely tradable shares sold in the offering.
90 days   0   Shares saleable under Rule 144.
180 days after the closing of this

offering
  10,000,000   Shares saleable after expiration of the lock-

up.

Rule 144

All of our Ordinary Shares that will be issued and outstanding upon the completion of this offering, other than
those Ordinary Shares sold in this offering, are “restricted securities” as that term is defined in Rule 144 under
the Securities Act and may be sold publicly in the United  States only if they are subject to an effective
registration statement under the Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirement
such as those provided by Rule  144 and Rule  701 promulgated under the Securities Act. In general, under
Rule 144, beginning ninety days after the date of this prospectus, a person who is not our affiliate and has not
been our affiliate at any time during the preceding three months will be entitled to sell any shares of our share
capital that such person has held for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other
than one of our affiliates, without regard to volume limitations, except that sales of our share capital by any such
person would be subject to the availability of current public information about us if the shares to be sold were
held by such person for less than one year.

Beginning ninety days after the date of this prospectus, our affiliates who have beneficially owned shares of our
share capital for at least six months, including the holding period of any prior owner other than another of our
affiliates, would be entitled to sell within any three-month period those shares and any other shares they have
acquired that are not restricted securities, provided that the aggregate number of shares sold does not exceed the
greater of:

•         1% of the number of shares of our authorized share capital then outstanding, which will equal
approximately 137,500 Ordinary Shares immediately after this offering assuming no exercise of the
Underwriter’s over-allotment option; or

•         the average weekly trading volume in our Ordinary Shares on the listing exchange during the four
calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to such sale.

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates are generally subject to the availability of current public information
about us, as well as certain “manner of sale” and notice requirements.
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Rule 701

In general, under Rule 701 under the Securities Act as currently in effect, each of our employees, consultants or
advisors who purchases our ordinary shares from us in connection with a compensatory stock plan or other
written agreement executed prior to the completion of this offering is eligible to resell those ordinary shares in
reliance on Rule  144, but without compliance with some of the restrictions, including the holding period,
contained in Rule 144. If any of our employees, executive officers or directors purchase shares under a written
compensatory plan or contract, they may be entitled to rely on the resale provisions of Rule 701, but all holders
of Rule 701 shares would be required to wait until 90 days after the date of this prospectus before selling any
such shares. We do not currently have any compensatory stock plan for our employees, consultants or advisors.

Regulation S

Regulation S provides generally that sales made in offshore transactions are not subject to the registration or
prospectus-delivery requirements of the Securities Act.



prospectus-delivery requirements of the Securities Act.

Lock-up Agreements

We, on behalf of ourselves and any successor entity, and each of our officers, directors and certain shareholders
have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to, directly or indirectly, offer, sell, contract to sell, sell any
option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant for the
sale of, lend or otherwise dispose of, or enter into any swap or other transaction that is designed to, or could be
expected to, result in the disposition of any of our Ordinary Shares or other securities convertible into or
exchangeable or exercisable for our Ordinary Shares or derivatives of our Ordinary Shares (whether any such
swap or transaction is to be settled by delivery of securities, in cash, or otherwise), owned by these persons prior
to this offering or acquired in this offering or Ordinary Shares issuable upon exercise of options or warrants
held by these persons until after one hundred of eighty (180) days after the closing of this offering.

The representative has no present intention to waive or shorten the lock-up period; however, the terms of the
lock-up agreement may be waived at its discretion. In determining whether to waive the terms of the lock-up
agreements, the representative may base its decision on its assessment of the relative strengths of the securities
markets and companies similar to the Company in general, and the trading pattern of, and demand for, the
Company’s securities in general.
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TAXATION

The following discussion of material Cayman Islands, Hong Kong, BVI and United States federal income tax
consequences of an investment in our Ordinary Shares is based upon laws and relevant interpretations thereof
in effect as of the date of this prospectus, all of which are subject to change. This discussion does not deal with
all possible tax consequences relating to an investment in our Ordinary Shares, such as the tax consequences
under state, local and other tax laws. To the extent that the discussion relates to matters of Cayman Islands tax
law, it represents the opinion of Travers Thorp Alberga, our Cayman Islands counsel. To the extent that the
discussion relates to matters of Hong Kong tax law, it represents the opinion of Stevenson, Wong & Co, our
Hong Kong counsel.

Cayman Islands Taxation

The Cayman Islands currently levies no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains
or appreciation and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes
likely to be material to us levied by the government of the Cayman Islands except for stamp duties which may
be applicable on instruments executed in, or, after execution, brought within the jurisdiction of the Cayman
Islands. The Cayman Islands is not party to any double tax treaties that are applicable to any payments made to
or by our company. There are no exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the Cayman Islands.

Payments of dividends and capital in respect of our Ordinary Shares will not be subject to taxation in the
Cayman Islands and no withholding will be required on the payment of a dividend or capital to any holder of
our Ordinary Shares, nor will gains derived from the disposal of our Ordinary Shares be subject to Cayman
Islands income or corporation tax.

Hong Kong Taxation

The following summary of certain relevant taxation provisions under the laws of Hong Kong is based on current
law and practice and is subject to changes therein. This summary does not purport to address all possible tax
consequences relating to purchasing, holding or selling our Ordinary Shares, and does not take into account the
specific circumstances of any particular investors, some of whom may be subject to special rules. Accordingly,
holders or prospective purchasers (particularly those subject to special tax rules, such as banks, dealers,
insurance companies and tax-exempt entities) should consult their own tax advisers regarding the tax
consequences of purchasing, holding or selling our Ordinary Shares. As advised by Stevenson, Wong & Co.,
our counsel with respect to Hong Kong law, under the current laws of Hong Kong:

•         No profit tax is imposed in Hong Kong in respect of capital gains from the sale of the Ordinary
Shares.

•         Revenues gains from the sale of our Ordinary Shares by persons carrying on a trade, profession or
business in Hong Kong where the gains are derived from or arise in Hong Kong from the trade,
profession or business will be subject to Hong Kong profits tax, which is currently imposed at the
rate of 16.5% on corporations and at a maximum rate of 15% on individuals and unincorporated
businesses. A two-tiered profits tax rates regime applies: 8.25% for corporations and 7.5% for
unincorporated businesses and individuals on the first HK$2 million of assessable profits, and
16.5% for corporations and 15% for unincorporated businesses and individuals on the remainder of
assessable profits.

•         Gains arising from the sale of Ordinary Shares, where the purchases and sales of the Ordinary
Shares are effected outside of Hong  Kong, such as in the Cayman Islands, are not subject to
Hong Kong profits tax.

According to the current tax practice of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department, dividends paid on the
Ordinary Shares are not subject to any Hong Kong tax.

No Hong Kong stamp duty is payable on the purchase and sale of the Ordinary Shares.

BVI Taxation

The BVI currently levies no taxes on individuals or corporations based upon profits, income, gains or
appreciation and there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty. There are no other taxes
likely to be material to us levied by the government of the BVI except for stamp duties which may be applicable
on instruments executed in, or, after execution, brought within the jurisdiction of the BVI. The BVI is not party
to any double tax treaties that are applicable to any payments made to or by our company. There are no
exchange control regulations or currency restrictions in the BVI.
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Payments of dividends and capital in respect of our Ordinary Shares will not be subject to taxation in the BVI
and no withholding will be required on the payment of a dividend or capital to any holder of our Ordinary
Shares, nor will gains derived from the disposal of our Ordinary Shares be subject to BVI income or corporation
tax.

United States Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following is a discussion of United States federal income tax considerations relating to the acquisition,
ownership, and disposition of our Ordinary Shares by a U.S.  Holder, as defined below, that acquires our
Ordinary Shares in this offering and holds our Ordinary Shares as “capital assets” (generally, property held for
investment) under the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). This discussion
is based upon existing United States federal income tax law, which is subject to differing interpretations or
change, possibly with retroactive effect. No ruling has been sought from the Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS”) with respect to any United States federal income tax consequences described below, and there can be no
assurance that the IRS or a court will not take a contrary position. This discussion does not address all aspects
of United States federal income taxation that may be important to particular investors in light of their individual
circumstances, including investors subject to special tax rules (such as, for example, certain financial
institutions, insurance companies, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, broker-dealers,
traders in securities that elect mark-to-market treatment, partnerships and their partners, tax-exempt
organizations (including private foundations)), investors who are not U.S. Holders, investors that own (directly,
indirectly, or constructively) 10% or more of our voting stock, investors that hold their Ordinary Shares as part
of a straddle, hedge, conversion, constructive sale or other integrated transaction), or investors that have a
functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, all of whom may be subject to tax rules that differ significantly
from those summarized below. In addition, this discussion does not address any tax laws other than the
United States federal income tax laws, including any state, local, alternative minimum tax or non-United States
tax considerations, or the Medicare tax. Each potential investor is urged to consult its tax advisor regarding the
United States federal, state, local and non-United States income and other tax considerations of an investment in
our Ordinary Shares.

General

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is a beneficial owner of our Ordinary Shares that is, for
United States federal income tax purposes, (i) an individual who is a citizen or treated as a tax resident of the
United States, (ii) a corporation (or other entity treated as a corporation for United States federal income tax
purposes) created in, or organized under the laws of, the United States or any state thereof or the District of
Columbia, (iii) an estate the income of which is includible in gross income for United States federal income tax
purposes regardless of its source, or (iv)  a trust (A)  the administration of which is subject to the primary
supervision of a United States court and which has one or more United States persons who have the authority to
control all substantial decisions of the trust or (B)  that has otherwise elected to be treated as a United States
person under the Code.

If a partnership (or other entity treated as a partnership for United States federal income tax purposes) is a
beneficial owner of our Ordinary Shares, the tax treatment of a partner in the partnership will depend upon the
status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partnerships and partners of a partnership holding our
Ordinary Shares are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding an investment in our Ordinary Shares.

The discussion set forth below is addressed only to U.S. Holders that purchase Ordinary Shares in this offering.
Prospective purchasers are urged to consult their own tax advisors about the application of the U.S.  federal
income tax rules to their particular circumstances as well as the state, local, foreign and other tax consequences
to them of the purchase, ownership and disposition of our Ordinary Shares.

Taxation of Dividends and Other Distributions on our Ordinary Shares

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, the gross amount of distributions
made by us to you with respect to the Ordinary Shares (including the amount of any taxes withheld therefrom)
will generally be includable in your gross income as dividend income on the date of receipt by you, but only to
the extent that the distribution is paid out of our current or accumulated earnings and profits (as determined
under U.S.  federal income tax principles). With respect to corporate U.S. Holders, the dividends will not be
eligible for the dividends-received deduction allowed to corporations in respect of dividends received from
other U.S. corporations.

With respect to non-corporate U.S. Holders, including individual U.S. Holders, dividends will be taxed at the
lower capital gains rate applicable to qualified dividend income, provided that (1)  the Ordinary Shares are
readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States, or we are eligible for the benefits of an
approved qualifying
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income tax treaty with the United States that includes an exchange of information program, (2) we are not a
passive foreign investment company (as discussed below) for either our taxable year in which the dividend is
paid or the preceding taxable year, and (3) certain holding period requirements are met. Because there is no
income tax treaty between the United States and the Cayman Islands, clause (1) above can be satisfied only if
the Ordinary Shares are readily tradable on an established securities market in the United  States. Under
U.S. Internal Revenue Service authority, Ordinary Shares are considered for purpose of clause (1) above to be
readily tradable on an established securities market in the United States if they are listed on NASDAQ. You are
urged to consult your tax advisors regarding the availability of the lower rate for dividends paid with respect to
our Ordinary Shares, including the effects of any change in law after the date of this prospectus.

To the extent that the amount of the distribution exceeds our current and accumulated earnings and profits (as
determined under U.S. federal income tax principles), it will be treated first as a tax-free return of your tax basis
in your Ordinary Shares, and to the extent the amount of the distribution exceeds your tax basis, the excess will
be taxed as capital gain. We do not intend to calculate our earnings and profits under U.S. federal income tax
principles. Therefore, a U.S. Holder should expect that a distribution will be treated as a dividend even if that
distribution would otherwise be treated as a non-taxable return of capital or as capital gain under the rules
described above.

Taxation of Dispositions of Ordinary Shares

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, you will recognize taxable gain or
loss on any sale, exchange or other taxable disposition of a share equal to the difference between the amount
realized (in U.S. dollars) for the share and your tax basis (in U.S. dollars) in the Ordinary Shares. The gain or
loss will be capital gain or loss. If you are a non-corporate U.S. Holder, including an individual U.S. Holder,
who has held the Ordinary Shares for more than one year, you may be eligible for reduced tax rates on any such
capital gains. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Passive Foreign Investment Company (“PFIC”)

A non-U.S. corporation is considered a PFIC for any taxable year if either:

•         at least 75% of its gross income for such taxable year is passive income; or

•         at least 50% of the value of its assets (based on an average of the quarterly values of the assets
during a taxable year) is attributable to assets that produce or are held for the production of passive
income (the “asset test”).

Passive income generally includes dividends, interest, rents and royalties (other than rents or royalties derived
from the active conduct of a trade or business) and gains from the disposition of passive assets. We will be
treated as owning our proportionate share of the assets and earning our proportionate share of the income of any
other corporation in which we own, directly or indirectly, at least 25% (by value) of the stock. In determining
the value and composition of our assets for purposes of the PFIC asset test, (1) the cash we raise in this offering
will generally be considered to be held for the production of passive income and (2) the value of our assets must
be determined based on the market value of our Ordinary Shares from time to time, which could cause the value
of our non-passive assets to be less than 50% of the value of all of our assets (including the cash raised in this
offering) on any particular quarterly testing date for purposes of the asset test.

We must make a separate determination each year as to whether we are a PFIC. Depending on the amount of
cash we raise in this offering, together with any other assets held for the production of passive income, it is
possible that, for our current taxable year or for any subsequent taxable year, at least 50% of our assets may be
assets held for the production of passive income. We will make this determination following the end of any
particular tax year. Although the law in this regard is unclear, we treat our consolidated affiliated entities, as
being owned by us for United  States federal income tax purposes, not only because we exercise effective
control over the operation of such entities but also because we are entitled to substantially all of their economic
benefits, and, as a result, we consolidate their operating results in our consolidated financial statements. In
particular, because the value of our assets for purposes of the asset test will generally be determined based on
the market price of our Ordinary Shares and because cash is generally considered to be an asset held for the
production of passive income, our PFIC status will depend in large part on the market price of our Ordinary
Shares and the amount of cash we raise in this offering. Accordingly, fluctuations in the market price of the
Ordinary Shares may cause us to become a PFIC. In addition, the application of the PFIC rules is
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subject to uncertainty in several respects and the composition of our income and assets will be affected by how,
and how quickly, we spend the cash we raise in this offering. We are under no obligation to take steps to reduce
the risk of our being classified as a PFIC, and as stated above, the determination of the value of our assets will
depend upon material facts (including the market price of our Ordinary Shares from time to time and the
amount of cash we raise in this offering) that may not be within our control. If we are a PFIC for any year
during which you hold Ordinary Shares, the shares will continue to be treated as stock in a PFIC for all
succeeding years during which you hold Ordinary Shares. However, if we cease to be a PFIC and you did not
previously make a timely “mark-to-market” election as described below, you may avoid some of the adverse
effects of the PFIC regime by making a “purging election” (as described below) with respect to the Ordinary
Shares.

If we are a PFIC for your taxable year(s) during which you hold Ordinary Shares, you will be subject to special
tax rules with respect to any “excess distribution” that you receive and any gain you realize from a sale or other
disposition (including a pledge) of the Ordinary Shares, unless you make a “mark-to-market” election as
discussed below. Distributions you receive in a taxable year that are greater than 125% of the average annual
distributions you received during the shorter of the three preceding taxable years or your holding period for the
Ordinary Shares will be treated as an excess distribution. Under these special tax rules:

•         the excess distribution or gain will be allocated ratably over your holding period for the Ordinary
Shares;

•         the amount allocated to your current taxable year, and any amount allocated to any of your taxable
year(s) prior to the first taxable year in which we were a PFIC, will be treated as ordinary income,
and

•         the amount allocated to each of your other taxable year(s) will be subject to the highest tax rate in
effect for that year and the interest charge generally applicable to underpayments of tax will be
imposed on the resulting tax attributable to each such year.

The tax liability for amounts allocated to years prior to the year of disposition or “excess distribution” cannot be
offset by any net operating losses for such years, and gains (but not losses) realized on the sale of the Ordinary
Shares cannot be treated as capital, even if you hold the Ordinary Shares as capital assets.

A U.S. Holder of “marketable stock” (as defined below) in a PFIC may make a mark-to-market election for such
stock to elect out of the tax treatment discussed above. If you make a mark-to-market election for first taxable
year which you hold (or are deemed to hold) Ordinary Shares and for which we are determined to be a PFIC,
you will include in your income each year an amount equal to the excess, if any, of the fair market value of the
Ordinary Shares as of the close of such taxable year over your adjusted basis in such Ordinary Shares, which
excess will be treated as ordinary income and not capital gain. You are allowed an ordinary loss for the excess,
if any, of the adjusted basis of the Ordinary Shares over their fair market value as of the close of the taxable
year. However, such ordinary loss is allowable only to the extent of any net mark-to-market gains on the
Ordinary Shares included in your income for prior taxable years. Amounts included in your income under a
mark-to-market election, as well as gain on the actual sale or other disposition of the Ordinary Shares, are
treated as ordinary income. Ordinary loss treatment also applies to any loss realized on the actual sale or
disposition of the Ordinary Shares, to the extent that the amount of such loss does not exceed the net mark-to-
market gains previously included for such Ordinary Shares. Your basis in the Ordinary Shares will be adjusted
to reflect any such income or loss amounts. If you make a valid mark-to-market election, the tax rules that apply
to distributions by corporations which are not PFICs would apply to distributions by us, except that the lower
applicable capital gains rate for qualified dividend income discussed above under “— Taxation of Dividends
and Other Distributions on our Ordinary Shares” generally would not apply.

The mark-to-market election is available only for “marketable stock”, which is stock that is traded in other than
de minimis quantities on at least 15  days during each calendar quarter (“regularly traded”) on a qualified
exchange or other market (as defined in applicable U.S.  Treasury regulations), including Nasdaq. If the
Ordinary Shares are regularly traded on NASDAQ and if you are a holder of Ordinary Shares, the mark-to-
market election would be available to you were we to be or become a PFIC.

Alternatively, a U.S. Holder of stock in a PFIC may make a “qualified electing fund” election with respect to
such PFIC to elect out of the tax treatment discussed above. A U.S. Holder who makes a valid qualified electing
fund election with respect to a PFIC will generally include in gross income for a taxable year such holder’s pro
rata share of the corporation’s earnings and profits for the taxable year. However, the qualified electing fund
election is available only if such PFIC provides such U.S. Holder with certain information regarding its earnings
and profits as required
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under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations. We do not currently intend to prepare or provide the information
that would enable you to make a qualified electing fund election. If you hold Ordinary Shares in any taxable
year in which we are a PFIC, you will be required to file U.S. Internal Revenue Service Form 8621 in each such
year and provide certain annual information regarding such Ordinary Shares, including regarding distributions
received on the Ordinary Shares and any gain realized on the disposition of the Ordinary Shares.

If you do not make a timely “mark-to-market” election (as described above), and if we were a PFIC at any time
during the period you hold our Ordinary Shares, then such Ordinary Shares will continue to be treated as stock
of a PFIC with respect to you even if we cease to be a PFIC in a future year, unless you make a “purging
election” for the year we cease to be a PFIC. A “purging election” creates a deemed sale of such Ordinary
Shares at their fair market value on the last day of the last year in which we are treated as a PFIC. The gain
recognized by the purging election will be subject to the special tax and interest charge rules treating the gain as
an excess distribution, as described above. As a result of the purging election, you will have a new basis (equal
to the fair market value of the Ordinary Shares on the last day of the last year in which we are treated as a PFIC)
and holding period (which new holding period will begin the day after such last day) in your Ordinary Shares
for tax purposes.

You are urged to consult your tax advisors regarding the application of the PFIC rules to your investment in our
Ordinary Shares and the elections discussed above.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Dividend payments with respect to our Ordinary Shares and proceeds from the sale, exchange or redemption of
our Ordinary Shares may be subject to information reporting to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and possible
U.S. backup withholding. Backup withholding will not apply, however, to a U.S. Holder who furnishes a correct
taxpayer identification number and makes any other required certification on U.S.  Internal Revenue Service
Form W-9 or who is otherwise exempt from backup withholding. U.S. Holders who are required to establish
their exempt status generally must provide such certification on U.S.  Internal Revenue Service Form W-9.
U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the application of the U.S. information reporting
and backup withholding rules.

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Amounts withheld as backup withholding may be credited against
your U.S. federal income tax liability, and you may obtain a refund of any excess amounts withheld under the
backup withholding rules by filing the appropriate claim for refund with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service and
furnishing any required information. We do not intend to withhold taxes for individual shareholders. However,
transactions effected through certain brokers or other intermediaries may be subject to withholding taxes
(including backup withholding), and such brokers or intermediaries may be required by law to withhold such
taxes.

Under the Hiring Incentives to Restore Employment Act of 2010, certain U.S. Holders are required to report
information relating to our Ordinary Shares, subject to certain exceptions (including an exception for Ordinary
Shares held in accounts maintained by certain financial institutions), by attaching a complete Internal Revenue
Service Form  8938, Statement of Specified Foreign Financial Assets, with their tax return for each year in
which they hold Ordinary Shares. Failure to report the information could result in substantial penalties. You
should consult your own tax advisor regarding your obligation to file Form 8938.
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UNDERWRITING

In connection with this offering, we have entered into an underwriting agreement with D. Boral Capital, acting
as representative (the “Representative”) of the underwriters named below. The Representative may retain other
brokers or dealers to act as sub-agents or selected dealers on its behalf in connection with this offering and may
pay any sub-agent  a solicitation fee with respect to any securities placed by it. Subject to the terms and
conditions of the underwriting agreement, we have agreed to issue and sell to the underwriters, and each of the
underwriters, severally and not jointly, has agreed to purchase from us, on a firm commitment basis, the
respective number of Ordinary Shares set forth opposite its name below, at the public offering price, less the
underwriting discount set forth on the cover page of this prospectus:

Name  
Number
of shares

D. Boral Capital   3,750,000
Total    

The underwriters are offering the Ordinary Shares subject to their acceptance of the Ordinary Shares from us
and subject to prior sale. The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to pay
for and accept delivery of the Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus are subject to the approval of certain
legal matters by their counsel and to certain other conditions, such as absence of any material adverse change in
our business or in the financial markets and receipt by the underwriters of certain officers’ certificates and legal
opinions and comfort letters from us, our counsels and the independent auditors. The underwriters are obligated
to take and pay for all of the Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus if any such shares are taken. However,
the underwriters are not required to take or pay for the shares covered by the underwriters’ option to purchase
additional shares described below.

The Underwriter has advised us that it proposes to offer the Ordinary Shares to the public at the public offering
price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to certain dealers at that price less a concession. The
Underwriter may allow, and certain dealers may reallow, a discount from the concession to certain brokers and
dealers. After this offering, the public offering price, concession and reallowance to dealers may be reduced by
the Representative. No such reduction shall change the amount of proceeds to be received by us as set forth on
the cover page of this prospectus. The securities are offered by the underwriters as stated herein, subject to
receipt and acceptance by them and subject to their right to reject any order in whole or in part. The
underwriters have informed us that they do not intend to confirm sales to any accounts over which they exercise
discretionary authority.

Over-Allotment Option

We have granted to the underwriters an option, exercisable for up to 45 days after the closing of this offering, to
purchase up to 562,500 additional Ordinary Shares equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the total number of
Ordinary Shares sold by us in this offering at the initial public offering price listed on the cover page of this
prospectus, less underwriting discounts. The underwriters may exercise this option solely for the purpose of
covering over-allotments, if any, made in connection with this offering. To the extent the option is exercised, the
underwriters will become obligated, subject to certain conditions, to purchase about the same percentage of the
additional Ordinary Shares as the number listed next to the underwriters’ name in the preceding table bears to
the total number of Ordinary Shares listed next to the name of all underwriters in the preceding table.

Discounts and Expenses

The underwriting discount is equal to seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of the public offering price on each of
the Ordinary Shares being offered.
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The following table shows the price per Ordinary Share and total public offering price, underwriting discounts,
and proceeds before expenses to us, calculated based on the fact that 100% of the gross proceeds of the offering
are raised from investors, at $4.00 per Ordinary Share initial offering price. The total amounts are shown
assuming both no exercise and full exercise of the over-allotment option.

      Total

    Per Share  

No Exercise
of Over-

allotment
Option  

Full Exercise
of Over-

allotment
Option

Initial public offering price(1)   $ 4.00  $ 15,000,000  $ 17,250,000
Underwriting discounts to be paid by us (7.5%)   $ 0.30  $ 1,125,000  $ 1,293,750
Proceeds, before expenses, to us   $ 3.70  $ 13,875,000  $ 15,956,250
____________

(1)       Initial public offering price per share is assumed as $4 per Ordinary Share.

We will also pay to the Representative by deduction from gross proceeds of the offering contemplated herein, a
non-accountable expense allowance equal to one percent (1%) of the gross proceeds received by us from the
sale of Ordinary Shares.

We have agreed to pay all expenses relating to the offering, including, without limitation, (a) all filing fees and
expenses relating to the registration of the Ordinary Shares with the SEC; (b) all fees and expenses relating to
the listing of the Ordinary Shares on a national exchange, if applicable; (c) all fees, expenses and disbursements
relating to the registration or qualification of the Ordinary Shares under the “blue sky” securities laws of such
states and other jurisdictions as the Representative may reasonably designate (including, without limitation, all
filing and registration fees, and the reasonable fees and disbursements of the Company’s “blue sky” counsel,
which will be the Representative’s counsel) unless such filings are not required in connection with the
Company’s proposed listing on a national exchange, if applicable; (d)  all fees, expenses and disbursements
relating to the registration, qualification or exemption of the Ordinary Shares under the securities laws of such
foreign jurisdictions as the Representative may reasonably designate; (e) the costs of all mailing and printing of
the offering documents; (f) transfer and/or stamp taxes, if any, payable upon the transfer of the Ordinary Shares
from the Company to the Representative; (g) the fees and expenses of the Company’s accountants; (h) all filing
fees and communication expenses associated with the review of the offering by FINRA; (i) up to $30,000 of the
Representative’s actual accountable road show and due diligence expenses for the offering; (j) the $29,500 cost
associated with the Representative’s use of Ipreo’s book building, prospectus tracking and compliance software
for the offering; (k)  the costs associated with bound volumes of the offering materials as well as
commemorative mementos and lucite tombstones in an aggregate amount not to exceed $5,000; (l) the fees for
the Representative’s legal counsels in the United  States, Hong  Kong and other foreign jurisdictions, as
applicable, in an aggregate amount not to exceed $175,000; and (m)  all fees, expenses, and disbursements
relating to background checks of the Company’s directors and officers in an aggregate amount not to exceed
$10,000. If there is not a closing, the legal fees shall not exceed $100,000.

We have agreed to pay an expense advance towards the Representative’s out-of-pocket accountable expenses
(the “Advance”) of $75,000 upon execution of the engagement letter in connection with this offering. Any
portion of the Advance will be returned to us to the extent the Representative’s out-of-pocket accountable
expenses are not actually incurred in accordance with FINRA Rule 5110(g)(4)(A).

Right of First Refusal

We have agreed, provided that this offering is completed, that until twelve (12) months after the closing of this
offering, the Representative shall have an irrevocable right of first refusal to act as sole investment banker, sole
book-runner, and/or sole placement agent at its sole discretion, for each and every future public equity and debt
offering, including all public equity linked financings (each, a “Subject Transaction”), during such 12-month
period, of the Company, or any successor to or any current or future subsidiary of our Company, on terms and
conditions customary to the Representative for such Subject Transaction. The Representative shall have the sole
right to determine whether or not any other broker dealer shall have the right to participate in a Subject
Transaction and the economic terms of such participation. For the avoidance of any doubt, the Company shall
not retain, engage or solicit any additional investment banker, book-runner, financial advisor, underwriter and/or
placement agent in a Subject Transaction during the 12-month period referred to above without the express
written consent of the Representative, provided, however,
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that such right shall be subject to FINRA Rule  5110(g), including that the right of first refusal may be
terminated by the Company for cause in case of the Representative’s material failure to provide the services
contemplated in the underwriting agreement.

Lock-up Agreements

We have agreed, on behalf of ourselves and any successor entity, that without the prior written consent of the
Representative for a period ending 180 days from the closing of this offering, we will not (i) offer, pledge, sell,
contract to sell, sell any option or contract to purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option,
right or warrant to purchase, lend, or otherwise transfer or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of share capital
of the Company or any securities that are convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for share capital of the
Company, (ii) file or cause to be filed any registration statement with the SEC relating to the offering of any
share capital of the Company or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for of share
capital of the Company, (iii) complete any offering of our debt securities, other than entering into a line of credit
with a traditional bank, or (iv) enter into any swap or other arrangement that transfers to another, in whole or in
part, any of the economic consequence of ownership of share capital of the Company, whether any such
transaction described in clause (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv)  above is to be settled by delivery of share capital of the
Company or other securities, in cash or otherwise.

Our directors, officers and shareholders of our outstanding securities (including warrants, options and other
securities exercisable for or convertible into Ordinary Shares) as of the effective date of the registration
statement of which this prospectus forms a part have agreed, for a period of 180 days from the closing of this
offering, subject to customary exceptions, not to offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell any option or contract to
purchase, purchase any option or contract to sell, grant any option, right or warrant to purchase, lend or
otherwise transfer, or dispose of, directly or indirectly, any of share capital of the Company, without the prior
written consent of the Representative.

The Representative has no present intention to waive or shorten the lock-up period; however, the terms of the
lock-up agreement may be waived at its discretion. In determining whether to waive the terms of the lock-up
agreements, the Representative may base its decision on its assessment of the relative strengths of the securities
markets and companies similar to ours in general, and the trading pattern of, and demand for, our securities in
general.

Tail Fee

The Representative shall be entitled to a cash fee equal to seven and one-half percent (7.5%) of the gross
proceeds received by us from the sale of any equity, debt and/or equity derivative instruments to any investor
actually introduced by the Representative to us during our engagement period with the Representative, in
connection with any public or private financing or capital raise (each a “Tail Financing”), and such Tail
Financing is consummated within the eighteen (18) month period following the expiration or termination of our
engagement of the Representative, provided that such Tail Financing is by a party actually introduced to the
Company in an offering in which the Company has direct knowledge of such party’s participation. Such right
shall be subject to FINRA Rule 5110(g)(5), including that it may be terminated by us for cause in case of the
Representative’s material failure to provide the services contemplated in the underwriting agreement.

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under the Securities
Act and liabilities arising from breaches of representations and warranties contained in the underwriting
agreement, or to contribute to payments that the underwriters may be required to make in respect of those
liabilities.

Nasdaq Listing

Our Ordinary Shares have been approved to list on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “MGRT”.

Electronic Distribution

A prospectus in electronic format may be made available on websites or through other online services
maintained by Representative or by its affiliates. Other than the prospectus in electronic format, the information
on the Representative’s website and any information contained in any other website maintained by it is not part
of this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, has not been approved
and/or endorsed by us or the Representative in its capacity as an underwriter, and should not be relied upon by
investors.
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Any underwriter who is a qualified market maker on the Nasdaq Capital Market may engage in passive market
making transactions on the Nasdaq Capital Market in accordance with Rule 103 of Regulation M, during the
business day prior to the pricing of the offering, before the commencement of offers or sales. Passive market
makers must comply with applicable volume and price limitations and must be identified as passive market
makers. In general, a passive market maker must display its bid at a price not in excess of the highest
independent bid for such security; if all independent bids are lowered below the passive market maker’s bid,
however, the passive market maker’s bid must then be lowered when certain purchase limits are exceeded.

No Prior Public Market

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our securities and the public offering price for our
Ordinary Shares are determined through negotiations between us and the Representative. Among the factors to
be considered in these negotiations are prevailing market conditions, our financial information, market
valuations of other companies that we and the Representative believe to be comparable to us, estimates of our
business potential, the present state of our development and other factors deemed relevant. The offering price
for our Ordinary Shares in this offering has been arbitrarily determined by the Company in its negotiations with
the underwriters and does not necessarily bear any direct relationship to the assets, operations, book or other
established criteria of value of the Company. The offering price stated on the cover page of this prospectus
should not be considered an indication of the actual value of the Ordinary Shares sold in the public offering.
The values of such shares are subject to change as a result of market conditions and other factors. We offer no
assurances that the offering price will correspond to the price at which the Ordinary Shares will trade in the
public market subsequent to this offering or that an active trading market for our shares will develop and
continue after this offering.

Price Stabilization, Short Positions and Penalty Bids

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or
otherwise affect the price of our Ordinary Shares. Specifically, the Representative may sell more shares than it is
obligated to purchase under the underwriting agreement, creating a short position. A short sale is covered if the
short position is no greater than the number of shares available for purchase by the underwriters under option to
purchase additional shares. The Representative can close out a covered short sale by exercising the option to
purchase additional shares or purchasing shares in the open market. In determining the source of shares to close
out a covered short sale, the Representative will consider, among other things, the open market price of shares
compared to the price available under the option to purchase additional shares. The Representative may also sell
shares in excess of the option to purchase additional shares, creating a naked short position. The Representative
must close out any naked short position by purchasing shares in the open market. A naked short position is more
likely to be created if the Representative is concerned that there may be downward pressure on the price of the
shares in the open market after pricing that could adversely affect investors who purchase in the offering.

The Representative may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter or dealer repays
selling concessions allowed to it for distributing our Ordinary Shares in this offering because such underwriter
repurchases those shares in stabilizing or short covering transactions.

Finally, the Representative may bid for, and purchase, our Ordinary Shares in market making transactions,
including passive market making transactions as described above.

These activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of our Ordinary Shares at a price that is higher than
the price that might otherwise exist in the absence of these activities. The underwriters are not required to
engage in these activities, and may discontinue any of these activities at any time without notice. These
transactions may be effected on the Nasdaq Capital Market, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.

Other Relationships

The underwriters and certain of their affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various activities,
which may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, financial advisory, investment
management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, financing and brokerage activities. Some of
the underwriters and certain of their affiliates may in the future engage in investment banking and other
commercial dealings in the ordinary course of business with us and our affiliates, for which they may in the
future receive customary fees, commissions and expenses. In addition, in the ordinary course of their business
activities, the underwriters and their
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affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related
derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the
accounts of their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or
instruments of ours or our affiliates. The underwriters and their affiliates may also make investment
recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial
instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such
securities and instruments.

Offers Outside the United States

Other than in the United States, no action has been taken by us or the underwriters that would permit a public
offering of the Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is
required. The Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, nor
may this prospectus or any other offering material or advertisements in connection with the offer and sale of any
such shares be distributed or published in any jurisdiction, except under circumstances that will result in
compliance with the applicable rules and regulations of that jurisdiction. Persons into whose possession this
prospectus comes are advised to inform themselves about and to observe any restrictions relating to the offering
and the distribution of this prospectus. This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an
offer to buy any Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus in any jurisdiction in which such an offer or a
solicitation is unlawful.

In addition to the offering of the Ordinary Shares in the United  States, the underwriters may, subject to
applicable foreign laws, also offer the Ordinary Shares in certain countries.

Australia.    This document has not been lodged with the Australian Securities & Investments Commission and
is only directed to certain categories of exempt persons. Accordingly, if you receive this document in Australia:

(a)      you confirm and warrant that you are either:

(i)      “sophisticated investor” under section 708(8)(a) or (b) of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of
Australia, or the Corporations Act;

(ii)     “sophisticated investor” under section 708(8)(c) or (d) of the Corporations Act and that you
have provided an accountant’s certificate to the company which complies with the
requirements of section 708(8)(c)(i) or

(iii)    of the Corporations Act and related regulations before the offer has been made;

(iv)    person associated with the company under section 708(12) of the Corporations Act; or

(v)     “professional investor” within the meaning of section 708(11)(a) or (b) of the Corporations
Act;

and to the extent that you are unable to confirm or warrant that you are an exempt
sophisticated investor, associated person or professional investor under the Corporations Act,
any offer made to you under this document is void and incapable of acceptance; and

(b)     you warrant and agree that you will not offer any of the Ordinary Shares issued to you pursuant to
this document for resale in Australia within 12 months of those Ordinary Shares being issued unless
any such resale offer is exempt from the requirement to issue a disclosure document under section
708 of the Corporations Act.

Canada.    The Ordinary Shares may be sold only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as
principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument  45-106  Prospectus Exemptions  or
subsection 73.3(1)  of the  Securities Act  (Ontario), and are permitted customers, as defined in National
Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any resale of
the Ordinary Shares must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the
prospectus requirements of applicable securities laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for
rescission or damages if this prospectus (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation,
provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit
prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any
applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for particulars of these
rights or consult with a legal advisor.
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Pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the government of a non-Canadian
jurisdiction, section 3A.4) of National Instrument  33-105  Underwriting Conflicts  (“NI  33-105”), the
underwriters are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter
conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

Cayman Islands.    This prospectus does not constitute an invitation or offer to the public in the Cayman Islands
of the Ordinary Shares, whether by way of sale or subscription. The underwriters have not offered or sold, and
will not offer or sell, directly or indirectly, any Ordinary Shares in the Cayman Islands.

European Economic Area.    In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has
implemented the Prospectus Directive (each, a “Relevant Member State”) an offer to the public of any shares
which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this prospectus may not be made in that Relevant Member
State unless the prospectus has been approved by the competent authority in such Relevant Member State or,
where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in that
Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except that an offer to the public in
that Relevant Member State of any shares may be made at any time under the following exemptions under the
Prospectus Directive, if they have been implemented in that Relevant Member State:

•         to legal entities which are authorized or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so
authorized or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities;

•         to any legal entity which has two or more of (i) an average of at least 250 employees during the last
financial year; (ii) a total balance sheet of more than €43,000,000 and (iii) an annual net turnover of
more than €50,000,000, as shown in its last annual or consolidated accounts;

•         by the underwriters to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the
relevant provision of the 2010 PD Amending Directive, 150, natural or legal persons (other than
“qualified investors” as defined in the Prospectus Directive) subject to obtaining the prior consent of
the representatives for any such offer; or

•         in any other circumstances falling within Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive; provided that no
such offer of shares shall result in a requirement for the publication by us or any representative of a
prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive or supplement a prospectus pursuant to
Article 16 of the Prospectus Directive.

Any person making or intending to make any offer of shares within the EEA should only do so in circumstances
in which no obligation arises for us or the underwriters to produce a prospectus for such offer. Neither we nor
the underwriters have authorized, nor do they authorize, the making of any offer of shares through any financial
intermediary, other than offers made by the underwriters which constitute the final offering of shares
contemplated in this prospectus.

For the purposes of this provision, and your representation below, the expression an “offer to the public” in
relation to any shares in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means
of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to
decide to purchase any shares, as the same may be varied in that Relevant Member State by any measure
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and the expression “Prospectus
Directive” means Directive 2003/71/EC (including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented
in the Relevant Member State) and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State
and the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.

Each person in a Relevant Member State who receives any communication in respect of, or who acquires any
shares under, the offer of shares contemplated by this prospectus will be deemed to have represented, warranted
and agreed to and with us and the underwriters that:

•         it is a “qualified investor” within the meaning of the law in that Relevant Member State
implementing Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospectus Directive; and
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•         in the case of any shares acquired by it as a financial intermediary, as that term is used in
Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, (i) the shares acquired by it in the offering have not been
acquired on behalf of, nor have they been acquired with a view to their offer or resale to, persons in
any Relevant Member State other than “qualified investors” (as defined in the Prospectus Directive),
or in circumstances in which the prior consent of the representatives has been given to the offer or
resale; or (ii) where shares have been acquired by it on behalf of persons in any Relevant Member
State other than qualified investors, the offer of those shares to it is not treated under the Prospectus
Directive as having been made to such persons.

In addition, in the United Kingdom, this document is being distributed only to, and is directed only at, and any
offer subsequently made may only be directed at persons who are “qualified investors” (as defined in the
Prospectus Directive) (i) who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within
Article 19 (5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended,
or the Order, and/or (ii) who are high net worth companies (or persons to whom it may otherwise be lawfully
communicated) falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together being referred to as
“relevant persons”). This document must not be acted on or relied on in the United Kingdom by persons who
are not relevant persons. In the United Kingdom, any investment or investment activity to which this document
relates is only available to, and will be engaged in with, relevant persons.

Hong Kong.    The Ordinary Shares may not be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means of any document other
than (i)  in circumstances which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (ii) to “professional
investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any
rules made thereunder, or (iii) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a “prospectus”
within the meaning of the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap.32, Laws of
Hong Kong), and no advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Ordinary Shares may be issued or
may be in the possession of any person for the purpose of issue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or
elsewhere), which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public in
Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to the Ordinary
Shares which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to “professional
investors” within the meaning of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, Laws of Hong Kong) and any
rules made thereunder.

Malaysia.    The shares have not been and may not be approved by the securities commission Malaysia, or SC,
and this document has not been and will not be registered as a prospectus with the SC under the Malaysian
capital markets and services act of 2007, or CMSA. Accordingly, no securities or offer for subscription or
purchase of securities or invitation to subscribe for or purchase securities are being made to any person in or
from within Malaysia under this document except to persons falling within any of paragraphs 2(g)(i) to (xi) of
schedule 5 of the CMSA and distributed only by a holder of a capital markets services license who carries on
the business of dealing in securities and subject to the issuer having lodged this prospectus with the SC within
seven days from the date of the distribution of this prospectus in Malaysia. The distribution in Malaysia of this
document is subject to Malaysian laws. Save as aforementioned, no action has been taken in Malaysia under its
securities laws in respect of this document. This document does not constitute and may not be used for the
purpose of a public offering or an issue, offer for subscription or purchase, invitation to subscribe for or
purchase any securities requiring the approval of the SC or the registration of a prospectus with the SC under
the CMSA.

Japan.    The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and
Exchange Law of Japan, and the Ordinary Shares will not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or
to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan (which term as used herein means any person resident in Japan,
including any corporation or other entity organized under the laws of Japan), or to others for re-offering or
resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to a resident of Japan, except pursuant to any exemption from the
registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law
and any other applicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.

People’s Republic of China.    This prospectus has not been and will not be circulated or distributed in the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), and the Ordinary Shares may not be offered or sold, and will not be
offered or sold to any person for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, to any resident of the PRC except
pursuant to applicable laws and regulations of the PRC. For the purpose of this paragraph, the PRC does not
include Taiwan and the Special Administrative Regions of Hong Kong and Macao.
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Singapore.    This prospectus has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.
Accordingly, this prospectus and any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or
invitation for subscription or purchase, of our Ordinary Shares may not be circulated or distributed, nor may our
Ordinary Shares be offered or sold, or be made the subject of an invitation for subscription or purchase, whether
directly or indirectly, to persons in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor under Section 274 of the
Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore, or SFA, (ii) to a relevant person or any person pursuant to
Section 275(1A), and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA, and in accordance
with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with the
conditions of, any other applicable provision of the SFA, in each case subject to compliance with conditions set
forth in the SFA.

Where our Ordinary Shares are subscribed or purchased under Section 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) a
corporation (which is not an accredited investor as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) the sole business of which
is to hold investments and the entire share capital of which is owned by one or more individuals, each of whom
is an accredited investor; or (b) a trust (where the trustee is not an accredited investor) whose sole purpose is to
hold investments and each beneficiary of the trust is an individual who is an accredited investor; shares,
debentures and units of shares and debentures of that corporation or the beneficiaries’ rights and interest
(howsoever described) in that trust shall not be transferred within six months after that corporation or that trust
has acquired the Ordinary Shares under Section 275 of the SFA, except: (1)  to an institutional investor (for
corporations under Section 274 of the SFA) or to a relevant person defined in Section 275(2) of the SFA, or to
any person pursuant to an offer that is made on terms that such shares, debentures and units of shares and
debentures of that corporation or such rights and interest in that trust are acquired at a consideration of not less
than S$200,000 (or its equivalent in a foreign currency) for each transaction, whether such amount is to be paid
for in cash or by exchange of securities or other assets, and further for corporations, in accordance with the
conditions, specified in Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
or (3) where the transfer is by operation of law.

Taiwan.    The Ordinary Shares have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the
Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities laws and regulations and may not
be offered or sold in Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances which constitute an offer within the
meaning of the Securities and Exchange  Act  of  Taiwan or relevant laws and regulations that require a
registration, filing, or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan. No person or entity in
Taiwan has been authorized to offer or sell the Ordinary Shares in Taiwan.

United Kingdom.    An offer of the Ordinary Shares may not be made to the public in the United Kingdom
within the meaning of Section  102B of the Financial Services and Markets Act  2000, as amended, or the
FSMA, except to legal entities that are authorized or regulated to operate in the financial markets or, if not so
authorized or regulated, whose corporate purpose is solely to invest in securities or otherwise in circumstances
that do not require the publication by the company of a prospectus pursuant to the Prospectus Rules of the
Financial Services Authority, or the FSA.

An invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of Section 21 of FSMA) may
only be communicated to persons who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling
within Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 or in
circumstances in which Section 21 of FSMA does not apply to the company.

All applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by the underwriters in relation to the
shares must be complied with in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.
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EXPENSES RELATING TO THIS OFFERING

Set forth below is an itemization of the total expenses, excluding underwriting discounts and commissions and
non-accountable expense allowance, that we expect to incur in connection with this offering. With the exception
of the SEC registration fee, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA, filing fee, and the
NASDAQ listing fee, all amounts are estimates.

SEC registration fee   $ 3,480
NASDAQ listing fee     75,000
FINRA filing fee     3,735
Printing and engraving expenses     25,000
Legal fees and expenses     894,425
Accounting fees and expenses     253,562
Transfer agent and registrar fee and expenses     3,825
Miscellaneous expenses     156,042
Total expenses   $ 1,415,069

These expenses will be borne by us. Underwriting discounts will be borne by us in proportion to the numbers of
Ordinary Shares sold in the offering.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The Company is being represented by FisherBroyles, LLP, with respect to legal matters of United States federal
securities law. The validity of the Ordinary Shares offered by this prospectus and legal matters as to Cayman
Islands law will be passed upon for us by Travers Thorp Alberga. The Company is being represented by
Stevenson, Wong & Co. with regard to Hong Kong law. FisherBroyles, LLP, may rely upon Stevenson, Wong &
Co. with respect to matters governed by Hong Kong law. Jun He Law Offices LLC is acting as U.S. counsel for
the underwriter.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 included herein and in the registration
statement have been so included in reliance on the report of WWC, P.C., an independent registered public
accounting firm, given on the authority of said firm as experts in accounting and auditing.

The office of WWC, P.C. is located at 2010 Pioneer Court, San Mateo, CA 94403.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form F-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the
Ordinary Shares described herein. This prospectus, which constitutes part of the registration statement, does not
include all of the information contained in the registration statement. You should refer to the registration
statement and its exhibits for additional information. Whenever we make reference in this prospectus to any of
our contracts, agreements or other documents, the references are not necessarily complete and you should refer
to the exhibits attached to the registration statement for copies of the actual contract, agreement or other
document. Following the completion of this offering, we will make these documents publicly available, free of
charge, on our website at www.megafortune-group.com as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such
documents with the SEC. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus
and should not be considered to be a part of this prospectus. We have included our website address as an
inactive textual reference only.

You can read the registration statement and our future filings with the SEC, over the Internet at the SEC’s web
site at http://www.sec.gov. You may also read and copy any document that we file with the SEC at its public
reference room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549.

You may also obtain copies of the documents at prescribed rates by writing to the Public Reference Section of
the SEC at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at  1-800-SEC-0330 for further
information on the operation of the public reference room.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To:     The Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Mega Fortune Company Limited

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Mega Fortune Company Limited and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in
the two-year period ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the financial
statements). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of the Company as of September 30, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each
of the  years in the two-year period ended September  30, 2024, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S.  federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to
perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such
procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

WWC, P.C.
Certified Public Accountants



Certified Public Accountants
PCAOB ID No.1171

San Mateo, California
May 2, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2024
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MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(Expressed in U.S. Dollars, except for the number of shares)

 

As of
September 30,

2024   2023

Assets                
Current Assets                

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  
Accounts receivable, net     2,337,202      1,500,650  
Accounts receivable, net – a related party     —      4,153  
Amounts due from a related party, net     —      66,371  
Prepayments and other assets, net     17,696      32,327  

Total current assets     2,726,816      2,223,071  
                 

Property and equipment, net     9,469      6,891  
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net     101,187      25,410  
Deferred initial public offering (“IPO”) costs     557,183      —  
Deferred tax assets, net     33,551      10,983  

Total assets   $ 3,428,206    $ 2,266,355  
                 
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity                
                 
Liabilities                
Current liabilities                

Bank loans, current   $ 71,305    $ 109,084  
Contract liabilities     21,995      60,262  
Accounts payable     21,359      78,056  
Amounts due to related parties     859,787      395,601  
Income tax payable     263,902      68,287  
Operating lease liabilities, current     36,450      26,909  
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     317,788      96,233  

Total current liabilities     1,592,586      834,432  
                 

Bank loans, non-current     411,901      479,412  
Operating lease liabilities, non-current     65,703      —  

Total liabilities   $ 2,070,190    $ 1,313,844  
                 
Commitments and contingencies                
                 
Shareholders’ equity                

Ordinary shares, US$0.000001 par value, 50,000,000,000 shares
authorized, 10,000,000 shares issued and outstanding as of
September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively*   $ 10    $ 10  

Subscription receivables     (10)     (10)
Additional paid-in capital     13      13  
Retained earnings     1,347,751      946,217  
Accumulated other comprehensive income     10,252      6,281  

Total shareholders’ equity     1,358,016      952,511  
                 
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   $ 3,428,206    $ 2,266,355  

____________

*         Retrospectively restated for effect of share reorganization and share split (see Note 14).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Income

(Expressed in U.S. dollar, except for the number of shares)

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Revenues   $ 3,325,990    $ 3,217,515  
Revenues – related parties     —      30,028  
Total revenues     3,325,990      3,247,543  
                 
Cost of revenues     (1,533,099)     (1,972,633)
                 
Gross profit     1,792,891      1,274,910  
                 
Operating expenses                

Selling and marketing expenses     (149,891)     (207,977)
General and administrative expenses     (1,098,152)     (514,387)

Total operating expenses     (1,248,043)     (722,364)
                 
Income from operations     544,848      552,546  
                 
Other income, net                

Foreign exchange transaction gains (losses)     2,419      (8,564)
Interest expense     (19,628)     (21,299)
Interest income     203      341  
Government grants     29,990      76,017  
Sundry income     17,766      18,677  

Total other income, net     30,750      65,172  
                 
Income before income tax expenses     575,598      617,718  
Income tax expenses     (174,064)     (81,164)
Net income     401,534      536,554  
                 
Other comprehensive income                
Foreign currency translation adjustments     3,971      776  
Total comprehensive income   $ 405,505    $ 537,330  
                 
Earnings per share:                
Basic and diluted   $ 0.04    $ 0.05  
                 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding:                
Ordinary shares – Basic and diluted*     10,000,000      10,000,000  
____________

*         Retrospectively restated for effect of share reorganization and share split (see Note 14).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(Expressed in U.S. dollar, except for the number of shares)

 

Ordinary shares  
Subscription
receivables  

Additional
paid-in
capital  

Retained
earnings  

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income   Total

Number
issued*   Amount  

Balance as of
September 30,
2022   10,000,000  $ 10  $ (10)   $ 13  $ 409,663  $ 5,505  $ 415,181
Net income   —    —    —      —    536,554    —    536,554
Foreign currency

translation
adjustment   —    —    —      —    —    776    776

Balance as of
September 30,
2023   10,000,000    10    (10)     13    946,217    6,281    952,511
Net income   —    —    —      —    401,534    —    401,534
Foreign currency

translation
adjustment   —    —    —      —    —    3,971    3,971

Balance as of
September 30,
2024   10,000,000  $ 10  $ (10)   $ 13  $ 1,347,751  $ 10,252  $ 1,358,016

____________

*         Retrospectively restated for effect of share reorganization and share split (see Note 14).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(Expressed in U.S. dollar)

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Cash flows from operating activities:                
Net income   $ 401,534    $ 536,554  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating

activities:                
Depreciation     4,851      6,697  
Provision of expected credit losses     143,881      5,317  
Amortization of operating lease right-of-use assets     37,087      38,114  
Deferred tax benefits     (23,303)     (1,549)

                 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:                

Accounts receivable, net     (959,509)     (508,500)
Prepayments and other assets, net     14,005      190,041  
Accounts payable     (56,996)     (303,094)
Contract liabilities     (38,529)     (93,932)
Income tax payable     193,991      136,276  
Operating lease liabilities     (38,589)     (38,721)
Accrued expenses and other liabilities     221,783      73  

Net cash used in operating activities     (99,794)     (32,724)
                 
Cash flows from investing activities:                

Purchases of property and equipment     (7,360)     (1,737)
Cash disposed on disposal of a subsidiary     (148)     —  
Proceeds from related party on disposal of a subsidiary     6,737      —  

Net cash used in investing activities     (771)     (1,737)
                 
Cash flows from financing activities:                

Repayments of bank loans     (109,336)     (273,430)
Payments of offering costs related to IPO     (557,183)     —  
Advance from related parties     711,670      —  
Repayment to related parties     (191,994)     (16,253)

Net cash used in financing activities     (146,843)     (289,683)
              
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents     (247,408)     (324,144)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents     (244)     2,187  
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year     619,570      941,527  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year   $ 371,918    $ 619,570  
                 
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:                

Income tax paid (refund)   $ 3,376    $ (51,648)
Interest received   $ 203    $ 341  
Interest paid   $ 19,628    $ 21,299  
Listing fee paid   $ 557,183    $ —  

                 
Supplemental disclosures of non cash information:                

Operating lease right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating
lease liabilities   $ 113,203    $ —  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

1. Organization and Description of Business

Mega Fortune Company Limited (“Mega Fortune”) is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on January 3, 2024, with a share capital of US$10. It is a parent holding company with no
operations.

Ponte Fides Company Limited (“Ponte Fides”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mega Fortune, is a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on February 6, 2024. Ponte Fides has a share
capital of US$1,000 and is an investment holding company with no operations.

QBS System Limited (“QBS System”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Ponte Fides, is a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on April 14, 2011, with a share capital of HK$100 (approximately $13). QBS
System is engaged in provision of Internet of Things (“IoT”) solutions and services.

QBS System Pty Ltd (“QBS Pty”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of QBS System, is an Australia proprietary
company limited by shares incorporated on May 8, 2020, with a share capital of AUD10,000 (approximately
$6,543). QBS Pty is engaged in no significant business activities and generated no revenue.

Mega Fortune together with its subsidiaries (collectively, “the Company”) is primarily engaged in providing
full-range of IoT solutions and services comprising development and implementation, support and maintenance.
The Company primarily generates service income from the engagement of these full range IoT services as well
as generates trading income by selling hardware and IoT-related products to its customers.

The following is an organization chart of the Company and its subsidiaries:

As of September 30, 2024, the Company’s subsidiaries are detailed in the table as follows:

Name  
Place of

Incorporation  
Date of

Incorporation  
Ownership

%   Principal activity
Ponte Fides Company Limited   British Virgin

Islands
  February 6, 2024  100   Investment holding

QBS System Limited
 

Hong Kong
 

April 14, 2011
 

100
 

Provision of Internet of
Things (“IoT”) solutions
and services

On July  8, 2024, QBS Pty was sold to Mr. Wong Ka Ki, a related party of the Company, nature of the
relationship is detailed in the Note 16.
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1. Organization and Description of Business (cont.)

Reorganization

Reorganization of the legal structure of the Company (“Reorganization”) has been completed on April 29, 2024
by carrying out a sequence of contemplated transactions, where the Mega Fortune becomes the holding
company of all entities discussed above.

Immediately before the Reorganization, QBS System was wholly owned by Flywheel Advanced Technology,
Inc. (“FWFW”), a company incorporated in the state of Nevada and is being traded on OTCQB under the
symbol of “FWFW”. QBS System functions as the major operational entity for FWFW.  Mega Fortune,
incorporated on January 3, 2024 by registered agent, was established with the sole purpose of acting as holding
company of the Company. On January 30, 2024, 100% ownership of Mega Fortune, was transferred from the
registered agent to FWFW. Mega Fortune had not engaged in any business activities before the transfer.
Subsequently on February 6, 2024, Ponte Fides was established with 100% of its shares held by Mega Fortune.
On April 29, 2024, FWFW transferred 100% ownership interest in QBS System to the Ponte Fides, a wholly
owned subsidiary of Mega Fortune which was also a wholly owned subsidiary of FWFW.

Immediately before and after the Reorganization, Mega Fortune, Ponte Fides, QBS System and QBS Pty
remained under the complete ownership of FWFW and were under the control of the same group of
shareholders. Consequently, the Reorganization is classified as a common control transaction under
ASC 805-50. On July 8, 2024, QBS Pty was sold to Mr. Wong Ka Ki, a related party of the Company, nature of
the relationship is detailed in the Note 16.

The consolidation of the Company has been accounted for at historical cost and prepared on the basis as if the
aforementioned transactions had become effective as of the beginning of the first period presented in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Results of operations for the periods presented comprise those
of the previously separate entities combined from the beginning of the period to the end of the period,
eliminating the effects of intra-entity transactions.

The movement in the Company’s authorized share capital and the number of ordinary shares outstanding and
issued in the Company are also detailed in the Note 14. The ordinary shares of the Company are presented on a
retroactive basis to reflect the share split completed on October 23, 2024.

2. Liquidity

In assessing the Company’s liquidity, the Company monitors and analyzes its cash on-hand and its operating
and capital expenditure commitments. The Company’s liquidity needs are to meet its working capital
requirements, operating expenses and capital expenditure obligations. Bank loans, financing from related
parties, and cash generated from operations have been utilized to finance the working capital requirements of
the Company. As of September  30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had working capital of $1,134,230 and
$1,388,639 respectively, among which $371,918 and $619,570 in cash respectively.

Considering all facts and information on hand, management expects the Company’s cash on hand is sufficient to
finance its working capital requirements within the normal operating cycle of a twelve-months period from the
date of these consolidated financial statements are issued.

If the Company is unable to have sufficient fund to finance its working capital requirements within the normal
operating cycle of a twelve-months period from the date of these financial statements are issued, the Company
may consider supplementing its available sources of funds through the following sources:

•         addition equity financing from shareholders and third-party investors; and/or

•         financial support from financial institutions, the Company’s shareholders and related parties.
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2. Liquidity (cont.)

Based on the above considerations, management is of the opinion that the Company has sufficient funds to meet
its working capital requirements and current liabilities as they become due within twelve months from the date
of these consolidated financial statements are issued. However, there is no assurance that the Company will be
successful in implementing its plans. There are a number of factors that could potentially arise and could
undermine the Company’s plans, such as changes in the demand for the Company’s services, general market
conditions and the broader capital market climate in Hong Kong, etc.

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of presentation and principle of consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Company”). The Company eliminates all significant intercompany balances and transactions
in its consolidated financial statements.

Management has prepared the accompanying consolidated financial statements and these notes in accordance to
generally accepted accounting principles in the United  States (“US GAAP”). The Company maintains its
general ledger and journals with the accrual method accounting.

Use of estimates and assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. These estimates and judgments are based on historical information,
information that is currently available to the Company and on various other assumptions that the Company
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant estimates required to be made by management
include, but not limited to, provision for expected credit losses against accounts receivable, amount due from
related parties and other assets, determination of the useful lives of long-lived assets, impairment of long-lived
assets, valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, accounting of operating lease right-of-use assets, and
operating lease liabilities. Actual results could differ from the estimates, and as such, differences could be
material to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include balances maintained with banks in Hong  Kong that can be added or
withdrawn without limitation.

Accounts receivable, net

Accounts receivable represent income earned from the provision of IoT services and trading of hardware and
IoT-related products of which the Company has not yet received payment. Accounts receivable is recorded at
the invoiced amount and adjusted to amounts management expects to collect from balances outstanding at
period-end. In accordance with ASC  326 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (ASC  326), the Company
estimates the allowance for expected credit losses based on expected future uncollectible accounts receivable
using forecasts of future economic conditions in addition to information about past events and current
conditions. Management provides an allowance for expected credit losses based on the Company’s historical
losses, specific customer circumstances, and general economic conditions. Periodically, management reviews
accounts receivable and adjusts the allowance based on current circumstances and charges off uncollectible
receivables when all attempts to collect have been exhausted and the prospects for recovery are remote. As of
September 30, 2024 and 2023, an allowance for expected credit losses of $211,639 and $66,729, was recorded,
respectively.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Prepayments and other assets, net

Prepayments and other assets are comprised of other receivables and prepaid expenses, including trade deposits
paid to suppliers, rental and utility deposits and subsidies receivable from local governments. Among
prepayments and other assets, the Company reviews other assets on a regular basis and also makes allowance
for expected credit losses if there is evidence indicating that other assets may be unrecoverable based on the
Company’s historical losses, specific customer circumstances, and general economic conditions. As of
September 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance of allowance for expected credit loss against other assets was $613
and $309, respectively.

Leases

On October  1, 2020, the Company adopted ASU No.  2016-02, Leases (Topic  842), as amended, which
supersedes the lease accounting guidance under Topic 840, and generally requires lessees to recognize operating
and financing lease liabilities and corresponding right-of-use assets on the balance sheet and to provide
enhanced disclosures surrounding the amount, timing and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leasing
arrangements.

The Company is a lessee of non-cancellable operating leases for corporate office premises. The Company
determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. A lease for which substantially all the benefits and risks
incidental to ownership remain with the lessor is classified by the lessee as an operating lease. All leases of the
Company are currently classified as operating leases. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-
use (“ROU”) assets, operating lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and operating lease
liabilities represent its obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and operating lease
liabilities are recognized at lease commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the
lease term.

When determining the lease term, at lease commencement date, the Company considers options to extend or
terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that it will exercise or not exercise that option. The interest rate
used to determine the present value of future lease payments is the Company’s incremental borrowing rate of
the Hong Kong Prime Rate minus 0.25% p.a. based on the information available at the lease commencement
date.

The lease standard (ACS 842) provides practical expedients for an entity’s ongoing accounting. The Company
elects to apply short-term lease exception for leases with a lease term of 12 months or less at commencement.
Accordingly, ROU assets and operating lease liabilities do not include leases with a lease term of 12 months or
less.

The Company evaluates the impairment of its ROU assets consistently with the approach applied for its other
long-lived assets. The Company reviews the recoverability of its long-lived assets when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The assessment of possible
impairment is based on its ability to recover the carrying value of the assets from the expected undiscounted
future pre-tax cash flows of the related operations. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not
recognize any impairment loss against its ROU assets.

Property and equipment, net

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is
provided using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property and equipment are as follows:

Computer equipment   5 years
Furniture and fittings   5 years
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance, which do not materially extend the useful lives of the assets, are
expensed as incurred. Expenditures for major renewals and betterments which substantially extend the useful
life of assets are capitalized. The cost and related accumulated depreciation of assets disposed of or retired are
removed from the accounts, and any resulting gain or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income under other income or expenses.

Impairment of long-lived assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets, including property and equipment and ROU assets, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount
of an asset to the undiscounted future pre-tax cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If such assets are
considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount
of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. Fair value is generally determined by discounting the cash
flows expected to be generated by the asset (asset group), when the market prices are not readily available. The
adjusted carrying amount of the asset is the new cost basis and is depreciated over the asset’s remaining useful
life. Long-lived assets are grouped with other assets and liabilities at the lowest level for which identifiable cash
flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. As of September 30, 2024 and
2023, no impairment of long-lived assets was recognized.

Deferred IPO costs

Deferred IPO costs consist of costs incurred in connection with the Company’s planned initial public offering in
the United  States. These costs, together with the underwriting discounts and commissions, will be charged
against the gross proceeds of the offering as a reduction of additional paid-in capital upon completion of the
planned initial public offering or charged to consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income if
the planned initial public offering is not completed. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had
deferred IPO costs of $557,183 and nil, respectively.

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial
period which are unpaid. They are recognized initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at
amortized cost. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities. All accounts payable was recognized as current liabilities as of
September 30, 2024 and 2023.

Bank loans

Bank loans comprise borrowings from banks. Bank loans are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Bank loans are subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds net of
transaction costs and the redemption value is recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using
the effective interest method. Bank loans are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or
less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Accrued expenses and other liabilities primarily represent obligations to pay staff costs and other operating
service providers. They are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Revenue recognition

The Company follows the rules and guidance set out under ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(“ASC  606”), when recognizing revenue from contracts with customers. The core principle of ASC  606
requires an entity to recognize revenues to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration that it expects to be entitled to receive in exchange for those goods or services
recognized as performance obligations are satisfied. In according with ASC 606, revenues are recognized when
the Company satisfies the performance obligations by delivering the promised services to the customers, in an
amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those services. The
following five steps are applied to achieve that core principle:

Step 1:     Identify the contract with the customer;

Step 2:     Identify the performance obligations in the contract;

Step 3:     Determine the transaction price;

Step 4:     Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

Step 5:     Recognize revenue when the company satisfies a performance obligation.

The Company enters into service agreements with its customers that outline the rights, responsibilities, and
obligations of each party. The agreements also identify the scope of services, service fees, and payment terms.
Agreements are acknowledged and signed by both parties. All the contracts have commercial substance, and it
is probable that the Company will collect considerations from its customers for service component.

The Company derives its revenue from four sources: (1) IoT Integration Solution Services, (2) Business Process
Outsourcing (“BPO”) Services, (3) IoT Support and Maintenance Services and (4) Trading Sales.

Revenue from IoT Integration Solution Services

The Company engages in distinct contracts with its customers to deliver IoT Integration Solution Services.
Billing occurs based on predefined milestones in the contracts, with completion confirmed upon the customer’s
acceptance after successful user testing.

In the IoT Integration Solution contracts, the Company commits to providing various services for specific
projects. Although the contracts outline separate promises, such as development, implementation, and
consulting, these are in fact components of a bundled service leading to a combined outcome that the Company
must deliver. These individual promises are highly interdependent, forming a single, integrated solution.
Therefore, the Company accounts for each IoT Integration Solution contract as one single performance
obligation and no allocation of transaction price is required. There is no warranty provision term provided in
these contracts. The Company typically collect 20% to 50% of contract sum upfront before commencement of
work, with the remaining contract sum being collected in multiple installments according to predefined
milestones. IoT Integration Solution Services contracts are typically completed within one year.

The contracts explicitly outline transaction prices as fixed amounts with no variable considerations. The
Company’s performance creates a customized asset for customers, that the customers have control as the asset is
created. This is evidence by customers taking physical procession over customized hardware and software
developed by the Company. Furthermore, the solutions are tailored and customized for specific customers with
no alternative use. The Company recognizes revenue from IoT Integration Solution Services based on the
Company’s effort or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation over time as work progresses because
of the continuous transfer of control to the customer and the Company’s right to bill the customer as costs are
incurred.

F-12

Table of Contents

MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

The timing of the satisfaction of the Company’s performance obligations is based upon the cost-to-cost method
to measure progress, which is generally different from the timing of unconditional right of payment which is
based upon certain conditions being completed as specified in the contract. The timing between the satisfaction
of the Company’s performance obligations and the unconditional right of payment would contribute to contract
assets and contract liabilities.

The Company uses the ratio of actual costs incurred to total estimated costs (an input method) since costs
incurred represent a reasonable measure of progress towards the satisfaction of a performance in order to
estimate the portion of revenue earned. This method faithfully depicts the transfer of value to the customer
when the Company is satisfying a performance obligation that entails a number of interrelated tasks or activities
for a combined output that requires the Company to coordinate the work of employees and subcontractors.
Contract costs typically include direct labor, subcontractor and consultant costs, materials and other costs
directly related to contract performance. Changes in estimated costs to complete these obligations result in
adjustments to revenue on a cumulative catch-up basis, which causes the effect of revised estimates to be
recognized in the current period. Changes in estimates can routinely occur over the contract term for a variety of
reasons including, unanticipated changes in scope, unanticipated costs, delays or favorable or unfavorable
progress than original expectations. When the outcome of the contract cannot be reasonably measured, revenue
is recognized only to the extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be recovered. In situations where
the estimated costs to perform exceeds the consideration to be received, the Company accrues the entire
estimated loss during the period the loss becomes known.

As of September 30, 2024, there was no contract liability for IoT Integration Solution Services, while as of
September 30, 2023, contract liabilities for IoT Integration Solution Services amounted to $3,065 are expected
to be recognized as revenue within a twelve-month period from September 30, 2023 using an input measure
method.

Business Process Outsourcing (“BPO”) Services

The Company engages in distinct contracts with its customers to provide IT-related manpower support for a
fixed period of time. Each contract involves one performance obligation, where the Company commits to
providing designated number of personnels who has relevant IT expertise and knowledge as required by
customers. The Company typically collects monthly instalment from customer over contract period in BPO
services.

Transaction prices are explicitly stated in the contracts as fixed amounts without variable considerations.
Because those personnels work directly under customers’ instruction during contract period and customers take
control over all work output by the personnels, customers receive and consume benefits provided by the
Company simultaneously. Therefore, revenues from BPO Services are recognized over time.

The Company uses ratio of actual labor cost incurred over total budgeted labor cost (an input method) as a
measure of progress towards satisfaction of performance obligation. Under this method, the Company could
appropriately measure the fulfillment of its performance obligation.

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, there was no contract liability for BPO Services.

IoT Support and Maintenance Services

The Company enters into distinct contracts with its customers to provide ongoing maintenance and support
services for the existing IoT Solutions. Each contract encompasses a single performance obligation, considering
the highly interdependent and highly interrelated nature of the support and maintenance services provided
during the contract period.

In these IoT Support and Maintenance contracts, the Company commits to delivering a variety of support and
maintenance services. Although the contracts specify separate services, such as maintenance of different
components of IoT Solutions and repair and replacement of various hardware, these services are actually
elements of a bundled offering that culminates in a unified outcome the Company is obliged to provide. The
individual services are highly
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

interdependent, constituting a single, integrated solution. Consequently, each IoT Support and Maintenance
contract is recognized as a single performance obligation. The Company typically collects monthly instalments
from customers over contract period in IoT Support and Maintenance services.

Transaction prices for IoT Support and Maintenance Services are explicitly written in contracts as a fixed
amount without variable consideration. Because customers simultaneously receive and consume the benefits of
the Company’s performance as it is delivered, revenues from IoT Support and Maintenance Services are
recognized over time.

Revenues from IoT Support and Maintenance are recognized on the basis of the Company’s efforts or inputs to
the satisfaction of a performance obligation. It is recognized using the input method, aligning with actual
incurred costs against expected budgeted costs at contract inception.

As of September 30, 2024, contract liabilities for IoT Support and Maintenance Services amounted to $21,995
are expected to be recognized as revenue within a twelve-month period from September 30, 2024 using an input
measure method, while as of September 30, 2023, contract liabilities for IoT Support and Maintenance Services
amounted to $57,197 are expected to be recognized as revenue within a twelve-month period from
September 30, 2023 using an input measure method.

Trading Sales

The Company enters into distinct contracts with its customers to sell hardware and IoT-related products. The
Company typically enters into contracts with its customers where the rights of the parties, including payment
terms, are identified. Sales prices to customers are fixed with no separate sales rebate, discount, or other
incentive and there is no right of return. The Company generally provides no credit terms to its customers who
are contractually required to settle the considerations upon product delivery. The Company’s sole performance
obligation is to deliver products according to contract specifications. The Company recognizes product revenue
at a point in time when the control of products is transferred to customers.

Sources of revenues

Disaggregated information of revenues by major sources are as follows:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Revenues from contracts with customers recognized over time            
IoT Integration Solution Services   $ 1,852,645  $ 1,859,927
BPO Services     1,028,838    772,954
IoT Support and Maintenance Services     429,910    460,396

      3,311,393    3,093,277
             
Revenues from contracts with customers recognized at a point in time            

Trading Sales     14,597    154,266
Total   $ 3,325,990  $ 3,247,543

Warranty

The Company generally provides limited warranties for work performed under its contracts. At the time a sale is
recognized, the Company records estimated future warranty costs under ASC 460. Such estimated costs for
warranties are estimated at completion and these warranties are not service warranties separately sold by the
Company. Generally, the estimated claim rates of warranty are based on actual warranty experience or
Company’s best estimate. There were no such reserves for the  years ended September  30, 2024 and 2023
because the Company’s historical warranty expenses were immaterial to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Contract assets, net and contract liabilities

Contract assets are recorded on the consolidated balance sheets when revenue recognized to date exceeds
cumulative billings to customers. In accordance with ASC 326 Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (ASC 326),
the Company estimates the allowance for expected credit losses based on expected future uncollectible contract
assets using forecasts of future economic conditions in addition to information about past events and current
conditions. Management provides an allowance for expected credit losses based on the Company’s historical
losses, specific customer circumstances, and general economic conditions. Periodically, management reviews
contract assets and adjusts the allowance based on current circumstances and charges off uncollectible contract
assets when all attempts to collect have been exhausted and the prospects for recovery are remote. Contract
assets have billing term with unconditional right to be billed beyond one year are classified as non-current
assets. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, no contract assets and allowance for expected credit losses were
recognized.

Contract liabilities represent the amounts of cash collected from customers, or billings to customers for work
yet to be performed that exceed the revenue recognized to date in relation to uncompleted contracts. As of
September 30, 2024, and 2023, contract liabilities amounted to $21,995 and $60,262, respectively. Additionally,
these amounts are expected to be recognized as revenue within a twelve-month period from the reporting date
of these financial statements, therefore being classified as current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Government grants

Government subsidies primarily relate to (i)  funding granted by the Hong Kong Innovation and Technology
Commission in supporting the Company to recruit talents under the Innovation and Technology Fund;
(ii) funding from SME Export Marketing Fund by the Hong Kong Trade and Industry Department to encourage
expansion of markets outside Hong  Kong in export promotion activities; (iii)  funding granted by the
Hong Kong government in helping the Company to develop and promote its brand overseas under the BUD
Fund; and (iv) subsidies received from Hong Kong Science and Technology Park through its Graduate Trainee
Program. The Company recognizes government subsidies as sundry income upon meeting all attached
conditions, or when it is reasonably assured that these conditions will be met and receipt of the subsidies is
probable.

Government subsidies received and recognized in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive
income amounted to $29,990 and $76,017 for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. To
qualify for these subsidies, the Company complied with specific requirements and conditions. As of
September 30, 2024, there were no unfulfilled conditions related to government subsidies.

Cost of revenues

The cost of revenues primarily consists of costs associated with subcontracting, engineering, and material
expenses related to the provision of IoT services. These costs are expensed as incurred. Additionally, the cost of
revenues includes the cost of goods sold incurred from the sales of hardware and IoT-related products.

Employee benefit plan

Employees of the Company located in Hong Kong and Australia participate in compulsory retirement benefit
schemes, as mandated by local laws. In Hong Kong, contributions to the scheme are made by both the Company
and its employees at a rate of 5% of the employees’ relevant salary income, subject to a cap on monthly relevant
income of 30,000 Hong Kong Dollars (HK$) (equivalent to $3,840). In Australia, contributions to the scheme
are made at a rate of 10.5%, and 11% effective July  1, 2022, and 2023, respectively. The income caps per
quarter are set at 60,220 Australian Dollars (AUD) and AUD 62,270 (equivalent to $39,571 and $40,918),
effective July 1, 2022, and 2023, respectively. For the years ended September 30, 2024, and 2023, the total
amounts charged to the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income for the Company’s
contributions to these retirement benefit schemes were $26,949 and $27,227, respectively
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognized as interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income in the period in which they are incurred.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under ASC 740, Income Taxes. Provision for income taxes consists of
current taxes and deferred taxes.

Current tax is recognized based on the results for the year as adjusted for items which are non-assessable or
disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet
date.

Deferred tax is recognized in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between the carrying
amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax basis. Deferred tax is
calculated using tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized, or the liability is
settled. Deferred tax is charged or credited in the profit or loss, except when it is related to items credited or
charged directly to equity. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in the opinion of
management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

An uncertain tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position
would be sustained in a tax examination, with a tax examination being presumed to occur. The amount
recognized is the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized on examination.
Penalties and interest incurred related to underpayment of income tax are classified as income tax expense in the
period incurred. The Company does not consider that there was any uncertain tax position as of September 30,
2024 and 2023.

Segment reporting

ASC 280, “Segment Reporting”, establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments on a
basis consistent with the Company’s internal organizational structure as well as information about geographical
areas, business segments and major customers in financial statements for details on the Company’s business
segments.

The Company uses the management approach to determine reportable operating segments. The management
approach considers the internal organization and reporting used by the Company’s chief operating decision
maker (“CODM”) for making decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance. The Company does
not distinguish revenues, costs and expenses between segments in its internal reporting, but instead reports costs
and expenses by nature as a whole.

Comprehensive Income

Comprehensive income consists of two components, net income and other comprehensive income. Other
comprehensive income refers to revenue, expenses, gains and losses that under U.S. GAAP are recorded as an
element of shareholders’ equity but are excluded from net income. Other comprehensive income consists of
foreign currency translation adjustments resulting from the Company translating its financial statements from
functional currencies into reporting currency.

Earnings per share

The Company computes earnings per share (“EPS”) according with ASC 260, Earnings per Share (“ASC 260”).
ASC 260 requires companies to present basic and diluted EPS. Basic EPS is computed by dividing net earnings
attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted-average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the
period.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

Diluted EPS further takes into account of the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to
issue ordinary shares were exercised and converted into ordinary shares. As of September 30, 2024 and 2023,
the Company had no dilutive stocks.

Translation of foreign currencies

The Company’s principal place of operations is Hong Kong. The financial position and results of its operations
are predominately determined using the Hong Kong Dollar, the local currency of QBS System, as the functional
currency. The Company also has a subsidiary in Australia which uses Australian Dollar as its functional
currency. The Company’s consolidated financial statements are presented in U.S. Dollars (“US$” or “$”). The
results of operations and the consolidated statements of cash flows, denominated in the functional currency, are
translated to US$ at the average rate of exchange during the reporting period. Assets and liabilities denominated
in functional currencies at the balance sheet date are translated to US$ at the applicable rate of exchange in
effect at that date. The equity, denominated in the functional currency, is translated to US$ at the historical rate
of exchange at the time of the transaction. Because cash flows are translated based on the average translation
rate, amounts related to assets and liabilities reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows will not
necessarily agree with changes in the corresponding balances on the consolidated balance sheets. Translation
adjustments arising from the use of different exchange rates from period to period are included as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of changes in
shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions are included in the Company’s
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income under foreign exchange transaction losses.

The following table outlines the exchange rates that are used in preparing these consolidated financial
statements:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Year end spot rates        
AUD(1)   US$1 = AUD1.48   US$1 = AUD1.55
HK$   US$1 = HK$7.77   US$1 = HK$7.83

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Average rates        
AUD(1)   US$1 = AUD1.52   US$1 = AUD1.50
HK$   US$1 = HK$7.81   US$1 = HK$7.83

____________

(1)       The year-end spot rate of AUD as of September 30, 2024 represents the exchange rate at the time of the disposal of
QBS Pty on July 8, 2024, while the average AUD rate for the year ended September 30, 2024, represents the average
rate from October 1, 2023, to July 8, 2024.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the exchange price that would be received from an asset or



The fair value of a financial instrument is defined as the exchange price that would be received from an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (as exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A three-level fair value hierarchy
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three levels of inputs used to measure fair
value are as follows:

Level 1 —  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 —  Quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, or other inputs that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term
of the financial instrument.

Level 3 —
 

Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant
to the fair value of the assets and liabilities. This includes certain pricing models, discounted
cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, financial instruments of the Company comprised primarily cash, accounts
receivable, amounts due from a related party, prepayments and other assets, short-term bank loans, accounts
payable, amounts due to related parties, accrued expenses and other liabilities. The Company concludes that the
carrying amounts of these financial instruments approximate their fair values, due to the short-term nature of
these instruments and the terms closely approximating market conditions.

Related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or
exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. Parties are also
considered to be related if they are subject to common control or significant influence of the same party, such as
a family member or relative, shareholder, or a related corporation.

Commitments and contingencies

In the normal course of business, the Company is subject to contingencies, such as legal proceedings and claims
arising out of its business, which cover a wide range of matters. Liabilities for contingencies are recorded when
it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated.

If the assessment of a contingency indicates that it is probable that a material loss is incurred and the amount of
the liability can be estimated, then the estimated liability is accrued in the Company’s consolidated financial
statements. If the assessment indicates that a potentially material loss contingency is not probable, but is
reasonably possible, or is probable but cannot be estimated, then the nature of the contingent liability, together
with an estimate of the range of possible loss, if determinable and material, would be disclosed.

Loss contingencies considered remote are generally not disclosed unless they involve guarantees, in which case
the nature of the guarantee would be disclosed.

Recent accounting pronouncements

The Company considers the applicability and impact of all accounting standards updates (“ASUs”).
Management periodically reviews new accounting standards that are issued. Under the Jumpstart Our Business
Startups Act of 2012, as amended (the “JOBS Act”), the Company meets the definition of an emerging growth
company, or EGC, and has elected the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting
standards, which delays the adoption of these accounting standards until they would apply to private companies.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segment Reporting (Topic 280)” (“ASU 2023-07”). The
amendments in ASU  2023-07 improve financial reporting by requiring disclosure of incremental segment
information on an annual and interim basis for all public entities to enable investors to develop more decision
useful financial analyses. Topic 280 requires a public entity to report a measure of segment profit or loss that the
chief operating
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (cont.)

decision maker (CODM) uses to assess segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources.
Topic  280 also requires other specified segment items and amounts, such as depreciation, amortization, and
depletion expense, to be disclosed under certain circumstances. The amendments in ASU 202307 do not change
or remove those disclosure requirements. The amendments in ASU 2023-07 also do not change how a public
entity identifies its operating segments, aggregates those operating segments, or applies the quantitative
thresholds to determine its reportable segments. The amendments in ASU  2023-07 are effective for  years
beginning after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024,
adopted retrospectively. Management considers that the guidance does not have a significant impact on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2023-09, “Income Taxes (Topic 740)”
(“ASU 2023-09”). The amendments in ASU 2023-09 address investor requests for more transparency about
income tax information through improvements to income tax disclosures primarily related to the rate
reconciliation and income taxes paid information. One of the amendments in ASU 2023-09 includes disclosure
of, on an annual basis, a tabular rate reconciliation of (i)  the reported income tax expense (or benefit) from
continuing operations, to (ii) the product of the income (or loss) from continuing operations before income taxes
and the applicable statutory federal income tax rate of the jurisdiction of domicile using specific categories,
including separate disclosure for any reconciling items within certain categories that are equal to or greater than
a specified quantitative threshold of 5%. ASU 2023-09 also requires disclosure of, on an annual basis, the year
to date amount of income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated by federal, state, and foreign
jurisdictions, including additional disaggregated information on income taxes paid (net of refunds received) to
an individual jurisdiction equal to or greater than 5% of total income taxes paid (net of refunds received). The
amendments in ASU2023-09 are effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and should be
applied prospectively. Management is currently evaluating the impact of this guidance.

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement — Reporting Comprehensive Income
(Topic  220-40): Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (“ASU  2024-03”). This update requires, among other
things, more detailed disclosure about types of expenses in commonly presented expense captions such as cost
of sales and selling, general, and administrative expenses, and is intended to improve the disclosures about an
entity’s expenses including purchases of inventory, employee compensation, depreciation and amortization.
ASU  2024-03 is effective for fiscal  years beginning after December  15, 2026, and interim periods within
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027. Management is currently evaluating the impact of the on its
consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

The Company does not believe other recently issued but not yet effective accounting standards, if currently
adopted, would have a material effect on the consolidated financial position, statements of operations and cash
flows.

4. Risks and Uncertainty

Currency risk

The Company’s operating activities are mainly transacted in HK$ and AUD which are also the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognized assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The Company considers the foreign
exchange risk in relation to transactions denominated in HK$ with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is
pegged to US$ and there is no significant foreign exchange risk in relation to transactions denominated in AUD
with respect to US$ following the disposal of QBS Pty on July 8, 2024.

The Company considers that the overall foreign exchange risk is not significant, and the Company has not used
any instruments or derivatives to manage or hedge the risk.
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4. Risks and Uncertainty (cont.)

Credit risks

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to the credit risks consist of cash, accounts
receivable, amounts due from a related party and other assets. The maximum exposures of such assets to credit
risk are their carrying amounts as of the balance sheet dates.

The Company deposits its cash with reputable banks located in Hong Kong. As of September 30, 2024 and
2023, $371,918 and $619,570 were deposited with these banks, respectively. Balances maintained with banks in
Hong Kong are insured under the Deposit Protection Scheme introduced by the Hong Kong Government for a
maximum amount of HK$500,000 (equivalent to $64,356), and further increased to HK$800,000 (equivalent to
$102,969), effective October 1, 2024, for each depositor at one bank, whilst the balances maintained by the
Company may at times exceed the insured limits. Cash balances maintained with banks in Hong Kong are not
otherwise insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or other programs. The Company has not
experienced any losses in these bank accounts and management believes that the Company is not exposed to
any significant credit risk on cash and restricted cash.

Assets that potentially subject the Company to significant credit risks primarily consist of accounts receivable,
amounts due from a related party and other assets. The Company performs regular and ongoing credit
assessments of the counterparts’ financial conditions and credit histories. The Company also assesses historical
collection trends, aging of receivables and general economic conditions. The Company considers that it has
adequate controls over these receivables in order to minimize the related credit risk. As of September 30, 2024,
and 2023, the balances of allowance for expected credit losses were $212,252 and $70,816, respectively.

Concentration risks

For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, most of the Company’s assets were located in Hong Kong.
At the same time, the Company considers that it is exposed to the following concentrations of risk:

(a)      Major customers

The following table sets forth information as to each customer that accounted for top 5 of the Company’s
revenues for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
For the year ended
September 30, 2024  

For the year ended
September 30, 2023

Customers   Revenues  
% of

revenues   Revenues  
% of

revenues

Customer A   $ 415,989  12.5  $ 261,014  8.0
Customer B     322,552  9.7    —  —
Customer C     255,993  7.7    922,692  28.4
Customer D     255,993  7.7    —  —
Customer E     181,243  5.5    —  —
Customer F     120,061  3.6    217,056  6.7
Customer G     76,798  2.3    214,532  6.6
Customer H     —  —    293,705  9.0
Total:   $ 1,628,629  49.0  $ 1,908,999  58.7
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4. Risks and Uncertainty (cont.)

(b)     Major suppliers

The following table sets forth information as to each supplier that accounted for top 5 of the Company’s
cost of revenues related to subcontracting and material expenses for the years ended September 30, 2024
and 2023:

 
For the year ended
September 30, 2024  

For the year ended
September 30, 2023

Suppliers  
Cost of

revenues  

% of
cost of

revenues  
Cost of

revenues  

% of
cost of

revenues

Supplier A   $ 203,451  22.4  $ 256,161  17.9
Supplier B     126,717  13.9    244,056  17.1
Supplier C     99,837  11.0    190,908  13.4
Supplier D     95,998  10.6    63,849  4.5
Supplier E     60,520  6.7    —  —
Supplier F     44,799  4.9    117,557  8.2
Supplier G     6,784  0.7    121,717  8.5
Total:   $ 638,106  70.2  $ 994,248  69.6

(c)      Receivables

The following table sets forth information as to each customer that accounted for top 5 of the Company’s
accounts receivable, after allowance for expected credit losses, as of September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
As of

September 30, 2024  
As of

September 30, 2023

Customers  
Accounts
receivable  

% of
accounts

receivable  
Accounts
receivable  

% of
accounts

receivable

Customer C   $ 470,959  20.2  $ 463,457  30.8
Customer A     382,654  16.4    186,372  12.4
Customer B     309,388  13.2    —  —
Customer G     233,125  10.0    275,476  18.3
Customer I     141,189  6.0    —  —
Customer J     103,427  4.4    313,659  20.8
Customer K     49,109  2.1    61,794  4.1
Total:   $ 1,689,851  72.3  $ 1,300,758  86.4
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4. Risks and Uncertainty (cont.)

(d)     Payables

The following table sets forth information as to each supplier that accounted for top 5 of the Company’s
accounts payable as of September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
As of

September 30, 2024  
As of

September 30, 2023

Suppliers  
Accounts
payable  

% of
accounts
payable  

Accounts
payable  

% of
accounts
payable

Supplier G   $ 14,457  67.7  $ 36,390  46.6
Supplier H     5,663  26.5    —  —
Supplier I     1,203  5.6    —  —
Supplier J     36  0.2    —  —
Supplier A     —  —    39,332  50.4
Supplier K     —  —    2,166  2.8
Supplier L     —  —    168  0.2
Total:   $ 21,359  100  $ 78,056  100

Interest rate risk

Fluctuations in market interest rates may negatively affect the Company’s financial condition and results of
operations. The Company is exposed to floating interest rate risk on bank deposits and bank loans, particularly
during periods when the interest rate is expected to significant changes. Nevertheless, given the amounts of
bank deposits and bank loans in question, the Company considers its interest rate risk to be manageable and not
likely to cause significant disruption to the business. As of September  30, 2024, the Company had an
outstanding principal of $483,206. The Company estimates that a 1% increase in the Hong Kong Dollar Prime
Rate against bank loans outstanding on September 30, 2024 would result in an increase in interest expense of
$4,832 per annum whilst the Company estimates that a 1% decrease in the Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate
against bank loans outstanding on September 30, 2024 would result in a decrease in interest expense of $4,832
per annum. As of September 30, 2023, the Company had an outstanding principal of $588,496. The Company
estimates that a 1% increase in the Hong  Kong Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on
September 30, 2023 would result in an increase in interest expense of $5,885 per annum whilst the Company
estimates that a 1% decrease in the Hong  Kong Dollar Prime Rate against bank loans outstanding on
September 30, 2023 would result in a decrease in interest expense of $5,885 per annum. The Company has not
used any instruments or derivatives to manage or hedge its interest rate risk exposure.

5. Accounts Receivable, Net

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, accounts receivable consisted of the following balances:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Third parties                
Accounts receivable   $ 2,548,841    $ 1,567,007  
Less: allowance for expected credit losses     (211,639)     (66,357)
Total accounts receivable – third parties, net   $ 2,337,202    $ 1,500,650  
                 
Related party                
Accounts receivable   $ —    $ 4,525  
Less: allowance for expected credit losses     —      (372)
Total accounts receivable – a related party, net   $ —    $ 4,153  
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5. Accounts Receivable, Net (cont.)

The movement of allowance for expected credit losses against accounts receivable is as follow:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 66,729  $ 59,902
Provision of expected credit losses     143,581    6,681
Effect of exchange rate changes     1,329    146
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ 211,639  $ 66,729

6. Amounts Due from a Related Party, Net

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, amounts due from a related party, net consisted of the following balances:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Amounts due from a related party   $ —  $ 70,149  
Less: allowance for expected credit losses     —    (3,778)
Total amounts due from a related party, net   $ —  $ 66,371  

The movement of allowance for expected credit losses against amounts due from a related party is as follow:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 3,778    $ 5,093  
Reversal of expected credit losses     —      (1,370)
Decrease of expected credit losses related to disposal of a subsidiary     (3,849)     —  
Effect of exchange rate changes     71      55  
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ —    $ 3,778  

7. ROU Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities

The Company has operating leases for office. During the year ended September 30, 2024, the Company
recognized right-of-use assets of $113,203, and lease liabilities of $113,203 in accordance with ASC 842,
Leases. The lease agreement does not specify an explicit interest rate and the interest rate implicit in the lease is
not readily determinable. The Company’s management believes that using an incremental borrowing rate of the
Hong Kong Prime Rate minus 0.25% p.a. was the most indicative rate of the Company’s borrowing cost for the
calculation of the present value of the lease payments at the lease inception; the rate used by the Company was
changed from 5.0% to 5.875%.

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company subsisted of the following non-cancellable lease contract.

Description of lease   Lease term
Office at Hong Kong Science Park, Hong Kong   3 years from June 17, 2021 to June 16, 2024
Office at Hong Kong Science Park, Hong Kong   3 years from June 16, 2024 to June 16, 2027

F-23

Table of Contents

MEGA FORTUNE COMPANY LIMITED
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

For the Years Ended September 30, 2024 and 2023

7. ROU Assets and Operating Lease Liabilities (cont.)

a)       Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Right-of-use assets   $ 101,187  $ 25,410
             
Operating lease liabilities            

Current   $ 36,450  $ 26,909
Non-current     65,703    —

    $ 102,153  $ 26,909
             
Weighted average remaining lease terms (in years)     2.71    0.71

b)       Information related to operating lease activities during the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 are
as follows:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Amortization of ROU assets   $ 37,087  $ 38,114
Accretion of interest on operating lease liabilities     2,459    2,231

Total operating lease expenses   $ 39,546  $ 40,345

c)       The following table summarizes the remaining contractual maturities of lease liabilities, categorized by
the  years in which such lease liabilities are required to be settled, under operating leases as of
September 30, 2024:

During the year ended September 30,        
2025   $ 41,278  
2026     41,278  
2027     27,519  

Total future lease payments   $ 110,075  
Less: imputed interest     (7,922)
Present value of lease obligations   $ 102,153  

The weighted-average discount rates used to determine the operating lease liabilities as of September 30, 2024
and 2023 were 5.875% and 5.0%, respectively.

The following table represents the minimum cash lease payments included in the measurement of lease
liabilities for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:            
Cash outflows for operating leases   $ 41,049  $ 40,953
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8. Property and Equipment, Net

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, property and equipment, net, consisted of the following:

  As of September 30,

    2024   2023

Computer equipment   $ 79,248    $ 71,283  
Furniture and fittings     23,951      23,763  
Less: accumulated depreciation     (93,730)     (88,155)
Total property and equipment, net   $ 9,469    $ 6,891  

Depreciation expense was $4,851 and $6,697 for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

9. Deferred Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) Costs

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, deferred IPO costs, consisted of the following:

  As of September 30,

    2024   2023

Financial advisory fee   $ 143,425  $ —
Legal service fee     340,698    —
Valuation service fee     23,060    —
Miscellaneous expenses     50,000    —
Total deferred IPO costs   $ 557,183  $ —

10. Prepayments and Other Assets, Net

  As of September 30,

    2024   2023

Prepaid expenses   $ 350    $ 131  
                 
Other assets     17,959      32,505  
Less: allowance for expected credit losses     (613)     (309)
Other assets, net     17,346      32,196  
                 
Total     17,696      32,327  
Less: non-current portion     —      —  
Amounts classified as current assets   $ 17,696    $ 32,327  

The movement of allowances for expected credit losses against other assets is as follow:

  As of September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 309  $ 302
Provision of expected credit losses     300    6
Effect of exchange rate changes     4    1
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ 613  $ 309
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11. Contract Liabilities

The movement in contract liabilities is as follows:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 60,262    $ 153,823  
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognizing related portion as

revenue during the year     (60,401)     (154,192)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of billings in advance of

performance obligation under Contracts     21,995      60,262  
Effect of exchange rate changes     139      369  
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ 21,995    $ 60,262  

12. Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Payroll payable   $ 48,721  $ 77,558
Professional fee     232,000    —
Others     37,067    18,675
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities   $ 317,788  $ 96,233

13. Bank Loans

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, bank loans consisted of the following:

Date of banking facility   Provider  
Nature of

banking facility  

Amount of
banking
facility  

As of
September 30,

2024   2023
March 30, 2020   Bank of China

(Hong Kong)
Limited
(“BOCHK”)  

Revolving bank
overdraft  HK$2,000,000  $ —    $ —  

April 27, 2020
 

BOCHK
 

Non-revolving
term loan under
SME Financing
Guarantee
Scheme (“SME
Term Loan”)  HK$3,550,000    262,932      326,167  

October 10, 2020   BOCHK   SME Term Loan  HK$1,450,000    126,660      152,510  

June 28, 2021   BOCHK   SME Term Loan  HK$1,000,000    93,614      109,819  
                  483,206      588,496  
Less: non-current

portion                 (411,901)     (479,412)
Amounts classified as

current liabilities               $ 71,305    $ 109,084  

These bank loans were primarily obtained for general working capital.

Bank overdraft

QBS System obtained a revolving facility on bank overdraft from BOCHK under the SME Financing Guarantee
Scheme, introduced by the Hong  Kong Government, totaling HK$2,000,000 (approximately $257,423) on
March 30, 2020. Under the SME Financing Guarantee Scheme, this bank overdraft facility is guaranteed by
HKMC Insurance Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Hong Kong Government, up to 80% of the loan
principal. This bank
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13. Bank Loans (cont.)

overdraft facility is also guaranteed in full personally by Mr. Kwan Ping Yuen, a senior management personnel
of QBS System, along with Mr. Wong Chi Fung, the sole director of QBS System. The facility is a revolving
credit arrangement, which does not prescribe a fixed repayment date. The interest rate applied to the bank
overdraft is Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate plus 1% per annum.

As at September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any outstanding bank loan balances under this
facility.

SME Term Loans

Between April 2020 and June 2021, QBS System secured SME Term Loan facilities from BOCHK under the
SME Financing Guarantee Scheme, introduced by the Hong Kong Government. Under the SME Financing
Guarantee Scheme, SME Term Loan facilities receive 100% guarantee from HKMC Insurance Limited. SME
Term Loans were also personally guaranteed in full by Mr. Kwan Ping Yuen, a senior management personnel of
QBS System, and Mr. Wong Chi Fung, the sole director of QBS System. The repayment obligations are
determined by schedules outlined in the banking facilities and revised repayment schedules, with final
installments due in May 2028, December 2028, and August 2029. Further in December 2024, QBS System
applied for partial principal repayment arrangement with BOCHK, extending the final installments due dates to
March 2029, December 2029, and October 2030, with no changes to the terms. These SME Term Loans feature
variable interest rates set at Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate minus 2.5% per annum.

As of September  30, 2024 and 2023, the outstanding balances under these SME Term Loan facilities were
$483,206 and $588,496, respectively.

No significant covenants are noted under these banking facilities.

The effective annual interest rates of the bank loans for the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023 were
3.6%. Interest expenses incurred from these bank loans amounted to $19,628 and $21,299 for the years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

The table below summarizes the remaining contractual maturities of the bank loans as of September 30, 2024,
excluding the bank overdraft, for which no fixed repayment date has been established. The loans are categorized
by the years in which repayments are due:

During the year ended September 30,        
2025   $ 85,109  
2026     71,845  
2027     119,301  
2028     128,611  
2029     90,576  
2030     28,576  
2031     1,723  

Total repayments of bank loans     525,741  
Less: imputed interest     (42,535)
Balance recognized on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2024   $ 483,206  

As of the date of this report, a total of $42,669 of the bank loans as of September 30, 2024 has been repaid.

14. Shareholders’ Equity

Ordinary shares

The Company was established under the laws of Cayman Islands on January  3, 2024. The authorized and
outstanding numbers of the Company’s ordinary shares were 500,000,000 shares and 1 share, with a par value
of $0.0001 each, at the date of incorporation.
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14. Shareholders’ Equity (cont.)

On January 30, 2024, 99,999 ordinary shares were allotted to the Company’s sole shareholder at the time at a
par value of $0.0001 each for a total consideration of $10. As of the date these consolidated financial statements
are issued, the consideration had not been settled by the Company’s shareholder and was recognized as
subscription receivables in these consolidated financial statements.

On October 23, 2024, the Company’s shareholder approved a 1-to-100 share split. Immediately before the share
split, the Company was authorized to issue a maximum of 500,000,000 shares of $0.0001 par value, of which
100,000 ordinary shares were issued and outstanding. As a result of the share split, the Company is authorized
to issue a maximum of 50,000,000,000 shares of $0.000001 par value, of which 10,000,000 ordinary shares are
issued and outstanding. The Company considered the share split part of its recapitalization prior to the
completion of its initial public offering. The Company believed that it is appropriate to reflect the above
transaction on a retroactive basis pursuant to ASC 260, Earnings Per Share. All shares and per share amounts
used herein and in the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been retroactively restated to
reflect the above transaction for the periods presented.

15. Income Taxes

Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands

Under the current and applicable laws of the Cayman Islands and British Virgin Islands, the Company is not
subject to tax on income or capital gains under these jurisdictions.

Hong Kong

QBS System is incorporated in Hong Kong and is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax on the taxable income as
reported in their respective statutory financial statements adjusted in accordance with relevant Hong Kong tax
laws. For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated in accordance
with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The applicable income tax rate for the first HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to $255,993) of assessable profits is 8.25% whereas assessable profits above HK$2,000,000
(equivalent to $255,993) will be subject to an income tax rate of 16.5%. For any other entities, the applicable
income tax rate is 16.5% on the entire assessable profits.

Australia

QBS Pty is incorporated in Australia and is subject to Australian Company Tax on the taxable income as
reported in their respective statutory financial statements adjusted in accordance with relevant Australia tax
laws. For the years ended September 30, 2024 and 2023, Australian Company Tax is calculated at an income tax
rate of 25% under base rate entities. For any other entities, the applicable income tax rate is 30% on the entire
taxable income.

The current and deferred portions of the income tax expenses included in the consolidated statements of
operations and comprehensive income as determined in accordance with ASC 740 are as follows:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Current taxes   $ 197,367    $ 82,713  
Deferred taxes     (23,303)     (1,549)
Income tax expenses   $ 174,064    $ 81,164  
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15. Income Taxes (cont.)

A reconciliation of the difference between the expected income tax expense computed at Hong Kong income
tax rate of 16.5% and the Company’s reported income tax benefits is shown in the following table:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Profit before income taxes   $ 575,598    $ 617,718  
Cayman Islands statutory tax rate     0.0%    0.0%
Tax expenses at the Cayman Islands statutory tax rate   $ —    $ —  
Hong Kong Profits Tax rate     16.5%    16.5%
Income taxes computed at Hong Kong Profits Tax rate   $ 94,974    $ 101,924  
Income not taxable     (34)     (56)
Non-deductible expenses     99,655      —  
Tax loss not recognized related to the disposal of a subsidiary     8,591      —  
Tax effect of two-tier tax rates     (21,503)     (21,453)
Effect of different statutory tax rates from that of Hong Kong     (535)     (209)
Change in valuation allowance     (7,084)     958  
Income tax expense   $ 174,064    $ 81,164  

The following table reconciles the statutory tax rate to the Company’s effective tax rate for the years ended
September 30, 2024 and 2023:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Cayman Islands statutory tax rate   0.0%   0.0%
Hong Kong Profits Tax rate   16.5%   16.5%
Income not taxable   —    —  
Non-deductible expenses   17.3%   —  
Tax loss not recognized related to the disposal of a subsidiary   1.5%   —  
Tax effect of two-tier tax rates   (3.8)%  (3.5)%
Effect of different statutory tax rates from that of Hong Kong   (0.1)%  —  
Change in valuation allowance   (1.2)%  0.1%
Effective tax rate   30.2%   13.1%

Deferred tax

The Company measures deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the difference between the financial
statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities at the applicable tax rates. Components of the Company’s
deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

 
As of

September 30,

    2024   2023

Deferred tax assets:                
Allowance for expected credit losses   $ 35,022    $ 12,005  
Net operating losses carry forwards     —      6,954  

      35,022      18,959  
Less: valuation allowance     —      (6,954)

Total deferred tax assets   $ 35,022    $ 12,005  
                 
Deferred tax liabilities:                

Depreciation and amortization   $ (1,471)   $ (1,022)
Total deferred tax liabilities   $ (1,471)   $ (1,022)
                 
Deferred tax assets, net   $ 33,551    $ 10,983  
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15. Income Taxes (cont.)

Movement of the Company’s deferred tax assets, net, during the years is as follow:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 10,983    $ 9,401
Credited to the profit or loss     23,303      1,549
Decrease of deferred tax assets related to the disposal of a subsidiary     (962)     —
Effect of exchange rate changes     227      33
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ 33,551    $ 10,983

Movement of the Company’s valuation allowance against deferred tax assets is as follows:

 
For the Years Ended

September 30,

    2024   2023

Balance at October 1, 2023 and 2022   $ 6,954    $ 6,014  
Increase in allowance recognized in the profit or loss     —      958  
Decrease of valuation allowance related to the disposal of a subsidiary     (7,084)     —  
Effect of exchange rate changes     130      (18)
Balance at September 30, 2024 and 2023   $ —    $ 6,954  

Under relevant Hong Kong tax laws, tax case is normally subject to investigation by the tax authority for up to
6 years of assessment prior to the current year of assessment, unless in a case of fraud or willful evasion, then
the investigation can be extended to cover 10 years of assessment. Under relevant Australia tax laws, a time
limit has been put in which Australian Taxation Office can amend an assessment. For most taxpayers with
simple affairs, the amendment period for an income tax assessment is 2 years from the date that a taxpayer
issued with an assessment, while those with more complex affairs would extend to 4 years from the date that a
taxpayer issued with an assessment. However, in a case where the Australian Taxation Office forms an opinion
of fraud or evasion, there is no time limit for amending an assessment.

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no open tax investigation from these tax authorities.

16. Related Party Transaction and Balance

a. Nature of relationships with related parties

Name   Relationship with the Company
Flywheel Financial Strategy (Hong Kong)

Company Limited
  Under significant influence of Mr. Wong Ka Ki, who is the sole

director of QBS Pty and one of the substantial shareholders of
Mericorn Company Limited

Mericorn Company Limited   The sole shareholder of the Company
QBS Flywheel Limited   Former controlling company of QBS System before

Reorganization
QBS Group Limited   Under significant influence of Mr. Wong Chi Fung, who is the

sole director of QBS System
Wong Chi Fung   The sole director of QBS System
Wong Ka Ki   The sole director of QBS Pty and one of the substantial

shareholders of Mericorn Company Limited
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16. Related Party Transaction and Balance (cont.)

b. Transactions with related parties

     
For the Years Ended

September 30,

Name   Nature   2024   2023
Flywheel Financial Strategy

(Hong Kong) Company Limited(1)   Revenues   $ —  $ 30,028
                 
Wong Ka Ki(2)   Proceeds from disposal of a subsidiary   $ 6,737  $ —
____________

(1)       The amount for the year ended September 30, 2023 represented revenues from IoT Integration Solution Services.
(2)       The amount for the year ended September 30, 2024 represented the proceeds of disposal of 100% shares in QBS Pty

to Mr. Wong Ka Ki at a consideration of AUD10,000 (equivalent to $6,737) on July 8, 2024.

c. Balance with related parties

Name   Nature  

As of
September 30,

2024   2023
Flywheel Financial Strategy

(Hong Kong) Company Limited(1)   Accounts receivable, net   $ —  $ 4,153
                 

QBS Flywheel Limited(2)  
Amounts due from a related party,
net   $ —  $ 66,371

                 
QBS Group Limited(3)   Amounts due to related parties   $ 102,922  $ 293,665
Wong Chi Fung(3)   Amounts due to related parties     659,585    69,681
Wong Ka Ki(3)   Amounts due to related parties     97,280    32,255
        $ 859,787  $ 395,601
____________

(1)       The balance as of September  30, 2023 represents IoT Integration Solution Services income receivable from the
related party after allowance for expected credit losses. The balance was fully settled subsequently.

(2)       The balance as of September 30, 2023 represented advances to related company, after allowance for expected credit
losses, for its operational purposes. The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. The
balance had been disposed following the disposal of QBS Pty to Mr. Wong Ka Ki on July 8, 2024.

(3)       The balances as of September 30, 2024 and 2023 represented advances from a related company and directors for the
Company’s operational purposes. The balances were unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. As of
the date theses financial statements were issued, the balances have not been settled.

17. Disposal of a Subsidiary

On July 8, 2024, QBS System entered into agreement with Mr. Wong Ka Ki, the sole director of QBS Pty and
one of the substantial shareholders of Mericorn Company Limited, to dispose of 100% shares in QBS Pty to
Mr. Wong Ka Ki at a consideration of AUD10,000 (equivalent to $6,737), with no gain or loss on disposal. The
consideration of AUD10,000 was received by QBS System on July 9, 2024.

The transaction resulted in a loss of control of QBS Pty. QBS Pty was not a significant subsidiary, and its
disposition did not constitute a strategic shift that would have major effect on the Company’s operations and
financial results. Accordingly, the operation result of QBS Pty was not reported as a discontinued operations in
accordance with the guidance under ASC 205 “Preparation of Financial Statements”.
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18. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments

As of September 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company had neither significant financial nor capital commitment.

Contingencies

As of September  30, 2024 and 2023, the Company was not a party to any material legal or administrative
proceedings. The Company further concludes that there were no legal or regulatory proceedings, either
individually or in the aggregate, that could have resulted in an unfavorable outcome with a material adverse
effect on the Company’s results of operations, consolidated financial condition, or cash flows.

19. Segment Information

The Company uses the management approach to determine reportable operating segments. The management
approach considers the internal organization and reporting used by the Company’s CODM for making
decisions, allocating resources and assessing performance.

The Company does not distinguish revenues, costs and expenses between segments in its internal reporting, but
instead reports costs and expenses by nature as a whole. Based on the management’s assessment, the Company



instead reports costs and expenses by nature as a whole. Based on the management’s assessment, the Company
determines that it has only one operating segment and therefore one reportable segment as defined by ASC 280.
Furthermore, the majority of the Company’s revenue are derived in or from Hong Kong with all operation being
carried out in Hong Kong. Therefore, no geographical segments are presented. The Company concludes that it
has only one reportable segment. As such, all financial segment information required by the authoritative
guidance can be found in the consolidated financial statements.

20. Subsequent Events

Share split

On October 23, 2024, the Company completed a 1-to-100 share split. After the share split, the Company has
10,000,000 ordinary shares issued and outstanding.

Partial repayment arrangement

In December 2024, QBS System applied for partial principal repayment arrangement with BOCHK for SME
Term Loans, extending the final installments due dates to March 2029, December 2029, and October 2030, with
no changes to the terms. The current and non-current portions of the bank loans as of September 30, 2024 were
split based on this new arrangement accordingly.

The Company evaluates all events and transactions that occur after September 30, 2024 up through the date the
Company issues the consolidated financial statements. Other than the event disclosed above and elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, there is no other subsequent event occurred that would require
recognition or disclosure in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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3,750,000 Ordinary Shares

Mega Fortune Company Limited

Until August 9, 2025 all dealers that effect transactions in these securities, whether or not participating in this
offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. This is in addition to the dealers’ obligation to deliver a
prospectus when acting as underwriters and with respect to their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

D. Boral Capital

The date of this prospectus is July 15, 2025.

 


